

# SYRACUSE JOURNAL OF INTERNATIONAL LAW AND COMMERCE

#### SYRACUSE UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF LAW

# **CONTENTS**

#### **NOTES**

Unfinished Business: Why Multilateral Development Banks Need to Carry Out Post-Project Environmental Assessments

Audrey Bimbi 205

Tampa Bay Rays of Montréal: Home Field

Advantage in Two Countries

Conor Bowers 233

The Right to Remain Anonymous: How the GDPR Should Look to India and China to Fix the Incomplete Concept of Data Anonymization

Moneeka Brar 257

#### **ARTICLES**

The Contractual and Transnational Nature of Sovereign Donor-Trustee International Aid Contributions

Ilias Bantekas 285

Choice of Forum in Passenger Claims Under the Montreal Convention 1999: A Two-Dimensional Solution to a Three-Dimensional Problem

David Cluxton 333

Human Rights Due Diligence: Why It Matters and Why It's Not Enough Without Access to Remedies for Human Rights Violations

E. Barrett Ristroph 417





Cite as: 48 SYRACUSE J. INT'L L. & COM.

ISSN 0093-0709

The Syracuse Journal of International Law and Commerce is owned, published and printed bi-annually by Syracuse University, Syracuse, New York 13244-1030, U.S.A. The Journal is one of the oldest student-produced international law journals in the United States and celebrated forty years of student-production in the Spring of 2013. Editorial and business offices are located at: Syracuse University College of Law, Dineen Hall, 950 Irving Avenue, Suite No. 346, Syracuse, New York 13244-6070 U.S.A.

The Syracuse Journal of International Law and Commerce actively seeks and accepts article submissions from scholars and practitioners in the field of public and private international law. The Journal, on occasion, holds international law symposia and publishes the papers presented therein in addition to its bi-annual volume of submissions.

Issue subscription rates, payable in advance, are: United States, \$25.00; foreign, \$30.00. Subscriptions are automatically renewed unless a request for discontinuance is received. Back issues may be obtained from William S. Hein & Co., Inc., 2350 North Forest Road, Getzville, N.Y. 14068. To ensure prompt delivery, notification should be received one month in advance.

The views expressed are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the *Syracuse Journal of International Law and Commerce*, its advisors, editors or staff, Syracuse University College of Law or Syracuse University.

Member of National Conference of Law Reviews Member of National Conference of International Law Journals.

The Syracuse Journal of International Law and Commerce is indexed in the Index of Legal Periodicals & Books, Current Law and Legal Resources Index. Full text of selected articles is available on Westlaw® (database SYRJILC).

Copyright © 2021 Syracuse Journal of International Law and Commerce. All rights reserved.

For more information, please visit

http://www.law.syr.edu/students/publications/sjilc/index.asp

# SYRACUSE JOURNAL OF INTERNATIONAL LAW AND COMMERCE

#### SYRACUSE UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF LAW

2020 - 2021 Editorial Board

Editor-in-Chief Audrey E.P. Fick

Managing Editor
GABRIEL DIAZ

**Executive Editor**Brenna Mason

Notes & Comments Editors Form and Accuracy Editors

AUDREY BIMBI CODY LIND BRIT BROUILLARD
GREG BROWNE
BRIANA CLAYTON
JAKE GELLERSTEIN
FRANCES RIVERA REYES
KARA ROCKEY

Lead Articles Editors
Shannon Bausinger
Clee Malfitano

Administrative Editor
TROY PARKER

Business Editor Moneeka Brar Media Editor Mariah Almonte

Senior Associate Editors

CONOR BOWERS ELENA DELELLA KEN KNIGHT ALEXANDRA CALHOUN SARAH HANSEN GRACE MANDRY IMANI DEAS MAX HUBSCHER SHARON OTASOWIE

#### Second Year Associate Editors

SCOTT AITKEN SOFIA CALABRESE ALYSSA CHRISTIAN RACHEL COMBS JAMIE DAVILA LINDSAY DURKIN
MORGAN HUTCHINSON
MAZAHER KAILA
JULIA KELLY
ESTHER KIM
JUSTIN LANGE
CHRISTOPHER WATERS

Donatello Lazarati Matthew McCartin Margaret Santandreu Aaron Strom Gabriella Verdone

Faculty Advisor
Christian Day

#### OFFICERS OF THE UNIVERSITY

Kent D. Syverud, Chancellor and President Zhanjiang "John" Liu, Interim Vice Chancellor and Provost

#### COLLEGE OF LAW ADMINISTRATION

Craig M. Boise, B.A., J.D., LL.M. Taxation, Dean and Professor of Law

Keith J. Bybee, A.B., M.A., Ph.D., Vice Dean; Paul E. and Honorable Joanne F. Alper '72 Judiciary Studies Professor; Professor of Law; Professor of Political Science; Director, Institute for the Study of the Judiciary, Politics, and the Media; Senior Research Associate, Campbell Public Affairs Institute

Lauryn P. Gouldin, A.B., J.D., Associate Dean for Faculty Research; Crandall Melvin Associate Professor of Law

Deborah Kenn, B.A., J.D., Associate Dean of Clinical and Experiential Education; Professor of Law; Director, Office of Clinical Legal Education

Kathleen M. O'Connor, A.B., J.D., Associate Dean of Online Education; Teaching Professor

Sophie Dagenais, D.E.C., B.C.L., LL.B., Assistant Dean for Advancement and External Affairs

Heidi Hart-Gorman, B.A., M.B.A., M.S.W., Assistant Dean for Finance and Administration Andrew S. Horsfall, B.A., J.D., Assistant Dean of International Programs; Co-Director, LondonEx

J. Zachary Kelley, B.S., M.S., Assistant Dean for Student Resouces and Internal Research Denée Page, B.A., J.D., Assistant Dean of Enrollment Management

#### **FACULTY**

Courtney Abbott Hill, B.A., J.D., Teaching Professor

Rakesh K. Anand, A.B., J.D., Professor of Law

Robert Ashford, B.A., J.D., Professor of Law

Elizabeth A. August, B.A., J.D., Teaching Professor

James E. Baker, B.A., J.D., Professor of Law; Director, Institute for Security Policy and Law; Professor of Public Administration, Maxwell School of Citizenship and Public Affairs (by courtesy appointment)

Kristen Barnes, A.B., J.D., Ph.D., Professor of Law

Todd A. Berger, B.A., J.D., LL.M., Associate Professor of Law; Director, Advocacy Programs; Director, PhillyEx

Peter D. Blanck, B.A., Ph.D., J.D., University Professor; Chairman, Burton Blatt Institute Craig M. Boise, B.A., J.D., LL.M. Taxation, Dean and Professor of Law

Jennifer S. Breen, B.A., M.A., Ph.D., J.D., Associate Professor of Law

Emily Brown, B.A., J.D., Assistant Teaching Professor

Keith J. Bybee, A.B., M.A., Ph.D., Vice Dean; Paul E. and Honorable Joanne F. Alper '72 Judiciary Studies Professor; Professor of Law; Professor of Political Science; Director, Institute for the Study of the Judiciary, Politics, and the Media; Senior Research Associate, Campbell Public Affairs Institute

Sanjay K. Chhablani, B.A., J.D., Laura J. & L. Douglas Meredith Professor of Teaching Excellence; Professor of Law; Professor, Forensic and National Security Sciences Institute, College of Arts and Sciences (by courtesy appointment)

Bruce Ching, B.A., M.A., J.D., Senior Faculty Fellow

Kelly K. Curtis, B.A., J.D., Teaching Professor; Director, Academic and Bar Support

Christian C. Day, A.B., J.D., Professor of Law

Lisa A. Dolak, B.S., J.D., Senior Vice President and University Secretary; Angela S. Cooney Professor of Law

Doron Dorfman, B.A., LL.B., LL.M., J.S.M., J.S.D., Associate Professor of Law

David M. Driesen, B.Mus., M.Mus., J.D., University Professor

- Jan Fleckenstein, B.A., M.L.S., M.S., J.D., Associate Teaching Professor; Director of the Law Library
- lan Gallacher, B.A., M.F.A., J.D., Professor of Law
- Shannon P. Gardner, B.A., J.D., Teaching Professor
- Gregory L. Germain, B.A., J.D., LL.M., Professor of Law; Director, Bankruptcy Clinic
- Shubha Ghosh, B.A., Ph.D., J.D., Crandall Melvin Professor of Law; Director, Syracuse Intellectual Property Law Institute
- Antonio Gidi, LL.B., LL.M., Ph.D., S.J.D., Teaching Professor
- Lauryn P. Gouldin, A.B., J.D., Associate Dean for Faculty Research; Crandall Melvin Associate Professor of Law
- Jack M. Graves, B.A., J.D., Teaching Professor
- Andrew S. Greenberg, B.A., J.D., Teaching Professor
- Margaret M. Harding, B.A., J.D., Professor of Law
- Laurie Hobart, B.A., J.D., M.F.A., Assistant Teaching Professor
- Paula C. Johnson, B.A., J.D., LL.M., Professor of Law; Co-Director, Cold Case Justice Initiative
- Arlene S. Kanter, B.A., J.D., LL.M., Laura J. & L. Douglas Meredith Professor for Teaching Excellence; Professor of Law; Director, COL Disability Law and Policy Program; Faculty Director of International Programs; Professor of Disability Studies, School of Education (by courtesy appointment)
- Gary T. Kelder, B.A., J.D., LL.M., Professor of Law
- Deborah Kenn, B.A., J.D., Associate Dean of Clinical and Experiential Education;

  Professor of Lawy Director Office of Clinical Legal Education
- Professor of Law; Director, Office of Clinical Legal Education Andrew Kim, B.A., J.D., Professor of Law
- Nina A. Kohn, A.B., J.D., David M. Levy L'48 Professor of Law; Faculty Director of Online Education
- Beth G. Kubala, B.S., J.D., LL.M., Teaching Professor; Executive Director of the Betty and Michael D. Wohl Veterans Legal Clinic
- Laura G. Lape, A.B., M.A., J.D., Associate Professor of Law
- Kevin Noble Maillard, B.A., M.A., J.D, Ph.D., Professor of Law
- Robin Paul Malloy, B.S., J.D., LL.M., Ernest I. White Chair and Distinguished Professor of Law; Kauffman Professor of Entrepreneurship and Innovation; Director, Center on Property, Citizenship, and Social Entrepreneurism; Professor of Economics, Maxwell School of Citizenship and Public Affairs (by courtesy appointment)
- Mary Helen McNeal, A.B, J.D., Professor of Law; Director, Elder and Health Law Clinic; Co-Director, London-Ex
- Suzette M. Meléndez, B.A., J.D., Teaching Professor; Director, Children's Rights and Family Law Clinic; Director, Syracuse Family Advocacy Program; Director, Inclusion Initiatives
- Aliza M. Milner, B.S., J.D., Teaching Professor; Director, Legal Communication and Research
- Jessica R. Murray, B.A., J.D., Associate Teaching Professor; Director, Transactional Law Clinic
- Robert B. Murrett, B.A., M.S., M.A., Deputy Director, Institute for Security Policy and Law; Professor of Practice, Public Administration and International Affairs, Maxwell School of Citizenship and Public Affairs
- Robert G. Nassau, B.A., J.D., Teaching Professor; Associate Director, Office of Clinical Legal Education; Director, Low Income Taxpayer Clinic
- Mark P. Nevitt, B.S., J.D., LL.M., B.S.E., Associate Professor of Law
- Kathleen M. O'Connor, A.B., J.D., Associate Dean of Online Education; Teaching Professor
- Deborah S. O'Malley, B.A., J.D., Associate Teaching Professor, Director, NYCEx
- Keli Perrin, B.S., M.P.A., J.D., Associate Teaching Professor; Managing Director, Institute for Security Policy and Law
- Gary J. Pieples, B.A., J.D., Teaching Professor; Director, Criminal Defense Clinic
- LaVonda N. Reed, B.A., J.D., Associate Provost for Faculty Affairs; Professor of Law
- Richard S. Risman, B.A., J.D., Teaching Professor

M. Jack Rudnick, B.A., J.D., Professor of Practice; Director, Innovation Law Center

Michael A. Schwartz, B.A., M.A., J.D., LL.M., Ph.D., Associate Professor of Law; Director, Disability Rights Clinic

William C. Snyder, A.B., J.D., Teaching Professor

Danielle Stokes, B.A., J.D., Faculty Fellow

Kent D. Syverud, B.A., J.D., M.A., Chancellor and President

Mary Szto, B.A., M.A., J.D., Teaching Professor

Erik R. Teifke, B.A., J.D., Professor of Practice, Criminal Defense Clinic

Monica M. Todd, B.A, B.A., M.A., J.D, Teaching Professor

C. Cora True-Frost, B.A., J.D., M.P.A., LL.M., Bond, Schoeneck & King Distinguished Professor; Associate Professor of Law

Terry L. Turnipseed, B.S., M.S., M.S., J.D., LL.M., Professor of Law; Faculty Director of Externship Programs; Professor of Engineering and Computer Science, L.C. Smith College of Engineering and Computer Science (by courtesy appointment)

A. Joseph Warburton, A.B., M.G.A., J.D., M.S., Ph.D., Professor of Law; Professor of Finance, Whitman School of Management

Corri Zoli, B.A., M.A., Ph.D., Associate Teaching Professor; Director of Research, Institute for Security Policy and Law

#### **FACULTY EMERITI**

Hannah R. Arterian, B.A., J.D., Dean Emerita

William C. Banks, B.A., M.S., J.D., Professor of Law Emeritus

Peter A. Bell, B.A., J.D., Professor of Law Emeritus

Leslie Bender, B.A., J.D., LL.M., Professor of Law Emerita

Richard A. Ellison, B.B.A., LL.B., Professor of Law Emeritus

Thomas R. French, B.A., M.L.S., M.A., J.D., Professor of Law Emeritus

Martin L. Fried, B.A., J.D., LL.M., Crandall Melvin Professor of Estates and Trusts Emeritus

Hilary K. Josephs, A.B., J.D., Ph.D., Dean's Distinguished Research Scholar of Asian Law Emerita

Travis H.D. Lewin, B.A., LL.B., S.J.D., Professor of Law Emeritus

Thomas J. Maroney, B.A., LL.B., Professor of Law Emeritus

Janis L. McDonald, B.A., J.D., LL.M., Professor of Law Emerita

Robert J. Rabin, A.B., LL.B., LL.M., Professor of Law Emeritus

Sarah H. Ramsey, B.A., M.A., J.D., LL.M., Laura J. & L. Douglas Meredith Professor for Teaching Excellence; Professor of Law Emerita

Steven S. Wechsler, B.S., M.B.A., J.D., Professor of Law Emeritus

William M. Wiecek, B.A., LL.B., Ph.D., Chester Adgate Congdon Professor of Public Law and Legislation Emeritus

# Unfinished Business: Why Multilateral Development Banks Need to Carry Out PostProject Environmental Assessments

# Audrey Bimbi\*

#### ABSTRACT

Multilateral development banks assist their member states by financially supporting project developments that members facing budget constraints are unable to achieve alone. However, because of the environmental concerns plaguing the developing world, banks are now considering environmental protection in their initial assessments of projects. By requiring states to submit environmental and social management plans, multilateral development banks ensure that they can assist states in their fight to enhance environmental standards and revive their economies.

This Note focuses explicitly on two multilateral development banks: the World Bank and the African Development Bank (AfDB). Projects begin with environmental protection assessments. Using Zimbabwe's water sanitation projects carried out by both banks as an example, their reports show that those assessments were only carried out in the initial portion of those projects. However, when reading through the final project reports, there is no mention of a post-project environmental assessment to determine whether those involved carried out the project in an environmentally conscious manner. This lack of a post-project assessment raises the question of whether those in charge of executing these projects did so in a manner consistent with the requirements articulated in the pre-funding stage. This is especially concerning when one considers that corrupt governments and other political issues affect the appropriate use of money allocated to projects.

The first part of this Note will introduce the environmental assessment procedures of two multilateral development banks, the World Bank and the AfDB, including the current implementation of those assessments. The second part will focus on Zimbabwe as the case study of this discussion, where there is a water shortage crisis. This crisis led the World Bank, AfDB, and the United Nations to implement water sanitation projects in different regions of the country. This Note's

<sup>\*</sup> I would like to thank Professor David Driesen for his assistance, advice, and mentorship throughout the entire Note-writing process. I would also like to thank my mother and friends for the empowering support they gave and showed me during this process.

discussion will only focus on the projects implemented by the two multilateral development banks. The third part will discuss the progression of projects based on the implemented environmental assessments. The fourth and final part will introduce the legal basis for the argument that current environmental and social management plans are not complete without a post-project evaluation conducted in the project's final stages.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Nothing puts a damper on one's morning routine more than a croaking tap. Imagine turning on your faucet, ready to wash up for the day, only to hear a dragged-out croaking sound with no water coming out. You soon find out that the problem is not just with that tap; there is a problem with every single tap in your household and those throughout the entire neighborhood. Whatever the issue is, you may think the solution will be available in minutes—hours at most. However, as the news spreads around your city—yes, the problem affects your entire city—you realize that it might be days before you get a drop of water flowing through the pipes to your household again. To make matters worse, you hear your city officials calling this problem *Day Zero*, and you are confused because you were never aware of a countdown to anything.\(^1\)

This is not the synopsis of an apocalyptic movie's poorly written plot, but a real-life situation currently affecting many people in developing and developed countries. So far, the countries that have or nearly experienced this phenomenon are South Africa,<sup>2</sup> Zimbabwe,<sup>3</sup> Brazil,<sup>4</sup> and Australia.<sup>5</sup> The encroaching reality of climate change fuels

<sup>1.</sup> Day Zero is a day when water is shut off for an entire population (might be for a city or country as a whole), such that people have to go to a communal place to get water for their most basic needs.

<sup>2.</sup> Aryn Baker, What It's Like To Live Through Cape Town's Massive Water Crisis, TIME (n.d.), available at https://time.com/cape-town-south-africa-water-crisis/ (last visited Apr. 30, 2021).

<sup>3.</sup> Patrick Kingsley & Jeffrey Moyo, *In Zimbabwe, the Water Taps Run Dry and Worsen 'a Nightmare'*, N.Y. TIMES (July 31, 2019), *available at* https://www.nytimes.com/2019/07/31/world/africa/zimbabwe-water-crisis.html (last visited Apr. 30, 2021).

<sup>4. 20</sup> Lessons From São Paulo's Day Zero, 50 LITERS (Nov. 10, 2019), available at http://50liters.com/sao-paulo-day-zero-lessons/ (last visited Apr. 30, 2021).

<sup>5.</sup> Nicole Trian, Australia Prepares for 'Day Zero' - The Day the Water Runs Out, FR. 24 (Sept. 9, 2019), available at https://www.france24.com/en/20190919-australia-day-zero-

the fear of a global *Day Zero* as water reservoirs dry up and rainy seasons become dryer. The most significant division created by climate change is how different countries handle the stress that accompanies this crisis. Developed countries have better access to resources, while developing countries suffer because of the lack of infrastructure to keep clean, safe drinking water running. The lack of funding and absence of the resources necessary to fix the problem only further exacerbate the issue.

States turn to multilateral development banks, from which they can borrow funds, to address the issues surrounding this lack of finance and resources. Multilateral development banks are responsible for providing monetary assistance to promote economic and social development in developing countries.<sup>6</sup> The funding for these banks comes from member states' contributions and is used to fund their needs. However, this funding model affects the types of projects the banks focus on and how they carry them out. For example, the United States is a contributing member of the World Bank and five other multilateral development banks.<sup>7</sup> As the World Bank's largest shareholder, the United States is one of the most influential members whose role affects the Bank's priorities and practices. Therefore, whenever the World Bank's practices seem to favor one group of member states over another, the disadvantaged group is more likely to alter those practices if it builds a coalition with the United States.<sup>8</sup> This, however, is not an easy task. As a result, when major shareholders and contributors like the United States do not support a project, the World Bank is less likely to fund that project or change its practices to accommodate that project's demands. Of particular interest to this discussion is how multilateral development banks have incorporated an environmental focus in their pre-funding evaluation process.

The first part of this Note will introduce the environmental assessment procedures used by two multilateral development banks, the World Bank and the African Development Bank (AfDB), including what drove the change and the current implementation of those assessments.

drought-water-climate-change-greta-thunberg-paris-accord-extinction-rebe (last visited Apr. 30, 2021).

<sup>6.</sup> Rebecca M. Nelson, Multilateral Development Banks: Overview and Issues for Congress, CONG. RSCH. SERV. (Feb. 11, 2020), available at https://fas.org/sgp/crs/row/R41170.pdf (last visited Apr. 30, 2021).

<sup>7.</sup> Rebecca M. Nelson, Multilateral Development Banks: U.S. Contributions FY 2000-2020, CONG. RSCH. SERV. (Jan. 23, 2020), available at https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/RS20792.pdf (last visited Apr. 30, 2021).

<sup>8.</sup> Daniel L. Nielson & Michael J. Tierney, Delegation to International Organizations: Agency Theory and World Bank Environmental Reform, 57 Int'l Org. 241, 254-56 (2003).

The second part will focus on Zimbabwe as a case study. Currently, Zimbabwe is facing a water shortage crisis. This crisis led the World Bank, AfDB, and the United Nations (U.N.) to implement water sanitation projects in different regions of the country. This discussion will only focus on the projects implemented by World Bank and AfDB. The third part of this Note will discuss the projects' progression based on the environmental assessments carried out. The fourth and final part will introduce the legal basis for the argument that the current environmental and social management plans are incomplete without a post-project evaluation conducted during the projects' final stages.

#### II. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENTS

### A. The World Bank's Environmental Impact Assessment

Like all other multilateral development banks, the World Bank receives funding from its member states. Historically, the World Bank has funneled these funds into economic and development projects, with little to no concern for their environmental impacts. Environmental assessments of proposed projects were not a state practice until 1969, when the United States became the first country, and World Bank member state, to require environmental assessments in the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). However, as other member states grew concerned about the environmental disasters affecting Third World countries, intense financial pressure led the World Bank to change its financial programs assessments by adopting environmental safeguards. These safeguards are collectively known as the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA).

The main objective of EIAs is to assess the foreseeable environmental impacts of a proposed project for which a state is requesting World Bank funds.<sup>12</sup> When a member state makes a project proposal, regardless of the project's field, the Bank requires the proposal to show that the process will environmentally be sound and sustainable.<sup>13</sup>

<sup>9.</sup> Jose O. Castaneda, The World Bank Adopts Environmental Impact Assessments, 4 PACE INT'L L. REV. 241, 261; see also id. at 241.

<sup>10.</sup> Nicholas A. Robinson, *International Trends in Environmental Assessment*, 19 B.C. ENVTL. AFF. L. REV 591, 593 (1992).

<sup>11.</sup> Castaneda, supra note 9, at 241.

<sup>12.</sup> Id.

<sup>13.</sup> THE WORLD BANK OPERATIONAL MANUAL: OPERATIONAL POLICY 57 (1999), available at https://www.env.go.jp/earth/coop/coop/materials/10-eiae/10-eiae-7.pdf (last visited Apr. 30, 2021).

This, in turn, helps the Bank improve its decision-making process and fulfill the overall objective of evaluating a proposed project's environmental risks and impacts. The assessment also includes examining the project in light of its alternatives, which may help identify ways to improve its design, siting, and implementation. Any alternative improvements must prevent, mitigate, or compensate for adverse environmental impacts and enhance positive impacts. When feasible, the World Bank will opt for preventative measures, as opposed to those that simply mitigate or compensate for an environmental impact. All of these factors—prevention, mitigation, and compensation—are considered at different stages of the EIA.

The EIA itself has four main stages. In the first stage, the Bank screens the project to evaluate the EIA's detail level and determine its applicability. In the second stage, the focus is on scoping. At this stage, the Bank assesses whether the proposal considered the most pressing issues and completed the terms of reference for the EIA. Following this, the environmental assessment report is prepared and completed—including identified impacts, evaluated alternatives, and designated mitigation measures. The final stage, which involves preparing an environmental management plan, can be part of the environmental assessment report or brought up as its own separate report.<sup>17</sup>

# B. African Development Bank's Integrated Safeguards

The AfDB is a regional developmental bank comprised of fifty-four African or regional member states and twenty-seven non-regional member states. Some of the non-regional member states are the United States, United Kingdom, France, and China. <sup>18</sup> The African Development Fund finances the AfDB, which has thirty-two contributing or donor countries. <sup>19</sup>

Like the World Bank, the AfDB requires regional member countries to show they will implement their projects in an environmentally sound

<sup>14.</sup> Id.

<sup>15.</sup> Id.

<sup>16.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>17.</sup> Robinson, supra note 10, at 593.

<sup>18.</sup> Member Countries, AFR. DEV. BANK (2021), available at https://www.afdb.org/en/about-us/corporate-information/members (last visited Apr. 30, 2021).

<sup>19.</sup> About the ADF, AFR. DEV. BANK (2021), available at https://www.afdb.org/en/about-us/corporate-information/african-development-fund-adf/about-the-adf (last visited Apr. 30, 2021).

manner, aligned with the Integrated Environmental and Social Impact Assessment (IESIA).<sup>20</sup> Specifically, the IESIA provides the regional member countries guidance on carrying out pre-funding environmental impact assessments.<sup>21</sup> The Bank's staff members, who are in charge of reviewing and clearing the proposals, also use these guidance materials for the review-and-approval process and project supervision stages.<sup>22</sup> The guidance materials are also subject to review and regular updates, requiring the Bank and the regional member countries to evaluate what they have implemented thus far and agree on any necessary adjustments.<sup>23</sup>

All subsequent stages of the project apply the environmental and social assessment procedures. These phases are country programming, and project identification, preparation, appraisal, and implementation.<sup>24</sup> The main difference between the AfDB's IESIA and the World Bank's EIA is that the AfDB's guidelines specifically require member states to ensure that the environmental impact requirements from the pre-funding stage are adequately met.<sup>25</sup> To meet these standards, the Bank requires that environmental and social experts be available throughout the various stages of the project cycle—especially in Category 1 and Category 4 projects.<sup>26</sup> Category 1 projects require a full IESIA and Environmental and Social Management Plan (ESMP) because they are more likely to cause irreversible, adverse environmental and social harm. The displacement of more than 200 people is just one example of a Category

<sup>20.</sup> Bank Group's New Guidance on Environmental and Social Impact Assessment to Boost Sustainable Development in RMCs, AFR. DEV. BANK (2015), available at https://www.afdb.org/en/news-and-events/bank-groups-new-guidance-on-environmental-and-social-impact-assessment-to-boost-sustainable-development-in-rmcs-15256 (last visited Apr. 30, 2021) [hereinafter Bank Group's New Guidance].

<sup>21.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>22.</sup> Id.

<sup>23.</sup> *Id.* The IESIA guidelines have been in place since 2001 and were last reviewed in 2015. One of the main changes to the guidelines includes guidance on providing specific support where critical environmental and social risks are concerned when carrying out projects in several priority sectors.

<sup>24.</sup> AfDB Launches Revised Version of its Environmental and Social Assessment Procedures for 2015, AFR. DEV. BANK (2015), available at https://www.afdb.org/en/news-and-events/afdb-launches-revised-version-of-its-environmental-and-social-assessment-procedures-for-2015-15013 (last visited Apr. 30, 2021).

<sup>25.</sup> Id.

<sup>26.</sup> Id.; see also Afr. Dev. Bank, Environmental & Social Assessment Procedures Basics for Public Sector Operations 6 (AfDB, 2011), available at https://www.afdb.org/sites/default/files/documents/environmental-and-social-assessments/esap basics guide en.pdf (last visited Apr. 30, 2021).

1 project's adverse social impact.<sup>27</sup> Category 4 projects, on the other hand, are those "that involve subprojects which may result in adverse environmental and/or social impacts and for which the AfDB's investments are handled by a financial intermediary."<sup>28</sup>

# C. Summary of the Two Banks' Environmental Assessments

Although both banks require EIAs in the pre-funding stages, they do not consider the assessments in post-project evaluations or reports. The case study in Part III of this Note will show how, in funding a project in Zimbabwe, each bank implemented its own environmental assessments.

# III. CASE STUDY: ZIMBABWE'S WATER SHORTAGE CRICIS

Zimbabwe is a landlocked developing country in Southern Africa. Like other landlocked countries, Zimbabwe faces social and economic difficulties because it lacks access to seaports and the world trade market.<sup>29</sup> To engage in importing and exporting, Zimbabwe relies on neighboring countries for transit routes, making trade expensive.<sup>30</sup>

The country also underwent political reform following the overthrow of the late Robert G. Mugabe, whose administration is blamed for many of Zimbabwe's political issues.<sup>31</sup> Some Zimbabweans also

<sup>27.</sup> AFR. DEV. BANK, supra note 26, at 6.

<sup>28.</sup> Id.

<sup>29.</sup> See Kacana Sipangule, Trade Needs Ports, DEV. & COOPERATION (Mar. 28, 2017), available at https://www.dandc.eu/en/article/landlocked-developing-countries-struggle-high-trade-costs-and-depend-transit-countries (last visited Apr. 30, 2021) ("Landlocked developing countries thus pay a high price for not having a sea-port of their own. Their trade depends on the ports of other countries. The worse transport links are, the higher the transaction costs rise. Moreover, many transit countries impose fees and road tolls that raise costs even further[.]").

<sup>30.</sup> See Michael L. Faye et al., The Challenges Facing Landlocked Developing Countries, 5 J. HUM. DEV. 31, 32 (2004) ("Landlocked countries not only face the challenge of distance, but also the challenges that result from dependence on passage through a sovereign transit country, one through which trade from a landlocked country must pass to access international shipping markets. While rivers were a more common form of trade transit ... the principle of dependence on neighbors applies equally to the more modern transport modes of roads and railways. Such dependence can take several forms, many of which are less deliberate than ... power politics.").

<sup>31.</sup> See Mwita Chacha & Jonathan Powell, It's Been One Year Since Zimbabwe Toppled Mugabe. Why Isn't it a Democracy Yet?, WASH. POST (Nov. 17, 2018), available at

blame President Mugabe's administration for the decline in the country's economic growth.<sup>32</sup> The political unrest and economic failure of President Mugabe's administration largely contributed to the mismanagement of the infrastructure needed to supply clean water.<sup>33</sup> As a result, local municipalities and governments resorted to rationing the water supply to ensure that people had enough clean drinking water without draining the reservoirs.<sup>34</sup>

Rationing the water supply only temporarily fixed the issue of the drying reservoirs. Climate change also led to drier rainy seasons, leaving the reservoirs to dry up without replenishment. Reservoir depletion led to the closure of treatment plants used to purify drinking water. Closing these facilities meant there was no remaining infrastructure to purify water, which led to other problems. Water pollution levels rose as a

https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/monkey-cage/wp/2018/11/17/its-been-one-year-since-zimbabwe-toppled-mugabe-why-isnt-it-a-democracy-yet/ (last visited Apr. 30, 2021) ("Certainly, the 2018 elections were better than previous Zimbabwean elections, at least in the high voter turnout and calmly observed on election day. But it does not appear to have been a turning point toward democracy. Throughout the electioneering period, the ZANU-PF showed that it would still go to great lengths to ensure that it retained power, much like Mugabe and other dictators who manipulate elections.").

- 32. See Kingsley & Moyo, supra note 3 ("But the water crisis is only a microcosm of Zimbabwe's malaise. Years of mismanagement under Robert Mugabe, who governed Zimbabwe for 37 years until he was finally ousted in 2017, have left the economy in tatters.").
- 33. See Urgent Water Supply and Sanitation Rehabilitation Project Phase 2, AFR. DEV. BANK (2013), available at https://www.afdb.org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Project-and-Operations/Zimbabwe\_-
- Urgent Water Supply and Sanitation Rehabilitation Project Phase 2 -
- \_Appraisal\_Report.pdf (last visited Mar. 13, 2021) ("In the late 1990s, Zimbabwe was among the top-ranking countries in the provision of basic water supply and sanitation services in sub-Saharan Africa. In the following decade, due to the declining economy and political crisis, the country's infrastructure collapsed with severe socioeconomic impacts reaching the worst level in 2008/9 resulting in the devastating cholera epidemic which took the lives of more than 4300 people.").
- 34. See Urgent Water Supply and Sanitation Rehabilitation Project, AFR. DEV. BANK (Oct. 2010), available at https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/Full\_Report\_390 (last visited Mar. 13, 2021) ("The country has approximately 2200 dams, of which 213 are classified as large dams under the International Commissions for Large Dams (ICOLD) definition. Like the rest of the infrastructure, some of the dams are at risk due to the prolonged period without adequate maintenance.").

ramification of open defecation<sup>35</sup> and chemical dumping that affected the potability of groundwater.<sup>36</sup>

The first, most dangerous consequence of the pollution was its devastating health effects. In 2008 and 2009, the country experienced one of the worst cholera epidemics in Africa, it claimed over 4000 lives and affected more than 98,000 people.<sup>37</sup> To address the problem, private individuals, local governments, and donors drilled boreholes, vet they faced two main issues with this solution. First, some of the boreholes required electricity to pump water. This was problematic because Zimbabwe relies primarily on hydroelectricity, which climate change has affected by depleting water levels in the reservoirs that serve as hydroelectricity sources.<sup>38</sup> As a result there were, and still are, many power cuts—when the local government cuts off electricity for a uncertain time—making it difficult to operate the boreholes.<sup>39</sup> The pipes also became rusty, making the water unclean and unsafe to drink, 40 but people resorted to drinking that water anyway because there were few better alternatives. As a result, in 2018, Zimbabwe experienced another cholera outbreak that claimed at least fifty victims and affected the health

<sup>35.</sup> See Zimbabwe: Water and Sanitation Crisis - Government Mismanagement, Corruption Risks Lives of Millions, HUM. RTS. WATCH (Nov. 19, 2013), available at https://www.hrw.org/news/2013/11/19/zimbabwe-water-and-sanitation-crisis (last visited Apr. 30, 2021) ("Harare's water and sanitation system is broken. The government isn't fixing it . . . In many communities, there is no water for drinking or bathing, there is sewage in the streets, there is diarrhea and typhoid, and the threat of another cholera epidemic. The water shortage and the lack of functioning indoor toilets or community latrines sometimes gave them no choice but to defecate outdoors.").

<sup>36.</sup> See Jane Cohen, Troubled Water - Burst Pipes, Contaminated Wells, and Open Defecation in Zimbabwe's Capital, HUM. RTS. WATCH (Nov. 2013), available at https://www.hrw.org/report/2013/11/19/troubled-water/burst-pipes-contaminated-wells-and-open-defecation-zimbabwes (last visited Apr. 30, 2021) ("Despite government statistics pointing to a low rate of open defecation in urban areas, people we interviewed said they often resorted to open defecation because they were unable to flush their toilets as a result of lack of water, or their toilets were clogged and overflowing, rending the toilets unusable.").

<sup>37.</sup> Jeremy Youde, *Don't Drink the Water: Politics and Cholera in Zimbabwe*, 65 INT'L J. 687, 690-91 (2010).

<sup>38.</sup> Problem Masau, Zimbabweans Work at Night to Beat Hydropower Shortage as Drought Bites, CLIMATE CHANGE NEWS (July 2019), available at https://www.climatechangenews.com/2019/07/24/zimbabweans-work-night-beat-hydropower-shortage-drought-bites/ (last visited Mar. 13, 2021).

<sup>39.</sup> Zimbabwe Peace Project, *The Water Crisis Fact Sheet No. 2, 2019*, Relief Web (2019), *available at* https://reliefweb.int/report/zimbabwe/water-crisis-fact-sheet-no-2-2019 (last visited Mar. 13, 2021).

<sup>40.</sup> Id.; see also Liliosa Pahwaringira et al., The Impacts of Water Shortages on Women's Time-Space Activities in the High-Density Suburb of Mabvuku in Harare, 4 J. GENDER & WATER 65, 66 (2017).

of more than 8000 people.<sup>41</sup> Safe drinking water remains a concern as more water purification plants shut down.

The water pollution crisis also caused a second problem: waiting hours in queues to use the boreholes threatens the safety of women and children.<sup>42</sup> When it gets dark, women and children must choose between staying line and waiting their turn, or returning the next day. This predicament is not an easy choice since returning home without water means another day without drinking water and food. On the other hand, staying in the queues late at night exposes individuals to the potential to be attacked on the walk home, as the boreholes are often neither conveniently nor located within a short distance of local homes.<sup>43</sup>

The water pollution crisis also affects education. When there is no water, children miss school because they do not have food to eat, clean uniforms, or enough drops of water to clean themselves. As a result, they must choose between waiting in queues to get water, thereby missing school, and attending school where they risk being turned away or isolated because of poor hygiene.

# A. Responsibility and Resources

In addressing these problems, one needs to understand both who has either claimed or actually has responsibility for solving these problems, and the means by and extent to which those parties have solved it thus far.

#### i. State Level

Section 77 of the Zimbabwean Constitution stipulates that "[e]very person has the right to safe, clean and potable water . . . and the State must take reasonable legislative and other measures, within the limits of the resources available to it, to achieve the progressive realisation of this right." Although the Constitution recognized the right to clean water, two issues hindered the government's ability to address the problem. The first issue is that there too many institutions were involved in the water

<sup>41.</sup> Cholera-Zimbabwe, WORLD HEALTH ORG. (Oct. 5, 2018), available at https://www.who.int/csr/don/05-october-2018-cholera-zimbabwe/en/ (last visited Mar. 13, 2020).

<sup>42.</sup> Zimbabwe Peace Project, supra note 39.

<sup>43.</sup> People taking over public boreholes and selling water to others is also a concern.

<sup>44.</sup> Constitution of Zimbabwe Amendment (No.20) Jan. 31, 2013, ch. 4, art. 77 (Zim.).

and sanitation sector, making it quite difficult for the government to determine who was accountable.

The government assigned the Ministry of Water Resources Development and Management with overall responsibility for the water and sanitation sector. However, the involvement of other government ministries made it difficult to reach a consensus when implementing policies. For example, the Zimbabwe National Water Authority (ZINWA), Ministry of Local Government, Urban and Rural Development—which, as the name suggests, is also responsible for water supply in urban areas—and the Department of Environmental Health, housed under the Ministry of Health and Child Welfare, share responsibility for water supply to rural areas.

The second problem is with the phrase "within the limits of the resources available to it." As of 2019, the World Bank reported that Zimbabwe was experiencing extreme poverty due to an El Niño-induced drought and a recent cyclone, nicknamed *Idai*, that worsened the drought when it devastated the provinces that account for 30% of the country's agricultural output.<sup>45</sup> Because of its current debt to the World Bank, Zimbabwe's lending program is inactive, leaving the country to rely on financial aid from other governments and intergovernmental organizations (IGOs) to fund projects geared toward fixing the infrastructure.<sup>46</sup>

#### ii. International Level

The U.N. expressed its commitment to water sanitation when the United Nations General Assembly (GAOR) declared "safe and clean drinking water and sanitation a human right essential to the full enjoyment of life and all other human rights." This resolution further called for states and international organizations to work together by "provid[ing] financial resources, capacity-building and technology transfer[s]... to developing countries, to scale up efforts to provide safe, clean, accessible and affordable drinking water and sanitation for all." In terms of accessibility, the World Health Organization (WHO) requires that the clean water source be "within 1000 meters [about two-thirds of a mile] of the home and collection time should not exceed [thirty] minutes."

<sup>45.</sup> The World Bank in Zimbabwe, THE WORLD BANK (Aug. 2020), available at https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/zimbabwe/overview (last visited Mar. 13, 2021).

<sup>46.</sup> *Id* 

<sup>47.</sup> G.A. Res. 64/292, at 2 (July 28, 2010).

<sup>48.</sup> Id.

This means that even if the boreholes drilled in the Zimbabwean communities met the sanitation levels, the current situation level in Zimbabwe would still fail to meet the "physical accessibility" criteria of the right to water and sanitation.

One of the ways the U.N. has collaborated with states to work towards realizing this right is by setting sustainable development goals (SDGs). Of specific relevance to this Note is SDG 6, which aims at "[e]nsur[ing] the availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all." SDG 6's goals include achieving universal and equitable access to safe and affordable drinking water for all by 2030. Target indicator 6.3 of SDG 6 stipulates that the U.N. plans to "improve water quality by reducing pollution, eliminating dumping and minimizing [the] release of hazardous chemicals and materials, halving the proportion of untreated wastewater and substantially increasing recycling and safe reuse globally." 50

Zimbabwe has carried out infrastructure-renewal projects to ensure that currently available water sources are treated to provide people with greater access to safe drinking water, even though reservoirs are drying up. One such project is the Urgent Water Supply and Sanitation Rehabilitation Project (UWSSRP). The next two parts of this Note will explore the project's background, current performance, and the results this project has purportedly achieved. The bulk of the discussion will focus on accountability, transparency, and compliance with the project's budget and terms as stipulated by the funding organizations.

#### IV. THE BANKS' PROJECTS

#### A. AfDB: UWSSRP

## i. Background

The UWSSRP began in 2013 due to the work and support of the Zimbabwe Multi-Donor Trust Fund (Zim-Fund), a group of donors who came together in 2010 to support the Government of Zimbabwe's management of activities geared toward recovery and development.<sup>51</sup>

<sup>49.</sup> Ensure Availability and Sustainable Management of Water and Sanitation for All, DEP'T U.N. ECON. & SOC. AFF. (2020), available at https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdg6 (last visited May 2, 2021).

<sup>50.</sup> Id.

<sup>51.</sup> Catherine Benson Wahlen, ZimFund Project to Improve Water Supply and Sanitation in Six Zimbabwean Municipalities, SDG KNOWLEDGE HUB (Apr. 23, 2013),

Zim-Fund launched the project, and the AfDB managed it with a focus on increasing the "availability, quality and reliability of water, restor[ing] wastewater treatment capacity and reduc[ing] water-borne related diseases." Zim-Fund implemented the project in six major Zimbabwean urban areas: Chitungwiza (Harare), Chegutu, Kwekwe, Masvingo, and Mutare. By restoring the treatment capacity of the water sources in these urban areas, the project also aimed to "reduce pollution to the raw potable water sources and hence reduce [the] cost of the water treatment chemicals used." At the conclusion of this project, these urban areas should have received refurbished pumping equipment and treatment plants. This would increase the facilities' usage by 4% and improve the quality of the water supply and sanitation sector services. 54

# ii. Rehabilitation of Water Supply and Sewerage Infrastructure

The rehabilitation part of the project was concerned with the restoration, replacement, and/or refurbishment of existing water facilities and infrastructure. This included the "rehabilitation of the main outfall and trunk sewers, booster pump stations, treatment plants to achieve at least preliminary treatment, sludge digestion and disposal and repair of sewers blockages." To ensure that the solutions were long-term, the project's rehabilitation phase required water supply and sanitation departments of urban municipalities to be equipped with the treatment plants, equipment, and transportation necessary to improve the quality of

available at http://sdg.iisd.org/news/zimfund-project-to-improve-water-supply-and-sanitation-in-six-zimbabwean-municipalities/ (last visited May 2, 2021).

<sup>52.</sup> Urgent Water Supply and Sanitation Rehabilitation Project Appraisal Report, AFR. DEV. BANK (Oct. 2010), available at https://docplayer.net/amp/3580405-Urgent-water-supply-and-sanitation-rehabilitation-project-country-zimbabwe-project-appraisal-report-october-2010.html (last visited May 2, 2021) ("The Program Oversight Committee (POC), comprising of contributing donors and representative of the GOZ, is to oversee the implementation of the Zim-Fund, ensure alignment and coherence of the activities with the Government's recovery program and development programmes, endorse project briefs and proposals and recommend to the Bank the allocation of funding to the approved projects. The Operations Manual will guide the processing and implementation of the project financed by the Zim-Fund developed for the Fund. In line with the procedures, the proposed project's brief was approved by the Zim-Fund Policy Oversight Committee (POC) on 25 October 2010, which led to the preparation and appraisal of the project in detail.").

<sup>53.</sup> Id.

<sup>54.</sup> Id.

<sup>55.</sup> Id.

operation, maintenance, service, and delivery.<sup>56</sup> While carrying out these tasks the AfDB was aware of the environmental impact, as evinced by discussions about taking measures to replace destroyed vegetation and protect surrounding areas when disposing of discarded equipment and materials.<sup>57</sup>

### iii. Promotion of Improved Sanitation and Hygiene Education

The sanitation and hygiene component focuses on teaching community residents about ways to improve hygiene levels to reduce the chance of contracting water-borne diseases, improving the overall health of the environment. Additionally, there would also be a focus on educating the community on common ownership of the infrastructure and power supply equipment to reduce the number of incidents connected to vandalism and theft. Educating the community with this information would mitigate environmental degradation.

## iv. Institutional Support

The project also aimed to ensure that water supply and sanitation sector staff improved their knowledge of how to operate equipment and maintain facilities. Proposed training modules focused on educating the staff on how to reduce non-revenue water, introduce efficient operation and maintenance techniques, and "recommend the most suitable financial and billing programs together with the necessary hardware for running the [water supply and sanitation] services."<sup>58</sup>

# v. Project Management and Engineering Services

Project management and engineering focused on compliance and accountability issues by ensuring that a Project Implementation Entity (PIE) was responsible for assessing the different stages of the project. This component included assessments and supervision of the

<sup>56.</sup> Id.

<sup>57.</sup> Urgent Water Supply and Sanitation Rehabilitation Project, supra note 34, at 13 ("The environment and social management plan will entail how the upgrade should be undertaken such that the sludge is not disposed of in a manner that will contaminate the soil and groundwater resources. Included in the mitigation measures would be the prevention of nuisance in terms of dust, noise, vermin, and odor."); see also Urgent Water Supply and Sanitation Rehabilitation Project Appraisal Report, supra note 52.

<sup>58.</sup> Id. at 10.

specifications, drawings, rehabilitation works, and design. There was also an annual audit of the project, carried out by an independent audit firm.<sup>59</sup>

Per these four points of focus, as provided by the AfDB, Zim-Fund implemented the UWSSRP in two phases.<sup>60</sup> Phase I ran from December 2011 and focused on rehabilitating water supply and sewer infrastructure and facilities, as stipulated under the first component. Phase II focused on ensuring the long-term survival of the effects of Phase I, i.e. emphasizing community education and the institutional support of the staff in the water sanitation and supply sector.

## vi. Integrated Environmental and Social Impact Assessment

Zimbabwean environmental legislation does not require project management to conduct EIAs when implementing rehabilitation programs to existing water sources and wastewater facilities. However, per the Bank's protocol, the AfDB carried out an EIA because the UWSSRP was a Category 2 project—that is, likely to have a detrimental social and environmental impact on the construction site. It might appear useless to carry out an EIA for a project to correct activities that have resulted in environmental pollution and other kinds of damage. However, the Bank found the assessment necessary because of the potential environmental harm that could occur without proper management.

In carrying out the ESMP, the Bank had several objectives. The first was to ensure that there would be continuous improvement of social and

<sup>59.</sup> Id. at 10.

<sup>60.</sup> Portfolio of Projects Financed Under the ZimFund, AFR. DEV. BANK (Nov. 2015), available at https://www.afdb.org/en/topics-and-sectors/initiatives-partnerships/zimbabwe-multi-donor-trust-fund/portfolio-of-projects (last visited May 2, 2021).

<sup>61.</sup> Environmental and Social Management Plan, AFR. DEV. BANK (Oct. 2012), available at https://www.afdb.org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Environmental-and-Social-Assessments/Zimbabwe%20-

<sup>%20</sup>Urgent%20Water%20Supply%20and%20Sanitation%20Rehabilitation%20-%20ESMP%20Summary.pdf (last visited May 2, 2021).

<sup>62.</sup> *Id.* at 2. *See also* AFR. DEV. BANK, *supra* note 6 (stating that Category 2 projects are those that are "likely to induce detrimental, site-specific environmental and social impacts that can be minimized by including mitigation measures in an ESMP and an Abbreviated Resettlement Action Plan (ARAP), when applicable.").

<sup>63.</sup> *Id.* ("It is worth noting that the project mainly involves correcting activities that harm the environment, such as discharging untreated wastewater into the natural environment; pollution through sewage leaks; drinking water leakages, etc.").

<sup>64.</sup> Id.

environmental performance throughout the project's implementation. This objective focused on reducing negative impacts and enhancing positive effects during the facilities' rehabilitation process. Fulfilling this objective would also help meet the second objective, which focused on ensuring that the project does not cause any immitigable social and environmental problems. The third objective was to outline mitigation measures that could increase the management of social and environmental impacts associated with the project. The fourth objective focused on ensuring that the rehabilitation or upgrades of the water and wastewater infrastructure would be conducted according to the Bank's guidelines throughout the project. The fifth objective was to comply with national and local legislatures. Lastly, the Bank aimed to identify the roles, responsibilities, and management costs of social and environmental protection.<sup>65</sup>

Although temporary and localized, some of the project's negative impacts involved environmental concerns about soil and groundwater contamination if wastewater treatment was inadequate. Additionally, because the rehabilitation process and wastewater treatment required desludging, environmental pollution was still likely to occur. To mitigate the occurrences of these issues, the AfDB proposed measures like "local chlorination . . . to address potential recontamination and ensure delivery of safe water, develop appropriate sludge management measures including increased re-use of the sludge and [use of] vacuum trucks to remove impounding sewage and other contaminants spillages." To ensure that the project implemented these measures, the Bank relied on the local agencies to closely monitor the execution of these tasks.

<sup>65.</sup> Id.

<sup>66.</sup> Environmental and Social Management Plan, supra note 61, at 4 ("Expected negative environmental and social impacts... Soil and groundwater contamination from the storage of fuel and chemicals and wastewater flows or leaks during the rehabilitation of pumping and treatment facilities and replacement of pipes.").

<sup>67.</sup> Id.

<sup>68.</sup> Id. at 5.

<sup>69.</sup> See Urgent Water Supply and Sanitation Rehabilitation Project Appraisal Report, supra note 52; see also Urgent Water Supply and Sanitation Rehabilitation Project, supra note 34 (it is not exactly clear which "agency" was in charge of implementing this. The appraisal report simply mentioned that a Project Implementing Entity (PIE) and Procurement Agency (PA) would oversee the implementation of the project on behalf of the Government of Zimbabwe [pg. viii]).

# B. The World Bank: The Zimbabwe National Water Project

### i. Background

The World Bank founded the Zimbabwe National Water Project (National Water Project) to "improve access and efficiency in water services in selected growth centers and to strengthen planning and regulation capacity for the water and sanitation sector." The Zimbabwe National Water Authority (ZINWA) implemented the project, which was financed by the Zimbabwe Reconstruction Fund, a multi-donor trust fund established by the World Bank's Board of Executive Directors. In implementing the project, ZINWA focused on the watersheds, also known as drainage basins—Madziwa, Nembudziya, Zimunya, Mataga, Lupane, Guruve, and Gutu—located near the seven major rivers in the country. A watershed, or drainage basin, is a land area that moves rainfall or water from melted snow to a river, lake, or other larger body of water.

The main reason for the program's implementation was the Zimbabwean government's belief that the country's growth centers were missing water supply and sanitation support.<sup>74</sup> Zim-Fund, the financing agency through AfDB, provided water supply and sanitation support to large towns via the UWSRRP discussed above; the U.N. International Children's Education Fund (UNICEF) funded projects for rural areas through its Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene (WASH) program.<sup>75</sup> Like the

<sup>70.</sup> Zimbabwe National Water Project: Resettlement Policy Framework, THE WORLD BANK (Feb. 2018), available at http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/804611521551293477/pdf/RPF-Zimbabwe-National-Water-Project-P154861-World-Bank-DISCLOSED.pdf (last visited May 2, 2021) [hereinafter Resettlement Policy Framework].

<sup>71.</sup> Zimbabwe Reconstruction Fund (ZIMREF), THE WORLD BANK (Feb. 2018), available at https://www.worldbank.org/en/programs/221imbabwe-reconstruction-fund (last visited May 2, 2021).

<sup>72.</sup> Resettlement Policy Framework, supra note 70, at 7.

<sup>73.</sup> Howard Perlman, Watersheds and Drainage Basins, U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY (2003), available at https://www.usgs.gov/special-topic/water-science-school/science/watersheds-and-drainage-basins?qt-science\_center\_objects=0#qt-science center objects (last visited May 2, 2021).

<sup>74.</sup> THE WORLD BANK, INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT ASSOCIATION PROJECT APPRAISAL 3 (2016), available at http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/247961467989558934/pdf/PAD1569-PAD-P154861-Box396267B-PUBLIC-National-Water-Development-Project-PAD.pdf visited May 2, 2021) [hereinafter PROJECT APPRAISAL].

<sup>75.</sup> See id.

UWSRRP, the National Water Project was divided into different components: Growth Center Water and Sanitation Improvement; Technical Assistance; and Project Management.<sup>76</sup>

### ii. Growth Center Water and Sanitation Improvements

With \$14.04 million USD allocated to this component, the aim was to finance investments in UWSSRP for the seven watersheds. This amount was based on the short-, medium-, and long-term investment needs of these areas following the evaluation of their designs and preliminary environmental impact assessments.

#### iii. Technical Assistance

To assist various institutions associated with this project, \$5.11 million USD was allocated "to ensure the sustainability of investments and improve the overall planning, regulation, and reform of the sector in line with the National Water Policy." The \$5.11 million USD was allocated to five subcomponents: (A) National Water Resources Master Plan (\$3 million USD); (B) Technical Assistance for a Water Services Regulator (\$0.25 million USD); (C) Technical Assistance to Local Authorities (\$0.4 million USD); (D) Institutional Strengthening of ZINWA (\$1.25 million USD); and (E) Training (\$0.21 million USD). Subcomponents (A) and (B) were set up in response to the Zimbabwean government's request. Use Subcomponent (C) was set up to finance three key activities proposed by two ministry departments. Subcomponent (D) financed a "skills audit and strategic gap analysis," which ZINWA

<sup>76.</sup> Id. at 6.

<sup>77.</sup> Id.

<sup>78.</sup> *Id.* ("Investments will include expanding and rehabilitating water treatment works, boreholes, transmission mains, storage and service reservoirs, distribution systems, connections, and meter installation and replacement.").

<sup>79.</sup> PROJECT APPRAISAL, *supra* note 74, at 7 (noting that the covered institutions are both national, such as ZINWA, and local institutions that cover the municipalities in the seven catchment areas).

<sup>80.</sup> Id. at 7-8.

<sup>81.</sup> Id. at 7.

<sup>82.</sup> *Id.* ("Three key areas were identified as priorities: (a) separating ZINWA's utility and water resources functions, (b) improving commercial orientation, and (c) improving customer focus and poor stakeholder management. This subcomponent will also help ZINWA to carry out sanitation needs assessment for growth centers, including developing options for sanitation in these areas.").

requested to help identify the areas that would strengthen the department.<sup>83</sup> Subcomponent (E), the Training plan, was necessary because it assisted ZINWA, the Ministry of Environment, Climate, and Water, and other associated ministry departments to ensure the sustainability of the project.<sup>84</sup>

# iv. Project Management

As the implementing agency, ZINWA was in charge of setting up a Project Implementation Unit to be the secretariat of the different ministers under Subcomponents (A)-(C) of the Technical Assistance Component, and to manage the Growth Center WSS improvements under Component 1.85

## v. Environmental Impact Assessment

Like the UWSRRP, the National Water Project had negative environmental impacts that were temporary and site-specific, making it a Category B project under the World Bank's Environmental and Social Management Plan (ESMP).<sup>86</sup> One of the major negative environmental impacts of the project was the effect on aquatic life because some of the water supply would be from bodies of water with fish and other river species.<sup>87</sup> Another concerning negative environmental effect, although limited in scale, was soil erosion and water pollution.<sup>88</sup> A significant difference between the World Bank's ESMP and the AfDB discussed earlier is that the ESMP has a specific agency that can be held accountable for implementing the project consistent with the mitigation requirements. ZINWA took responsibility for ensuring compliance with the ESMP

<sup>83.</sup> Id.

<sup>84.</sup> PROJECT APPRAISAL, *supra* note 74, at 7. The other ministry departments are the Ministry of Rural Development and Preservation of Cultural Heritage (MRDPCH); the Ministry of Local Government, Public Works and National Housing (MLGPWNH), and the Ministry of Agriculture, Mechanization, and Irrigation Development. Local authorities would also be covered in this training.

<sup>85.</sup> Id. at 8.

<sup>86.</sup> Id. at 23; see also Environmental and Social Management Plan (ESMP): Weather Surveillance Radar, THE WORLD BANK (2017), available at http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/801501521170801261/pdf/Environmental-and-social-management-plan-for-weather-surveillance-Radar-in-Punjab-Lahore.pdf (last visited May 2, 2021) ("Category B' as per the World Bank OP 4.01, [are] the activities under the project [that] would involve small scale constructions with temporary and reversible environmental and social impacts.").

<sup>87.</sup> Id.

<sup>88.</sup> PROJECT APPRAISAL, supra note 74, at 24.

guidelines, during both the project's internal implementation phases and the contractors' winning bid to carry out other parts of the project.<sup>89</sup>

# C. Summary of the Two Projects and Introduction to International Environmental Law

The pre-funding evaluations and appraisal reports of each project show that both banks followed the guidelines set within their ESMPs. Such transparency and attention to detail help shield multilateral-development banks from criticisms that they are still funding "dirty" deals masquerading as environmentally sound projects. 90 However, the post-project evaluations do not discuss whether the environmental impact assessments conducted before funding and implementation were in fact carried out, or whether the allocated funds were adequate to complete the ESMP requirements.

# V. INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL RULE OF LAW AND ITS APPLICATION TO THE ENVIORNMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENTS

# A. Introduction to the International Environmental Rule of Law

The U.N. defined the international environmental rule of law as having three related components: "[l]aw should be consistent with fundamental rights; law should be inclusively developed and fairly effectuated; and law should bring forth accountability not just on paper, but in practice—such that the law becomes operative through observance of, or compliance with, the law." These three components are interdependent, and the environmental rule of law requires their implementation. The same weakness affects whether the parties contributing the most to environmental harm will consider changing their business conduct or investment ideals. Due this weakness, the U.N.

<sup>89.</sup> Id.

<sup>90.</sup> See Nielson & Tierney, supra note 8, at 260 ("After the 1987 reforms, the Bank increased the number of environmental loans. But many NGOs questioned whether these new loans were in fact 'environmental,' rather than traditional sector loans with new labels.").

<sup>91.</sup> BRUCH ET AL., ENVIRONMENTAL RULE OF LAW: FIRST GLOBAL REPORT 8 (2019).

<sup>92.</sup> Id. at 8.

<sup>93.</sup> See id. ("Often environmental ministries are among the weakest ministries, with comparatively fewer staff and less political clout; yet the political economy often drives

found it particularly important to pay close attention to the environmental rule of law and its enforcement.

There are two main reasons why enforcement of the environmental rule of law is paramount. First, even though many countries have voluntarily implemented environmental protections laws and regulations, such voluntary measures are insufficient to address the range of environmental issues faced throughout the globe. Additionally, voluntary measures are inadequate because countries choose different caps for the scope of their regulations or differ on the amount they are willing to sacrifice to ensure environmental protection for the global community. The second reason for enforcing the environmental rule of law is that legal goals and their objectives are easier to satisfy if there is an established, broadly recognized rule of law.

# B. Application to the Environmental Impact Assessments of Multilateral Development Banks

In cases of projects in developing countries where the U.N. and the international community invest to ensure achieving Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), environmental rule of law is the key part of their realization. Considering Zimbabwe, for example, projects such as UWSRRP, National Water Project, and WASH are geared towards ensuring that the population has access to clean drinking water, thereby satisfying the goals of SDG 6: Clean Water and Sanitation. To achieve this globally, the U.N. argues that "[m]ore efficient use and management of water are critical." When policy, regulation, or law fulfills the three interdependent components of the environmental rule of law, efficient use and management are more likely.

environmental violations. Why should companies invest in pollution control technologies if there is little likelihood of enforcement, the penalties are too low and can be incorporated as a cost of doing business, and there is widespread non-compliance?").

<sup>94.</sup> Id. at 9.

<sup>95.</sup> Id. at 10.

<sup>96.</sup> Sustainable Development Goal 6, U.N. (2019), available at https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdg6 (last visited May 2, 2021).

<sup>97.</sup> Progress of Goal 6 in 2019, U.N. (2019), available at https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdg6 (last visited Mar. 13, 2021).

# C. Analysis of the Multilateral Development Banks' Environmental Impact Assessments Through the Lens of the Environmental Rule of Law

The following analysis evaluates whether the EIAs of multilateral development banks, such as the World Bank and the AfDB, fulfill the interdependent components of environmental rule of law. Paying particular attention to SDG 6, the analysis below will determine whether the current application of these assessments is in line with the U.N.'s contention that environmental rule of law is the key to achieving SDGs. It is also important to note that this analysis focuses on elements that are interdependent components, all of which must be satisfied for the MDBs' assessments to be consistent with the environmental rule of law.

### i. Consistency with a Fundamental Human Right

The employment of EIAs is consistent with fundamental human rights. The Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) articulates and enumerates the rights and freedoms to which every human being is "equally and inalienably entitled." <sup>98</sup>

Article 3 of the UDHR states that everyone has, among other things, the right to life. 99 While this right does not specifically indicate a right to or in the environment, the U.N. proclaimed in the Declaration of the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment that "[b]oth aspects of man's environment, the natural and the man-made, are essential to his well-being and to the enjoyment of basic human rights [and] the right to life itself." The fact that the international community has promulgated laws and enforced international agreements that address the connection between human rights abuses and the deterioration of the environment further supports this declaration. 101

<sup>98.</sup> See Universal Declaration of Human Rights, U.N. (2015), available at https://www.un.org/en/udhrbook/pdf/udhr\_booklet\_en\_web.pdf (last visited May 2, 2021) ("The extraordinary vision and resolve of the drafters produced a document that, for the first time, articulated the rights and freedoms to which every human being is equally and inalienably entitled.") [hereinafter UDHR].

<sup>99.</sup> Id. at art. 3.

<sup>100.</sup> U.N. Conference on Environment & Development, *Rio Declaration on Environment and Development*, U.N. Doc. A/CONF.151/26/Rev. 1 (1973) [hereinafter U.N. Conference on Environment & Development].

<sup>101.</sup> See Right to Environment of Human Right, LAWTEACHER (Dec. 2020), available at https://www.lawteacher.net/free-law-essays/human-rights/right-to-environment-of-human-right.php?vref=1 (last visited May 2, 2021) ("Of late, the worldwide society has

In the case of multilateral development banks, the pressure from member states for policies addressing the environmental impacts of projects help recognize this right. As mentioned earlier, the United States was the first country to make EIAs a part of its project-review process in 1969. By 1992, the U.N., in the Rio Declaration on Environment and Development, embraced the environmental impact assessment as a requirement for states to use when implementing projects that posed a threat to the environment. Since states began requiring assessments for projects funded by their governments, it seemed logical to require multilateral development banks to do the same, especially since some of the states contribute significantly to the banks' funds.

Therefore, because states recognized the right to enjoy the environment as a fundamental human right, requiring multilateral development banks to carry out EIAs is also consistent with fundamental human rights.

# ii. Inclusive Development and Fair Effectuation

As with any international agreement or law, the participation of the entire international community is necessary, especially by those state and non-state entities that will be most affected or bear the most burden. Due to the conception that SDGs are generated with the developing world in mind, it is important that the U.N. includes the leaders and representatives of those states in the development of the environmental rule of law. An example of this inclusivity was at the first Africa Colloquium on Environmental Rule of Law in Nairobi, Kenya, during which judges and other prominent law enforcement figures and the legal field agreed on the enforcement and implementation of the environmental rule of law. Of significant importance to this discussion is that the agreement developed a roadmap by which the African countries present at the Colloquium

amplified its alertness on the relationship between environmental dilapidation and human rights abuses.").

<sup>102.</sup> U.N. Conference on Environment & Development, *supra* note 100, at Principle 17 ("Environmental impact assessment, as a national instrument, shall be undertaken for proposed activities that are likely to have a significant adverse impact on the environment and are subject to a decision of a competent national authority.").

<sup>103.</sup> Green Economy, Environmental Rule of Law Critical to Achieving Inclusive, Sustainable Development in Africa, Concludes Regional Colloquium, U.N. Env't (Oct. 16, 2015), available at https://www.unenvironment.org/news-and-stories/story/environmental-rule-law-critical-achieving-inclusive-sustainable-development (last visited May 2, 2021).

would implement Principle 10 of the Rio Declaration on Environment and Development.  $^{104}$ 

Like the second component of the environmental rule of law, Principle 10 of the Declaration calls for active participation and inclusivity from the international community when dealing with environmental issues. <sup>105</sup> Effectuating the rule of law fairly comes from successful, inclusive development of the law, where the people affected by the enforcement of that law have the means to seek redress for grievances and remedy for violations. <sup>106</sup>

Here, the multilateral development banks' pre-funding and proposal assessments concerning environmental impact show inclusivity in development. For example, the AfDB, in agreement with its regional member states, implemented the IESIA out of concern for the burden they bear as a result of the effects of climate change. In its implementation of the IESIA, the Bank's guidelines provided a process to periodically review the assessment plan to address any inconsistencies and implement improvements. This kind of review satisfies the inclusive development prong because as the bank figures out what works in practice, states implementing the plan in their proposals will be a part of its expansion. Concerning fair effectuation, multilateral development banks ensure that the states have access to information concerning implementing these assessments by publishing the guidelines so that all the member states are aware of the procedure when requesting funds.

# iii. Accountability in Practice

Accountability ensures that liability is imposed when there is a violation of law, and the affected individuals seek redress or remedy. This is accountability—on paper, in practice, and as an interdependent component of the environmental rule of law. It would be futile to develop and implement this rule, or any other, if the rights and responsibilities associated with it cannot be enforced by the judiciary or are

<sup>104.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>105.</sup> U.N. Conference on Environment and Development, *supra* note 100, at Principle 10 ("Environmental issues are best handled with the participation of all concerned citizens, at the relevant level. At the national level, each individual shall have appropriate access to information concerning the environment that is held by public authorities, including information on hazardous materials and activities in their communities, and the opportunity to participate in decision-making processes.").

<sup>106.</sup> See id. ("States shall facilitate and encourage public awareness and participation by making information widely available. Effective access to judicial and administrative proceedings, including redress and remedy, shall be provided.").

unaccountable to the legislature.<sup>107</sup> Additionally, because lax compliance is one of the major criticisms of international law, it is paramount to the environmental rule of law's enforcement that accountability is given as much weight, if not more. This is especially true when considering the adequacy of any law or policy implemented adhering to its standards. However, one of the major hindrances to accountability in practice is the lack of reliable data on policy and compliance.<sup>108</sup>

The multilateral development banks' current implementation of EIAs fails to satisfy the standards of accountability in practice, in part because there is no clarity about the consequences an implementing agency will face if the assessment's requirements are not met. As seen in the example of the UWSSRP, the AfDB's assessment of the project's negative environmental impacts simply alluded to the fact that an agency would be in charge of ensuring mitigation. While it is understandable that, in funding the projects, the MDBs do not interfere with the governments' sovereignty to oversee the implementing agencies, international accountability guidelines are necessary for three reasons.

First, the banks fund these projects using contributions from other member states, some of which are non-regional members that contribute to funding more than one multilateral development bank. Since those contributions come from the state's taxpayers, it is necessary to enact regulations that ensure accountability if the funds allocated to the project are inappropriately used.

Secondly and closely tied to the use of allocated money is the concern that, while some degree of corruption exists in every government, it is more crippling in some than others. During the time the AfDB was funding the UWSSRP in 2013, for example, Zimbabwe was ranked the thirteenth most corrupt country in the world. This was a huge concern for donors, since corruption could affect the effectiveness of financial donations narrowly intended to improve water sanitation and availability. This ranking is also concerning when one considers that the

<sup>107.</sup> Alexandra Dapolito Dunn & Sarah Stillman, Advancing the Environmental Rule of Law: A Call for Measurement, 21 Sw. J. INT'L L. 283, 291 (2015).

<sup>108.</sup> See id. ("Policymakers and practitioners struggle to demonstrate the effectiveness of efforts aimed at strengthening the rule of law partly because there is a lack of empirical data on policy and compliance effectiveness.").

<sup>109.</sup> See Jane Cohen, Troubled Water, HUM. Rts. Watch (Nov. 2013), available at https://www.hrw.org/report/2013/11/19/troubled-water/burst-pipes-contaminated-wells-and-open-defecation-zimbabwes#page (last visited May 4, 2021) ("Officials from donor agencies and international organizations in meetings and discussions with Human Rights Watch have repeatedly cited endemic corruption as key to the inability of donor interventions to improve the availability of water and sanitation services.").

UWSSRP began in 2011 and Phase I was purportedly completed; in 2019, however, approximately two million Zimbabweans in the capital still struggled to access clean water.<sup>110</sup>

The third reason why the current implementation fails to satisfy the accountability requirement is that there is no transparency in post-project environmental impact assessments. Neither the World Bank nor the AfDB provided access to post-project evaluations that show whether the mitigation requirements suggested during the pre-funding/proposal phase were implemented. This was also the case with projects in other member states that addressed issues beyond water sanitation. As mentioned earlier, the lack of reliable data is one reason why accountability is a major concern in the enforcement of the rule of law. In the case of Zimbabwe, such a lack of post-project data will perpetuate the same issues that caused the initial water sanitation crisis. In such cases accountability is important to stop corruption in the allocation of funding, and the sustainability of the project's results. 111 Without post-project environmental impact assessments, there is no guarantee that issues designated as temporary and other local negative impacts will not become long-term issues. For example, if groundwater contamination is a perceived environmental impact of the project but limited to the site of the implementation of the project, a post-project assessment would help show whether the implementing agency followed the instructions in monitoring the use of chemicals at the site to avoid or reduce contamination

#### VI. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, multilateral development banks' current implementation of the EIAs is inadequate to meet the goal of the international environmental rule of law concerning the achievement of SDGs. Although the implementation satisfies the first two components, it fails miserably at accountability in practice. Because accountability is closely tied to the sustainability of projects in developing countries, multilateral development banks need to strengthen their current project

<sup>110.</sup> See Kingsley & Moyo, supra note 3 ("More than half of the 4.5 million residents of Harare's greater metropolitan area now have running water only once a week, according to the city's mayor, forcing them to wait in lines at communal wells, streams, and boreholes.").

<sup>111.</sup> See Cohen, supra note 109 ("For example, many residents informed Human Rights Watch that donor agencies had drilled boreholes to help relieve water scarcity during the 2008/2009 cholera epidemic and that these boreholes provided communities with an important source of water. According to residents, many boreholes were not maintained, and now a significant number of them are either broken or contaminated.").

evaluation policies. It is not clear whether they already practice postproject assessments and fail to publish them, or simply do not conduct them. If the former, then transparency is needed to show the contributing countries that their funds were used based on the budget allocations shown in the proposal documents. If the latter, then the current implementation is incomplete and illusory, showing that multilateral development banks, especially the World Bank, have not changed their business conduct away from the days when accusations of funding "dirty" projects that negatively impact the environment were more common.

Not only will this help the banks ensure that the funds they allocate are used for its intended or stated purposes, but it will also help them appear more accountable to their member states. This is especially important when reporting the progress that the banks have made to help the international community achieve SDGs to contributing and other member states. It will also help the international community acquire more reliable data on how to improve development and SDG projects in a manner that does not worsen environmental issues in the developing countries. This will mean more than just relying on reports from the benefiting countries because these countries could simply take pictures of an isolated "success" and a few testimonials to pass them on as completed projects. Unless multilateral development banks follow through with post-project assessments, the application of the international environmental rule of law is incomplete and insufficient to fulfill the objective of achieving the Sustainable Development Goals.

# Tampa Bay Rays of Montréal: Home Field Advantage in Two Countries

Conor M. Bowers\*

#### ABSTRACT

In the United States, professional sports are a large part of our social culture. As fans, we develop attachments to our teams, and sometimes our passion borders on obsession. Part of the sporting life that fans regularly live with is the effect of players changing teams from year to year—an entire team moving to a new city, however, is much rarer. When a team does move, it has the potential to break the hearts of all the fans who support it, yet very rarely do we consider the effect moving teams has on the individual players themselves. Their lives and families are grounded in a specific city for a large portion of the year; when the team moves, they have to uproot all of that. In this Note, I will analyze a Major League Baseball team's unprecedented proposal, the effects this decision would have on the team as a business, and the possible repercussions for its players.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Over the last few years, the Tampa Bay Rays have proposed several plans for a new or renovated stadium in Saint Petersburg, Florida. They proposed renovations to their current stadium, Tropicana Field, and asked the city of Tampa about building a new stadium downtown that would be more accessible to fans than their current stadium in Saint Petersburg. Unfortunately, after several proposals and tireless negotiations between the city of Saint Petersburg and the Rays organization, the organization grew tired of waiting for the city to make a decision that would benefit both parties.

To counter the strategic inaction used by Saint Petersburg to keep the Rays playing in their home stadium, the team began exploring the possibility of splitting their season between two locations. Under this plan, the Rays would spend the spring in Tampa Bay and relocate to the city of Montréal, Québec, Canada, for the summer months. A partial

<sup>\*</sup> J.D. Candidate, 2021, Syracuse University College of Law. The author would like to thank his friends and family for support during the Note process, Professor Nassau for his guidance, and his former teammates who continue to play the game while he gets to write about the law it involves.

relocation has never occurred before in the League and is further complicated by the two locations being in separate countries. No North American professional sports team has ever had two home stadiums in separate countries; the move would be an unchartered first. Major League Baseball (MLB) has given the team permission to begin exploring a partial relocation to Montréal. Although the team paused the plan to focus on the upcoming season, the front office left open the possibility that the team will explore a partial relocation of the franchise.

Montréal was formerly the home of the Montréal Expos, from 1969 until 2004.<sup>1</sup> While in Montréal, however, the Expos were never a great success. Their on-field product failed to make it deep into the postseason, and their business leadership eventually doomed the team. In 2005, the MLB became the team's owner, relocated them to Washington, D.C., and renamed them the Washington Nationals.<sup>2</sup>

Recently, however, there has been a strong call amongst fans in the Montréal area and across Canada for a Major League team to return to Montréal. As the second most populated city in Canada, and given its history with the MLB, it is both feasible and understandable that Montréal would be the first option for an expansion. Yet the question here is not about Montréal's suitability as a baseball town, but rather the idea behind and potential consequences of splitting a team between two cities in two different countries.

A partial relocation for the Rays is a relatively new idea. The Rays' management proposed it in late June 2019 to get the team a more supportive fan base. Although they have been a playoff contender, the Rays have a tremendously low attendance number, and attendance is a significant revenue driver for any MLB team. Inability to attract a home crowd has made it hard for the organization's business side to continue to put a winning team on the field.

The purpose of this Note is to legally assess the feasibility of the Rays' proposed business operation. I will explore how the Rays could move their team for half of a season and how this would affect their business. I will then look at how this would change the business's expenses, how it would affect the players and business from a tax perspective, and finally, the legal path to navigating operations in two countries. There has never been a team in the MLB that has split time between two "permanent" homes. Further complicating this matter, the

<sup>1.</sup> Montreal Expos Team History, SPORTS TEAM HIST. (n.d.), available at https://sportsteamhistory.com/montreal-expos (last visited Apr. 1, 2021) [hereinafter Montreal Expos].

<sup>2.</sup> Id.

locations are in two different countries. In this Note, I will also examine how strategy affects the players, how international law affects the organization as a whole, and the role it plays in this transition. All mentions to currency throughout this Note will be in U.S. dollars. I believe significant legal and business issues fundamental to the plan will doom the team from executing this ambitious move, which will prohibit the Rays from successfully carrying out the proposed transition.

#### II. THE TAMPA BAY RAYS

The Tampa Bay Rays' first year in operation was the 1998 MLB season, and since this time, they have been based in Saint Petersburg, Florida.<sup>3</sup> Saint Petersburg is a city of 265,000 people and is located about thirty minutes away from Tampa.<sup>4</sup> In 1995, the MLB owners voted to expand the League to thirty teams by adding the Tampa Bay Devil Rays and the Arizona Diamondbacks as expansion teams; with this decision, the team was formed.<sup>5</sup> Players drafted from other teams in the League during an expansion draft constitute an expansion team.<sup>6</sup> During an expansion draft, other teams can keep additional players with each passing round.<sup>7</sup> Because of this protection, current MLB teams do not lose their best players, instead often losing players they did not plan on keeping long-term.<sup>8</sup>

Expansion teams do not typically perform well because a group of unwanted players from the first few seasons fill their rosters, but as time passes the teams adjust and create their own identities. Despite this adjustment period, however, the Arizona Diamondbacks won the World Series four years after its creation in 2001,<sup>9</sup> and the Rays were the 2008 runners-up.<sup>10</sup> The Rays also competed in the postseason several times,

<sup>3.</sup> Franchise Timeline, MLB (n.d.), available at https://www.mlb.com/rays/history/timeline (last visited Apr. 2, 2021) [hereinafter MLB].

<sup>4.</sup> St. Petersburg, Florida Population 2020, WORLD POPULATION REV. (n.d.), available at http://worldpopulationreview.com/us-cities/st-petersburg-population/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>5.</sup> MLB, supra note 3.

<sup>6.</sup> Expansion Draft Rules, NowHITTING (n.d.), available at https://www.nowhitting.com/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=530&catid=28&Itemid=40 (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>7.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>8.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>9.</sup> Adam Augustyn, Arizona Diamondbacks, BRITANNICA (Oct. 3, 2018), available at https://www.britannica.com/topic/Arizona-Diamondbacks (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>10.</sup> MLB, supra note 3.

won their division twice, and in 1994 had the best record in the American League.<sup>11</sup>

The team has played all of its home games at Tropicana Field, the only domed stadium in the MLB, since the team's inception. <sup>12</sup> The original funding for the stadium came from public financing; the public added 79% of all funding for subsequent renovations and the Rays financed the remaining 21% themselves. <sup>13</sup> The stadium opened in 1990 at a total cost of \$138 million, with the goal of attracting an MLB team. <sup>14</sup> In 1996, the field received an \$85 million facelift in order to look more like a traditional ballpark. <sup>15</sup> The \$85 million investment "included wider concourses, installation of Astroturf, clubhouses, dugouts," escalators, and offices for front-office personnel. <sup>16</sup> The team itself has also invested around \$37 million in capital improvements to the stadium. <sup>17</sup>

Despite these investments, the Rays' stadium is amongst the worst in the MLB for various reasons, including the playing surface and the dome itself, which lacks amenities for fans. <sup>18</sup> After the 2018 season, Forbes magazine valued the stadium at \$114 million, which is well beneath the total amount invested to date. <sup>19</sup> Forbes also ranked the Rays as the twenty-ninth highest-valued franchise in the MLB. <sup>20</sup> Compared to the rest of their division, the American League East (AL East), this valuation makes them the lowest revenue team.

A significant portion of the team's revenue is from attendance, with some estimates as high as 70%.<sup>21</sup> During the 2019 season, the Rays

<sup>11.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>12.</sup> Tropicana Field, BALLPARKS OF BASEBALL (n.d.), available at https://www.ballparksofbaseball.com/ballparks/tropicana-field/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021) [hereinafter Tropicana Field].

<sup>13.</sup> Id.

<sup>14.</sup> Tropicana Field History, MLB (n.d.), available at https://www.mlb.com/rays/ballpark/information/tropicana-field-history (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>15.</sup> Id.

<sup>16.</sup> Tropicana Field, supra note 12.

<sup>17.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>18.</sup> Maury Brown, Ranking All 30 of MLB's Ballparks: Best to Worst, FORBES (Mar. 19, 2018), available at https://www.forbes.com/sites/maurybrown/2018/03/19/ranking-all-30-of-mlbs-ballparks-first-to-worst/#60a4a5f76be4 (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>19.</sup> Tampa Bay Rays, FORBES (Apr. 2020), available an https://www.forbes.com/teams/tampa-bay-rays/#44fb9835d12b (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>20.</sup> Id.

<sup>21.</sup> John Romano, If We're Going to Complain About Rays Attendance, at Least Get the Story Right, TAMPA BAY TIMES (May 3, 2019), available at https://www.tampabay.com/sports/rays/2019/05/03/if-were-going-to-complain-about-rays-attendance-at-least-get-the-story-right/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

averaged 14,552 fans per game;<sup>22</sup> this was second-to-last in the League.<sup>23</sup> On the contrary, the Yankees averaged attendance of 40,795, which was third in the MLB, and the Red Sox averaged 36,107 fans per game, which was seventh.<sup>24</sup> The disparity in home attendance creates revenue differences that hurt the team when it comes to having a higher payroll for players, whether that is done by extending offers to organizationally-grown players (players drafted or signed internationally) or acquiring high-priced free agents. Such disparate home attendance makes it extremely difficult for the Rays to generate the revenue that would allow them to better compete with the AL East's established powers.

As a team, the Rays are a consistent contender within the AL East. Even in this traditionally difficult division, they reached the playoffs in 2008, 2010, 2011, 2013, and 2019. In the 2010 season, the team had the best record in the American League. In the AL East, they compete against the New York Yankees and the Boston Red Sox, two large-market teams that can outspend the Rays annually, in part due to attendance, the size of the fanbase, and branding. In 2019, the Tampa Bay Rays spent \$53.5 million on player salaries. By comparison, the Yankees spent \$205.4 million on player salaries, making them the second-highest spending team in the League; the Red Sox, having spent \$204.3 million, were fourth. In a league where payroll often determines a team's success, it was a testament to the Rays' front-office philosophy that, in a division where they were both intra-division rivals outspent them by nearly \$150 million, they made the playoffs as a wild-card team.

These figures tell us that it is hard for the Rays to create the same on-field product as teams like the Yankees or Red Sox. They have less money on hand to bring in high-priced free agents that put good teams "over the hump," which transforms them into World Series contenders.

<sup>22. 2019</sup> MLB Attendance and Team Age, BASEBALL REFERENCE (n.d.), available at https://www.baseball-reference.com/leagues/MLB/2019-misc.shtml (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>23.</sup> Id.

<sup>24.</sup> Id.

<sup>25.</sup> Tampa Bay Rays Season Results, ESPN (n.d.), available at http://www.espn.com/mlb/history/teams/\_/team/TB (last visited Apr. 2, 2020).

<sup>26.</sup> Id.

<sup>27.</sup> Top Team Payrolls, USA TODAY (2019), available at https://www.usatoday.com/sports/mlb/salaries/2019/team/all/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>28.</sup> Id.

<sup>29.</sup> Id.

<sup>30.</sup> Id.

Instead, the Rays must rely on picking well in the MLB draft, signing lesser-known international prospects, and redoubling focus on player development, simply to have a shot at competing. These financial realities are important support for the argument against moving the Rays to Montréal. Although they already struggle to earn and spend money on players, a move to Montréal would increase the team's overall tax burden, steepening their uphill battle to land better players with even less money.

With the large differences in average attendance and payroll, the Rays are at a tremendous competitive disadvantage against two of the teams they compete against around twenty times per year. Being unable to bring in the same caliber players, they must instead rely on situational baseball and analytics to create an on-field product sufficient to reach the postseason. While the Rays have been "ahead of the curve" in using data to determine the best way to piece a game and a team together, the traditionally best teams are now seeing the light and understand that baseball, like society in general, is moving towards twenty-first-century technology. Since the Rays cannot raise the money that other teams in their division can, staying ahead in analytics is all the more crucial.

Tropicana Field and the Rays' local and international fan base are significant factors working against generating higher revenue. The Rays recently proposed moving the team to Ybor City, a trendy area within Tampa.<sup>31</sup> The move would have given the team a new stadium that would have attracted fans and rivaled the more modern stadiums in the MLB.<sup>32</sup> However, not long after the proposal to move to Ybor City was first made, the team announced that the idea was dead.<sup>33</sup> Using a fifty-fifty split of public and private funds to finance building the estimated \$900 million facility was too high for the MLB to agree to the project's feasibility.<sup>34</sup> The split season in Montréal is the Rays newest proposal to even the playing field with the larger market teams in their division.

<sup>31.</sup> Dayn Perry, Rays to Reportedly Announce Where They Want to Build a New Ballpark in Tampa, CBS (Feb. 8, 2018), available at https://www.cbssports.com/mlb/news/rays-to-reportedly-announce-where-they-want-to-build-a-new-ballpark-in-tampa/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>32.</sup> New Stadium, New City: Rays Unveil Ybor City Ballpark Plan, FOX TAMPA BAY (July 10, 2018), available at https://www.fox13news.com/news/new-stadium-new-city-rays-unveil-ybor-city-ballpark-plan (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>33.</sup> Mike Axisa, Rays Announce Stadium Project in Ybor City is Dead, CBS (Dec. 11, 2018), available at https://www.cbssports.com/mlb/news/rays-announce-stadium-project-in-ybor-city-is-dead-likely-locking-the-team-into-tropicana-field-through-2027/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>34.</sup> Id.

## III. MONTRÉAL AS A BASEBALL TOWN

Montréal was home to the Expos from 1969 until 2004.<sup>35</sup> Before the 2005 season, the team was sold and relocated to Washington, D.C., where they rebranded as the Washington Nationals.<sup>36</sup> The Expos were the first MLB franchise located outside of the United States—the Toronto Blue Jays followed their founding in 1977.<sup>37</sup> The team itself was never particularly successful on the field, and their business management was even less successful. They made the playoffs once, in 1981, and they had the best record in the National League East in 1994, but the MLB season that year was cut short due to a players' strike.<sup>38</sup> In terms of attendance, they were slightly under the National League average each year.<sup>39</sup> During their best years, 1979 through 1983, they averaged between 26,000 and 28,700 fans per game.<sup>40</sup>

In 1999, Jeffrey Loria purchased a minority interest in the team for \$50 million and became the team's managing general partner. Eventually, he became a large majority owner of the team, with 92% of the team under his control. As the owner, his main objective was to get the team a new stadium, even though the city and team still had a large outstanding debt on the Olympic Stadium, where the Expos played. Loria went on an off-season spending mission in 2000 to acquire new high-profile players to create more buzz around the team; instead, the team fell to fourth place in the division. He also raised the cost of

<sup>35.</sup> Montreal Expos, supra note 1.

<sup>36</sup> *Id* 

<sup>37.</sup> William Humber, *Toronto Blue Jays*, CANADIAN ENCYC. (Feb. 7, 2006), *available at* https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/toronto-blue-jays (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>38.</sup> Washington Nationals Team History, BASEBALL REFERENCE (n.d.), available at https://www.baseball-reference.com/teams/WSN/index.shtml (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>39.</sup> Washington Nationals Attendance Data, BASEBALL ALMANAC (n.d.), available at https://www.baseball-almanac.com/teams/montattn.shtml (last visited Apr. 2, 2021) [hereinafter Washington Nationals].

<sup>40.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>41.</sup> Farid Rushdi, How Jeffrey Loria Destroyed the Montreal Expos/Washington Nationals, Bleacher Rep. (Feb. 2, 2009), available at https://bleacherreport.com/articles/118868-how-jeffrey-loria-destroyed-the-montreal-exposnationals (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>42.</sup> Id.

<sup>43.</sup> Id.

<sup>44.</sup> Ian Wenik, *The Fraud of Jeffrey Loria: How One Man Ruined Two Franchises*, DANIEL LEWIS SPORTS (Nov. 22, 2012), available at http://www.daniellewissports.com/the-fraud-of-jeffrey-loria-how-one-man-ruined-two-franchises.html (last visited Apr. 22, 2021).

<sup>45.</sup> Id.

broadcasting rights, but the increase was so steep that no English-speaking channel would carry the team's games. This is significant because the sport has many fans in English-speaking market, and only broadcasting in French deterred those fans from watching the games. Loria then purchased the Florida Marlins in 2002, using the \$120 million that the League paid for the Expos and \$30 million from an interest-free loan provided by the League, and moved everything he could—from computers to personnel—to Florida from Montréal. He sold the Expos to the MLB, knowing that the League wanted to move the team, and headed down to Florida where he would go on to mismanage another team. Soon thereafter, the MLB and Loria solidified the deal, and the Montréal Expos relocated to Washington, D.C., where they were rebranded as the Washington Nationals for the 2005 season.

Recently, the city of Montréal has been trying to bring a Major League team back. The MLB began playing exhibition games in Montréal, and attendance has been tremendous.<sup>50</sup> In 2014 and 2015, the Blue Jays took on the New York Mets and the Cincinnati Reds, respectively, in Montréal.<sup>51</sup> Attendance at these two game sets combined exceeded 96,000 fans.<sup>52</sup> While these matchups were special, and the attendance certainly saw a spike with the increased fanfare, it was also an indication that MLB games in Montréal were ready to succeed.

The Montréal metro area is one of two metro areas in the United States and Canada that has more than 4,000,000 residents but does not have an MLB franchise.<sup>53</sup> The main criticism of a baseball team returning to Montréal is the belief that the Olympic Stadium is no longer adequate

<sup>46.</sup> Rushdi, supra note 41.

<sup>47.</sup> Ian Wenik, What Does Jeffrey Loria Get for Mishandling Marlins, ESPN (Aug. 11, 2017), available at https://www.espn.com/mlb/story/\_/id/18658184/what-does-jeffrey-loria-get-mishandling-miami-marlins-pure-profit (last visited Apr. 2, 2021); see also Rushdi, supra note 41.

<sup>48.</sup> Id.

<sup>49.</sup> Tyler Kepner, *The Luckless Expos Gave Birth to the Nationals and a Lot More*, N.Y. TIMES (Oct. 18, 2019), *available at* https://www.nytimes.com/2019/10/18/sports/baseball/nationals-montreal-expos.html (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>50.</sup> Jonah Keri, *More Than Just Momentum for MLB Return to Montreal*, CBS (Apr. 5, 2016), *available at* https://www.cbssports.com/mlb/news/more-than-just-momentum-for-mlb-return-to-montreal/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>51.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>52.</sup> Id.

<sup>53.</sup> Neil deMause, MLB Expansion is Probably Inevitable, but Where and When?, DEADSPIN (June 11, 2018), available at https://deadspin.com/mlb-expansion-is-probably-inevitable-but-where-and-whe-1830100867 (last visited Apr. 2, 2021) (the other metro area is Inland Empire, California, which counts as part of the Greater Los Angeles area).

for MLB games.<sup>54</sup> However, the city has the support of many former fans and players, such as Warren Cromartie, who has touted Montréal as a "baseball town."<sup>55</sup>

Today, in order for the MLB to operate in Canada and the United States, it first has to meet some regulations set out by federal law. Like large businesses throughout the United States, the MLB must respect federal antitrust laws.<sup>56</sup> Teams must comply with the Sherman Act, as amended under the Reagan Administration, to address foreign antitrust issues.<sup>57</sup> When a team exists outside of the United States but the parent organization operates in the United States, and "single entity ownership" election is adopted, then they are subject to the Sherman Act.<sup>58</sup> The United States prevents sports leagues from merging with similar leagues in other countries by prohibiting the acquisition of stock or assets where the goal is to create a monopoly.<sup>59</sup> In compliance with these laws, the MLB expanded into Canada, and the teams playing therein must also comply with Canadian antitrust law.<sup>60</sup>

The death of the Expos is ultimately attributable to poor management and ownership, including the owner's failure to put in the necessary capital and work. However, the Expos did prove that when the team was competitive, even in an outdated stadium, its fanbase showed up and supported them. The exhibition series at the Olympic Stadium, featuring the Toronto Blue Jays, also showed that Montréal's fans will come out for good baseball.

The Rays had a playoff team in the 2019 season, after consistently competing for a playoff spot since 2008. With such a large population and the public outcry for a team, it is clear that Montréal could sufficiently support an MLB team. However, Montréal (or Canada itself) is not the problem, as we have seen the Toronto Blue Jays successfully operate a full-time MLB team in Canada. By splitting the season between Tampa and Montréal there are no incentives for the team or its players,

<sup>54.</sup> Id.

<sup>55.</sup> John Greenwood, Can One Man's Dream to Bring Major League Baseball Back to Montreal Come True?, FIN. POST (Aug. 8, 2014), available at https://business.financialpost.com/news/can-one-mans-dream-to-bring-major-league-baseball-back-to-montreal-come-true (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>56. 1</sup> AARON N. WISE & BRUCE S. MEYER, INTERNATIONAL SPORTS LAW & BUSINESS 453 (Kluwer Law Int'l, 1997).

<sup>57.</sup> Id.

<sup>58.</sup> Id.

<sup>59.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>60.</sup> Competition Act, R.S.C. 1985, C-34 (Can.).

as the money necessary to leave Tampa Bay will exceed the gain accrued from expanding into the new market.

#### IV. THE CITIES COME TOGETHER

Both Tampa and Montréal are large cities with metropolitan areas able to support successful professional sports teams. As for a potential expansion, both cities have operated MLB teams long enough to qualify as sustainable host cities for MLB teams. When the Expos produced a decent on-field product—one that contended for a playoff spot—the city rallied behind them, as evidenced by above-average attendance.<sup>61</sup> The Rays are currently a playoff contender in the American League, having gone to the postseason last year, and they are searching for the support they need to compete with the New York Yankees and Boston Red Sox in their division. However, their goal is to achieve something that has never happened in either Tampa or Montréal: a World Series win. With a low budget, the team has thus far relied on analytical baseball to compete.

The Rays believe that the city of Saint Petersburg's governance has neglected them and been a hindrance to building a ballpark in Tampa that resembles more modern MLB stadiums. The Rays have offered a few different proposals to the city, including a new stadium in Ybor City, Tampa; renovations to the current Tropicana Field; and lastly, the partial relocation to Montréal. In order to combat attendance issues at their current stadium, they believe a split season in Montréal would be helpful. although the now-departed Expos themselves were hindered by their own stadium conditions in Montréal. The Rays' inquiry and proposal will certainly have to address both stadiums and how the city of Montréal would fund a new and/or improved ballpark. Replacing one low-quality, attendance-deterring stadium with two below-average stadiums that also hinder attendance is clearly not a business plan the Rays should adopt. The Rays believe that this partial move will make them the home team in two markets, subsequently expanding their large market international fanbase and raising their bottom-of-the-league average per-game attendance.

Many believe this partial relocation is being proposed merely to generate fear amongst Saint Petersburg's local politicians, and in so doing push them toward raising money for an adequate stadium. The Rays assured the League that they believe the move to Montréal is a possibility for them and that a partial relocation would be good for their business.<sup>62</sup> The Rays are an innovative team on the field, utilizing different shifts defensively based on hitter matchups and having separate lineups for righty and lefty pitchers. Teams use this strategy to develop lineups that have more right-handed hitters when facing lefty pitchers and vice versa. This strategy got the team to the American League Divisional Series against the Houston Astros in 2019. The Rays pioneered strategic development and the use of performance-enhancing analytics. They now seek to implement a business model that is just as innovative, to remain perennial contenders in the AL East against the high-payroll Yankees and Red Sox.

#### V. U.S.-CANADA TREATY

If the Rays split their season between Canada and the United States, they will become an international company. The MLB itself is currently an international company because the Blue Jays' home base is Toronto. The U.S.-Canada Treaty was signed on September 26, 1980 and entered into force on August 16, 1984.<sup>63</sup> The Rays playing in Canada will create a U.S.-based organization that does business in Canada, thus subjecting it to the terms of the Treaty.<sup>64</sup>

The first action a business must undertake is determining whether it is a resident of Canada for tax purposes.<sup>65</sup> A foreign company that has central management and control in Canada is considered a Canadian resident, subjecting its worldwide income to Canadian income tax.<sup>66</sup> This is where the U.S.-Canada Treaty is the most relevant because a business can glean the benefits of the treaty if it can show that it is a resident of

<sup>62.</sup> James Wagner, *Rays to Explore Making Montreal a Part-Time Home*, N.Y. TIMES (June 20, 2019), *available at* https://www.nytimes.com/2019/06/20/sports/tampa-bay-rays-montreal.html (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>63.</sup> Canada-United States Convention with Respect to Taxes on Income and on Capital and Subsequent Protocols, U.S.-Can., Sept. 26, 1980, T.I.A.S. No. 11,087, 28 A.L.R. Fed.3d [hereinafter U.S.-Can. Treaty].

<sup>64.</sup> Stuart Lyons, Cross-Border Costs: If You're Considering Doing Business in Canada, Pay Attention to Taxes, BAKER NEWMAN NOYES (Dec. 1, 2016), available at https://www.bnncpa.com/resources/cross-border-costs-if-youre-considering-doing-business-in-canada-pay-attention-to-taxes/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>65.</sup> Todd Trowbridge, The Taxation of U.S. Corporations in Canada and the Impact of the Canada-U.S. Tax Treaty on Corporate Residency Status, GREATER IRVINE CHAMBER (Dec. 18, 2018), available at https://www.greaterirvinechamber.com/news/latestnews/p/item/8649/the-taxation-of-us-corporations-in-canada-and-the-impact-of-the-canadaus-tax-treaty-on-corporate-residency-status (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>66.</sup> Id.

the United States for tax liability purposes.<sup>67</sup> Specifically, a business needs to avoid establishing a "permanent establishment" as defined within the treaty to not be taxed on any Canadian business profits.<sup>68</sup> A company that has revenue produced through a permanent establishment will be subject to a tax on that revenue.<sup>69</sup> The U.S.-Canada Treaty defines how revenue earned by an international entity is taxed in the specific country, but revenue taxed in another country with a higher tax rate will not result in net profitability. In Florida, the Rays are subject to a lower tax rate than they would be in Canada. Thus, the Rays will have to make a financial decision to determine whether the money generated from having a second home base will exceed the tax liability loss as owed to the Canadian government.

# VI. HOW LIVING IN TWO COUNTRIES AFFECTS PLAYERS

#### A. Visas

At the beginning of the MLB season, the League issues permits to any foreign national that comes to North America to play for any of its franchises. Typically, foreign-born players enter the United States by being issued a P-1A visa, which is approved by the U.S. State Department in conjunction with the consulate of the player's home country.

Those who are temporarily coming to the United States to perform a "specific athletic competition" at an "internationally recognized level of performance," or an athlete who is "part of a team or franchise that is located in the United States" but is a member of a foreign league, are eligible for a P-1A visa.<sup>72</sup> Since 2006, any player who comes to the United States at the minor league level also qualifies for a P-1A visa.<sup>73</sup>

<sup>67.</sup> Id.

<sup>68.</sup> Lyons, supra note 64.

<sup>69.</sup> MINDY HERZFELD & RICHARD L. DOERNBERG, INTERNATIONAL TAXATION IN A NUTSHELL 129 (West Acad., 12th ed. 2017).

<sup>70.</sup> Barry M. Bloom, MLB Players Aided Through Visa Process but Families Face Roadblocks, GLOBAL SPORT MATTERS (May 10, 2018), available at https://globalsportmatters.com/business/2018/05/10/mlb-visa-process-families-face-roadblocks/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>71.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>72.</sup> P-1A Athlete, U.S. CITIZENSHIP & IMMIGR. SERVS. (n.d.), available at https://www.uscis.gov/working-united-states/temporary-workers/p-1a-athlete (last visited Apr. 2, 2021) [hereinafter U.C.I.S.].

<sup>73.</sup> Bloom, supra note 70.

Players are required to apply for these visas individually and are also required to submit an I-129 form.<sup>74</sup>

This form comes from either their team, the MLB, or an agent who describes the type of work to be done in the United States, provides a copy of the contract to the team, and outlines the nature of events that will take place. For any player who make more than \$10 million in a season, this also includes tax documents or audited financial documents for the visa. If a foreign player is only on a minor league team for one year, he must show that the team is part of a specific league and that he has a contract with the team. To be eligible for the P-1A visa, a player must show that he is coming to a team that is part of an organization with six or more teams with a combined revenue of more than \$10 million, or to a team that is part of the League's minor league affiliates. International players must have this visa to stay in the United States to play during a season.

Athletes may also apply for B-2 visas, which are meant for tourism and may be used by sports amateurs; B-1 visas, meant for business deals such as negotiating a contract or consulting with a business associate; or O-1 visas, which are meant for persons with demonstrated extraordinary abilities as met by acclaim in one's field of expertise. These visas are designed for visitors and are required for individuals aged fourteen to seventy-nine years old. Under a B-1 visa, a foreign-born player may come back to the United States to consult with business associates, attend conferences, settle an estate, or negotiate his contract. A B-2 visa is for tourist activities like vacationing, visiting relatives, receiving medical treatment, or enrolling in a short educational study program. Playing games is not permitted under a B-2 visa, because it is considered employment, which is not allowed. While these visas are not intended for foreign-born players to compete in games during the season, they do give them the opportunity to attend to business and other personal matters

<sup>74.</sup> Id.

<sup>75.</sup> U.C.I.S., supra note 72.

<sup>76.</sup> Id.

<sup>77.</sup> Id.

<sup>78.</sup> Visas for Athletes, LEIBL & KIRKWOOD PC (n.d.), available at https://usimmigrationlaw.net/athletes-2/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>79.</sup> Visitor Visa, U.S. DEP'T OF ST. (n.d.), available at https://travel.state.gov/content/travel/en/us-visas/tourism-visit/visitor.html (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>80.</sup> Id.

<sup>81.</sup> Id.

<sup>82.</sup> Id.

in the United States. All MLB players are required to have authorization to play in the United States—this includes Toronto Blue Jays players. As such, players competing in Canada would not need to consider additional authorization measures because they are already permitted to play in the United States.

During the 2018 MLB season, 27% of MLB rosters were comprised of foreign-born players. Many of these players have families, but because athletes' wives and children are not eligible for P-1A visas, they must apply for P-4 visas. P-4 visas are obtained by a P-1, P-2, or P-3 visa holder's spouse or child. The P-4 visa holder may remain in the United States as long as the P-1, P-2, or P-3 holder maintains their legal status. The visa applies to the spouse of the P-1 holder, and to any unmarried minor children. During the length of their stay, they may not accept employment, but they may engage in full- or part-time study. As discussed prior, there would be no added immigration complexities for players if the Rays split time between Tampa Bay and Montréal, because the families of foreign national players are already required to apply for a visa to be in the United States during the season.

All MLB teams have the opportunity to play in Canada during the season. Each American League team travels outside of the country throughout the year, and some National League teams travel to Canada for interleague play and/or the World Series. Canada allows players who make a living through sports to enter Canada with teams from foreign countries to compete; even though they are traditionally classed as foreign workers, the country adds no visa restrictions or penalties for them to enter.<sup>89</sup> The Canadian government believes that subjecting athletes to visa requirements for only a few games would be overly burdensome, and work visas for the athletes or the team's essential personnel are generally not required.<sup>90</sup>

<sup>83.</sup> Stuart Anderson, 27% of Major League Baseball Players are Foreign-Born, FORBES (Apr. 27, 2018), available at https://www.forbes.com/sites/stuartanderson/2018/04/27/27-of-major-league-baseball-players-are-foreign-born/#e5dc6da77120 (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>84.</sup> Bloom, supra note 70.

<sup>85.</sup> P4 VISA P1 Dependent Visa, MESSER SMITH L. (n.d.), available at https://messersmithlaw.com/p4-visa/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>86.</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>87.</sup> See id.

<sup>88.</sup> Id.

<sup>89.</sup> See Working in Canada as an Athlete, CANADAVISA (Sept. 2020), available at https://www.canadavisa.com/working-in-canada-athlete.html#gs.sxf4ve (last visited Apr. 2, 2021) [hereinafter CANADAVISA].

<sup>90.</sup> Id.

Despite this, moving the Rays to Canada for a portion of the year would create immigration headaches for both foreign and American players. A player signed with the Toronto Blue Jays, or the potential Montréal/Tampa Bay Rays, may have to demonstrate that he is needed as a foreign worker, in addition to showing that no Canadian worker is available for or has the expertise to do the job. This requirement is a Canadian regulation under the Labour Market Impact Assessment. Properties a Canadian regulation under the Labour Market Impact Assessment. Properties a Canadian regulation under the Labour Market Impact Assessment. Properties a Canadian regulation to showing that no Canadian worker is a Canadian regulation under the Labour Market Impact Assessment. Properties a canadian regulation to show a specific visa for athletes—only a uniform worker visa for foreigners. The Canadian government would require an athlete or a coach hired by a Canadian employer to have a work visa.

Acquiring a work visa first requires submitting a Labour Market Impact Assessment that demonstrates a labor shortage, as a result of which the employer was unable to find a Canadian citizen to fill the role. Once the employer receives the Labour Market Impact Assessment confirmation that a foreign worker is permitted to fill a job, they may apply for a work permit. Canada does not always require professional sports teams to fill out a Labour Market Impact Assessment because the athletes tend to be extremely gifted, and it is readily apparent that the country does not have players with a similar skill set.

Rays players without dual citizenship in Canada and America would need to obtain one of the aforementioned visas in one or both countries. For players who are foreign nationals in both Canada and the United States, the visa process would be twice as long if they signed with a dual country team, such as the proposed Rays. The process of obtaining the visa, while not necessarily difficult, is an initial hoop that players coming to a new team would have to jump through in order to be eligible to play in home games. Players and coaches who play for professional teams in Canada or who represent Canada are required to obtain these visas. 98 Although the visa process in Canada is not as tedious as that of the United

<sup>91.</sup> See What is a Labour Market Impact Assessment?, GOV'T OF CAN. (Jan. 2020), available at http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/helpcentre/answer.asp?qnum=163&top=17 (last visited Apr. 2, 2021) [hereinafter Impact Assessment].

<sup>92.</sup> Id.

<sup>93.</sup> See Alex Brosh, Canadian Visa for Athletes, COHEN, DECKER, PEX & BROSH (n.d.), available at https://lawoffice.org.il/en/canadian-visa-for-athletes/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>94.</sup> Id.

<sup>95.</sup> CANADAVISA, supra note 89.

<sup>96.</sup> Impact Assessment, supra note 91.

<sup>97.</sup> CANADAVISA, supra note 89.

<sup>98.</sup> Id.

States, it does create an extra step that foreign professional players would need to comply with in order to play for the team in Montréal.

# B. Housing and Residency

Rays players would also need to acquire housing where they play a majority of their home games. Partially relocating the team across two countries will require players to navigate the challenges of finding housing twice. Playing half the season in Tampa will necessitate that the players find a home or apartment for themselves and/or their families in Florida, and another home for the other forty or forty-one games played in Montréal. This poses a threat to the Rays' organizational strategy, which utilizes a model that relies on lower-cost players who will now need to purchase or rent two living spaces throughout the season. Only thirteen players on the Rays forty-man roster made more than \$1 million in 2019, and of those only two made over \$10 million. For a free agent player, who could pick any team to play on, the added housing and moving costs during the year will make playing for the Rays less appealing.

# C. Non-Resident Speculation Tax

In Canada, there are laws that affect non-residents' ability to own and rent real estate. The first law that non-residents should be aware of is the Non-Resident Speculation Tax (NRST). This tax subjects non-permanent residents to a 15% added tax on the value of property in the Greater Golden Horseshoe region, which extends up to Guelph. This property tax is an example of a provincial tax that players who buy homes would pay for the portion of the season they play in Canada. Foreigners with homes they rent out are subject to a 25% withholding tax on rental income. Non-residents are also required to secure a mortgage from a Canadian bank, where a 35% tax is not uncommon for non-residents.

<sup>99.</sup> Tampa Bay Rays Contracts, SPOTRAC (2020), available at https://www.spotrac.com/mlb/tampa-bay-rays/contracts/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>100.</sup> Non-Resident Speculation Tax, ONT. MINISTRY FIN. (Jan. 2021), available at https://www.fin.gov.on.ca/en/bulletins/nrst/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>101.</sup> Id.

<sup>102.</sup> Kazi Stastna, Real-Estate Rules Don't Discriminate Against Foreigners, CBC (Mar. 19, 2012), available at https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/real-estate-rules-don-t-discriminate-against-foreigners-1.1216517 (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>103.</sup> Id.

These additional considerations make housing more complicated and expensive for MLB players without Canadian citizenship. The sixmonth temporary residency that players would have in Canada will allow them to rent or buy without additional paperwork or filing for permanent residency, but higher down payments and funding for mortgages would be an obstacle for seasonal baseball players. This obstacle exists because Canada usually grants a temporary resident visa for no more than six months. <sup>104</sup>

# D. Residency

A positive for players is that Canada does not subject foreign nationals to many regulations regarding buying or renting property. <sup>105</sup> Canada allows foreigners who spend less than six months per year in the country to keep a home without needing to apply for residency—this is particularly important for players who typically spend time in winter homes after the season. <sup>106</sup> This six-month temporary housing limit allows foreigners to either rent or buy property in Canada during this time. <sup>107</sup> However, if a foreign player spends more than six months in Canada, he would need to apply for permanent residency. <sup>108</sup>

The MLB season can last as long as April 1 to November 1.<sup>109</sup> In this seven-month-long season scenario, only half of the games would be played in Montréal, allowing players to fit comfortably within the sixmonth temporary residence window. These added restrictions deter foreigners from buying or renting property in Canada because the laws are restrictive and penalize Americans or other foreign-born players by imposing higher fees. Since players would only have to live in Canada during the season, they would need to pay that extra cost. While this is not a specific penalty for players, it is an added issue that the Rays will need to consider and address.

Throughout the MLB season, many players are called up to join the big leagues club. Although a roster is made up of twenty-five players, in

<sup>104.</sup> Canadian Temporary Resident Visa (TRV), VISAGUIDE (2020), available at https://visaguide.world/canada-visa/temporary/temporary-resident/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>105.</sup> Stastna, supra note 102.

<sup>106.</sup> Id.

<sup>107.</sup> Id.

<sup>108.</sup> Id.

<sup>109.</sup> MLB Announces 2019 Regular Season Schedule, MLB (Aug. 22, 2018), available at https://www.mlb.com/press-release/mlb-announces-2019-regular-season-schedule-291431268 (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

2019 the Rays had twenty-nine players get an at-bat, while thirty-three players registered an appearance on the mound. Players who spend most of the year in the minor leagues, but play in the MLB for at least one game, receive a pro-rated amount of the MLB's minimum salary, which was \$555,000 for the 2019 season. Minor league players make far less: the average salary in 2018 for players in Single-A was \$6000; \$9350 in Double-A; and \$15,000 in Triple-A. This means that players who get called up often do not have the money to purchase housing, and are forced to sleep on the couches of veteran players.

Securing housing in two places over the course of the year will be even harder for players because they now have two possible living locations, conceivably further limiting temporary options. A partial move to Montréal would certainly impose a larger financial burden and stress on Rays players—particularly the vast majority of their approximately sixty lower-paid players— because splitting time would further complicate their personal finances through increased costs of living.

Americans and foreign players who enter Canada expecting to find housing are forced to go through the Labour Market Impact Assessment.<sup>113</sup> As such, players looking for housing will have larger down payments under Canadian law in an effort to guarantee that Canadian banks will not face loan foreclosures.<sup>114</sup> With Canadian laws and regulations, finding housing could be trickier than simply walking into a real estate agency, finding a home suitable to a player's needs, and purchasing it.

<sup>110.</sup> Rays Statistics, MLB (2020), available at http://mlb.mlb.com/stats/sortable.jsp?c\_id=tb#elem=%5Bobject+Object%5D&tab\_level=chi ld&click\_text=Sortable+Player+pitching&game\_type='R'&season=2019&season\_type=AN Y&league\_code='MLB'&sectionType=sp&statType=pitching&page=1&ts=157352243478 2 (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>111.</sup> The Business of MiLB, MiLB (2020), available at https://www.milb.com/about/faqs-business#11 (last visited Mar. 17, 2021); Minimum Player Salary in Major League Baseball from 2003 to 2020, STATISTA (n.d.), available at https://www.statista.com/statistics (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>112.</sup> Daniel Gallen, Minor League Baseball Salaries Hover at Poverty Level While Major League Teams Earn Big Profits, PENN LIVE (July 8, 2019), available at https://www.pennlive.com/sports/2019/07/minor-league-baseball-salaries-hover-around-poverty-line-some-are-pushing-for-change.html (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>113.</sup> Wayne Carl, 3 Reasons Americans Can't Just Move to Canada and Buy Up Our Homes, HUFFINGTON POST (Jan. 25, 2017), available at https://www.huffingtonpost.ca/ypnexthome/americans-moving-to-canada\_b\_14338892.html (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>114.</sup> Id.

#### E. Taxes for Individuals

Income tax is a tax placed on revenue earned by individuals and businesses over a period of time. The Canada-United States Convention with Respect to Taxes on Income and on Capital and Subsequent Protocols (the U.S.-Canada Treaty, or Treaty) entered into effect in 1980. The Treaty applies to Americans who are subject to Canadian taxes and to Canadians subject to U.S. taxes. Under the Treaty, individual taxpayers are often able to pay fewer taxes to their non-resident country than they otherwise would. This facilitates the Treaty's goal of providing relief from double taxation to citizens of either country. Instead of paying a double tax, both countries' citizens report their foreign income and pay taxes on the income made in each respective country.

Under Article XV of the Treaty, the first \$10,000 earned in Canada is exempt from gross income tax; any amount exceeding \$10,000 is only exempt if the taxpayer is present in Canada for less than 183 days within a twelve-month period, and if the employer is not a Canadian resident or a permanent establishment in Canada. If a taxpayer is earning an international income over "\$200,000 at the end of the year or \$300,000 at any time during the year," then the taxpayer must file a Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act Form 8938.

Under the United States' Foreign Earned Income Exclusion, "one could exclude the first \$100,000 from U.S. income tax by" showing they reside in Canada for more than 330 days per year. 122 If married or filing jointly, one could deduct twice that amount, claiming a \$200,000

<sup>115.</sup> U.S.-Can. Treaty, supra note 63.

<sup>116.</sup> Department of the Treasury, *Information on the United States-Canada Income Tax Treaty*, IRS (Oct. 2015), *available at https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/p597.pdf* (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>117.</sup> Id.

<sup>118.</sup> Using the United States-Canada Income Tax Treaty to Reduce Double Taxation, TURBOTAX CAN. (Nov. 7, 2019), available at https://turbotax.intuit.ca/tips/using-the-united-states-canada-income-tax-treaty-to-reduce-double-taxation-6229 (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>119.</sup> Id.

<sup>120.</sup> Department of the Treasury, supra note 116.

<sup>121.</sup> U.S. Canada Tax Treaty – What Expats Living in Canada Need to Know, EXPAT Tax CPAs (n.d.), available at https://www.expattaxcpas.com/canada/u-s-canada-tax-treaty-expats-living-canada-need-know/ (last visited Mar. 24, 2021).

<sup>122.</sup> *Id*.

deduction.<sup>123</sup> In 2019 the federal tax rate in Canada cn income exceeding \$210,371 was 33%—but this is only part of the story since Canada also has provincial tax rates, which are analogous to states taxes in the United States.<sup>124</sup> In Québec, the province wherein Montréal is situated, the provincial tax rate was 25.75% on taxable income over \$108,390 in 2020.<sup>125</sup> These rates are much higher than both the 37% tax on income over \$518,401 in the United States and the 0% income tax rate imposed in the state of Florida.<sup>126</sup>

The money that the players earn while in Canada would be subject to Canadian taxes. 127 These taxes would only apply to the income earned from the forty games the team plays in Montréal. Their tax rate in Canada would be 58.75%; Florida's rate would be 37%. The Treaty allows the first \$100,000, or \$200,000 if the player is married, to be exempt from tax. The Treaty's implications allow Canada, a less friendly tax country, to be less punitive to Americans—a positive if the players have no choice. But when players can pick their team, that 58.75% tax rate would be the highest imposed on any MLB team, which would discourage prospective players from signing with the Rays. Allowing the players to only pay a portion of their salary at the Canadian-Québec rate would soften the players' tax implications. From a Rays' player perspective, the Treaty's softening of Canadian tax impositions would still not be as attractive an option as only playing their home games in Florida.

<sup>123.</sup> Foreign Earned Income Exclusion, TAXES FOR EXPATS (n.d.), available at https://www.taxesforexpats.com/expat-tax-advice/foreign-income-exclusion.html (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>124.</sup> Canadian Income Tax Rates for Individuals, GOV'T CAN. (n.d.), available at https://www.canada.ca/en/revenue-agency/services/tax/individuals/frequently-asked-questions-individuals/canadian-income-tax-rates-individuals-current-previous-years.html#federal (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>125.</sup> Id.

<sup>126.</sup> Tax Brackets, DEBT.ORG (2020), available at https://www.debt.org/tax/brackets/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>127.</sup> Jeffrey Steinberg & Adam Scherer, *Tax Lesson During the Blue Jays' Off-Season*, ADVISOR (Dec. 11, 2015), *available at* https://www.advisor.ca/tax/tax-news/tax-lessons-during-the-blue-jays-off-season/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

#### VIL BUSINESS OPERATIONS

#### A. Income Tax Treaties

The purpose of an income tax treaty is to lower tax barriers and incentivize international trade. When a tax treaty is in effect between the United States and another country, it lowers the other country's tax jurisdiction and, in effect, provides a lower U.S. tax burden. 129 In the United States, when there is a conflict between the Internal Revenue Code and an international treaty, the later-in-time rule applies. The later-in-time rule allows whichever provision has been more recently promulgated to apply to the individual or entity paying income tax within the United States. Under an income tax treaty, the individual or business will not usually be subject to tax on the business income earned in the contracting state unless there is a permanent establishment. 132 What constitutes a permanent establishment is covered below. If there is no permanent establishment, then the income that would otherwise be taxable in the contracting state without a treaty will not be taxable. 133

Tax treaties with the United States are typically initiated to eliminate the international double tax.<sup>134</sup> Instead, individuals and businesses that would be subject to paying in both countries have the ability to only pay tax where their money is earned. An agreement will typically contain provisions requiring a treaty partner to provide information to the other treaty partner as a means of keeping enforcement fair.<sup>135</sup> These exchanges will usually include names and dividends, royalties or interest accumulated, and other simultaneous examinations of taxpayers.<sup>136</sup> In this case, the specific treaty in place is the U.S.-Canada Treaty. The two countries honor this agreement and businesses and individuals earning income in both countries, or citizens of one country earning income in the other, are subject to its terms. With this international tax treaty background, we must now turn to the specific agreement to determine how it will affect the Rays.

<sup>128.</sup> HERZFELD & DOERNBERG, supra note 69.

<sup>129.</sup> Id. at 130.

<sup>130.</sup> Id.

<sup>131.</sup> Id.

<sup>132.</sup> Id. at 144.

<sup>133.</sup> HERZFELD & DOERNBERG, supra note 69.

<sup>134.</sup> Id. at 161.

<sup>135.</sup> Id. at 172.

<sup>136.</sup> Id.

# B. Creating an Entity

The Rays operate as a corporation in the United States, under the name Tampa Bay Rays, Ltd. A general corporation has shareholders and directors and can go by various indicators, including "Co.," "Corp.," and "Ltd." Once the Rays start playing in Montréal, they would need to establish a business within the province wherein they plan to operate; Québec is the applicable province here. The first step to establish a business in Canada is to meet the residency requirement by providing a Canadian address. 139

Since the Rays are a corporation operating as a limited company, it may be subject to various Canadian laws about incorporating a business within Canada. Most businesses operating in Canada choose to use a corporation setup rather than a branch, which requires a permanent establishment to determine tax liability. However, if a corporation exists in another country, the business can apply for incorporation as a subsidiary of the parent organization within Canada. Under Canadian federal law, 25% of the business's directors must be Canadian residents, and if a company has fewer than four directors, at least one director must be Canadian. The province that a corporation operates in may also have residency requirements, although some do not.

If the Rays used a branch instead of a foreign corporation subsidiary, then they would have to meet the requirements for a permanent establishment, as outlined in the U.S.-Canada Treaty. <sup>145</sup> Further, they would need to form a Canadian place of business for corporate records and would be subject to a 25% branch tax levied on Canadian after-tax

<sup>137.</sup> Tampa Bay Rays Baseball Ltd., BLOOMBERG (n.d.), available at https://www.bloomberg.com/profile/company/7351090Z:US (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>138.</sup> What Does LLC, Inc., Co., Corp., and Ltd. Mean?, IncNow (Oct. 23, 2020), available at https://www.incnow.com/blog/2019/03/29/inc-llc-lp-sifting-through-the-abbreviations-and-choosing-the-right-entity/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>139.</sup> Susan Ward, *How to Start a Non-Resident Business in Canada*, SMALL BUS. (Nov. 17, 2019), *available at* https://www.thebalancesmb.com/nonresident-business-in-canada-2948595 (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>140.</sup> Entity Set Up, DLA PIPER (May 27, 2020), available at https://www.dlapiperintelligence.com/goingglobal/corporate/index.html?t=02-entity-setup&c=CA (last visited Mar. 18, 2021).

<sup>141.</sup> Id.

<sup>142.</sup> Ward, supra note 139.

<sup>143.</sup> DLA PIPER, supra note 140.

<sup>144.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>145.</sup> *Id*.

earnings, minus the amount reinvested in Canadian businesses.<sup>146</sup> Businesses operating in Canada through representative branches are automatically treated as branch entities subject to the same guidelines outlined above.<sup>147</sup> The information included only applies if the business continues as a non-resident; the applicable regulations would differ if the Rays were headquartered in Canada, like the Blue Jays.<sup>148</sup>

#### C. Permanent Establishment

A permanent establishment for businesses is well-defined within Article V of the Treaty. 149 Under Article V, a permanent establishment is "a fixed place of business through which the business of a resident of one of the two countries is wholly or partly carried out in, and can include a place of management or a workshop." A building for these purposes constitutes a permanent establishment if it exists for twelve months in either one of the specified countries. 151 For a business with a permanent establishment in a country it is not principally from, the applicable profits acquired through that establishment are subject to the corporate tax rate and the allowable deductions of the country where it has its principal place of business. 152

In the United States, the current corporate tax rate is 21%; in Montréal, the corporate tax rate for a non-Canadian controlled private corporation (non-CCPC) is 11.6%, which is then added to the 15% federal rate, to a total 26.6% corporate tax. <sup>153</sup> Corporations that are not residents of Canada and/or non-CCPCs will be taxed on profits earned while operating within the country per the Treaty. <sup>154</sup>

The U.S.-Canada Treaty is a helpful regulation enacted for companies conducting business in both countries because it allows them to keep their business profits taxable within their own country, and only subjects them to taxes on the profits generated while operating within the

<sup>146.</sup> Id.

<sup>147.</sup> Petar Chakarov, *Business Entities in Canada*, HEALY CONSULTANTS GRP. PLC (n.d.), *available at* https://www.healyconsultants.com/canada-company-registration/setup-llc/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>148.</sup> Ward, supra note 139.

<sup>149.</sup> Department of the Treasury, supra note 116.

<sup>150.</sup> Id.

<sup>151.</sup> Id.

<sup>152.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>153. 26</sup> U.S.C. § 11 (2019).

<sup>154.</sup> Trowbridge, supra note 65.

other country. <sup>155</sup> In the Rays' case, the first issue is whether they would be considered a resident of Canada. In order to be considered a resident of Canada, the organization must have a "permanent establishment" located within Canada, which must exist for more than twelve months. The listed buildings within the Treaty do not specifically include "baseball stadiums," but "business centers" are considered permanent establishments if they have existed for longer than twelve months. Next, while the business of baseball is not specifically noted in the Treaty, we see that when a permanent establishment exists, as it would here, the business (team) will earn their profits in one of the countries taxed as though they are a resident.

The implication for the Rays organization is that it will be subjected to higher corporate tax on profits in Québec than it would be by staying in Florida. The rate is 26.6% when located specifically in the Québec province; it is 21% within the United States. In 2018, the Tampa Bay Rays had a \$27 million income. Dividing that number by two, to \$13.5 million, reflects the Rays' earning half of all profits in the United States and the other half in Canada. Each half taxed per each country's respective rates would result in the Rays owing \$2.835 million in taxes in the United States and \$3.591 million in taxes in Canada before any deductions.

#### VIII. CONCLUSION

Even with a tax-friendly treaty between the two nations, a move does not seem to make the most financial sense for the team. The Rays would have to decide that the tax liability imposed on them would be offset by the increased profits they would be able to generate while operating in Montréal for half of the year. Thus, the move does not appear to be in the Tampa Bay Rays' best economic interests.

<sup>155.</sup> Id.

<sup>156.</sup> Christina Gough, *Operating Income of the Tampa Bay Rays from 2002 to 2018*, STATISTA (May 6, 2020), *available at* https://www.statista.com/statistics/829626/tampa-bay-rays-operating-income/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

# The Right to Remain Anonymous: How the GDPR Should Look to India and China to Fix the Incomplete Concept of Data Anonymization

By Moneeka Brar\*

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The rise of the technology industry caused many countries to enact legislation focused on protecting individual citizens' privacy. anonymization, a protection layer, is one of the most significant safeguards implemented to protect individuals, but it is relatively unsuccessful in its current form. Two of the most significant problems with data anonymization are that anonymized data can still be easily retraced via reidentification science, and the fact that such retracing misinforms the way individuals think about data anonymization in their daily lives. This public perception should shift to acknowledge that data anonymization is a layer of protection, rather than total protection. By looking at how other countries approach the concept of privacy and exploring how they structure their data protection and privacy laws, a more globally unified system is possible. This uniform global system can emerge once privacy is acknowledged as a fundamental global right, thus fostering shared values around the world, wherein data anonymization is acknowledged and accepted not as total protection, but as a protective layer.

Which information will be privatized and which information needs to remain public are extremely debated topics in data protection and privacy law. There have been various approaches to solving this problem, with the European Union's General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) at the forefront. Since its implementation, other countries have followed the standards set by the GDPR. This Note will focus on attempts to apply data anonymization to domestic privacy law in the European Union (EU), India, and China. Specifically, this Note analyzes the standard set by the GDPR—even though data anonymization remains unsuccessful in its present form within this framework—and considers

<sup>\*</sup> J.D. Candidate, 2021, Syracuse University College of Law. First, I would like to thank my family for all of the support throughout my academic career. I would also like to thank them for constantly pushing me to my fullest and believing in me and the work that I accomplish. I would also like to thank Professor Keli Perrin for her guidance and Michaela Mancini for her invaluable help. Lastly, thank you to my friends who provided unconditional support throughout this process.

how other countries have tackled the issue of keeping individuals information private. India and China were chosen as case studies because of their differing governments.

The first section of this Note will discuss the history and importance of data protection laws, explaining data anonymization itself. Within that context, the Note will then discuss the current shortcomings of data anonymization, and introduce the idea of reidentification. The second section of the Note will focus on analyzing anonymization. It will look at the GDPR's version of anonymization, and its failure from the outset as predestined by its focus on how anonymization was supposed to work based on its original context. It will then turn to India to analyze its attempt to replicate the GDPR in its domestic laws. Discussion of how India passed and enforces data protection laws will focus on India's switch to the Indian Aadhaar biometric database, and create a version of data protection and privacy laws in 2019.

It will then examine China's approach to implementing data protection and privacy laws from the perspective of a different government. After considering these countries' different approaches there will be discussion of how to fix their attendant problems, first by changing people's mindsets towards anonymization and its use, then by uniquely combining the various forms of safeguards from these different areas. Using these three countries, this Note will discuss and compare the different forms of safeguarding individual's private information to determine whether it is possible to make this specific safeguard more successful. This Note will conclude that, rather than specifically focusing on fixing anonymization in every area, countries should acknowledge that anonymization is unsuccessful in its current form, and encourage governments to be transparent and accountable for individuals' privacy interests.

# II. HISTORY OF DATA PROTECTION AND PRIVACY LAWS AND ANONYMIZATION DEFINED

The United States conducted its most recent census in 2020. During this year, every household in the country had to fill out and submit a form

<sup>1.</sup> What is the 2020 Census?, U.S. CENSUS (2020), available at https://2020census.gov/en/what-is-2020-

census.html?cid=20402:%2Bwhat%20%2Bis%20%2Ba%20%2Bcensus:sem.b:p:dm:en:&ut m\_source=sem.b&utm\_medium=p&utm\_campaign=dm:en&utm\_content=20402&utm\_ter m=%2Bwhat%20%2Bis%20%2Ba%20%2Bcensus&msclkid=87a5911d1a2217b91b1ecf68 68257653 (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

to the federal government.<sup>2</sup> The form included identifiable questions about individuals' names, sex, race, age, telephone number, and a household's residence type.<sup>3</sup> These are identifiable questions because their answers make it possible to trace the form back to a specific person. While it is normal in the United States to fill out this questionnaire every ten years, the census raises the question of who exactly this form is being sent to and, more importantly, what is that recipient going to do with this data? These questions only give rise to more questions about individual privacy and whether keeping identifiable information private is a fundamental right.

However, to grasp modern-day data protection and privacy arguments, privacy's basic history must be understood. The right to privacy dates back to the late 1800s when Samuel D. Warren and Louis Brandeis wrote *The Right to Privacy*, arguing that the first definition of privacy is the *right to be left alone*. Since its publication, the importance of data protection and individual privacy has grown exponentially alongside the rise of technology. Technological innovation is happening all around the world, with the EU front and center. Data protection and privacy laws prohibit the disclosure or misuse of information about individuals; in recent years, the privacy of that information has emerged as a central issue. Technology plays a prominent role in the emergence of data protection and privacy laws, with countries passing new laws to keep up with technological innovations.

A country has data protection laws if any of its national laws provide a set of basic data privacy principles, and those principles are accompanied by officially-backed methods of enforcement.<sup>10</sup> In 1973,

<sup>2.</sup> Id.

<sup>3.</sup> Questions Asked on the Form, U.S. CENSUS (2020), available at https://2020census.gov/en/about-questions.html (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>4.</sup> A Brief History of Data Protection: How Did it All Start?, EUROCLOUD (Jan. 6, 2018), available at https://cloudprivacycheck.eu/latest-news/article/a-brief-history-of-data-protection-how-did-it-all-start/ (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>5.</sup> Id.

<sup>6.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>7.</sup> Emily Stewart, *Why You're Getting So Many Emails About Privacy Policies*, Vox (May 29, 2018), *available at* https://www.vox.com/policy-and-politics/2018/4/5/17199754/what-is-gdpr-europe-data-privacy-facebook (last visited Apr. 20, 2021)

<sup>8.</sup> Daniel J. Solove, A Brief History of Information Privacy Law, GEO. WASH. L. FAC. PUBL'N & OTHER WORKS 1, 3 (2006).

<sup>9.</sup> Id.

<sup>10.</sup> Stewart, supra note 8.

Sweden became the first country to pass a national data protection law.<sup>11</sup> It was a simple law that only covered personal data processing in traditional, computerized registers, and did not contain any material provisions about when and how the data was processed or any other general data protection principles.<sup>12</sup>

# A. Data Anonymization Generally

To anonymize is "to remove identifying information from [something, such as computer data] so that the source cannot be" easily discovered. Anonymization also removes any information that would associate specific data with a particular individual. An extensive amount of data can be anonymized, but anonymized data is simply data that would no longer be immediately attributable to an individual.

Anonymization was partially popularized by social science's attempts to learn about society and the people therein by studying individuals' patterns of behavior. Direct identifiers, such as names, addresses, and telephone numbers, are easily traced to specific individuals. There are also indirect identifiers that, when put together, could reveal the identity of a particular individual. This process occurs by cross-referencing someone's job or social media presence with their surrounding area, thereby identifying an individual using that specific information. This is only one example of how an individual can become traceable again. Anonymization in its proper form would not allow for the reidentification of individuals through indirect identifiers.

The public once believed that anonymizing data sets removed any risks to an individual's privacy and safeguarded the individual's

<sup>11.</sup> Graham Greenleaf, Global Data Privacy Laws: 89 Countries, and Accelerating, 115 PRIV. L. & BUS. INT'L REP. (2012).

<sup>12.</sup> Sören Öman, Implementing Data Protection in Law, STOCKHOLM INST. SCANDINAVIAN L. 390, 391 (2010).

<sup>13.</sup> Anonymize, MERRIAM-WEBSTER (n.d.), available at https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/anonymize (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

<sup>14.</sup> *Anonymize*, CAMBRIDGE DICTIONARY (n.d.), *available at* https://dictionary.cambridge.org/us/dictionary/english/anonymize (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

<sup>15.</sup> Kristel Toom & Pamela F. Miller, *Ethics and Integrity*, SCIENCEDIRECT (2018), available at https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/biochemistry-genetics-and-molecular-biology/anonymization (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

<sup>16.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>17.</sup> Id.

<sup>18.</sup> Id.

identity.<sup>19</sup> Yet critics question its credibility, and many wonder if there is even a purpose to data anonymization.<sup>20</sup> Some critics argue that complete anonymization is impossible because other data sets will undoubtedly be released, leading to eventual identification.<sup>21</sup> On the other hand, anonymization defenders believe that the likelihood of reidentification is still relatively low, and that most data sets will remain anonymized using appropriate techniques.<sup>22</sup>

There are multiple techniques to anonymize data, <sup>23</sup> including: data masking; pseudonymization; generalization; data swapping; data perturbation; and synthetic data. <sup>24</sup> Data masking occurs when data is hidden with altered values. Pseudonymization replaces private identifiers with fake identifiers. Generalization deliberately removes data to make it less distinguishable. Data swapping rearranges the dataset values so that they do not correspond with the original data. Data perturbation modifies the original data set by applying techniques that round numbers and add random noise. Synthetic data is manufactured information that has no connection to real events. <sup>25</sup> Each of these techniques offers a different way to anonymize data, yet attackers can still retrace data sets back to the individual. <sup>26</sup> To combat this, conceptualizing anonymization should shift away from individuals putting their entire faith in data anonymization systems and towards the belief that data anonymization is only one layer to maintaining privacy.

A major reason to anonymize data is to protect individuals' privacy when storing or disclosing data.<sup>27</sup> Many industries utilize the process to protect someone's interests and provide anonymity when supplying data, as in healthcare or internet advertising.<sup>28</sup> Many defend the privacy-protecting power of anonymization and believe it is important and successful, despite evidence that indicates otherwise.<sup>29</sup> Data

<sup>19.</sup> Ira S. Rubinstein & Woodrow Hartzog, *Anonymization and Risk*, 91 WASH. L. REV. 703, 704 (2016) (describing the risk to an individual's privacy).

<sup>20.</sup> Id.

<sup>21.</sup> Id.

<sup>22.</sup> Id.

<sup>23.</sup> Anonymization, IMPERVA (n.d.), available at https://www.imperva.com/learn/data-security/anonymization/ (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>24.</sup> Id.

<sup>25.</sup> Id.

<sup>26.</sup> Id.

<sup>27.</sup> Paul Ohm, Broken Promises of Privacy: Responding to the Surprising Failure of Anonymization, 57 UCLA L. REV. 1701, 1708 (2010).

<sup>28.</sup> Id

<sup>29.</sup> Elizabeth A. Brasher, Addressing the Failure of Anonymization: Guidance from the European Union's General Data Protection Regulation, 18 COLUM. BUS. L. REV. 209 (2018).

anonymization is perceived as essential, but criticism has proved that it alone is insufficient to protect privacy.<sup>30</sup> The process is appealing to the public because it balances the free flow of information with the risks of privacy harms and releases. The main concern with anonymization is that it removes the possibility of retracing information to the original data supplier. While Recital 26 of the GDPR<sup>31</sup> gives a circular definition of data anonymization as "data rendered anonymous in such a way that the data subject is not or no longer identifiable," it emphasized that anonymized data must be stripped of any sort of identifiable information so that a particular individual cannot be reidentified.<sup>32</sup> Compared to pseudonymization—which processes personal data so that it is no longer attributable to a specific data subject without additional information—anonymization completely anonymizes an individual's identity, taking this strategy a step further.<sup>33</sup>

Researchers found that using data while preserving an individual's privacy requires more than simply adding noise, sampling datasets, and other reidentification techniques.<sup>34</sup> A study conducted by communication researchers helped the public understand that retracing data is likely, even if individuals are assured that the dataset they are participating in is anonymized and a limited amount is shared with the general public.<sup>35</sup> This research shows that "once bought, the data can often be reverse-engineered using machine learning to reidentify individuals, despite the anonymization techniques."<sup>36</sup> Reverse engineered data exposes sensitive information about those personally identified, showing how easy it is to pinpoint individuals in practice.<sup>37</sup>

<sup>30.</sup> Ohm, supra note 28.

<sup>31.</sup> General Data Protection Regulation, Recital 26 Not Applicable to Anonymous Data, INTERSOFT CONSULTING (2018), available at https://gdpr-info.eu/recitals/no-26/ (last visited Apr. 20, 2021) [hereinafter INTERSOFT] ("Data rendered 'anonymous' in such a way that the data subject is not or no longer identifiable.").

<sup>32.</sup> Matt Wes, Looking to Comply with GDPR? Here's a Primer on Anonymization and Pseudonymization, IAPP (Apr. 25, 2017), available at https://iapp.org/news/a/looking-to-comply-with-gdpr-heres-a-primer-on-anonymization-and-pseudonymization/ (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>33.</sup> Id.

<sup>34.</sup> Anonymizing Personal Data 'Not Enough to Protect Privacy,' Shows New Study, SCI. DAILY (July 23, 2019), available at https://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2019/07/190723110523.html (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>35.</sup> Id.

<sup>36.</sup> Id.

<sup>37.</sup> Id.

A common misconception about anonymization is that all data sets are untraceable once completed.<sup>38</sup> Critics of anonymization argue that completely detaching an individual's identity from a data set is impossible because other data sets will make it possible to identify that individual.<sup>39</sup> Another criticism of anonymization is that it does not work the way it was intended because of its simplicity. Publications from communications researchers claim the ability to correctly reidentify 99.98% of individuals in anonymized data sets using only fifteen demographic attributes.<sup>40</sup> Researchers also created a statistical model that estimates how easy it would be to identify any individual from a supposedly anonymized data set.<sup>41</sup>

Generally, data anonymization is regarded as a failure, but sustained public belief in this failure results from the current consensus that data anonymization is the only form of data protection. To combat this, data anonymization should instead be considered as one layer of a multi-layer protection initiative. Technological advancements make it difficult to keep data private, but data privacy is not impossible. In light of consumers' growing reliance on technology, information that is online and in datasets is more susceptible to tracking.<sup>42</sup> Reliance on technology is also problematic because it enables large amounts of data collection.<sup>43</sup> While internet sites often give individuals a choice of whether to share their data while using the site, that information may still be tracked another way.44 Europe's current data protection framework allows for the use and sharing of anonymous data that is truly free; therefore. European nations are careful to recognize reidentification risk, and their laws use the term "pseudonymization" rather than "anonymization." 45 Critics have pointed out that it is a mistake to rely too much on these assessments.46

The most prevalent way to track data is through reidentification science. Reidentification science, also known as deanonymization, is a

<sup>38.</sup> Rubinstein, supra note 20, at 704.

<sup>39.</sup> Id. at 705.

<sup>40.</sup> Natasha Lomas, Researchers Spotlight the Lie of "Anonymous" Data, TECHCRUNCH (July 24, 2019), available at https://techcrunch.com/2019/07/24/researchers-spotlight-the-lie-of-anonymous-data/ (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

<sup>41.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>42.</sup> Brasher, supra note 30, at 236.

<sup>43.</sup> Id.

<sup>44.</sup> Id.

<sup>45.</sup> Lomas, supra note 41.

<sup>46.</sup> Rubinstein, supra note 20.

technique that reidentifies encrypted or generalized information.<sup>47</sup> This practice leads to two important conclusions: that the power of reidentification will create and amplify privacy harms, and that regulators will protect privacy in the face of easy reidentification at a high cost. 48 Utility and data privacy are connected, so no regulation can increase data privacy without decreasing data utility; thus, no useful database will ever be entirely anonymous.<sup>49</sup> Reidentification science compares anonymized information with other available data to identify a person, group, or transaction. Reidentification can create and amplify privacy harms. 50 It "combines data sets that were meant to be kept apart, and in doing so. power through accretion." which facilitates gains reidentification. 51

Data anonymization masks an individual's personally identifiable information (PII), which is available from different fields, such as health services, social media platforms, and e-commerce trades.<sup>52</sup> PII includes information like "date of birth, Social Security Number, zip code, and IP address;"<sup>53</sup> however, "reidentification reserves the process of anonymization by matching shared by limited data sets with data sets that are easily accessible online."<sup>54</sup> Reidentification is simpler to accomplish if the anonymization process is incorrect.<sup>55</sup> Easier reidentification foretells of increasing inability to guarantee anonymity, but with continued technological advances in anonymization reidentification should be harder to achieve, insofar as it outpaces dueling reidentification technology advances.<sup>56</sup>

Opinions differ on whether or not anonymization and reidentification are possible.<sup>57</sup> Critics of anonymization argue for reduced reidentification-based approaches, while those that support reidentification argue that it is an unavoidable means necessary for identity protection.<sup>58</sup> Because reidentification is unavoidable, data

<sup>47.</sup> Jake Frankenfield, *De-Anonymization*, INVESTOPEDIA (2018), *available at* https://www.investopedia.com/terms/d/deanonymization.asp (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>48.</sup> Ohm, supra note 28, at 1705.

<sup>49.</sup> Id. at 1705-06.

<sup>50.</sup> Id. at 1705.

<sup>51.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>52.</sup> Frankenfield, supra note 48.

<sup>53.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>54.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>55.</sup> See id.

<sup>56.</sup> Id.

<sup>57.</sup> See Rubinstein, supra note 20.

<sup>58.</sup> See id.

anonymization is an inherent failure which processes cannot be successfully implemented on the scale that data protection and privacy laws require.<sup>59</sup> Replacing names and values with random numbers or pseudonyms often passes as anonymized data, but actually increases the risk of reidentification instead.<sup>60</sup>

## B. History of Data Protection in Europe and the GDPR

In Europe, the adoption of data protection and privacy laws eventually led to the implementation of the GDPR in May 2018. This law replaced the EU's Data Protection Directive 95/46/ec as the primary law regulating how companies protect EU citizens' personal data. The goal of the more expansive GDPR was to evolve data and privacy protections alongside current technology. Because of the strict rules of the GDPR, companies had to comply with the new regulations before it became effective on May 25, 2018. The law's reach extends beyond the EU to other countries, forcing non-member states to comply with these regulations in order to continue doing business within EU borders.

One basic GDPR principle is that compliance with the law need be widespread, spanning the entire world.<sup>64</sup> Any company that does business in the EU will be subject to GDPR standards.<sup>65</sup> This includes businesses located within EU borders and individual employees working in EU member states or selling products and other goods to EU citizens. Businesses must get explicit consent from individuals regarding the processing of their data.<sup>66</sup> A pop-up window typically requests consent when an individual visits the company's website; these pop-ups inform the user that the website will track and collect their data as they navigate through the site.

<sup>59.</sup> Id.

<sup>60.</sup> Id.

<sup>61.</sup> Juliana De Groot, What is the General Data Protection Regulation? Understanding & Complying with GDPR Requirements in 2019, DATAINSIDER (Dec. 2, 2019), available at https://digitalguardian.com/blog/what-gdpr-general-data-protection-regulation-understanding-and-complying-gdpr-data-protection (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>62.</sup> See id.

<sup>63.</sup> Id.

<sup>64.</sup> Jessica Barker, What Does GDPR Mean for You?, DATAINSIDER (July 11, 2018), available at https://digitalguardian.com/blog/what-does-gdpr-mean-for-you (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

<sup>65.</sup> Id.

<sup>66.</sup> Id.

The purpose of the GDPR is to create a set of standards for companies that handle EU citizens' data in order to better safeguard its processing and movement.<sup>67</sup> This measure prevents member states from writing their own data protection laws, thereby ensuring that these laws are consistent throughout the EU.68 The GDPR helps promote uniformity, allowing for clearer interpretation of data regulations. Another issue the GDPR seeks to remedy is the effect of privacy laws as impediments to the free flow of information, which travel is instrumental to certain political and economic functions.<sup>69</sup> Part of the growth of data protection and privacy laws is attributable to the Internet's growth and the increasing normalcy of performing tasks online.<sup>70</sup> Consumers leave a digital trail of activity—from e-mail and social media communications to search engine queries and payment transactions—with private companies that have an interest in collecting, storing, and selling that data. Data anonymization is appealing because it lowers the risk of harm and enables the release of valuable, sensitive information while reducing that data's linkability to its owner. 71 As people put more information on the globally accessible internet, individuals continue to seek ways to keep themselves off of search engines and maintain their privacy; many do not want any possibility of being traced.

Compliance with the GDPR is a very serious matter. Companies that fail to follow the new GDPR rules face severe fines, potentially up to 20 million EUR or 4% of annual global revenue.<sup>72</sup> These fines depend on the severity of the violation and its surrounding circumstances.<sup>73</sup> The EU declared that GDPR compliance is not optional, and strictly enforces its rules in order to maintain compliance.<sup>74</sup>

The GDPR has an expansive view about what constitutes personal identification information, and companies have to find ways to safeguard smaller forms of identification, such as IP addresses and cookie data, the same way they protect larger ones, like names, addresses, and

<sup>67.</sup> De Groot, supra note 62.

<sup>68.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>69.</sup> Sophie Stalla-Bourdillon & Alison Knight, Anonymous Data v. Personal Data – A False Debate: An E.U. Perspective on Anonymization, Pseudonymization and Personal Data, 34 Wis. INT'L L.J. 284 (2016).

<sup>70.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>71.</sup> Id.

<sup>72.</sup> Richie Koch, Everything You Need to Know About GDPR Compliance, GDPR.EU (2020), available at https://gdpr.eu/compliance/ (last visited Apr. 19, 2021).

<sup>73.</sup> Id.

<sup>74.</sup> Id.

identification numbers.<sup>75</sup> It says that companies must provide a "reasonable" level of protection for personal data, but does not define what constitutes "reasonable." This lack of direction regarding the requirements of these strict rules and regulations could make uniform compliance difficult to maintain.<sup>77</sup> Recital 26 of the GDPR says the following about data anonymization:

The principles of data protection should apply to any information concerning an identified or identifiable natural person. Personal data which have undergone pseudonymization, which could be attributed to a natural person by the use of additional information should be considered to be information on an identifiable natural person. To determine whether a natural person is identifiable, an account should be taken of all the means reasonably likely to be used, such as singling out, either by the controller or by another person to identify the natural person directly or indirectly. To ascertain whether means are reasonably likely to be used to identify the natural person, account should be taken of all objective factors, such as the costs of and the amount of time required for identification, taking into consideration the available technology at the time of the processing and technological developments. The principles of data protection should therefore not apply to anonymous information, name information that does not relate to an identified or identifiable natural person or to personal data rendered anonymous in such a manner that the data subject is not or no longer identifiable. This Regulation does not, therefore, concern the processing of such anonymous information, including for statistical or research purposes.<sup>78</sup>

The EU is generally stricter with its privacy regulations than the United States.<sup>79</sup> They enforce a comprehensive data privacy regulation upon all member states, with the GDPR imposing heightened privacy protections, including anonymization.<sup>80</sup> The GDPR defines an individual as an identifiable person if they can "be identified, directly or indirectly, in particular by reference to an identifier such as a name, an identification number, location data, an online identifier or to one or more factors specific to the physical, physiological, genetic, mental, economic,

<sup>75.</sup> Michael Nadeau, General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR): What You Need to Know to Stay Compliant, CSO (June 12, 2020), available at https://www.csoonline.com/article/3202771/general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr-requirements-deadlines-and-facts.html (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>76.</sup> Id.

<sup>77.</sup> Id.

<sup>78.</sup> See Intersoft, supra note 32.

<sup>79.</sup> See Brasher, supra note 30, at 244.

<sup>80.</sup> Id.

cultural or social identity of that natural person."81 This definition heightens the threshold for determining whether a natural person is "identifiable" by saying that an "account should be taken of all the means reasonably likely to be used, such as singling out, either by the controller or by another person to identify the natural person directly or indirectly."82 Through this, the regulation indicates that forms of reidentification need to be acknowledged and that those attempting to regulate data privacy should be aware of potential attempts to take data.

While the idea behind GDPR – having a uniform system across multiple countries – sounds good in theory, certain aspects of this regulation have not worked quite to plan in practice. In particular, data anonymization has not worked because the process of deleting an individual's traceable facts is still unsuccessful. The GDPR brings data anonymization to the center of the discussion on data protection and privacy laws because many of its rules and regulations focus on how data collected by companies and individuals should not have any individual identifying information. In doing so, it emphasizes the importance of allowing people to maintain their anonymity when browsing the Internet or conducting business.<sup>83</sup> Although this approach is lacking, looking at other countries to learn from their anonymization attempts could improve the process.<sup>84</sup> India and China are two such countries that have developed anonymization regulations and continue to implement them through their respective data protection and privacy laws.<sup>85</sup>

# C. Data Protection and Privacy in India

India is a federal democratic republic with a parliamentary system of government.<sup>86</sup> India has a modern parliamentary institution that originated with the British colonial administration and developed organically over time due to struggles for better representation in the government.<sup>87</sup> After India won its independence from the British, the

<sup>81.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>82.</sup> Id. at 245.

<sup>83.</sup> Id.

<sup>84.</sup> Id.

<sup>85.</sup> See Brasher, supra note 30.

<sup>86.</sup> India Government Type, INDEX MUNDI (2019), available at https://www.indexmundi.com/india/government\_type.html (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>87.</sup> National Parliaments: India, LIBR. OF CONG. (2014), available at https://www.loc.gov/law/help/national-parliaments/india.php (last visited Apr. 20, 2021) ("Colonization of India by the British helped developed the basis of a functioning government in India.").

Constituent Assembly<sup>88</sup> convened to draft the Constitution of India. In this Constitution, the Assembly stipulated the need for a "Parliament for the Union which shall consist of the President and two Houses to be known respectively as the Council of State and the House of the People." Under this system of governance, the process of a bill becoming a law in India is as follows:

The *first stage* consists of the introduction of the Bill which is done on a motion moved by either a Minister or a Member. During the *second stage*, any of the following motions can be moved: that the Bill be taken into consideration; that it be referred to a Select Committee of the House; that it be referred to a Joint Committee of the two Houses; or that it be circulated for the purpose of eliciting opinion thereon. Thereafter, the Bill is taken up for clause-by-clause consideration as introduced or as reported by the Select/Joint Committee. The *third stage* is confined to the discussion on the motion that the Bill be passed and the Bill is passed/rejected either by voting or voice vote (or returned to the Lok Sabha by the Rajya Sabha in the case of a Money Bill). 90

This system allows politicians to voice differing opinions, and safeguards bills as they go through the many legislative stages before becoming law. This is India's approach to maintaining the democratic system and allowing elected government officials to scrutinize each bill before it is passed.

In 2017, the Indian Supreme Court ruled that the Indian Constitution guarantees a fundamental right to privacy, but at that time, India had neither a data protection act nor a data protection agency. However, the country later created a large biometric database called Aadhaar, which is now the largest in the world. An Aadhaar number is a twelve-digit number issued by the Unique Identification Authority of India (UIDAI) to residents of India who complete a specific verification process. It is

<sup>88.</sup> First Day in the Constituent Assembly, Lok Sabha (n.d.), available at http://164.100.47.194/loksabha/constituent/facts.html (last visited Mar. 22, 2021) ("The Constituent Assembly took three years to draft the Constitution for an Independent India.").

<sup>89.</sup> Brasher, supra note 30.

<sup>90.</sup> Id.

<sup>91.</sup> State of Privacy India, PRIV. INT'L (Jan. 26, 2019), available at https://privacyinternational.org/state-privacy/1002/state-privacy-india (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

<sup>92.</sup> Welcome to AADHAAR, AADHAAR (2020), available at http://www.aadhaar.nl (last visited Apr. 21, 2021) ("foundation" in Hindi).

<sup>93.</sup> Brasher, supra note 30.

<sup>94.</sup> What is Aadhaar, UNIQUE IDENTIFICATION AUTH. INDIA (2019), available at https://uidai.gov.in/my-aadhaar/about-your-aadhaar.html (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

a non-commercial and non-governmental organization that began development in 1997 to support grassroots-level development in India. <sup>95</sup> Its purpose is to bridge the gap between classes of people, improve the standard of living, and lead people out of poverty. <sup>96</sup> Citizens may voluntarily enroll with UIDAI to obtain an Aadhaar number; during enrollment they must provide minimal demographic and biometric information, which is free. <sup>97</sup> The official purpose of Aadhaar is as follows:

Aadhaar is a strategic policy tool for social and financial inclusion, public sector delivery reforms, managing fiscal budgets, increas[ing] convenience and promot[ing] hassle-free people-centric governance ... [it]facilitates financial inclusion of the underprivileged and weaker sections of the society and is, therefore, a tool of distributive justice and equality. The Aadhaar identity platform is one of the key pillars of the "Digital India," wherein every resident of the country is provided with a unique identity. The Aadhaar programme has already achieved several milestones and is by far the largest biometrics-based identification system in the world. 98

Since the creation of Aadhaar, Indian's legislative body worked on passing an all-encompassing data protection and privacy law based on the GDPR.<sup>99</sup> The law included individual rights protections, heightened consent requirements, and stiff penalties for non-compliance.<sup>100</sup> It also created barriers, making it more difficult to transfer personal data out of India. Further, the committee defined personal data slightly differently than the GDPR,<sup>101</sup> as "data about or relating to a natural person who is directly or indirectly identifiable, having regard to any characteristic ... of the identity of such person."<sup>102</sup> However, there is nothing in the law about data anonymization regarding collected data because the draft bill argues that anonymization must be "irrevocable," despite the fact that irrevocability is most likely impossible under current standards.<sup>103</sup>

<sup>95.</sup> AADHAAR, supra note 93.

<sup>96.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>97.</sup> Id.

<sup>98.</sup> *India's Aadhaar System*, DFT EMPOWER (2017), available at http://www.dftempower.com/index.php/aadhaar (last visited Apr. 19, 2021).

<sup>99.</sup> Key Provisions in India's Draft Personal Data Bill, INSIDE PRIV. (Sept. 12, 2018), available at https://www.insideprivacy.com/international/key-provisions-in-indias-draft-personal-data-bill/ (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>100.</sup> Id.

<sup>101.</sup> Id.

<sup>102.</sup> Id.

<sup>103.</sup> Id.

While the goal of Aadhaar was to make the lives of Indian citizens more equal and protect their privacy, the legislature is still working through inconsistencies and bumps in the law to make the it successful. 104 Problems include issues with accessing Aadhaar numbers, particularly as experienced by citizens who are sick, immobile, or bedridden; 105 generally lacking awareness of Aadhaar's individual benefits; and the denial of replacements to persons who lost their Aadhaar cards, which led to fake Aadhaar numbers. 106 The Supreme Court of India also ruled that illegal immigrants will not get an Aadhaar number. 107 With the biometric system in place and the fact that the country is still working on passing an all-encompassing law, India has leeway when incorporating data anonymization into its domestic regulations. Since Aadhaar already exists, individuals should be able to elect to keep their information private if the data is used for any purpose.

### D. Data Protection and Privacy in China

China's government consists of four different divisions—the legislative, executive, judiciary, and military—which comprise the Communist Government of the People's Republic of China. China's legislation is often passed in very vague terms because legislators want to see the effect of a law before adding clarifying details. China has a National People's Congress (NPC), which is the highest ranking body their and largest in their government. Its 3000 members rarely meet, requiring the NPC to rely on its committees to conduct the central government's regular business of drafting legislation.

<sup>104.</sup> Reetika Khera, *Aadhaar Failures: A Tragedy of Errors*, ECON. & POL. WKLY. (Apr. 6, 2019), *available at* https://www.epw.in/engage/article/aadhaar-failures-food-services-welfare (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>105.</sup> Id.

<sup>106.</sup> Id.

<sup>107.</sup> Cabinet Gives Go-Ahead to Aadhaar Bill, ECON. TIMES (Oct. 9, 2013), available at https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/economy/policy/Cabinet-gives-go-ahead-to-Aadhaar-Bill/articleshow/23762608.cms (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

<sup>108.</sup> Amber Pariona, What Type of Government Does China Have, WORLDATLAS (Apr. 25, 2017), available at https://www.worldatlas.com/articles/what-type-of-government-does-china-have.html (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

<sup>109.</sup> Id.

<sup>110.</sup> Id.

<sup>111.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>112.</sup> The PRC Legislative Process: Rule Making in China, US-CHINA BUS. COUNCIL (2009), available at https://www.uschina.org/sites/default/files/prc\_legislative\_process.pdf (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

laws, the NPC's Law Committee reviews the drafted laws and other legislative items, then writes a report to the NPC Standing Committee Council of Chairs. They intently read this report three times before passing it, at which point it is published in the NPC gazette. Under the Chinese Constitution, the Communist party has complete political authority and governs according to democratic centralism. This system of governance allows open discussion and policy decisions, but all the members must uphold a collective decision.

China's legislature tends to pass deliberately incomplete legislation at promulgation because it gives lawmakers more flexibility to adapt laws after their effects become apparent. In other words, they wait to see how the laws and regulations play out before they decide how to enforce and interpret them. An issue often mentioned is that there are inconsistencies between the national laws and their local implementation guidelines because of the vagueness of their legislation. This is because local guidelines are published months or years after creation. China is often considered a surveillance state—a government that uses facial recognition and big data to control and monitor its citizens. These practices coincide with their growing need for privacy protections, and the country is working faster to achieve these protections.

Citizens of China often view privacy differently because they have a distinctive understanding of its principles and how it works. Currently, there is no data anonymization in China because data is collected from citizens whenever necessary, especially via facial recognition. When the Chinese government drafted its data protection and privacy laws, it looked to the GDPR as a model, particularly when it came to

<sup>113.</sup> Id. at 3.

<sup>114.</sup> Id.

<sup>115.</sup> See id.

<sup>116.</sup> See id.

<sup>117.</sup> Daniel Rechtschaffen, Why China's Data Regulations Are a Compliance Nightmare for Companies, The DIPLOMAT (June 27, 2019), available at https://thediplomat.com/2019/06/why-chinas-data-regulations-are-a-compliance-nightmare-for-companies/ (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>118.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>119.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>120.</sup> Samm Sacks & Lorand Laskai, *China's Privacy Conundrum*, SLATE (Feb. 7, 2019), available at https://slate.com/technology/2019/02/china-consumer-data-protection-privacy-surveillance.html (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>121.</sup> Id.

strengthening individuals' control over their personal information.<sup>122</sup> The Republic of China is known for its notoriously strict internet laws, which censor the Internet platforms citizens can access within its borders.<sup>123</sup> Because of this, they minimized individuals' privacy rights when it comes to using the Internet.<sup>124</sup> This minimization included setting up a specific regulatory system to monitor social media sites, like Facebook.<sup>125</sup>

China does not have a single comprehensive data protection law. 126 China's cybersecurity law, the Cyber Security Law, came into effect on June 1, 2017, and was its first national law addressing cybersecurity and data privacy protection. 127 The Cyber Security Law introduced a framework for comprehensive regulation for the privacy of electronically stored data. 128 This law has only further complicated the system by creating a multi-layered pyramid that implements regulations and measures, guidance notices, and national and technical standards, which narrows into highly granular rules at the top. 129

As with many Chinese laws, the application of the Cyber Security Law and the steps needed to ensure uniform compliance are uncertain. <sup>130</sup> Some of the biggest concerns is protecting online information security; safeguarding the lawful rights and interests of citizens, legal entities, and other organizations; and ensuring national security and public interests. <sup>131</sup> The law requires consent to collect personal information and grants the government power to demand that companies turn over more information on users through random inspections of internet service providers,

<sup>122.</sup> Samm Sacks, China's Emerging Data Privacy System and GDPR, CSIS (Mar. 9, 2018), available at https://www.csis.org/analysis/chinas-emerging-data-privacy-system-and-gdpr (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>123.</sup> Cheang Ming & Saheli Roy Choudhury, China Has Launched Another Crackdown on the Internet - but it's Different This Time, CNBC (Oct. 26, 2017), available at https://www.cnbc.com/2017/10/26/china-internet-censorship-new-crackdowns-and-rules-are-here-to-stay.html (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

<sup>124.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>125.</sup> Rechtschaffen, supra note 118.

<sup>126.</sup> DLA Piper, *China: Law*, DATA PROT. L. OF THE WORLD (2020), *available at* https://www.dlapiperdataprotection.com/index.html?t=law&c=CN (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>127.</sup> Id.

<sup>128.</sup> Richard Bird & Pern Yi Quah, Where Are We Now With Data Protection Law in China?, Lexology (Sept. 10, 2019), available at https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=6f52a281-b5b7-4f9f-940d-1951a905c4e1 (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

<sup>129.</sup> Id.

<sup>130.</sup> Ming & Choudhury, supra note 124.

<sup>131.</sup> DLA Piper, supra note 127.

making it increasingly difficult for users to be anonymous online.<sup>132</sup> Government action has shown this difficulty. In recent years China has cracked down on its internet platforms, including social media, for content violations.

Most importantly, from this case study, Chinese citizens' mindset towards collecting data can be useful for the Western world, particularly as reflected in how they do not depend on one system to completely privatize their information. Their thinking is more relaxed because their information is protected, so they do not worry about tracing their data and information. With this idea spreading to the west, the mindset regarding data anonymization will lead to an evolution of more realistic data protection techniques.

China defines personal data as all kinds of information recorded by electronic means, or otherwise, that can be used to independently identify or be combined with other information to identify a natural person's information.<sup>133</sup> Sensitive personal data is personal information that, if disclosed or abused, will adversely affect the data subject.<sup>134</sup> Some examples include a personal identification number, correspondence records and contents, property information, credit information, location tracking, lodging information, health, physiological information, and transaction information.<sup>135</sup>

The enforcement of the Cyber Security Law depends on specific data protection laws and regulations. Because of this, there is no bright-line punishment for violators. Affected individuals may claim indemnification under Chinese Tort Liability Law, and in severe cases breaches may lead to higher fines or license revocation. China is looking to find the balance that allows the construction of a data protection regime which is both uniquely suited to China's needs and does not undermine the government's ability to maintain control. Their mindset towards what should be private and how it should stay private would help advance data anonymization in other nations as well, insofar as anonymization is therein regarded as one piece of a layered approach to privatizing information rather than the entire solution.

<sup>132.</sup> Rechtschaffen, supra note 118.

<sup>133.</sup> DLA Piper, supra note 127.

<sup>134.</sup> Id.

<sup>135.</sup> Id.

<sup>136.</sup> Id.

<sup>137.</sup> Id.

<sup>138.</sup> DLA Piper, supra note 127.

<sup>139.</sup> Rechtschaffen, supra note 118.

# III. FINDING A SOLUTION TO THE DATA ANONYMIZATION PROBLEM

To be successful, the international structure around data anonymization must change to reflect individual countries' needs. The EU, India, and China all provide an interesting look at how different governments handle this issue, and how that allows them to introduce their data protection and privacy regulations. Independently, each effort is not a total success; there are problems within each that require individualized solutions. However, if portions of the three strategies were taken together, then small provisions like data anonymization would become stronger. Broadly, this is achieved by acknowledging that privacy is a fundamental international right, which would create a common, shared value throughout the entire world. The international community should also accept that data anonymization is a protective layer, not full protection.

### A. Mindset on Privacy

First, the international community needs to acknowledge privacy as a fundamental right. The EU set forth this right in the Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union (Charter) shortly after its establishment. Chapter II of this Charter lists many freedoms, including the right to private life. The Charter also includes the right to privacy and the right to data protection, which form the foundation of the Charter. When collecting data, the data subject must know why the data is being collected and what purpose the data collection serves. It "must be collected for specified, explicit, and legitimate purposes and not further processed in a way incompatible with those purposes. The data should also be adequate, relevant, and not exceed its purpose.

<sup>140.</sup> Charter of Fundamental Rights, EUR. DATA PROT. SUPERVISOR (2009), available at https://edps.europa.eu/data-protection/our-work/subjects/charter-fundamental-rights\_en (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

<sup>141.</sup> Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union ch. 2, Dec. 7, 2000, 2000 O.J. (C 364/01).

<sup>142.</sup> Id. at art. 7.

<sup>143.</sup> See Charter of Fundamental Rights, supra note 143.

<sup>144.</sup> Robert Jan Uhl, *Data Protection*, EUR. UNION AGENCY FOR FUNDAMENTAL RTS. (Aug. 2012), *available at* https://fra.europa.eu/en/data-protection (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

<sup>145.</sup> Id.

<sup>146.</sup> Id.

The general public only has access to information related to "public interest," otherwise, the access is limited to the European Agency's staff. 147 With the focus on maintaining this information's privacy, the EU can collect personal data to perform tasks conducted in the public interest, or to exercise the official authority vested in the EU and a particular institution. This applies to compliance with legal obligations to which the Agency is subjected, and processing is based on individual consent. 148

Other countries have also begun to take action. In India, its nineperson Supreme Court bench held in a 2017 landmark decision that the "right to privacy" was a fundamental right. 149 The three focal points of this bill are: (1) the growth of the digital economy expanded the use of data as a critical means of communication between people, so it is necessary to create a collective system that fosters a free and fair digital economy; (2) respecting the informational privacy of the individuals, ensuring empowerment and progress; and (3) innovation through digital governance and inclusion.<sup>150</sup> The bill, similar to the GDPR, looks to "personal data" as information that will be obtained via consent from entities that classify as data fiduciaries. <sup>151</sup> The proposed bill suggests that some form of data anonymization will occur, but does not specifically mention anything except the government's ability to direct data collectors to hand over anonymized personal information or other "non-personal data" for "evidence-based policy-making." This bill is intentionally vague, and it is not readily clear what the above might entail. 153

The bill's intentional vagueness leaves open endless possibilities for what can be done with the data. The bill may include a discussion or reference to the fact that individuals have a right to privacy, and therefore mandate taking specific precautions. India could look to the GDPR's definition of data anonymization to clarify that this is only a step towards complete anonymization. It is important to again emphasize the layering effect, within which data anonymization would be only one part.

<sup>147.</sup> Id.

<sup>148.</sup> Id.

<sup>149.</sup> K.S. Puttaswamy v. Union of India, (2012) 1 S.C.C. 809, Judgement No. 494 (India).

<sup>150.</sup> Arindrajit Basu & Justin Sherman, Key Global Takeaways From India's Revised Personal Data Protection Bill, LAWFARE (Jan. 23, 2020), available at https://www.lawfareblog.com/key-global-takeaways-indias-revised-personal-data-protection-bill (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>151.</sup> Id.

<sup>152.</sup> Id.

<sup>153.</sup> Id.

China defines personal data as all kinds of information recorded by electronic means or which can otherwise be used to identify a natural person's information either independently or in combination with other information. The translation of "privacy" in Chinese is "yinsi," which means "shameful secret." It is an "instrumental good" rather than an intrinsic good. China's approach to privacy differs; its government favors technologies like facial recognition, which are generally frowned upon by Western countries. 157

The different types of accepted regulations create problems when deciding the purpose of anonymization rules. As facial recognition gains traction in China, leading the Chinese government to keep tabs on their citizens, the same type of software is swiftly denounced in the EU and other Western countries. 158 The EU and India have democracies as their main national government, while China has a more centralized The difference in structure and values explains the difficulty of creating a uniform system of laws. The EU and India focus on the betterment of their institutions, where each individual is a small, important piece that fits into the puzzle. However, China's difference lies in the fact that the government represents the group, and although they do not legally own the labor force, the central planners direct where citizens should work. 159 The cultural belief in China is that its citizenry should all happily contribute to a commonly shared skill, eventually resulting in their economy surpassing capitalism. 160 This belief stands in stark contrast to the Western concept of individualism, heavily contributing to different law enforcement systems in each of these countries.

To make effective changes, individuals' conceptualization of anonymization must shift. Right now, people believe that the anonymization of private information should be secure and unidentifiable. However, suppose those people were to accept that pure

<sup>154.</sup> Ming & Choudhury, supra note 124.

<sup>155.</sup> Tiffany Li, *China's Influence on Digital Privacy Could Be Global*, WASH. POST (Aug. 7, 2018), *available at* https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/theworldpost/wp/2018/08/07/china-privacy/ visited Apr. 21, 2021). (last

<sup>156.</sup> See id.

<sup>157.</sup> Id.

<sup>158.</sup> Id.

<sup>159.</sup> Kimberly Amadeo, Communism, Its Characteristics, Pros, Cons, and Examples, THE BALANCE (Oct. 30, 2019), available at https://www.thebalance.com/communism-characteristics-pros-cons-examples-3305589 (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>160.</sup> Id.

anonymization is not feasible; in that case, they could look for other ways to maintain anonymity, even if not at the level that they expected. This change in process would not come easily, but with modern cyber surveillance it would be simpler to implement safeguards moving forward instead of focusing on the fact that the information is not actually private. The development of global privacy norms will strengthen if the international community is willing to work together and include different government types. <sup>161</sup>

For anonymization to be successful, a few things must initially be accepted. First, that privacy is a basic human right that needs to be protected by national governments. Acceptance of this principle motivates taking steps towards protecting an individual's identity and keeping their information private. If privacy is viewed as a societal value by individuals, it opens to an economic investigation that is important for developing societies, which will ultimately lead to a sociological investigation of the concept. Many privacy-specific goals focus on confidentiality and un-linkability, hoping that researchers, and those collecting data, will be able to strip away any identifiable information without taking away the purpose of collecting that data in the first place.

# **B.** Promoting Compliance

Another reason that anonymization has become an issue is that definitions of "personal data" vary. The GDPR defines "personal data" as:

[A]ny information relating to an identified or identifiable natural person ("data subject"); an identifiable natural person is one who can be identified, directly or indirectly, in particular by reference to an identifier such as a name, an identification number, location data, an online identifier or to one or more factors specific to the physical, physiological, genetic, mental, economic, cultural or social identity of that natural person. <sup>165</sup>

<sup>161.</sup> See Basu & Sherman, supra note 151.

<sup>162.</sup> See Jan Zibuschka et al., Anonymization is Dead – Long Live Privacy, OPEN IDENTITY SUMMIT (2019), available at https://dl.gi.de/bitstream/handle/20.500.12116/20995/proceedings-

<sup>06.</sup>pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>163.</sup> Id.

<sup>164.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>165.</sup> General Data Protection Regulation, art. 4, 2016 O.J. (L 119) 33.

Compliance is made difficult through these varying differentiations across countries, making uniformity difficult to maintain. In China, through the elimination of the free market, the government can set prices for the rest of the economy. <sup>166</sup> China also enacted regulations that align with the GDPR. <sup>167</sup> These regulations were promulgated to ensure that Chinese companies and corporations would not get fined while conducting business in the EU. <sup>168</sup>

Privacy compliance has become a basic component of privacy law because without it nobody would be liable for failing to adhere to the laws. Since the passage of the GDPR, countries have been working on passing laws and creating a framework that delivers a quick, cost-efficient solution. These countries must understand the GDPR's compliance risks, so they should create programs that are easily maintained and work on training employees to keep the programs running as to avoid any issues. 170

The initial cost of compliance is high, but will eventually even out over time.<sup>171</sup> These compliance systems will support and uphold democratic values and respect basic human rights.<sup>172</sup> Informing individuals that network operators are not gathering irrelevant information through their use of services, and assuring those individuals that their personal information will not be shared without their consent, supports basic human rights through privacy laws in the long run.<sup>173</sup> The GDPR recommends that the information collected "be stored in GDPR-compliant locations," no matter where those may be.<sup>174</sup> When working to comply with the GDPR, the Chinese Cyber Security Law took the

<sup>166.</sup> Nicolas Sartor, 9 Data Anonymization Use Cases You Need To Know Of, AIRCLOAK (July 29, 2019), available at https://aircloak.com/data-anonymization-use-cases/ (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

<sup>167.</sup> Wei Sheng, One Year After GDPR, China Strengthens Personal Data Regulations, Welcoming Dedicated Law, TECHNODE (June 19, 2019), available at https://technode.com/2019/06/19/china-data-protections-law/ (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

<sup>168.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>169.</sup> Andrew Henderson, *The 10 Steps to Achieving a Data Privacy Compliance Framework*, Lexology (Apr. 23, 2018), available at https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=4ff0c436-2438-4b0d-b6f2-f617665049e8 (last visited Apr. 20, 2021).

<sup>170.</sup> Id.

<sup>171.</sup> Sartor, supra note 167.

<sup>172.</sup> Id.

<sup>173.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>174.</sup> Focal Point Insights, Beyond the GDPR: A Look at China's National Data Protection Standard, FOCAL POINT (June 13, 2019), available at https://blog.focal-point.com/beyond-the-gdpr-a-look-at-chinas-national-data-protection-standard (last visited Apr. 21, 2021).

opposite approach and stated that "personal information or important data collected in China must be stored solely in China." <sup>175</sup>

As mentioned above, similarly defining terms would narrow the varying privacy laws and disallow the current, existing variations. The numerous definitions of what comprises "privacy" create confusion in and between different world regions. Providing definitions using basic words like "privacy" allows for more coherent laws to be easily applied. Privacy should encompass an individual's basic information, such as name, address, and telephone number. It should also include identification numbers, which vary in usage from country to country.

Looking to data anonymization, its wide-ranging acceptance would succeed if it also acknowledged that stripping away a person's entire identity is not possible. Data anonymization should protect an individual's identity, not erase it. Current laws attempt to remove any personal information that could trace a person's identity back to them. However, because this strategy fails, it gives the entire concept of anonymization in data protection and privacy laws a bad name. Data anonymization turns "sensitive data into usable data sets by stripping identifiable information and making it anonymous." These data sets are important, but are often compromised through reidentification science.

Critics argue that data anonymization is "dead" and that its current failures have had an irreversible, worldwide effect. <sup>177</sup> It is argued that the quality of anonymized data is lost once the identifiable information is taken away. <sup>178</sup> This is the opposite of pseudonymized data, where the link to the identifier is still present, and identifiable processes could be enabled at any time. <sup>179</sup> If the information no longer has this link, then the original data set is also impossible to identify, making the data hard to place into a specific context. <sup>180</sup> The biggest concern is that the data already collected is not anonymized and, therefore, will have consequences for privacy engineering. <sup>181</sup>

<sup>175.</sup> Id.

<sup>176. 8</sup> Fundamental Data Anonymization Mistakes That Could Put Your Business at Risk, CLOVERDX (Nov. 27, 2019), available at https://www.cloverdx.com/blog/data-anonymization-mistakes (last visited Mar. 22, 2021).

<sup>177.</sup> Zibuschka et al., supra note 163.

<sup>178.</sup> Id.

<sup>179.</sup> Id.

<sup>180.</sup> Id.

<sup>181.</sup> Id.

The focus should move away from attempting to erase an individual's identity and towards transparency and accountability. In the EU, India, and China, withholding information is not possible because each country, in its own way, maintains that privacy is a fundamental right; therefore, each citizen has the right to assert its protections. Accountability would make adherence to compliance and uniform laws more possible because each country would be responsible for its own system. Is will be important, especially when companies and corporations conduct business internationally. Accountability will also decrease the belief that anonymization is a failure because it will not focus on the fact that people's information is not private; rather, on how those collecting the information are working to safeguard it.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

Data protection and privacy laws still have a long way to go before they even approach finalization and perfection. With technology continually changing, the laws that protect privacy must evolve in conjunction with these advancements. This task is accompanied by the challenges with varying governmental systems in different countries and the pace at which laws are passed.

The rise of the technology industry created a new set of problems for protecting individuals' privacy. As discussed, countries are doing their best to develop data protection and privacy laws which allow their citizens to live public lives on the Internet while maintaining a level of anonymity. These laws are extremely debated and anonymization is one of the issues at the forefront. The EU's GDPR is the leading standard in this field. If a country wants to work within EU borders, it must comply with the GDPR's baseline of rules or risk fines for non-compliance. This has become cost-heavy for businesses and foreign countries, but it is strictly enforced.

The GDPR is considered the gold standard of privacy laws. Compliance is not optional, and rules must be enforced to protect citizens' identities. The GDPR uses anonymization to protect individuals' identities by attempting to strip away their names, addresses, and identification numbers. Companies must safeguard an individual's data by "reasonable" levels, but "reasonable" is not defined, which leaves a large gray area open for interpretation. The concept of anonymization

<sup>182.</sup> Amadeo, supra note 160.

<sup>183.</sup> Id.

is appealing to the general public because it makes individuals feel as though they have power over what kind of personal information they can give; this is a false pretense, however, that leaves the public feeling as if the government is tricking them.

A country has data protection laws if their domestic laws provide a set of basic data privacy principles and a method of enforcement. Finding a uniform system across the countries is not impossible but could be difficult to manage. With India's biggest focus being on the biometric system Aadhaar, it has tried to pay attention to all citizens of India, especially those living in poverty. The intention behind its creation was to treat people equally, yet the program is plagued with implementation issues. On the anonymization front, the Aadhaar numbers are easily identifiable and not as anonymous as initially thought. India's noncommercial and non-governmental organization was about twenty years in the making, and remains a strategic policy tool for social and financial inclusion by issuing every single person with a unique identity. With the stress of being the most extensive biometrics-based identification system in the world, there are still small issues that have to be worked out before the system can be deemed a success.

China differs from the EU and India in that its communist government tends to pass vague laws that appear to be enacted without thought toward possible interpretations or long-term outcomes, thus creating potential for messes when it comes to implementation and enforcement. These messes seem to be left unaddressed until the Chinese government passes new laws to fix the old ones. China defines personal data as all kinds of information recorded by electronic means or otherwise that can be used to independently identify or be combined with other information to identify a natural person's information. China is an interesting state when it comes to privacy because it already imposes strict internet laws on their citizens. China is also a surveillance state, which means it gathers more public information than countries that are not surveillance states. A popular feature of its government is the use of facial recognition and big data to control and monitor citizens. When China drafted its data protection and privacy laws, it looked to the GDPR as a model, but ensuring anonymization was not as highly prioritized.

Finally, the international community wrongfully conceptualizes anonymization. The focus on anonymization should no longer be on anonymization through stripping away identifying information; it should instead position accountability as the primary focus. With accountability, there will be more opportunity to control which information data sets use. This will be beneficial because then the data sets can be linked to their origins. With this new branding of anonymization, identifiable

information will still be gathered, but instead of being stripped away, it will remain present yet unavailable to the public. This will help hold companies, corporations, and governments accountable for the type of information they collect, while allowing citizens to maintain a level of individual privacy.

# The Contractual and Transnational Nature of Sovereign Donor-Trustee International Aid Contributions

#### Ilias Bantekas\*

#### ABSTRACT

Donor pledges and commitments at international conferences are typically channeled through inter-governmental funds. Given that the pledging conference itself does not enjoy international personality, the donors must contract with the trustee so the latter can receive, hold, invest, and reimburse the funds to their intended beneficiaries. Although inter-governmental organizations, such as the World Bank, make the vast majority of contributions to states and trustees, treaties do not convey the pertinent transactions. Rather, the two parties tend to situate their contractual relationship within the broader realm of transnational law. As a result, they have shown a preference for flexible instruments such as memoranda of understanding, ad hoc contracts (such as instruments of commitment), simple unilateral acts, and others. Relevant instruments. while facilitating the transformation of a promise/pledge into an assetbased contribution, at the same time relinquish both the donor and trustee from all possible liability.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The time of States providing international aid directly to other target States by simply depositing money into a sovereign account are long gone. This practice was discredited because it lacks transparency, fails to account for the use of the assets by the recipient government, and is generally ineffective. Sadly, corruption and intermediary fees constitute a significant dimension of aid programs, and local governments are generally incapable of mobilizing domestic resources to enhance local ownership over the process. This is all the more so given two significant developments in the field of international development finance. The first development is concerned with aid, which is a broader concept than simply providing money. Aid includes debt relief, either as a stand-alone

<sup>\*</sup> Professor of Transnational Law, Hamad bin Khalifa University (Qatar Foundation), College of Law and Adjunct Professor of Law, Georgetown University, Edmund A. Walsh School of Foreign Service.

action or as part of a poverty reduction strategy for subsequent lending;<sup>1</sup> political and financial guarantees<sup>2</sup> in order to attract low-interest loans;<sup>3</sup> non-World Bank debt relief from the so-called "Paris Club;"<sup>4</sup> debt-for-equity swaps;<sup>5</sup> overseas development assistance, whether unilateral or multilateral;<sup>6</sup> and capacity building.<sup>7</sup>

- 1. See M.S. ELLIS, THE WORLD BANK; FIGHTING POVERTY IDEOLOGY VERSUS ACCOUNTABILITY (Krista Nadakavukaren Schefer ed., 2011); see Nadakavukaren Schefer, Poverty & International Economic Law: Duties to the Poor, Eur. J. Int'l L. (2013).
- 2. A typical example is the World Bank's Policy-Based Guarantee (PBG), which is applied to facilitate distressed sovereign borrowing in support of structural and social policy reforms. The PBG effectively covers or guarantees part of a debt's servicing, allowing a private financier to lend money to a sovereign that would otherwise be ineligible. The structural conditionalities imposed on the borrowing state, usually draconian, leave little doubt that the Bank will come out victoriously. See Guarantees Program, THE WORLD BANK (Feb. 4, 2021), available at http://www.worldbank.org/en/programs/guarantees-program (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).
- 3. See Agasha Mugasha, The Law of Multi-Bank Financing (Oxford Univ. Press 2007).
- 4. Although the Paris Club is formally distinct from the IMF, Paris Club members own the bulk of the special drawing rights in the IMF and control this IFI. In practice, no debt relief is possible before the Paris Club if the applicant has not agreed with the IMF. As a result, the requirements of the IMF and the latter's seal of approval are necessary. See Mauro Megliani, Paris Club, in ENCYCLOPEDIA OF PUBLIC INTERNATIONAL LAW (2015).
- 5. A debt-for-equity swap allows an indebted state to exchange/swap part of its debt for stocks in local state enterprises. See RALPH REISNER ET AL., LATIN AMERICAN DEBT MANAGEMENT, INTER-AM. DEV. BANK 111 (1990).
- 6. Since the launch of the MDGs, the question of aid effectiveness has become critical for donor states. As a result, in 2005, the Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness was adopted to disburse and manage ODA more effectively. The Declaration is not binding and established a bilateral partnerships framework between donors and creditors and individual aid-recipient countries. Aid effectiveness is linked to five mutually reinforcing principles: (1) recipient countries exercise efficient ownership over their development strategies; (2) support is based on recipient countries' strategies and institutions (alignment); (3) harmonization and transparency of donors' actions; (4) improvement in decision-making and management; (5) mutual accountability of donors and recipients. The Paris Declaration was rigidly technocratic and only incidentally concerned with development outcomes. Hence, it avoids references to human rights, unlike its follow-up instrument, the 2008 Accra Agenda for Action. Moreover, the OECD DAC published its Action-Oriented Policy Paper on Human Rights & Development in 2007. It identified ten principles whereby human rights play an inextricable part in donor effectiveness and harmonization. However, in Evaluating Development Cooperation: Summary of Key Norms & Standards, the DAC explains its five principles for evaluating development assistance (i.e., relevance, effectiveness, efficiency, impact sustainability) without any reference to human rights indicators. See Evaluating Development Cooperation: Summary of Key Norms & Standards, OECD (n.d.), available at https://www.oecd.org/development/evaluation/dcdndep/41612905.pdf (last visited Apr. 2, 2020).
- 7. The Busan Partnership Agreement (BPA) was adopted at the Fourth High Level Forum on Aid Effectiveness, with support from over 160 states and civil society. The BPA builds on the Paris Declaration and the Accra Agenda for Action with a view to more efficient

The second development, which directly relates to this article. concerns the clear legal nature of unilateral aid as a non-enforceable promise. One particular aspect of this development is the proliferation of trust funds to channel and manage promised aid through and—in many cases—disburse the aid to intended beneficiaries. A tripartite relationship between one or more donors, trustees, and future beneficiaries forms these trust funds. These trusts differ from typical domestic notions of a trust<sup>8</sup> and the Islamic awqaf tradition<sup>9</sup> because the relationship between the donor and trustee is contractual, and the beneficiaries have no right of action against the donor or the trustee. The trustee is typically an intergovernmental organization, such as the World Bank<sup>10</sup> or the United Nations (U.N.), which manages the assets provided by the donors and disburses those assets, 11 as agreed to by the donors, to a class of named beneficiaries.<sup>12</sup> Depending on the affluence of its assets, which regular donor conferences may regularly replenish, the trust fund might require a more elaborate corporate governance mechanism; several trusts have moved away from serving as mere bank accounts of the trustee to fullblown inter-governmental organizations. 13

institutional arrangements based on successful policies and actions. See Busan Partnership for Effective Development Co-Operation, BUSAN HLF4 (Dec. 1, 2011), available at https://www.oecd.org/dac/effectiveness/49650173.pdf (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

- 8. Clearly, inter-governmental trusts have been modeled on their domestic counterparts and are effectively creatures of comparative law as applied to their inter-state context. See, e.g., MAURIZO LUPOI, TRUSTS: A COMPARATIVE STUDY (Cambridge Univ. Press 2000); Adeline Chong, The Common Law Choice of Law Rules for Resulting & Constructive Trusts, 54 Int'l Comp. L.Q. 855 (2005); Adair Dyer, International Recognition & Adaptation of Trusts: The Influence of the Hague Convention, 32 VAND. J. TRANSNAT'L L. 989 (1999).
- 9. See Haitam Suleiman, The Islamic Trust Waqf: A Stagnant or Reviving Legal Institution?, 4 ELEC. J. ISLAMIC & MIDDLE EASTERN L. 27 (2016).
- 10. See 2017 Trust Funds Annual Report, THE WORLD BANK (2017), available at http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/428511521809720471/pdf/124547-REVISED-PUBLIC-17045-TF-Annual-Report-web-Apr17.pdf (last visited Apr. 2, 2021) (the Bank's key instrument for managing trusts is its IBRD Operational Policy (OP) 14, 40 (Jan. 1997, as revised in 2013 on Trust Funds)).
- 11. See U.S. \$14 Billion to Step Up the Fight Against the Epidemics, GLOB. FUND (Oct. 10, 2019), available at https://www.theglobalfund.org/en/specials/2019-10-09-global-fund-sixth-replenishment-conference/ (last visited Mar. 29, 2021) (noting that by late 2019, the total amount of funds committed by donors to the Global Fund for AIDS, TB & Malaria were \$14 billion USD).
- 12. See Nele Matz, Environmental Financing: Function & Coherence of Financial Mechanisms in International Environmental Agreements, in 6 MAX PLANCK YEARBOOK OF UNITED NATIONS LAW 473 (2002).
- 13. Ilias Bantekas, *The Legal Personality of World Bank Funds Under International Law*, 56 TULSA L. REV. 209 (2021).

An agreement establishes the donor-trustee relationship, but this paper will demonstrate this is a sui generis agreement that excludes, for example, the elements of bargaining or consideration where the trustee typically endeavors to assume as few obligations as possible. 14 Given that most donors are States and typically inter-governmental organizations are trustees, one would expect that a treaty would record the agreement setting out this relationship, but this practice is quite rare. It is not uncommon for the trust agreement to be a memorandum of understanding (MoU)<sup>15</sup> or other agreement, which often lacks the binding nature of a contract. Apart from the initial act of appointing a trustee, a future donor may wish to participate in the trust arrangement as follows: by simply depositing money in the trust account; concluding a bilateral agreement with the trustee for the same purpose; or acceding to the original trust agreement. In all of these cases, there is a convergence of consent between the donor and trustee because the trustee must approve the deposit of funds into an account, demonstrated by the maintenance of the funds in the trust account or their subsequent withdrawal for disbursement purposes.<sup>16</sup>

The trust agreement between the appointee (or donor) and the trustee may, but does not necessarily, establish the trust fund entity. It acts as an appointment instrument, followed by a trustee's future obligation to set up the trust fund, which is usually done by opening a bank account, and thereafter arranging the modalities for deposits, financial maintenance, and disbursement. This is the standard practice of the World Bank Group, the leading trustee of humanitarian projects financed by States.<sup>17</sup> There may be numerous donors to a particular inter-governmental trust, but they do not all have the same international legal personality; therefore, involving inter-governmental organizations, physical persons,

<sup>14.</sup> This is, of course, not surprising for the World Bank. See Tor Krever, The Legal Turn in Later Development Theory: The Rule of Law & the World Bank's Development Model, 52 HARV. INT'L L.J. 288 (2011) (tracing the rule of law discourse in the Bank to show its narrow understanding of the rule of law and distancing from concrete human rights obligations).

<sup>15.</sup> Memorandum of Understanding, Sweden Ministry of Sustainable Dev. & U.N. Environment Programme (Feb. 2005); see also Memorandum of Understanding on Contributing to the Water & Sanitation Trust Fund, Canada & U.N. Human Settlement Programme (Feb. 2005).

<sup>16.</sup> See id. at Section 2.1.

<sup>17.</sup> The World Bank practically sets up a trust fund not only by opening a bank account but also by adopting an executive resolution that has the effect of bringing the fledgling fund within its institutional remit, both for internal Bank purposes and vis-à-vis third parties. This was the case, for example, with the establishment of the GEF fund. See Int'l Bank Reconstruction & Dev. Res. 91-5 (Mar. 14, 1991).

multinational corporations, and legal persons with limited international legal personality in addition to States is critical. A treaty would be the appropriate arrangement for these actors, necessitating a series of distinct legal transactions by the trustee with each entity. In such cases, some contractual arrangements will possess a private law character, but that character does not detract from the trust's international legal nature. Moreover, the trust agreement is hierarchically superior, at least in the U.N. system, to the financial rules and regulations of the U.N.'s specialized agencies. As a result, it may convey authority to the trustee—when the trustee is not the U.N. or a subdivision thereof—to audit the financial management of a specialized agency when acting as an implementing or other entity.<sup>18</sup>

In the following subsections, we shall examine the contractual relationship of the two most important entities associated with a trust fund: its donors and trustees. This involves a legal analysis of deposits—a transfer of assets by a state entity to the trustee or the private bank where the account holds the trust fund. <sup>19</sup> This is significant because some trust funds simply require the donor to deposit or transfer their contribution to a private bank account without a written agreement. Whether this amounts to a unilateral act is debatable; if it does, so too is whether such an act produces a legal obligation on the part of the depositor. We will also look at a donor agreement when the donor is a State or inter-governmental organization to assess whether a treaty or a non-binding instrument, such as an MoU, achieves the goal of the donor when the parties' intention is not to be bound to the terms of the agreement. <sup>20</sup> A donor agreement with private parties presents fewer

<sup>18.</sup> Selected Legal Opinions of the Secretariats of the United Nations & Related Intergovernmental Organizations, U.N. JURID. Y.B. 399, 414-15 (1995), available at https://legal.un.org/unjuridicalyearbook/volumes/1995/ (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

<sup>19.</sup> This is an issue that generally pertains to domestic banking laws, such as the U.S. Electronic Funds Transfer Act, 15 U.S.C. 1693. There is no standard practice when it comes to monetary deposits by sovereigns. UNCITRAL has attempted to standardize electronic transfers irrespective of the depositor through its 1994 Model Law on International Credit Transfers. MODEL LAW ON INTERNATIONAL CREDIT TRANSFERS, U.N. COMM. ON INT'L TRADE L. (Proposed Official Draft 1992).

<sup>20.</sup> This is not always the case, however. In Case C-258/14, the Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU) came to the conclusion that MoU concluded under EU financial assistance mechanisms and balance-of-payment processes qualified as EU acts under art 267(1)(b) TFEU, and hence susceptible to interpretation by the Court. See Case C-258/14, Eugenia Florescu & Others v. Casa Judeţeană de Pensii Sibiu & Others, CJEU Judgment (Grand Chamber) of 13 June 2017, ¶ 36, EU:C:2017:448. In Joined Cases C-8-10/15P, where the CJEU held that where the EC Commission is involved in the signing of MoU within the framework of the European Stability Mechanism, it is acting within the sphere of EU law. See Joined Cases C-8-10/15P, Ledra Advertising Ltd. & Others v. European Commission &

difficulties and is predominantly governed by domestic law.<sup>21</sup> Finally, we delve into the legal nature of the agreement between the donor and the trustee, which provides the latter with the authority to act in such capacity.

# II. PLEDGES, COMMITMENTS, AND REPLENISHMENTS

The following sections examine the legal nature and practical effects of the various mechanisms by which donors agree to transfer financial assets to a fledgling trust fund or replenish the fund's resources through a new funding cycle. In exploring how States finance conferences, an attempt is made to apply the general rule to inter-governmental trust funds, which are an extension of the financing conferences in many cases. As a result, we differentiate between the following international law concepts—promises, pledges, and commitments. There is, of course, an institutional instrument within the U.N. that is dedicated to trust fund pledges, the Secretary-General's Bulletin on "Establishment and Management of Trust Funds,"22 but this does not, at first view, help clarify the distinction between a pledge and a commitment. importance of the various ways to finance trust funds should not be underestimated; it also should not be assumed that prospective state donors are eager to finance development efforts or that they generally honor their pledging commitments.

# A. The Legal Nature of Donors' Pledges

An inter-governmental trust fund principally consists of assets transferred by one or multiple donors to the trustee's account.<sup>23</sup> By

European Central Bank, EU:C:2016:701. Therefore, it is bound to refrain from MoU that are inconsistent with EU law, including the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights.

<sup>21.</sup> Agreements between States and private entities are excluded by both the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties as well as by customary law from the ambit of treaties. See Anglo-Iranian Oil Company Case (U.K. v. Iran), Judgment, 1952 I.C.J. Rep. 93, ¶ 112 (July 22). With few exceptions, the practice of private entities transacting with States and international organizations is to adopting choice of law clauses based on private law.

<sup>22.</sup> U.N. Secretary-General, Establishment & Management of Trust Funds, U.N. Doc. ST/SGB/188 (Mar. 1, 1982).

<sup>23.</sup> The capital transferred to trust funds by donors does not consist of cash transfers alone. It may well involve grants, loans, a combination of both, and the parties may agree to payment in tranches, a one-off, front-end loaded payment or others. *See* Benjamin Graham, *Trust Funds in the Pacific*, ASIAN DEV. BANK 9, 58 (2005).

transferring assets to the trustee's account the donors—whether they are inter-governmental individuals<sup>24</sup>—are states. organizations. or undertaking a purely voluntary act, which may involve a variety of stages before the pledge of donation or the donation itself binds the donor. This section seeks to identify the point at which the pledge becomes a binding promise under international law and the degree to which the concept of a promise in international law differs from that of a pledge within a multilateral donor conference. As will become obvious, given the absence of legal commitment in State pledges related to Sustainable Development Goals (SDG), the assets/donation placed in a trust fund are an excellent way to diffuse any legal obligations and thus live up to one's political commitments. This vagueness is difficult to achieve through formal agreements, and as the following sections demonstrate, it is precisely why most donor-trustee agreements either have an ambiguous legal nature or otherwise attempt to maintain informality.<sup>25</sup>

It is common practice for contemporary peace treaties to call on the treaty's sponsors or other potential donors to contribute financial assets towards the realization of post-conflict agendas regarding governance, constitution building, health, infrastructure, and others.<sup>26</sup> Such calls are even more vociferous if the potential donors partook in the peace efforts,

<sup>24.</sup> The UNDP's traditional legal basis for accepting donations from private parties can be traced back to the practice of its predecessor, the Special Fund, which was itself authorized to accept private contributions on the basis of the General Assembly mandate that created it. See Legal Framework for the UNDP's Use of Donations from Non-Governmental Sources, U.N. JURID. Y.B. 463, 463-64 (1996). See also The Use of the United Nations Name & Emblem, U.N. JURID. Y.B. 461, 426-27 (1997) (wherein the opinion highlighted the creation of purposely established foundations under U.S. law in order to channel tax-deductible private contributions to the UN50 Trust Fund).

<sup>25.</sup> See generally JOOST PAUWELYN, RAMSES WESSEL & JAN WOUTERS, INFORMAL INTERNATIONAL LAW MAKING (Oxford Univ. Press 2012). That international transactions are gradually moving towards informality, particularly through the process of transnational law is slowly emerging in the legal literature. See, e.g., Ilias Bantekas, The Rise of International Commercial Courts: The Astana International Financial Centre Court, 33 Pace Int'l L. Rev. 1, 41 (2020); Ilias Bantekas, The Contractualization of Public International Law & Its Impact on the Rule of Law, 21 Int'l J.L. Context 1-8 (2021).

<sup>26.</sup> See Arusha Peace and Reconciliation Agreement for Burundi, protocol IV, ch. III, art. 17(1), Aug. 28, 2000, (called for the establishment of an Inter-Ministerial Reconstruction & Development Unit (the Development Unit)) [hereinafter Burundi Agreement]. The Development Unit was charged with drafting a detailed reconstruction plan, in cooperation with the World Bank, the United Nations Development Programme & other multilateral entities; see also Agreement on the Basis for the Legal Integration of the Unidad Revolucionaria Nacional Guatamalteca, ¶ 5-55, Dec. 12, 1996 [hereinafter Guatemala Agreement]; Interim Agreement for Peace & Self-Government in Kosovo, ch. 4, ¶ 3, Feb. 23, 1999 [hereinafter Kosovo Agreement]; Peace Agreement Between the Government of Sierra Leone & the Revolutionary United Front of Sierra Leone, art. XXVII(1), July 7, 1999.

assisting in a country's national reconstruction plan.<sup>27</sup> When donor states are involved in reconstruction efforts, the negotiators and parties to a conflict examine the possible avenues for peace that would allow armed groups to put down their weapons and assist in finding them meaningful employment. Negotiating peace inevitably requires drafting a national reconstruction plan that addresses both finance and infrastructure. Obviously, these peace treaties are not binding on potential donor States. They solely serve as guarantors (and not as parties); moreover, the wording of these peace treaties clearly suggests that parties should seek donations from the international community. Even so, at the political level, the guarantors will be expected to make some financial contributions and try to solicit other funding. Thus, the donation clauses in post-conflict peace treaties do not give rise to a binding promise as a matter of practice or of law.

Let us now examine the nature of pledges in the context of multilateral donor conferences. The U.N.'s voluntary donor conferences passed through three stages of evolution. Until 1977 the organization hosted individual donor events for each one of its programs, but following a restructuring the U.N. began organizing a massive single donor conference once a year based on the belief that this would prevent donor fatigue and rejuvenate State interest.<sup>28</sup> This strategy probably worked well for a while, but in the early 2000s the practice and donor habits of the most influential States changed. Developed countries were no longer inclined to pour money into a development program or a developing State results-based mechanism or significant accountability. They also wanted local ownership over the projects to increase and governmental intrusion to decrease, which leads to corruption and embezzlement.<sup>29</sup>

This has led the U.N. to host distinct donor conferences, particularly when setting up inter-governmental trust funds to administer collected assets, or in instances when immediate action is requested by the donor community. Two examples of donor conferences are the 2003 Madrid Conference on Reconstruction in Iraq and the 2006 London Conference on Afghanistan.<sup>30</sup> Despite some coherency regarding the pledging

<sup>27.</sup> See Christine Bell, Peace Agreements: Their Nature & Legal Status, 100 Am. J. INT'L L. 373, 380-82 (2006).

<sup>28.</sup> G.A. Res. 32/197, ¶ 31 (Feb. 23, 1999).

<sup>29.</sup> U.N. Secretary-General, *Pledging Mechanisms to Fund Operational Activities for Development of the United Nations System*, pp. 4-5, U.N. Doc. A/57332 (Aug. 21, 2002) [hereinafter U.N. Doc. A/57332].

<sup>30.</sup> The explosion of acute and large-scale humanitarian crises across the globe has necessitated co-ordination, which is now offered by the UN Office for Humanitarian Affairs.

process and procedure at the U.N.'s donor conferences,<sup>31</sup> States' customary practice generally suggests the existence of a rule whereby conferences possess an independent right to adopt their own rules of procedure. This idea is pertinent to our discussion because it helps determine the binding nature of pledges given at specific conferences. If, for example, the organizers of a conference insist that every pledge be entered into a multilateral treaty that must subsequently be ratified by national parliaments, this is very different from a conference that only requires oral expressions of pledges.

State practices at international donor conferences demonstrate that a pledge should not be viewed as possessing the same legal effect as a promise (in the form of a unilateral act) that would otherwise constitute a binding expression of will by the promising State.<sup>32</sup> Rather, the legal nature of a pledge is anything but a binding promise!<sup>33</sup> The only binding act on the potential donor is the act of contribution itself, which materializes when the actual payment or the transfer of funds or goods to the recipient collecting entity occurs. Only at the moment of receipt or deposit is the donor bound to honor the transaction. On the other hand, a pledge is merely an expression of intent to provide a voluntary contribution.<sup>34</sup> Therefore, a pledge is a non-binding announcement of an

- 31. U.N. Doc. A/57332, supra note 29, at 3-4.
- 32. This distinction is not made by ILC Rapporteur Victor Rodriguez Cedeño in his Report on Unilateral Acts of States. Victor Rodriguez Cedeño (Special Rapporteur on Unilateral Acts of States), First Rep. on Unilateral Acts of States, U.N. Doc. A/CN.4/486 (Mar. 5, 1998).
- 33. This is not very different from the treatment of promises in domestic contract law. Generally, a binding offer is distinguished from a mere invitation to treat (which does not amount to a binding offer). Advertising-related cases, which involve an alleged unilateral act (by the seller), provide significant evidence to this effect. See the English leading case of Carlill v. Carbolic Smoke Ball Co. [1893] 1 QB 256 (Eng.); see also Fisher v. Bell [1961] 1 QB 394 (Eng.). The position in the U.S. is similar. See Lefkowitz v. Great Minn. Surplus Store, Inc., 86 N.W.2d 689 (Minn. 1957). Equally in the civil law tradition, albeit more cautious. See BÜRGERLICHES GESETZBUCH [BGB] [CIVIL CODE], § 145 (Ger.) (indicating that the display of goods in a window is not an offer, but merely an invitation to make an offer).
- 34. The matter is not beyond contention in domestic law. In the U.S., for example, there is sharp disagreement between two distinct camps. The first asserts that pledges made to charitable organizations should not be treated any different to ordinary principles of contract formation, arguing that unless agreed otherwise, such pledges are invitations to treat or unenforceable promises. See Md. Nat'l Bank v. United Jewish Appeal Fed'n of Greater Wash., Inc., 407 A.2d 1130, 1136 (Md. 1979). The other camp argues that such pledges

This now holds direct pledging conferences, as was the case with Yemen in 2019. *Yemen: Donors Pledge U.S. \$26.2 Billion to Support a Massive Humanitarian Operation*, U.N. OFF. COORDINATION HUMANITARIAN AFF. (Feb. 26, 2019), *available at* https://www.unocha.org/story/yemen-donors-pledge-us26-billion-support-massive-humanitarian-operation (last visited Apr. 2, 2021).

intended contribution under international law,<sup>35</sup> unless that pledge adopts the form and content of a binding agreement.<sup>36</sup> An intermediate category between pledging and contribution does not exist. In fact, a pledge's binding character is derived from its assimilation to an offer under a country's domestic contract laws, by which the donor specifies the committed amount and which amount is subsequently accepted by the trustee.

It is, therefore, possible for a pledging conference to accumulate numerous pledges<sup>37</sup> that do not translate into concrete commitments. This situation can only be remedied by implementing appropriate conference mechanisms that leave little room for pledges and that create instruments binding potential donors.<sup>38</sup> Thus, the only option to implement a binding commitment is to conclude a multilateral treaty (or another binding undertaking) between the donors at the conference, or to

should be enforced on public policy grounds and the philanthropic purposes underlying charities. *See* Jewish Fed'n of Cent. N.J. v. Barondess, 560 A.2d 1353, 1354 (N.J. Super. Ct. L. Div. 1989); *see also* Salsbury v. Nw. Bell Tel. Co., 221 N.W.2d 609, 613 (Iowa 1974).

- 35. See J. E. Archibald, Pledges of Voluntary Contributions to the United Nations by Member States: Establishing & Enforcing Legal Obligations, 36 GEO. WASH. INT'L L.R. 317, 317-29 (2004). Archibald rightly comments that, with regard to unpaid voluntary contributions, the U.N. does not invoke Art. 19 of the U.N. Charter, at 325-26.
- 36. See also RUTSEL SILVESTRE J. MARTHA, THE FINANCIAL OBLIGATION IN INTERNATIONAL LAW 263 (Oxford Univ. Press 2014). The issue has not received any particular treatment in general international law, nor in the expert work on unilateral acts of the U.N. International Law Commission (ILC). See C. ECKART, PROMISES OF STATES IN INTERNATIONAL LAW (2012).
- 37. This is in fact the case with SDG-related financing. Modern cooperation on development was effectively established at the first International Conference on Financing for Development that took place in Monterrey in 2002. The principles of a holistic and integrated approach to the multifaceted challenges of development were expressed in the 'Monterrey Consensus,' which gave birth to a series of Financing for Development follow-up meetings. See U.N. Int'l Conference on Financing for Development, U.N. Doc. A/CONF.198/11 (Mar. 22, 2002); see also A. Caliari, Guest Editorial: The Monterrey Consensus, 14 Years Later, 59 DEV. 5 (2016). The financing of development strategies and programs was, however, streamlined and fully developed in the Addis Ababa Action Agenda (AAAA). G.A. Res. 69/313, Addis Ababa Action Agenda of the Third Int'l Conference on Financing for Development (AAAA) (July 27, 2015). The AAAA aligns all financial flows and policies with economic, social, and environmental priorities, ensuring in the process the sustainable nature of all financing and actions. There is nothing, however, in the pledges made that suggests that they are anything more than political commitments.
- 38. This is achieved in respect of trust mechanisms that employ contractual terms with their donors, as is the case with the GEF's instrument of commitment, whereby donors "formalize their promise to contribute" to the trustee. Where the promise requires subsequent parliamentary approval, the promise is conditional. See RUTSEL SILVESTRE J. MARTHA, THE FINANCIAL OBLIGATION IN INTERNATIONAL LAW 264 (2015); see also G. DROESSE, FUNDS FOR MULTILATERAL DEVELOPMENT: MULTILATERAL CHANNELS FOR CONCESSIONAL FUNDING 281-83 (2011).

form bilateral agreements between the trustee and each individual donor. In either case, because the negotiated agreement is a treaty, the constitutional authorities in the signing State will need to ratify it, and it is possible, although unlikely in practice, for said authorities to refuse ratification for a variety of reasons.<sup>39</sup>

In this eventuality, no binding obligation for that State would arise. This means it would possess the same legal qualities as the pledge until the donor agreement is ratified. The U.N. Secretary-General's bulletin on establishing trust funds aptly recognized this reality and stated that a pledge is:

[A] written commitment by a prospective donor to make a contribution to a trust fund. (A written commitment which is subject to the need to secure an appropriation or other national legislative approval is considered a pledge.) A pledge can be accepted only after the trust fund has been formally established.<sup>40</sup>

The making of a pledge and its acceptance is recorded in an exchange of letters or, if deemed appropriate, a more formal agreement.<sup>41</sup>

This definition is somewhat problematic because it seems to equate an otherwise "committed" contribution, presumably subject to the international law of promise, to a contribution that may be rejected by the national legislature. A coherent interpretation of this provision must be as follows: 1) the terms "pledge" and "commitment" have the same meaning in the Secretary-General's Bulletin; 2) only written pledges are considered binding; 3) pledges, not otherwise qualified, are binding either upon exchange of letters, another agreement, or when received in writing by the administrator of the trust fund; and 4) qualified pledges become binding only when the qualification is lifted, otherwise they produce no legal effect for the pledging State.

In order to avoid hosting donor conferences where the outcome is merely making pledges that do not translate into concrete cash, it became evident that conferences must end in binding commitments. Above, paragraph 29 of the Secretary-General's Bulletin aims to remedy this lacuna by requiring a degree of formality in the pledge. At this stage, it is also worth noting that only a portion of the money committed and

<sup>39.</sup> The Instrument for the Revitalised Global Environmental Facility (GEF) of Mar. 2008, Annex C, 2(b), states that in cases of qualified instruments of commitment, the donor state "undertakes to exercise its best efforts to obtain legislative approval for the full amount of its contribution by the [agreed] payments date."

<sup>40.</sup> U.N. Secretariat, Letter dated Mar. 1, 1982 from the Secretary-General addressed to all heads of offices and departments and all executive and administrative officers, U.N. Doc. ST/SGB/188 ¶ 26 (Mar. 1, 1982).

<sup>41</sup> Id. at ¶ 29.

collected as a result of donor conferences is earmarked for trust funds. The trustee may attempt to set up a particular legal mechanism to turn pledges into concrete commitments depending on the trustee's experience in the administration of trust funds, his influence, and based on the mandate established by the creators of the trust fund. Largely, the World Bank has managed to standardize and streamline this process, but only with respect to particular trust funds.

A typical example is the Global Environmental Fund (GEF), whereby donors must sign an Instrument of Commitment, which constitutes a binding agreement subject to ratification by national parliaments. The same type of binding commitment is established by the trustee regarding the various replenishments required to keep the GEF alive.<sup>42</sup> These Instruments of Commitment are a useful mechanism for replacing pledges without inferring that outdated pledges serve no useful purpose, as in some situations particular donors will feel disinclined to be cornered.

A multilateral treaty, or a legal instrument of the same effect, is another mechanism. In each case, the intention of the parties to commit themselves requires verification. The Foundation Remembrance, Responsibility and Future, founded to compensate the Jewish victims of Nazi Germany, was set up by a Joint Statement between the governments of various States, and the German government promised to pay specified dollar amounts to the trust fund. This Joint Statement is not a pledge because of its otherwise binding language, and its implementation was given effect the same day, as a result of a clause in the Joint Statement to that effect.<sup>43</sup> The Joint Statement embodies an Executive Agreement adopted between Germany and the United States.<sup>44</sup>

The U.N. Legal Counsel highlighted some tax-related problems regarding the tax-deductible nature of contributions made to the U.N. and its agencies.<sup>45</sup> Under U.S. law, for example, only charitable institutions

<sup>42.</sup> Instrument for the Establishment of the Restructured Global Environment Facility, GEF (Sept. 2019), available at https://www.thegef.org/sites/default/files/publications/gef\_instrument\_establishment\_restructured 2019.pdf (last visited Feb. 6, 2021).

<sup>43.</sup> Similarly, Art. 2 of the 2001 Washington Agreement between the United States and France Concerning Payment for Certain Losses Suffered during World War II (including Annexes), available at http://www.civs.gouv.fr/download/uk/washington.pdf. (last visited Apr. 2, 2021)

<sup>44.</sup> Agreement Concerning the Foundation "Remembrance, Responsibility & the Future," Ger.-U.S., July 17, 2000, U.S.T. 13104.

<sup>45.</sup> Legal Framework for the United Nations Development Programme's Use of Donations from Non-Governmental Sources UNDP Financial Regulations & Rules, 1996 U.N. JURID, Y.B. 463, U.N. Doc. ST/LEG/SER.C/34.

founded in that country are eligible to receive tax-deductible contributions; inter-governmental organizations are not. Tax-deductible donations to U.N. agencies are possible if they are channeled through a properly established foundation under U.N. law which is thereafter authorized to transfer the contributions to the desired agency. Hence, the U.N. Association of the United States and the U.N. Association of the U.S. Committee for United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund serve this purpose. Foundations serve as vehicles to channel funds while performing their typical functions. This brief case study illustrates the problems faced by trust funds, whether in the U.N. system or elsewhere, in receiving private contributions. In each case, the political prowess of the major donor States to an inter-governmental trust fund and the trustee's influence can determine, to a large degree, the methods of soliciting and payment by other donors.

# B. The Practice and Politics of Earmarking

Earmarking involves proactively determining a donation's terms of condition, which means the donation will only be used for the particular purpose associated with the trust fund.<sup>48</sup> Where a multilateral funding treaty stipulates that donor members are obligated to provide funding without specifying where to use the funding, the risk that donors will reserve how funds are to be used remains. The submission of a unilateral declaration that a particular donor's contribution is earmarked for a specified purpose would amount to an interpretative declaration, and would depend on the relevant circumstances to ascertain whether this designation is tantamount to a reservation.<sup>49</sup> In any event, reservations and interpretative declarations are permissible as long as they are compatible with the object and purpose of the treaty;<sup>50</sup> thus, where both

<sup>46.</sup> Id. at 465.

<sup>47.</sup> Id.

<sup>48.</sup> See EDWARD ELGAR, RESEARCH HANDBOOK ON THE LAW OF INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS 124 (J. Klabbers et al. eds., 2011); Piera Tortora and Suzanna Steensen, Making Earmarked Funding More Effective: Current Practices and a Way Forward, OECD (2014), available at https://www.oecd.org/dac/aid-architecture/Multilateral%20Report%20N%201\_2014.pdf (last visited Feb. 6, 2021).

<sup>49.</sup> The term "reservation" means "a unilateral statement, however phrased or named, made by a State, when signing, ratifying, accepting, approving or acceding to a treaty, whereby it purports to exclude or to modify the legal effect of certain provisions of the treaty in their application to that State." *See* Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, May 23, 1969, 1155 U.N.T.S. 331.

<sup>50.</sup> Reservations to Convention on Prevention & Punishment of Crime of Genocide, Advisory Opinion, 1951 I.C.J. Rep. 15 (May 28).

the instrument of commitment and the fund's constitutive agreement (even if not a treaty) are silent on the matter of earmarking, its permissibility is strongly presumed.<sup>51</sup>

Some inter-governmental trust funds are, by their very nature, subject to earmarking, especially in the case of single donor funds created by a State to finance a particular contingency in a developing country. In such situations, the trustee cannot divert the purpose of the fund, nor can donor States prohibit the trustee from earmarking its contribution, as that would defeat its very purpose. In practice, given that in the vast majority of cases the trust constitutive instrument will stipulate whether earmarking is permissible, however, only in exceptional circumstances will the trustee have permission to authorize a request to earmark the instrument of commitment with a donor. An exception of this nature would undoubtedly involve an extraordinarily large contribution whereby the donor will explicitly demand how and where the funds are used. Because such requests violate the trust fund's constitution, the trustee would need approval from the fund's executive board in order to satisfy the prospective donor's demands; otherwise, he would be acting ultra vires. If the trustee receives the money without any formal objection to the condition attached by the donor, it must be presumed the trustee acquiesced to the earmarked funds' stated condition.

Three types of earmarking identified in the process of this study are permissible, qualified, and prohibited earmarking. We have already discussed permissible earmarking—trust funds that permit donors to earmark their contributions. As far as this author is aware, although very little, if any, information is publicly available, trustees and donor conferences are generally averse to discriminatory earmarking requests, which favor the donor's interests. Between the two extremes, there is an intermediate category wherein the trust's constitution or terms of reference permit earmarking to the extent that such requests can be accommodated. Article 5 of the Terms and Conditions of the World Bank's International Reconstruction Fund Facility for Iraq (IRFFI) states:

A donor may state a preference that its contribution be used to support one or more of the fourteen sectors and cross-cutting themes defined under needs assessment with the exception of mine action from which no funds from the World Bank Iraq Trust Fund may be allocated. In the event that a donor's preference cannot be accommodated, the Bank

<sup>51.</sup> Where neither the constitutional text of the trust fund nor the instrument of commitment contains a provision on earmarking, an earmarking provision appended to the instrument of commitment is a true interpretative declaration and is wholly permissible, unless the preparatory works of the trust fund clearly and overwhelmingly demonstrate otherwise.

may allocate the contribution to other sectors with the agreement of the donor.<sup>52</sup>

The institutional law of earmarking is different from but not wholly unrelated to the practice of conditional contributions. A donor may agree with the trustee that he is willing to make a substantial contribution as long as a particular policy of the trust fund is altered or, if the specific allocation is not possible, that other projects satisfying the policy considerations of the donor receive the earmarked money. The U.S. government, for example, established the President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR),<sup>53</sup> under which the Global Fund for AIDS, Malaria, and Tuberculosis receives a significant amount of its funding.<sup>54</sup> In its Guidance No. 1, PEPFAR proclaimed that only projects premised on the triptych of "abstinence, be[ing] faithful and consistent condom use" (ABC) would receive funding.<sup>55</sup> Consistent with its policy

<sup>52.</sup> IRFFI Terms of Reference (Dec. 11, 2003).

<sup>53.</sup> United States Leadership Against HIV/AIDS, Tuberculosis, & Malaria Act of 2003, Pub. L. No. 108-25, 117 Stat. 711 (2003).

<sup>54.</sup> The Global Fund for AIDS, TB, and Malaria was constituted in 2002 as a foundation (non-profit) under articles 80ff of the Swiss Civil Code, after which it began to enjoy legal personality under Swiss private law until the subsequent conferral to the Global Fund of a limited degree of international legal personality through its Headquarters Agreement with the Swiss Federal Government. Schweizerisches Zivilgesetzbuch [ZGB], Code civil [CC], CODICE CIVILE [CC] Dec. 10, 1907, SR 210, RS 210, arts. 80ff (Switz.). In order to retain the Global Fund on Swiss soil, the federal government of that country launched a well-organised bid, which encompassed, on the one hand, the signing of an Administrative Services Agreement (ASA) with the World Health Organisation (WHO), under which the Fund's Secretariat would be subsumed within the WHO's international legal personality, while remaining independent for the purposes of its own functions. Subsequently, the Fund entered into an ASA with the WHO on May 24, 2002, which, although it served to confer international law rights and privileges to the Global Fund and its personnel, was itself subject to Swiss law and therefore did not constitute a treaty. See Global Fund, Report on Legal Status Options for the Global Fund, GF Doc. GF/B4/12 (Jan. 29, 2003). The nature of the HQ Agreement only confers IO-like status to said entity in the country where this is granted. Switzerland has a strong tradition of conferring such status to particular NGOs operating therein on the basis of its Federal Decree of September 30, 1955 'On the Conclusion and Modification of Agreements with International Organizations in View of Determining their Legal Status in Switzerland.' Similar agreements have been concluded with the International Olympic Committee (IOC), the International Air Transport Association (IATA) and others. See M-C Krafft, Legal Opinion on the Modifications Which Should be Made to the Legal Status of the Global Fund in View of the Transformation of the Fund into an Intergovernmental 2003), at **FUND** (Apr. Organisation, GLOBAL https://www.theglobalfund.org/media/2928/bm05\_07gpcreportannex6\_annex\_en.pdf (last visited Mar. 22, 2021).

<sup>55.</sup> PEPFAR Guidance No. 1, Abstinence, Be Faithful and Consistent Condom Use (2003). For a critical analysis, see Kent Buse et al., A Farewell to Abstinence & Fidelity?, 4 LANCET 600 (2016).

objectives, PEPFAR notified the Global Fund that it would only contribute to the programs of countries that incorporated its ABC requirement. This stipulation rendered the requirement attached to the United States contribution a hybrid between earmarking and conditional funding. It is obvious that only sufficiently powerful trust funds can deny conditional funding and exceptional earmarking (or simply earmarking). The stronger a trust fund is, both politically and financially, the greater the likelihood that its potential contributors will respect its earmarking prohibition. As a result, the trust fund will have greater political enforcement power. Therefore, the practice of political bargaining is commonplace, given that the only chance of trust funds' survival is through the contributions of member States. It is no accident that there is relative flexibility with respect to accommodating some or all of prospective donors' wishes. This author is not advocating that this kind of practice leads, or tends to lead, to poor results or that it stifles the work of trust funds.

# III. THE DEPOSIT OF THE DONATION IS NOT A UNILATERAL ACT DEVOID OF OBLIGATION

In previous sections, this article explains that funding pledges are not generally binding on pledging States; signing an instrument of commitment, however, has the exact opposite effect.<sup>56</sup> This section will assess the legal nature of depositing or transferring assets to the trust fund. In this connection, the principal legal question is whether transferring funds to the trust fund's name by a contributing State is a unilateral act. Some unilateral acts may give rise to an international legal obligation,<sup>57</sup> whereas others may not. A unilateral act, devoid of legal significance, involves the actions of a single State<sup>58</sup> and, by its very nature, does not create any rights or obligations for other States or intergovernmental organizations.<sup>59</sup> *Prima facie*, it would seem that the

<sup>56.</sup> See id. at § 2.1.

<sup>57.</sup> This is clear in the jurisprudence of the ICJ, particularly in Nuclear Tests (Aus. V. Fr.), Judgment, 1974 I.C.J. Rep 253, at 267-68 (Dec. 20). See also A.P. Rubin, The International Legal Effects of Unilateral Declarations, 71 Am. J. INT'L L. 1 (1977).

<sup>58.</sup> Unilateral acts may be individual or collective, particularly where they are undertaken through a joint multilateral declaration. See Víctor Rodríguez Cedeño (Special Rapporteur on the Unilateral Acts of States), First Rep. on the Unilateral Acts of States, 79 INT'L L. COMM'N 139, U.N. Doc. A/CN.4/486 (Mar. 5, 1998).

<sup>59.</sup> The ILC plenary was eager to emphasize that "the criterion for unilateral acts should be the concept of an international legal obligation and not that of their legal effects, which was a broader and vaguer concept applying to all unilateral acts of States." *Rep. on the Work* 

deposit or transfer of a donation/contribution into a bank account is a unilateral act. Moreover, such a transfer does not establish any further legal obligations or corresponding rights for the trust fund or the trustee, particularly if the contractual agreement is clear about what the State is bound to contribute. This assumption is untrue for several reasons.

First, as previously noted, in the majority of cases pledging money is a binding promise to act in a particular manner.<sup>60</sup> Even so, in the specific practice of multilateral donor conferences, merely making a pledge does not generally give rise to a legal obligation absent an express intention to that effect. However, when a donor who makes an oral pledge unilaterally deposits the money, this act represents the implementation of the promise by the contributor, and at that time, the deposit coincides for all legal purposes with the pledge. In any event, by its own operation, the deposit creates legitimate expectations for the depositing State.<sup>61</sup> This no doubt gives rise to conduct-based estoppel.<sup>62</sup> Courts across the world differ on this point. The courts of Hong Kong estoppel,<sup>63</sup> whereas conduct-based their counterparts rejected it on the basis that tacit assent cannot be arbitrarily presumed without proof of positive action.<sup>64</sup>

of Its Fifty-Sixth Session, Int'l L. Comm'n  $\P$  224, U.N. Doc. A/59/10, (July 5, 2004-Aug. 6, 2004).

<sup>60.</sup> See id. at ¶ 195. Moreover, the ICJ held in Nicaragua v USA (Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua) that the unilateral declarations adopted by states under Article 36(2) of the ICJ's Statute, by which they accept the Court's compulsory jurisdiction, constitute "a series of bilateral engagements." Military and Paramilitary Activities in and Against Nicaragua (Nicar. v. U.S.), Jurisdiction and Admissibility, Judgment, 1984 I.C.J. Rep. 392, ¶ 60 (Nov. 26). Judge Jennings was only prepared to accept, however, that they could be regarded as sui generis treaties. Nicar. v. U.S., 1984 I.C.J. at 415, ¶ 53.

<sup>61.</sup> Although criticized for his emphasis on this point, the ILC Special Rapporteur on Unilateral Acts has successfully claimed that most of such acts are premised on a pre-existing treaty obligation. In such cases, this is, in fact, the source of the binding nature of unilateral acts. See Int'l L. Comm'n, Rep. on the Work of Its Fifty-Sixth Session, ¶¶ 91, 97-99 U.N. Doc. A/59/10, (July 5, 2004-Aug. 6, 2004).

<sup>62.</sup> See Andrew Robertson, Reasonable Reliance in Estoppel by Conduct, 23 U. NEW S. WALES L. REV. 87 (2000).

<sup>63.</sup> See Hissan Trading Co. v. Orkin Shipping Corp., [1992] 43 H.K.C. 286, 286 (C.F.I.) (presenting the issue of a cargo claim where there existed an agreement between the parties that any disputes would be referred to arbitration, and that the arbitration should be conducted in Japan).

<sup>64.</sup> See Achilles (USA) v. Plastics Dura Plastics (1977) Ltd., [2006] C.A. 1523 (Can.) (seized of a motion seeking to refer to arbitration an action relating to an international commercial dispute). But see Ferguson Bros. of St. Thomas v. Manyan Inc., [1999] 98 O.T.C. 265 (Can.) (where it was held that a cheque referring to an invoice amounted to a record of

Secondly, from the very fact that the trustee does not engage in retail banking, it is implicit that two separate transactions are borne following. or at the time of, the transfer of money by the contributing State. The first transaction consists of transferring or depositing money to the private bank that handles the accounts of the trustee. This action is subject to domestic law, and confers an obligation on the bank to hold and handle the money and provide access to the trustee and the trust fund. Thereafter, the private bank must act as an agent of the trustee (under the terms of their respective contract), as the transfer imposes a legal obligation. This agency relationship, too, is subject to domestic law and private agreements rather than treaties. 65 In this web of transactions, the contributor's intent is to provide money to a corresponding entity endowed with an international legal personality. The transfer of money to an independent legal entity, even when not accompanied by a written agreement or non-binding memorandum of understanding, produces legal consequences for both the trustee and the trust fund.<sup>66</sup> Regarding the trust fund itself, all monies deposited are thereafter part of its budget. The trustee, if it is the World Bank, for example, is obligated under its terms of agreement with the trust fund to handle, invest, and disburse money deposited in its account.<sup>67</sup> If the transfer, therefore, was a unilateral act devoid of any legal effect, the contributing State could claim the reimbursement of the money contributed at any time on the basis that,

the issuer's consent to an arbitration clause inserted in a contractual offer to which the issuer had heretofore not replied in writing).

http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/425341523648989641/pdf/Official-Documents-Administration-Agreement-between-the-Government-of-the-United-Kingdomof-Great-Britain-and-Northern-Ireland-through-DEFRA-IBRD-IDA-and-IFC-for-Contribution-to-TF073003.pdf (last visited Apr. 6, 2021); see also Extractive Industries

Transparency Initiative (EITI) Multi-Donor Trust Fund (MDTF), THE WORLD BANK (Dec. 2015), available at https://www.worldbank.org/en/programs/eitimdtf (last visited Apr. 5, 2021).

<sup>65.</sup> Agency principles are common to the majority of nations. For an excellent account of uniformity, see UNIDROIT Principles of International Commercial Contracts, Arts 2.2.1., UNIDROIT (2010),available https://www.unidroit.org/english/principles/contracts/principles2010/integralversionprincipl es2010-e.pdf (last visited Apr. 6, 2021).

<sup>66.</sup> It is common practice for public international financial institutions, such as the World Bank, to require state donors, based on of their respective treaty, to send a copy of their deposit instruction to their Accounting Trust Funds department, as well as instruct the private bank where the donation has been deposited to notify the Bank. See Administration Agreement between the Government of the United Kingdom of Great Britain & Northern Ireland through DEFRA, IBRD, IDA & IFC for Contribution to TF073003, THE WORLD BANK (Apr. 6, 2018), available

See Ilias Bantekas, Effective Management of International Aid Through Intergovernmental Trust Funds, 17 Loy. U. CHI. INT'L L. REV. 1 (2021).

by its action, it did not create any legitimate expectations vis-à-vis the trust fund or the trustee.

Thirdly, the private bank and trustee must meet the contributing State's contribution with a corresponding acceptance. In some cases, this acceptance may be tacit but, even so, the private bank's records of deposit or the trustee's official audits will no doubt record it. Normally, as is consistent with audit practices, internal rules and regulations require the trustee to approve the contribution and make a clear record of it. The trustee's possible refusal to accept an earmarked contribution by the donor to the dissatisfaction of the trustee —or where it is deemed inconsistent with the terms of the fund—confirms that this is a clear correspondence of the will of the respective parties.

However, only the arousal of legitimate obligations through a transfer/deposit between the contributing State and the trust fund or trustee is subject to international law; the transaction between the contributor and the private bank is not. Whether the said transfer of money by the contributor to the trust fund and the trustee—whence the latter enjoys sufficient international legal personality—is also governed by treaty law is an altogether different matter. The crucial issue is whether the transfer amounts to an autonomous written agreement or, alternatively, if it is based on another treaty. In his dissenting opinion to the South-West Africa case, Judge Fitzmaurice noted: "Unilateral engagements may have a quasi-treaty character when they interlock with one another or interlock with provisions of an existing treaty. Otherwise, they lack the elements of a treaty altogether." The crucial issue is

In the vast majority of cases, such transfers are not predicated on autonomous written agreements; cost and time would render this practice ineffective. One way of treating them, as explained above, is as unilateral acts that entail the assumption of obligations. Equally, although this may constitute a somewhat radical theorization, oral agreements may assimilate such money transfers to the informality associated with

<sup>68.</sup> Rule 103.5 of the U.N.'s Financial Regulations & Rules requires the approval of the Organization. Equally, under Regulation 3.12, money accepted for purposes specified by the donor shall be treated as trust funds. See U.N. Secretary-General, Financial Regulations & Rules of the United Nations, §§ 103.5, 3.12, U.N. Doc. ST/SGB/2013/4 (July 1, 2013).

<sup>69.</sup> See, e.g., Regulations of the Trust Fund for Victims, ICC-ASP/4/Res. 3 (Dec. 3, 2005). Regulation 27 states that voluntary contributions from states shall not be earmarked. Interestingly, Regulation 26 stipulates that the Board shall establish mechanisms for the verification of the sources of funds received by the Trust Fund. This is further evidence of the binding character of the deposit of funds, even though *prima facie* a deposit resembles a unilateral transaction that does not produce legal effects.

<sup>70.</sup> South-West Africa (Eth. v. S. Afr.), Judgment, 1961 I.C.J. Rep. 465 (May 20).

agreements to arbitrate, which equally may be predicated on oral In recent years, the traditional requirement that an agreements. agreement to arbitrate be in writing has been deemed satisfied by any means of telecommunication that provides a record of the agreement. including a telegram, fax, and email.<sup>71</sup> Moreover, several domestic arbitration laws accept oral agreements, 72 and the doctrine of incorporation by reference allows a term not expressly included in the original agreement to be considered as part of it, as long as it is referred to in the said agreement.<sup>73</sup> Oral agreements and terms incorporated by conduct share many of the characteristics reference or Some of those shared characteristics are: deposits/transfers. concluding a written agreement to implement an otherwise non-binding pledge is impracticable or cost-prohibitive; 2) the interlocutor (i.e. trustee/bank) may react positively or negatively to the transfer in the same manner as its counterpart; 3) both acts are subject to an underlying corpus of law or industry-standard contractual terms; and 4) it may be argued that only private businesses law has employed this paradigm, which cannot now be arbitrarily transplanted to regulate legal relationships between states—particularly in a field generally governed by the law of treaties. However, when the state donor is contributing to a private bank account, that donor is subject to a significant amount of private law, not treaty law. The emerging customary international law of trust funds that we have alluded to in this paper does not encompass the range of transactions that are subject to private domestic law.

It should be emphasized that only specific obligations arise as a result of the transfer of money, particularly when the parties have no other agreement. Certainly, a single donation does not involve a perpetual

<sup>71.</sup> UNCITRAL Model Law on International Commercial Arbitration art. 7(2), U.N. Doc. A/40/17, Annex I (June 21, 1985). This is considered as being consistent with the fundamental principle of equal treatment. See Ilias Bantekas, Equal Treatment of Parties in International Commercial Arbitration, 69 INT'L & COMP. L.O. 991, 998 (2020).

<sup>72.</sup> See ILIAS BANTEKAS ET AL., UNCITRAL MODEL LAW ON INTERNATIONAL COMMERCIAL ARBITRATION: COMMENTARY 129-31 (Cambridge Univ. Press 2020). See also Rock Advertising Ltd. v. MWB Business Exchange Centres Ltd. [2018] UKSC 24 (UK) (where the U.K. Supreme Court implicitly confirmed the binding nature of oral agreements, by arguing that 'No Oral Modification Clauses' in contracts were valid and enforceable).

<sup>73.</sup> See Sphere Drake Ins. PLC v. Marine Towing Inc., 16 F.3d 666 (5th Cir. 1994) (which considered a similar, although not identical situation, involving an arbitration clause in a larger contract not signed by the contesting party). As this was not a stand-alone arbitration agreement (which would have required mutual recording of consent) the contesting party's signature was not required. Conversely, see Kahn Lucas Lancaster, Inc. v. Lark Int'l Ltd., 186 F.3d 210 (2d Cir. 1999) (holding that the parties were required to append signatures to the arbitration clause itself as opposed to just the compromise).

obligation to contribute funds, and all liabilities and legal effects concern only particular donations.

### IV. THE DONOR AGREEMENT

The intended trustee of a donor agreement is a complicated matter. As the following sections demonstrate, the parties have used a variety of mechanisms to express their consent, many of which find little support in the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties or even in contract law. However, they demonstrate the complexity of this relationship and, to a large degree, exhibit some of the forward-thinking tendencies and flexibility of transnational law.

### A. Donor Agreements in the Form of Treaties

A typical example of an inter-governmental trust fund, whose relationship with its donors is contractual in nature and encompasses the virtues of treaty law, is the Instrument for the Establishment of the Restructured Global Environmental Facility (GEF).<sup>74</sup> predecessor, the Restructured GEF Instrument was adopted in 1994 by a number of States and U.N. specialized entities acting in a contractual capacity with the aim of setting up a trust fund. It was not the aim of state parties to the Restructured GEF Instrument to delegate this function in toto to a trustee without producing any legal effects for themselves— Nonetheless, without further apart from their donation pledges. investigation, the GEF Instrument's status as a treaty under the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties should not be taken for granted.<sup>75</sup> This is particularly true since the entity it envisaged creating was meant to receive the assets of its predecessor, the Global Environmental Trust Fund (GET), and carry on its obligations and functions. The GET itself was created on the basis of a resolution adopted by the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (World

<sup>74.</sup> The Restructured GEF Instrument is reproduced in (1994) 33 I.L.M. 1273, as subsequently amended in March 2008. See Peter Sands, Trusts for the Earth: New International Financial Mechanisms for Sustainable Development, in Sustainable Development & International Law (Springer 1995); see also WINFRIED LANG, SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT & INTERNATIONAL LAW 167 (Springer 1995).

<sup>75.</sup> See Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, May 23, 1969, 1155 U.N.T.S. 331.

Bank),<sup>76</sup> whereby an independent legal personality was not conferred to the GET.<sup>77</sup>

Two significant matters arise in order to subject the GEF Instrument to the law of treaties: 1) whether a contractual regime may validly subject assets, duties, and liabilities of an entity that does not enjoy international legal personality; and 2) whether participating states to the GEF Instrument expressed their unequivocal consent to be legally bound by this instrument's terms.<sup>78</sup>

The first query is essentially practical by nature. It concerns the ownership of the trust fund's assets and the legal implications of transferring rights and duties from an inter-governmental organization's account, as was the GET, to a group of states organized around a treatybased mechanism that claims to be an independent legal entity. Under the customary law of trust funds, the assets attached to them are in the trust ownership of their trustee for the duration of the trust relationship.<sup>79</sup> Let us assume that the donors are opposed to transferring the trust fund's assets to a multilateral entity. If such transfer were in the best interests of the trust fund's objectives and purposes as set out in the initial trust agreement, then such a transfer would be wholly within the trustee's prerogatives. An exception would arise where the trustee was precluded from exercising such discretion from the terms of the trust agreement. In the present case, the GET was predicated on an agreement between donors, which confirms its legal nature as a contract, and the donors are in the vast majority States establishing the GEF Instrument. Equally, the contractual relationship with donor States and the implicit nature of the tasks expected from its capacity as trustee grounded the assumption of rights and duties by the World Bank. It is not theoretically possible to distinguish any rights or duties that the trustee is prohibited from

<sup>76.</sup> The GET was established by IBRD Exec. Directors' Res. 91-5 (Mar. 14, 1991). Following the agreement to restructure the GET into the GEF, the IBRD formally executed this transformation through IBRD Decision 94-2 (May 24, 1994).

<sup>77.</sup> See U.N. Legal Counsel Opinion of 4 Nov. 1993, U.N. JURID. Y.B. 427, 429-30 (1993) (where it was clearly stated that the GET was expressly established in such a way as to lack an independent personality and all of its operations were to be subsumed under the international legal personality of its trustee).

<sup>78.</sup> See generally The World Bank Group's Partnership With the Global Environment Facility, THE WORLD BANK (2015), available at https://ieg.worldbankgroup.org/evaluations/gef (last visited Apr. 6, 2021).

<sup>79.</sup> See GEF Instrument, Annex B, Role & Fiduciary Responsibilities of the Trustee of the GEF Trust Fund, ¶ 1; 2002 Agreement between IBRD & the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, TB & Malaria on Establishing a Trust Fund, Art. 4; J. Gold, Trust Funds in International Law: The Contribution of the International Monetary Fund to a Code of Principles, 72 AM. J. INT'L L. 856, 863 (1978).

performing from the assets of the trust fund. A probable exception is certain consultancy-related mandates that are not tied to the assets that any agency other than the World Bank could perform. Therefore, it is evident that no legal obstacle exists that prohibits the trustee—unless explicitly mentioned in the trust agreement—from transferring the fund's assets and corresponding rights and duties to a distinct multilateral or other entity.

The second matter raises a query as to whether the GEF Instrument is a legally binding treaty. The GEF Instrument establishes three different and distinct relationships: 1) membership to the GEF, open to state entities and U.N. specialized agencies under different terms of reference: 2) conferral of implementing agency status to the World Bank, the United Nations Development Program (UNDP), and the United Nations Environmental Program (UNEP);80 and 3) appointment of the World Bank as trustee.<sup>81</sup> Paragraph 7 of the GEF Instrument stipulates that "participants" are member States and U.N. specialized agencies. 82 However, these two categories of actors do not enjoy equal rights because, in accordance with paragraph 16, the GEF Council, the Fund's most senior decision-making body, is only composed of State entities from a particular geographical area.<sup>83</sup> Equally, from the wording of paragraph 7 of the GEF Instrument, unlike the case with participating States, participating inter-governmental organizations are not required to contribute to the assets of the Fund.<sup>84</sup> Thus, inter-governmental organizations may validly partake in the workings of the GEF as nonpaying participants. This conclusion is deduced from the fact that paragraph 7 requires both States and inter-governmental organizations to confirm their participation by lodging a so-called instrument of participation; except in the case of States, the GEF Instrument renders participation implicit if a State already lodged an instrument of commitment.85 This instrument of commitment is tantamount to a binding pledge to make a financial contribution to the Fund.86

The GEF establishes two distinct legal relationships for participating States and inter-governmental organizations. The first concerns the status of their participation. Much like other treaties, the GEF Instrument

<sup>80.</sup> Sands, *supra* note 74, at ¶ 22.

<sup>81.</sup> Id. at ¶ 8.

<sup>82.</sup> Id. at ¶ 16.

<sup>83.</sup> Id. at ¶ 7.

<sup>84.</sup> Id.

<sup>85.</sup> GEF Instrument, supra note 79, at  $\P$  7.

<sup>86.</sup> On the legal nature of trust pledges generally, see infra § 2.1.

requires participating entities to submit an instrument of participation to the GEF Secretariat.<sup>87</sup> For State parties, this is equivalent to an instrument of ratification because it requires the instrument "be signed on behalf of the Government by a duly authorized representative thereof."<sup>88</sup> It is assumed that the submission of this instrument is required only once since the GEF Instrument is silent on this point. The second contractual relationship is premised on the instrument of commitment,<sup>89</sup> through which participating entities make their pledges to the Fund.<sup>90</sup>

It is also important to assess whether the instruments of participation and commitment require parliamentary assent, 91 in generally the same way as treaties. This is a question of constitutional law that touches on the two forms of integrating international law domestically: monism and dualism. In a number of countries, it is the constitutional prerogative of domestic government departments to enter contractual agreements with inter-governmental organizations and other States, particularly with respect to loans, fiscal and similar issues without parliamentary assent, and subsequent publication in the Official Gazette. 92 Even where formal ratification is, in fact, required by pertinent constitutional principles, the dispatch of the ratification instrument may precede the adoption of implementing legislation. 93 Therefore, the fact that the instrument of commitment, in particular, has not undergone the legal transition into the domestic legal order of the State at issue is not a serious indication

<sup>87.</sup> GEF Instrument, supra note 79.

<sup>88.</sup> Sands, supra note 74.

<sup>89.</sup> Id. at Annex C2.

<sup>90.</sup> A new "Instrument of Commitment" needs to be deposited every time parties pledge money, or where they are requested to replenish the Fund. See IBRD Executive Directors' Res. 98-2 (July 14, 1998), available at http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/462171468137103226/pdf/656650WP0GEF01 00Box365714B00PUBLIC0.pdf (on the Second Replenishment of GEF Resources) (last visited Apr. 3, 2021).

<sup>91.</sup> This, of course, depends on the characterization of the instrument of commitment under a particular constitution. Certain treaties of an executive or financial character may not require full parliamentary approval but simply assent by the pertinent minister. See The Oxford Handbook of Comparative Foreign Relations Law 144-46 (C.A. Bradley ed., 2019).

<sup>92.</sup> See Uzbek International Agreements Law, Art 14(5) (1995); see also ANTHONY AUST, MODERN TREATY LAW & PRACTICE 80-85 (3rd ed., 2000). See also Ilias Bantekas, Natural Resource Revenue Sharing Schemes (Trust Funds) in International Law, 52 NETH. INT'L L. REV. 31, 40-50 (2005); Ilias Bantekas & R. Vivien, The Odiousness of Greek Debt in Light of the Findings of the Greek Debt Truth Committee, 22 Eur. L.J. 539, 542-46 (2016).

<sup>93.</sup> See also U.N. Secretary-General, Establishment & Management of Trust Funds, ¶26, U.N. Doc. ST/SGB/188 (Mar. 1, 1982) (renders a pledge subject to ratification by parliament tantamount to a qualified agreement).

weighing against its contractual nature. Given that inter-governmental organizations also deposit the relevant instruments, the ensuing contractual relationships are not subjected merely to the law of treaties between states but also to the regime of treaties between states and intergovernmental organizations.

Following the deposit of the aforementioned contracts, the GEF Instrument and the individual instruments of commitment become the governing instruments. Finally, decisions adopted by the executive boards of the representative agencies may result in the assumption of duties by the trustee and other implementing agencies. These decisions only generate an intra-institutional effect, but they are premised on the contractual undertaking of the trustee and the agents arising from the GEF instrument. The trustee is bound as a party to the GEF Instrument vis-àvis all other "participant" parties. The GEF itself is further tied, although not necessarily in the strict contractual sense, to legal relationships with other governing bodies of particular environmental treaties, such as the 1992 Convention on Biological Diversity and the 1992 Framework Convention on Climate Change.

The GEF Instrument establishes the premise of the GEF Trust Fund and possesses the attributes of a treaty constituted by both States and inter-governmental organizations. Ratification of the GEF Instrument is legally distinct from the contractual undertaking to donate money to the Fund. The undertaking to donate is therefore equally subjected to international law and, more particularly, to the regime of the law of treaties. Although under the GEF Instrument the World Bank, as trustee, is bound to perform its duties under its Articles of Agreement and bylaws, the nature of such duties is necessarily affected by the treaty nature of the GEF Instrument. The consequence that accrues from the GEF Instrument's nature as a treaty—as well as the instrument of commitment—is that even if the Fund was registered as a legal person under the laws of a particular jurisdiction, international law would still govern the rights and liabilities of participants. 98

<sup>94.</sup> See, e.g., U.N. Developmental Programme Decision DP/1994/9 (May 13, 1994); U.N. Environmental Programme Decision SS.IV.1 (June 18, 1994); International Bank for Reconstruction & Development Decision 94-2 (May 24, 1994).

<sup>95.</sup> Convention on Biological Diversity, June 4, 1992, 1760 U.N.T.S 79.

<sup>96.</sup> Framework Convention on Climate Change, May 9, 1992, 1771 U.N.T.S. 107.

<sup>97.</sup> Global Environment Fund, Annex B, ¶ 3 (1992).

<sup>98.</sup> Some authors are of the view that the GEF does not possess international legal personality. *See* RUDIGER WOLFRUM & VOLKER ROEBEN, DEVELOPMENTS OF INTERNATIONAL LAW IN TREATY MAKING 445 (2005).

What is unclear is whether the GEF Instrument supersedes the institutional law of the trustee and implementing agencies, which all possess inter-governmental organization status. This issue arose in 1995 when the U.N. Legal Counsel advised on the normative hierarchy between the UNDP Financial Regulations and Rules, the UNDP/World Bank Agreement on April 24, 1991, GEF, and paragraph 20(j) of the GEF Instrument, which provides that the GEF Council shall arrange periodic financial and performance audits of the UNDP Secretariat and implementing agencies regarding activities undertaken in respect of the GEF. If the GEF Instrument's relevant provision took precedence over the UNDP's Financial Regulations, the UNDP would have conferred audit rights to an entity outside the UNDP.<sup>99</sup> The U.N. Counsel first noted that the UNDP/World Bank Agreement is a pilot program that, upon the termination of its predecessor, the GET, ceased to have any legal effects on the parties.<sup>100</sup>

The UN Legal Counsel did not, however, exclude the possibility that an international agreement such as the GEF Instrument may impose an external audit on a UN specialized agency in respect of its asset management. Such an eventuality may happen only when the specialized agency in question expressly and clearly agrees to be bound—thus excluding the possibility of implicit undertakings. This is because of the long-standing U.N. practice whereby each agency applies its own rules for the financial management of assets placed under its custody.<sup>101</sup>

In this case, the U.N. Counsel pointed out that the "shall arrange" phraseology in paragraph 20(j) does not impose a strict obligation on the UNDP, and it was assumed that the GEF Council would authorize the World Bank to conclude specific audit agreements with the GEF's implementing agencies. <sup>102</sup> Equally, and under the same legal rationale, the UNDP was held incapable of engaging in lending-type activities stipulated in paragraph 9(c) of the GEF Instrument because such activities are not expressly authorized by its own Financial Regulations. <sup>103</sup>

The GEF Instrument is a complicated example of a treaty that sets up a trust fund; others are more straightforward. A multilateral treaty between four nations created the Tuvalu Trust Fund. 104 The Global Crop

<sup>99.</sup> U.N. JURID. Y.B. 413 (Feb. 14, 1995).

<sup>100.</sup> Id. at 414.

<sup>101.</sup> Id. at 415.

<sup>102.</sup> Id.

<sup>103.</sup> Id. at 416.

<sup>104.</sup> Agreement Concerning an International Trust Fund for Tuvalu, June 16, 1987, 1536 U.N.T.S. 48. It was founded in 1987, almost a decade following the tiny island's independence, based on a multilateral treaty between Tuvalu, New Zealand, Australia, and

2022]

Diversity Trust was also based on a multilateral agreement, the sole numose of which was to set up the trust and endow it with the status of international organization. 105 Multilateral treaties are not ideal instruments for setting up trust funds in situations that require an urgent international response, particularly those involving natural catastrophes and humanitarian aid. The Palau Compact of Free Association (COFA) Trust Fund between the United States and Palau is an example of a bilateral treaty. 106 The unattractiveness of treaties is even more poignant because a trust fund seeks the engagement of non-State stakeholders, like private foundations and affected communities, while a treaty might exclude them or sustain a discriminatory two-tier membership. Moreover, treaties require lengthy negotiations and may take a significant amount of time to conclude, leaving beneficiaries who are the intended recipients of the treaty's provisions in a precarious state. The best model under these circumstances is a type of trust fund set up by a resolution of an international organization, such as the U.N. or the World Bank. This model may later emerge as a concrete legal entity through a series of bilateral agreements with the trustee serving in its capacity as such. In respect to long-standing revolving trust funds set up to address serious fiscal imbalances, such as the Tuvalu and the Palau trust funds, bilateralism and multilateralism are preferred in practice and generally do not pose problems for the parties.

the U.K. It is expressly given the status of an international organization and is administered by a Board of Directors composed of representatives from the four contracting states in an equal capacity. The Board, not surprisingly, acts as the Fund's trustee and is assisted by an Advisory Committee whose function is to advise the government of Tuvalu as to the progress of its economy, as well as on the social and economic effects of the Fund on the island. *See* BENJAMIN GRAHAM, TRUST FUNDS IN THE PACIFIC: THEIR ROLE & FUTURE (Asian Dev. Bank, 2005).

<sup>105.</sup> The Global Crop Diversity Trust, which unlike the Global Fund for AIDS, was founded based on a treaty between states—and the participation of other inter-governmental organizations—the Agreement for the Establishment of the Global Crop Diversity Trust. The Trust's objective is to ensure the long-term conservation and availability of plant genetic resources for food and agriculture to achieve global food security and sustainable agriculture. To accomplish this objective, significant resources are required. Thus, the Trust established an endowment fund for this purpose through which it solicits contributions from member states and organizations, and private entities voluntarily. See Constitution of the Global Crop Diversity Trust, art. II.

<sup>106.</sup> The Palau Compact of Free Association (COFA) Trust Fund was established pursuant to § 211(f) of the 1995 Compact of Free Association Agreement between the U.S. & Palau, 48 U.S.C. § 1931. Much like the Tuvalu trust fund, its Palau counterpart was premised on an international agreement, albeit a bilateral one. Decision-making does not rest solely with the government of Palau, save for appropriations into the budget. The U.S. maintains a right, in consultation with Palau, to decide on investment options.

### B. Informal and Other Agreements

In previous sections, we established that States might contribute to a trust fund by way of a unilateral act, although, in this case, the act would be purely unilateral, entailing the assumption of an obligation or a bilateral agreement because it includes an offer, acceptance, and an intention to be bound. The starting point in this discussion must examine the entity the State donor will ultimately agree with, particularly the legal relationship regarding the content and the deposit of the pledged contribution. In the vast majority of cases, this role is entrusted to the trustee under the terms of the instrument that establishes this trust relationship. The alternative is an agreement between all of the donors wherein the protagonists act under the guise of a joint entity, but this option has two significant limitations: 1) it involves a self-contract leading to a substantial conflict of interest; and 2) given that only a few trust funds are organized as entities enjoying a sufficient degree of international legal personality, their agreements with state donors would be problematic and potentially subjected to the law of the State wherein the trust funds are organized. Thus, the trustee, especially the World Bank, is not only able to negotiate and conclude donor agreements uniformly but is also best suited to receive, handle, and invest donations. The trustee can also provide donors with accurate financial statements as part of the agreement or the Bank's operational policies. 107 The same is obviously true regarding the range of trust projects undertaken by the United Nations.

Having established the two contracting entities, let us now consider the nature of the agreement itself. In accordance with its operational policies, the World Bank, when acting as a trustee, enters into framework agreements with the donors. <sup>108</sup> Under these policies, donors are required to enter into an additional Trust Fund Administration Agreement, on the basis of which the Bank recovers its costs to manage and administer the trust fund. <sup>109</sup> The elaborate mechanism by which the above agreements are drafted, signed, and implemented, as well as the absence of lighter, non-binding alternatives, suggests that the World Bank intends to conclude binding treaties with contributing States, rather than contracts

<sup>107.</sup> THE WORLD BANK, OPERATIONAL POLICY (OP) 14.40 'ON TRUST FUNDS,' n.11 (1997) (amended 2013) (exceptionally, a grant agreement acceptable to the Bank may be made directly between the donor and the recipient country). This has been implemented in the case of the Special Program of Assistance in Africa. See THE WORLD BANK, OPERATIONAL MANUAL: BANK PROCEDURES BP 14.40 (July 1, 2008).

<sup>108.</sup> Global Environment Fund, supra note 97, at art. 1.

<sup>109.</sup> Id. at art. 7-8.

subject to private law. In fact, the Bank, where possible, enters into standard binding agreements with all donors to a particular trust fund in order to harmonize results and reduce cost.<sup>110</sup>

Each Letter of Agreement expressly states the Bank's applicable Standard Provisions. For example, in the Agreement between the European Communities (EC) Commission and the World Bank for the Asia-Europe Meeting (ASEM) Trust Fund of December 23, 1998, it was stated in relevant part: "[w]e are pleased to confirm the intention of the Commission to make available to the World Bank the sum of [...]" Equally, "the contribution shall be used for the purposes [earmarked and agreed to]," and "the Commission shall deposit," but "the Bank shall make available to the competent bodies of the EC, upon request, all relevant information . . . "112"

In cases where the U.N. Secretariat acts as a trustee, although not always consistently, donors may be requested to engage in a binding agreement with the United Nations. Article 6 of the U.N. Special Missions Trust Fund<sup>113</sup> requires that "[t]he making of a pledge and its acceptance are to be recorded in an exchange of letters . . . or if deemed appropriate, in a formal agreement."<sup>114</sup> This provision, which is a verbatim reflection of the relevant paragraph in the U.N. Secretary-General's Bulletin on the Establishment and Management of Trust Funds, <sup>115</sup> refers to the form of the pledge only, and not to the contractual modality for the participation of the donor in the trust fund. The Bulletin distinguishes the latter relationship. A general trust fund does not require a written agreement. Such an agreement is required only when it "is deemed necessary," <sup>116</sup> albeit no further guidance exists to elaborate on

<sup>110.</sup> ASEM-EU Asian Financial Crisis Response Fund, U.K, June 29, 1998, TF 020147; ASEM-EU Asian Financial Crisis Response Fund, Den.-I.B.R.D., Nov. 10, 1998.

<sup>111.</sup> *Id*.

<sup>112.</sup> TF 020147, Project No. ALA/ASI/98/0419, preamble.

<sup>113.</sup> The Secretary-General's authority to establish such a trust fund stems from Article 97 of the UN Charter related to the Secretary-General's capacity as the UN's chief administrative officer. Equally, it is also derived explicitly from Regulation 4.13 & Rule 104.3 of the UN's Financial Regulations and Rules and the Secretary-General's Bulletin on the Establishment and Management of Trust Funds. The Special Missions Trust Fund stipulates that "the making of a pledge and its acceptance are to be recorded in an exchange of letters, or if deemed appropriate, in a formal agreement." Special Missions Trust Fund, Terms of Reference, § 6. This is no doubt a verbatim reflection of the Secretary-General's Bulletin on the Establishment & Management of Trust Funds, U.N. Doc. ST/SGB/188 (Mar. 1, 1982), ¶ 29.

<sup>114</sup> The same is not, however, stipulated in the Trust Fund for Preventive Action (TFPA).

<sup>115.</sup> ST/SGB/188, supra note 114, at ¶ 29.

<sup>116.</sup> Id. at ¶ 31.

this requirement. Conversely, technical cooperation trust funds always require a written agreement.<sup>117</sup> It is clear, therefore, that general trust funds set up by the Secretariat and the General Assembly do not require a formal arrangement between the donors and the U.N., let alone a treaty.

Consequently, it is evident that the adoption of treaties between the trustee and State/inter-governmental organization donors is not a general requirement of the international law of trusts, although it is good practice when the trustee is able to enforce them. Where the trustee is a U.N. specialized agency, such as the UNEP—which alone manages a sizeable amount of international trust funds—none of the surveyed Terms of Reference require the UNEP to conclude donations in the form of treaties. As a result, the UNEP's agreements with donors can take many legal forms, including treaties with MoU, 119 even where donations are reflective of similar projects and sums. 120

The same is true regarding donor agreements that the UNDP accepts. The UNDP's Financial Regulations and Rules require the conclusion of an agreement but fail to specify its legal nature; <sup>121</sup> it is thus possible for donor agreements consummated with the UNDP to possess non-binding characteristics under the U.N. rationale analyzed above. In practice, however, the UNDP has set up a model trust administration agreement which it now uses in all of its relationships with donors. The adoption of a MoU instead of a treaty is not always more beneficial to the contributing State. <sup>122</sup> On the contrary, it would seem that a binding treaty

<sup>117.</sup> Id. at ¶ 32. In fact, in respect of technical cooperation trust funds there exists a model agreement as set out in the Secretary-General's Administrative Instruction for Technical Cooperation Trust Funds, U.N. Doc. ST/AI/285.

<sup>118.</sup> Vienna Convention on the Protection of the Ozone Layer, COP Decision VCI/9 (Apr. 28, 1989), available at http://ozone.unep.org/Publications/VC\_Handbook/Section\_2\_Decisions/Article\_6/Decs-financial matters/Decision VCI-9.shtml#Annex%20III (last visited Apr. 6, 2021).

<sup>119.</sup> Even though the parties' general intention in concluding a MoU is the avoidance of entering into a binding instrument, we agree with the position that the normative character of a MoU is judged both by its content and the intention of the parties. The two may sometimes be conflicting, but certainly, one should not disregard the wish of the parties not to be bound by the terms of an agreement. Supra note 82, at 26-34.

<sup>120.</sup> MoU between Swedish Ministry of Sustainable Development & UNEP (Feb. 2005); see also UN-HABITAT MoU with Canada for Contributing to the Water & Sanitation Trust Fund. Other countries such as Norway preferred instead the conclusion of agreements.

<sup>121.</sup> UNDP Financial Regulations and Rules, Reg. 5.07(a) (Apr. 2000). Rule 108.1 states that trust funds shall be established either on the basis of a written agreement, or by the issuance of its terms of reference, in anticipation of receipt of contributions by prospective contributors.

<sup>122.</sup> MoU are common in sovereign finance, especially following the post-2008 financial crisis, chiefly as a means of avoiding obligations, whether parliamentary scrutiny, or the

is a secure basis for confirming the rights and duties of the parties, given that it is in the interests of the trustee and the trust fund itself to bind the contributors to their pledge amount. The likely benefits of an MoU are perhaps its speedy conclusion and adoption—particularly where the donation is below a particular threshold—its confidentiality, and avoiding a perpetual obligation.<sup>123</sup>

It is also common practice for donors to conclude an MoU with the potential trustee and recipient States. The purpose of these instruments is not to set up the trust fund or agree to the terms of the donation, but rather to record the intention of the parties to enter into appropriate agreements in due course. This was expressly mentioned in the various identical MoU between the Netherlands, on the one hand, and Indonesia and the World Bank, on the other, addressing the establishment of a multi-donor trust fund following the catastrophic effects of the 2004 earthquake and tsunami. 124 Eventually, given that the World Bank was appointed trustee to the Multi Donor Fund (MDF) for Indonesia, contribution agreements were entered with each State donor in the form of treaties. The Bank's policy is to treat all donors equally, in a manner whereby the agreements must be "substantially the same." Disagreement arose between the various departments in the Bank as to whether "substantially the same" means word-for-word identical, or if a request by a donor State that did not alter the obligations of the agreement could,

application of human rights or other rules. See Menelaos Markakis & Paul Dermine, Bailouts, The Legal Status of Memoranda of Understanding, & the Scope of Application of the EU Charter: Florescu, 55 COMMON MKT. L. REV. 643 (2018). In fact, the use of informal agreements in a manner that violates human rights is at the heart of the business and human rights debate. See Ilias Bantekas, The Linkages Between Business & Human Rights & Their Underlying Causes, 43 Hum. RTS. Q. 118 (2021); Ilias Bantekas, The Emerging UN Business and Human Rights Treaty & its Codification of International Norms, 12 GEO. MASON INT'L L.J. 1 (2021).

<sup>123.</sup> See Anthony Aust, The Theory & Practice of Informal International Instruments, 35 INT'L COMP. L.Q. 787 (1986). Lipson has added to this list the desire to prevent formal and visible pledges, the desire to avoid ratification, the ability to renegotiate or modify as circumstances change, as well as the need to reach agreements quickly. Charles Lipson, Why Are Some International Agreements Informal?, 45 INT'L ORG. 495, 500 (1991). Moreover, Bilder has argued that states may choose the option of non-binding accords out of a desire to manage more efficiently the risks of international agreement. Richard B. Bilder, Managing the Risks of International Agreement, U. Wis. L. Studies Res. Paper No. 1327, 24 (1981).

<sup>124.</sup> The Multi-Donor Trust Fund was adopted on Apr. 25, 2005. See Indonesia: MoU on the Establishment of the Multi-Donor Trust Fund to Support Aceh & North Sumatra Rehabilitation & Reconstruction ADB's Contribution, ADB (May 10, 2005), available at https://reliefweb.int/report/indonesia/indonesia-mou-establishment-multi-donor-trust-fund-support-aceh-and-north-sumatra (last visited Apr. 6, 2021).

in fact, be accommodated. 125 A formal cap on administrative costs, the designation of terrorism therein, and the conclusion of an expiration date for the agreement also provoked disagreement. In connection with the terrorism language, for example, one donor was content with the definition, but because it imposed a condition on the assets, the MDF was forced to amend its Standard Provisions. This, however, meant that the donors reached a subsequent agreement on this issue. 126

Finally, accession to donor agreements is possible through an appropriate provision in the general agreement, where applicable, or in each individual agreement. Article 3 of the Donor Agreement for the establishment of an Anti-Corruption Activities Fund between Norway and the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) states that the Fund shall accept contributions from any donor through the subscription of a Letter of Adherence to the Donor Agreement. Arrangements may become complicated if new contributors besides States, international organizations, and private entities were included.

In this case, since the Donor Agreement is a treaty, it is not possible for the private entity to accede to it. Therefore, it must be assumed that the trustee will enter into a new agreement with the private donor under the terms of the treaty, as long as the terms of the treaty apply to private entities and are subject to applicable private law. Alternatively, the same result will be presumed—albeit State parties will take it for granted that the Agreement has a dual status—depending on whether the entity under consideration is a State or private party.

### V. DONOR AGREEMENTS WITH PRIVATE ENTITIES

Private parties, like states, must contract with the trustee rather than the trust fund regarding any transactions with the trust fund. Similarly, an agreement must be entered into, even though this agreement will be a contract governed by the law chosen by the parties rather than a treaty. <sup>128</sup>

<sup>125.</sup> The World Bank, *Review of Post-Crisis Multi-Donor Trust Funds: Final Report*, NORAD (Feb. 2007), *available* at https://www.norad.no/globalassets/import-2162015-80434-am/www.norad.no-ny/filarkiv/vedlegg-til-

publikasjoner/reviewofpostcrisismultidonortrustfunds\_finalreport.pdf (last visited Mar. 29, 2021).

<sup>126.</sup> Id.

<sup>127.</sup> The Agreement is attached to IDB Doc. CC-6146 (Feb. 26, 2007).

<sup>128.</sup> See F.A. Mann, The Proper Law of Contracts Concluded by International Persons, 35 Brit. Y.B. Int'l L. 34 (1959); Elisabetta Morlino, Procurement by International

Given that contracts must be "substantially the same" so as to ensure equal treatment of the contracting entities, the governing law will be different in the trustee's agreements with the private donors. This will likely be the law of the seat (or country of incorporation) of the trustee. 129 but when a contract is performed in a third territory, the applicable law may be the law of that country. 130 This is certainly a choice between the parties and subject to the principle of party autonomy. Generally, although State donors will face administrative costs to set up the trust fund. this is not the case with private parties. Indeed, the contractual terms for the latter are far simpler because the constitutional formalities relating to treaty-making are inapplicable. Nonetheless, any liability that may accrue from such a relationship will burden the private entity on account of its lack of privileges;<sup>131</sup> this stands in stark contrast to burdens accrued by the World Bank or the U.N., which enjoy significant privileges. Obviously, in its mutual relationship with the private party. the trustee will be an equal contractual partner. Private entities may, where applicable, be entitled to simply transfer or deposit money in a trust fund without requiring a written agreement. They simply need to notify the trustee in writing that they have deposited the money. In this case, since the private entity is not a state, its actions cannot be assimilated to a unilateral act—with or without legal obligation. The applicable banking and contract law governing a particular transaction will determine the legal nature of these acts. <sup>132</sup> In any event, they entail privity of contract and should be viewed as such by all interested actors.

ORGANIZATIONS: A GLOBAL ADMINISTRATIVE LAW APPROACH 261 (Cambridge Univ. Press 2019).

<sup>129.</sup> The law of the seat is fundamental to the interpretation of arbitration clauses in contracts. Arbitration clauses are procedural in nature and hence if they are subject to the law of the seat, such law is the seat's civil procedure law. See Ilias Bantekas, The Proper Law of the Arbitration Clause: A Challenge to the Prevailing Orthodoxy, 27 J. INT'L ARB. 1, 2-4 (2010).

<sup>130.</sup> See P. Sands et al., Bowett's Law of International Institutions 462 (Sweet & Maxwell, 2001).

<sup>131.</sup> It is usual for trustees to be mandated by the donors to enter into arrangements with the private entity in order to provide it with tax deductibility allowances in respect of its donation. See infra note 150 at art. 27(a)(i)(2). Otherwise, the relevant financial or operational regulations clearly stipulate that no special advantages or benefits should accrue to private donors, such as Article 6 of the World Bank's OP 14.40. Equally, when acting as trustee, the Bank should avoid providing any benefits to private investors that would give rise to a conflict of interest or a distortion of its procurement rules 2.13 et seq. of the World Bank Trust Fund Hand-Book, IBRD Doc. 17304 (Apr. 1997).

<sup>132.</sup> This is a complex issue that is not susceptible to generalizations. The Court of First Instance (CFI) of the EU has long confirmed that the law of EU member states is not applicable to public contracts granted by entities set up by the EU Council of the EU. See

The U.N. Legal Counsel has made it clear that the Organization can incur private liabilities, particularly when such liabilities arise from contracts, purchase orders, leases, and other agreements. 133 Equally, therefore, the choice of forum and lex arbitri is a matter settled by agreement between the parties. The governing law of private contracts entered by international organizations and private entities is usually designated by reference to the law of the seat of the international organization, particularly when the private party's operations lie therein. 134 Conversely, where the performance under the contract will occur in a territory other than the seat of the organization, especially in the event of small scale contracts that do not involve significant resources, the national law of the country where performance will occur is deemed to constitute the governing law. Loan agreements with private entities entered by the IBRD and the International Monetary Fund (IMF) are governed either by the law on whose territory the private contracting banks are incorporated, the law of the State of New York, 135 or a neutral law that is typically liberal and commerce-friendly, such as the laws of England. 136 One should exercise caution when ascribing the characterization of a contract to a particular transaction, in the sense that an agreement encompasses both consideration and acceptance. Agreements at the international level between a variety of actors are more complex than contracts under domestic law, as is the case with the IMF's

Case T-411/06, Sogelma - Societá generale lavori manutenzioni appalti Srl v European Agency for Reconstruction (AER), ECLI:EU:T:2008:419, ¶ 115 (the CFI argued that such a principle was applicable, unless otherwise provided, to any international organization in the EU).

<sup>133.</sup> Legal Opinion of 23 Feb. 2001, (2001) U.N. Jurid. Y.B. 381, 384-85.

<sup>134.</sup> W. JENKS, THE PROPER LAW OF INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS 171 (Stevens & Sons, 1962).

<sup>135.</sup> Art. 11(a), IMF-Monetary Agency of Saudi Arabia Loan Agreement, IMF Decision 6843 (81/75), 6 May 1981, cited in P. Sands, P. Klein & D. W. Bowett, Bowett's Law of International Institutions 462 (Sweet & Maxwell, 2001). In such cases the World Bank Group may well trigger its privilege of immunity from suit by invoking it before the court. However, great reluctance is applied in invoking immunity. By way of example, an action against the IMF for failure to pay the amount due under any note or coupon may be brought before the federal courts of New York, England, or Geneva. The IMF agreed in that case to waive its immunity from suit and execution. See J. Gold, Interpretation: The IMF & International Law 69 (Springer, 1996).

<sup>136.</sup> See Ilias Bantekas, A Human Rights-Based Arbitral Tribunal for Sovereign Debt, 29 AM. REV. INT'L ARB. 52 (2018); Ilias Bantekas, The Contractualisation of Fiscal and Parliamentary Sovereignty: Towards a Private International Finance Architecture?, G. Constitutionalism (2021) (forthcoming). For good or bad, English contract law has become indispensable in the majority of transnational transactions. See Ilias Bantekas, The Globalization of English Contract Law: Three Salient Illustrations, 137 L.Q. REV. 130, 131-40 (2021).

stand-by-arrangements, which are not considered to entail a contractual relationship in any way. 137

Amerasinghe is of the view that agreements between international financial institutions, such as the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), the Asian Development Bank (ADB), and others, with private parties that are predicated on another loan or guarantee agreement with the private parties' respective States, should be governed by international law. He rests his hypothesis on the international law provisions in the loan agreements "or by implication resulting from association." The World Bank's policies generally exclude the possibility of such agreements, whereas the U.N.'s specialized agencies that administer trust funds have taken a varied approach to the legal modalities of private contributions. The legal nature of the

<sup>137.</sup> Under Article XXX(b) of the IMF Articles of Agreement, a stand-by-arrangement is defined as "a decision of the Fund by which a member is assured that it will be able to make purchases from the General Resources Account in accordance with the terms of the decision during a specified period and up to a specified amount." It is clear that Article XXX(b) only refers to the Fund's decision and not the letter of intent that is required of the petitioning state, which sets forth the objectives and policies that will make up the financial program for which assistance is sought. In order to clarify that stand-by-agreements are not in fact contracts, the IMF adopted two distinct decisions, see Decision No. 2603-(68/132) Sept. 20, 1968; Decision No. 6056-(79/38) Mar. 2, 1979. In particular, ¶ 7 of the 1968 Decision stated that "in view of the character of stand-by-arrangements, language having a contractual flavour will be avoided in stand-by-documents." See generally J. GOLD, THE LEGAL CHARACTER OF THE FUND'S STAND-BY-ARRANGEMENTS AND WHY IT MATTERS (IMF Pamphlet Series No. 35, 1980). See also Ilias Bantekas, Exceptional Recognition of Governments & Political Parties in Respect of Sovereign Loans: The Greek Case, 82 NORDIC J. INT'L L. 317, 320-21 (2013).

<sup>138.</sup> The EBRD does not distinguish between states and non-state entities in its contractual arrangements with borrowers and as a result has no hesitation to institute a uniform and consistent application of public international law as the governing law of its contracts with all borrowers. See J.W. Head, Evolution of the Governing Law for Loan Agreements of the World Bank & other Multilateral Development Banks, 90 Am. J. INT'L L. 214, 230 (1996).

<sup>139.</sup> See C.F. Amerasinghe, Principles of the Institutional Law of International Organizations 388-89 (Cambridge Univ. Press 2005).

<sup>140.</sup> In 2016 an updated standardized Administration Agreement template with sixteen of the World Bank's largest donors who provide 90% of IBRD/IDA trust fund resources was adopted, including standard provisions on disclosure of information and communication on fiduciary issues. This was supplemented with a series of notes on governance arrangements in trust funds, preferencing arrangements, donor reporting, managing trust funds for results, and indicative budgets. 2017 Trust Fund Annual Report, WORLD BANK (2017), available at <a href="http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/428511521809720471/683696272\_201803110">http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/428511521809720471/683696272\_201803110</a> 085340/additional/124547-REVISED-PUBLIC-17045-TF-Annual-Report-web-Apr17.pdf (last visited Apr. 6, 2021).

<sup>141.</sup> Article 17 of the U.N. Secretary-General's Guidelines on Cooperation between the U.N. and the Business Community envisages four types of partnership arrangements. Of

agreement also depends on the type of contribution made. It is common for private contributors, particularly those in a specific industry, to donate in-kind rather than in cash. In 2003, the pharmaceutical corporation Novartis agreed to provide tuberculosis medicine to treat 500,000 patients over a five-year period. This undertaking was consummated through an MoU, not a binding contract. The medicines were delivered to the Global Drug Facility (GDF) of the Stop TB Partnership for use by programs supported by the Global Fund against AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria. 142 There is no mention in U.N. Financial Regulations 4.13 and 4.14 about the legal format of agreements with donors, thus the U.N.'s principal organs and its specialized agencies are free to agree the legal terms of their agreements with private entities. In Section VII of this paper, the reader will come to appreciate the possibility of setting up a trust fund solely based on private contracts in order to accommodate private and public entities speedily and with greater efficiency in a single instrument.

# VI. THE TRUSTEE (ADMINISTRATION) AGREEMENT AND THE AGREEMENT BY WHICH A TRUST FUND ASSUMES THE ROLE OF FINANCING MECHANISM

One would think the agreement that appoints an entity as a trustee of monies and other assets contributed by States would by necessity assume only a single legal form, i.e. a treaty. However, this has not occurred, and the appointment of trustees has been achieved through varied legal formulas, as demonstrated by this paper. Treaties remain the standard agreement form, whereby the institutional rules of the trustee, as in the case of the World Bank, require adopting a binding agreement with the donor, <sup>143</sup> or whereby the use of model administration agreements with prospective donors has been institutionalized, as in the case of the

interest in this connection is paragraph (a) dealing with direct contributions, whereby it is advised that this be accommodated through a trust fund or special account agreement with the partner subject to the applicable U.N. Rules and Regulations. See Guidelines on Cooperation between the United Nations and the Business Sector, U.N. (Nov. 20, 2009), available at https://www.un.org/en/ethics/assets/pdfs/Guidelines-on-Cooperation-with-the-Business-Sector.pdf (last visited Mar. 23, 2021).

<sup>142.</sup> Partnerships to Build Healthier Societies in the Developing World, IFPMA (Sept. 2006), available at https://issuu.com/ipha/docs/ifpma\_building\_healthier\_eng\_2007 (last visited Mar. 23, 2021).

<sup>143.</sup> See OP 14.40, Art. 1. The authority of the IDB to set up and receive donations for trust funds through the conclusion of treaties is prescribed in Res. DE-51/91 (Mar. 20, 1991); IBD Doc. GN-1808 (Feb. 5, 1991).

UNDP. Treaties like this between a State and a public international financial institution, or a U.N. specialized agency, will either expressly designate the latter as the trustee, <sup>144</sup> or this type of appointment may be inferred from the range of powers and responsibilities entrusted to the particular entity. <sup>145</sup>

In the latter case, parties will take for granted the inter-governmental financial institution as the designated trustee from the outset, even if this is not explicit in the administration agreement, as such an occurrence is rather rare. Where the World Bank has already set up a trust fund, or an agency/organ of the U.N., and where States have entrusted these entities with the role of trustee through existing instruments, subsequent agreements will either: 1) tacitly recognize the assumption of the trustee role by the Bank/U.N.; 2) make no reference to the trustee, but implicitly recognize it on account of the fact that the Fund's Instrument, Terms of Reference, etc. is attached as an integral annex to the Agreement; 146 and 3) expressly recognize its contracting partner as the trustee. 147 Where donors finance a trust fund through such subsequent donor agreements, they cannot unilaterally alter or amend any of the provisions of the trust fund's Instrument or Standard Provisions without the prior consent of the trustee and the other parties to the trust fund, although they can amend provisions with the consent of the trustee. Thus, the underlying agreement—whether called a Fund Instrument, Attached Standard Terms, or by another name—is treated the same as a multilateral treaty under Articles 40-41 of the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, because the parties have agreed that said instruments govern their legally binding relationships. While such an underlying instrument may not be legally binding on its own accord, it becomes binding through its incorporation in the treaty between the trustee and the donor or, alternatively, because the administration agreement renders it binding upon the parties.

Given that both the U.N. and its specialized agencies do not require a treaty format for concluding trustee administration agreements or donor

<sup>144.</sup> See Administration Agreement between the U.K. & IBRD/IDA Concerning the Multi-Donor Trust Fund for the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (TF 053509) (Aug. 19, 2004), Preamble.

<sup>145.</sup> See IDB-Norway Donor Agreement for the Establishment of the Anti-Corruption Activities Fund (Mar. 2007). A Draft of the Agreement is contained in IDB Doc. CC-6146 (Feb. 26, 2007).

<sup>146.</sup> See Agreement between the U.K. & IBRD/IDA for the ASEM-EU Asian Financial Crisis Response Fund (TF 020147) (June 29, 1998), Annex I.

<sup>147.</sup> See Italy-UNDP Trust Fund Agreement for Anti-Poverty Partnership Initiatives (June 27, 2000).

agreements—in fact, the relevant Financial Regulations do not stipulate the two as separate contracts—it is not surprising that several MoU have appeared to conclude these agreements. Typical trust agreement examples are: the MoU between the conference of parties (COP) of the Convention to Combat Desertification; the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD)<sup>148</sup> regarding the Modalities and Administrative Operations between the Global Fund;<sup>149</sup> and the MoU between the COP to the Biological Diversity Convention and the GEF regarding the Institutional Structure Operating the Financial Mechanism of the Convention.<sup>150</sup>

The GEF and IFAD are financing mechanisms for these conventions, not trustees. Their role is to finance the projects, in full or in part, decided by the COP to these conventions, as long as these decisions are consistent with the respective constitutional instruments of IFAD<sup>151</sup> and the GEF. <sup>152</sup> In the case of the COP-GEF MoU, one may

<sup>148.</sup> The practice of most COP confirms that, because they must interact with other actors, they must be assumed to possess some, at least, legal personality. COP to environmental treaties regularly, for example, adopt decisions by which they appoint a third entity as a trustee to a financing mechanism stipulated under their founding treaty followed thereafter by the conclusion of an MoU with the designated trustee. See U.N. Doc. UNEP/CBD/COP/1, Decision I/2, ¶ 2; U.N. Doc. UNEP/CBD/COP/2/19, Decision II/6, ¶ 1. MoU between the COP to the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) & the Council of the Global Environmental Fund (GEF), U.N. Doc. UNEP/CBD/COP/3/38, Decision III/8; see also the MoU between COP to the Convention to Combat Desertification (CCD); The International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) regarding the Modalities and Administrative Operations of the Global Mechanism, U.N. Doc. ICCD/COP(3)/10 (Aug. 30, 1999), Annex I.

<sup>149.</sup> The MoU is attached as Annex I in Doc. UNEP/CBD/COP/3/10 (Oct. 11, 1996).

<sup>150.</sup> Art II(C). The Draft MoU is attached as Annex I to Doc. ICCD/COP (3)/10 (Aug. 30, 1999).

<sup>151.</sup> According to Art. 2 of the 1976 Agreement Establishing the IFAD, the objective of the Fund shall be to mobilize additional resources under concessional terms for agricultural development in developing member states. This involves projects designed to introduce, expand or improve food production systems and to strengthen related policies, taking into consideration the need to increase food production in the poorest food-deficit countries, the need to increase food production in other developing countries and the importance of improving the nutritional level of the poorest populations. IFAD has entered into an agreement with the UN under Art. 57 of the UN Charter and is a specialized agency thereof. See IFAD Lending Policies and Criteria, Res. 83/XVII, U.N. IFAD 2nd Sess., (Dec. 14, 1978) adopted by IFAD Governing Council on 14 Dec 1978 (as recently amended by Res 106/XXI (12 Feb 1998)).

<sup>152.</sup> The Restructured GEF Instrument is reproduced in Nicholas Van Praag, *The Global Environment Facility*, 33 INT'L LEGAL MATERIALS 1273-308 (1994) (subsequently amended in Mar. 2008, ¶¶ 2 3 stipulate also "that the agreed incremental costs of other relevant activities under Agenda 21 that may be agreed by the Council shall also be eligible for funding insofar

obviously argue that the choice of this instrument is necessarily dictated by the fact that neither of the two entities possess sufficient legal personality to enable them to negotiate a treaty or other binding agreement. In any event, while the parties to such an MoU are generally presumed to intend to desist from assuming any binding obligations, the non-binding character of these instruments may, nonetheless, be questioned on several grounds.

First, regarding trust agreements established by an MoU, the trustee is appointed as the account holder, when applicable, and administrator of the trust fund and its assets. This in itself entails a reciprocal obligation whereby the trustee owes particular duties to the donors, which can hardly be assumed on a non-binding basis. As most of these duties stem from widespread practice in the field of the international law of trust funds, it is not out of the question to posit that they have become part of customary international law between States and trustees; as such they are not merely voluntary, but binding. Moreover, the trustee owes some fiduciary duties to the beneficiaries once these have been designated. <sup>154</sup> It would thus be absurd for the trustee and the donors to appoint the trustee without either of these entities owing any obligations to the beneficiaries at any stage of the trust process.

Equally, despite the lack of inter-governmental character regarding environmental financing to treaty-bodies by the GEF, some obligation must arise for the trustee under relevant cooperation agreements. While this may not necessarily involve strict adherence to the policy decisions of the respective COP, it may include an obligation to, for example, prepare and submit annual financial reports. Some environmental treaties fully finance their own projects and do not engage the GEF or IFAD as their financial mechanisms. In these cases, the decisions issued by the respective COPs are binding on the GEF when releasing funds (owned by the COP) for particular projects, despite the non-contractual character of their agreement. The U.N. Legal Counsel has made it clear that COP operating under universal treaties possess the legal capacity,

as they achieve global environmental benefits by protecting the global environment in the focal areas").

<sup>153.</sup> Nele Matz, Financial Institutions Between Effectiveness & Legitimacy: A Legal Analysis of the World Bank, Global Environmental Facility & Prototype Carbon Fund, 5 Int'l Envil. Agreements Pol. L. & Econ. 265, 285 (2005).

<sup>154.</sup> See Ilias Bantekas, The Emergence of the Intergovernmental Trust in International Law, 81 BRIT. Y.B. INT'L L. 224, 231 (2011).

<sup>155.</sup> Biological Diversity Convention COP-GEF MoU, (n.137), Arts 3.1 & 4.

<sup>156.</sup> See also Doc. FCCC/CP/2001/13/Add.1 (Jan. 21, 2002), pp 40ff.

within the limits of their mandate, to enter into agreements and other arrangements with state and non-state entities.<sup>157</sup>

In practice, the majority of commentators argue that, despite the relevant MoU, the GEF is not legally bound by decisions of the COPs. 158 Although the intention of the parties entering into such an MoU should be respected, the content of such instruments entails a plethora of binding obligations, as either a result of customary international law or implicitly by the very function of the trustee's role. Perhaps, therefore, the best way of approaching the normative character of such agreements is article by article. Alternatively, it may be argued that the parties to an MoU establishing a trust relationship are aware of and accept the binding duties arising from such a relationship, and thus the role of the MoU is to emphasize the non-binding character of the other aspects of the relationship. It should be noted, of course, that the parties to the aforementioned MoU are not States, but largely inter-governmental organizations.

Moreover, there may be doubt about the inter-governmental status of others, such as the GEF. Nonetheless, it is undeniable that they enjoy at least some international legal personality, and even if they are unable to enter into treaties as quasi-inter-governmental organizations, they are competent to conclude contracts under domestic law. The MoU route, therefore, is not the only option. Overall, the problematic nature of MoU serving as administration agreements is limited to a small number of cases that do not generally involve State entities.

### A. Jurisdiction in Respect of Disputes Arising from Administration Agreements

A brief assessment of the appropriate jurisdiction for disputes arising out of the interpretation and implementation of administration agreements is warranted. One cannot rely on the general principles underlying the international law of trust funds because the relevant practice is inconsistent. Some agreements provide for arbitral proceedings, while others do not. Even so, where arbitration is incorporated in the body of an agreement, the parties generally fail to elaborate on its modalities. In the absence of an arbitration clause, it is wholly unreasonable to conclude that the World Bank's General

<sup>157.</sup> Legal Opinion of Nov. 4, 1993, U.N. JURID. Y.B. (1993) 427, 429.

<sup>158.</sup> In fact, the COP to the CBD, in its first review of GEF effectiveness as the CBD's financial mechanism expressed discontent with the GEF's level of compliance. *See* Matz, *supra* note 141, at 285-86.

Conditions Applicable to Loan and Guarantee Agreements are applicable, assuming the World Bank is a trustee in that case. The IBRD and IDA submit their own loan and credit arrangements with State entities to public international law, subject to very minor and specific exceptions in respect of necessarily local matters such as the creation of sureties. Equally, the relevant arbitration provision in the Bank's Articles of Agreement cannot resolve trust fund disputes with a donor State that is not a party to the Articles of Agreement. This result differs if the donor is a party thereof.

One way of resolving this legal vacuum is by subjecting the dispute to the appropriate jurisdiction of domestic courts, particularly the seat of the World Bank, which corresponds to its standard practice respecting the introduction of choice of forum clauses in international credit contracts. This is indeed the most appropriate solution. The State can neither invoke the procedural defense of State immunity, nor raise issue with the fact that the agreement in question was a treaty rather than a private contract in order to avoid the civil jurisdiction of the courts of the

<sup>159.</sup> Incorporation by reference would be inapplicable in this case, unless an instrument containing an arbitration clause was expressly mentioned in a first agreement. It is generally accepted that the instrument incorporated by reference need not be an agreement previously concluded by the parties. It may just as well be one of the parties' standard terms or an instrument to which none of the parties has any other relationship. *See* Thyssen Can. Ltd. V. Mariana, [2000] 3 F.C. 398 (judgment from Canadian Court of Appeal) (Can.); Fai Tak Engineering Co. v. Sui Chong Construction & Engineering Co., [2009] H.K.D.C. 141 (judgment from Hong Kong District Court) (H.K.).

<sup>160.</sup> The IBRD typically enters into a loan and guarantees agreements with borrowing states. These states assume full responsibility for carrying out the project in respect of which the funds were borrowed. The direct borrower is a private entity, the Bank will enter into a Guarantee Agreement with the government of the relevant member state.

<sup>161.</sup> Int'l Bank for Reconstruction and Dev. [IBRD], General Conditions Applicable to Loan and Guarantee Agreements § 10.01, IBRD Doc. 75043 (Mar. 15, 1974) (in accordance with which the Agreement expressly prevails over any domestic law to the contrary); IBRD, General Conditions for Loans § 8.01 (Oct. 16, 2006); see also IBRD, General Conditions Applicable to Development Credit Arrangements § 10.01 (Dec. 2, 1997). These General Conditions, much like those of the UN, constitute integral components of subsequent agreements with recipient states and are implicitly binding on the parties. See The World Bank Grp. [WBG], IDA-Chad Development Credit Agreement (Management of the Petroleum Economy Project), Credit No. 3316 CD (Mar. 20, 2000). The same is true of § 7.01 of the IBRD's Loan Regulations (1956), which expressly exclude the application of all or any municipal law in contracts between the Bank and a borrower.

<sup>162.</sup> See Norbert Horn, 'Non-Judicial Dispute Settlement in International Financial Transactions', in Non-Judicial Dispute Settlement in International Financial Transactions', in Non-Judicial Dispute Settlement in International Financial Transactions 9 (Norbert Horn & Joseph J. Norton eds., 2000) (Horn, however, notes that the incorporation of such clauses has declined almost to extinction in favor of arbitration and many states, particularly Latin American, have enacted constitutional amendments that preclude the state from being sued before the civil courts of any other state).

forum, unless it is shown that its contribution to the trust fund was made in a *jure imperii* capacity, rather than as *jus gestionis*. In every case, the object and purpose of the relevant transaction and the nature of the trust fund will inform such determinations, as this is set out in its founding instrument or through later institutional actions. <sup>163</sup> The existence of sovereign immunity, if persistent, would constitute a procedural bar to the jurisdiction of local courts, yet it is unlikely that a trustee with some degree of international legal personality would decide to settle its disputes with a contributing State before domestic courts. This route is only appropriate with respect to disputes that arise with private contracting entities.

### VII. CAN AN INTERNATIONAL TRUST BE SET UP BY MEANS OF A PRIVATE CONTRACT?

The likelihood that an international trust fund between States and international organizations can be set up by a contract, rather than a treaty, exists neither in the world of fiction nor in the realm of legal impermissibility. We have already examined several trust instruments, the participants in which, whether as equal parties or otherwise, included both States and private actors. The latter's legal relationships with States and international organizations are not susceptible to regulation by means of treaties, <sup>164</sup> but are nonetheless amenable to an MoU and private contracts. These instruments retain their particular character even where their governing law is principally predicated on public international law.

<sup>163.</sup> Again, this is a complex issue that cannot be exhausted in the limited confines of this article. The general rule arising from the *Tin Council* cases is that member states to an international organization do not incur liability from conduct attributed to the organization. *See, e.g.*, J.H. Rayner (Mincing Lane) Ltd. v. Dep't of Trade & Indus. & Others and related appeals [1990] 2 AC (HL) 418; MacLaine Watson & Co. v. Dep't of Trade & Indus. [1988] 3 All ER 257 (Eng.); Maclaine Watson & Co. v. Int'l Tin Council, Judgement, 81 I.L.R. 670, 678 (Oct. 26, 1989). The privileges and immunities of a quasi-international entity, besides general international law, may be circumscribed by its HQ agreement with the host state. Although the Swiss government conferred international legal personality to the Global Fund through their respective HQ Agreement, Article 5 of said Agreement exempted from immunity of legal process, among other things, "counterclaims directly related to principal proceedings initiated by the Fund," arbitration awards between itself and Switzerland, as well as "[d]isputes arising out of contracts and disputes of a private law character to which the Global Fund is a party." Agreement between the Swiss Fed. Council & the Glob. Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis & Malaria, art. 5, GF/B7/7 (Dec. 13, 2004); *Id.* at art. 25(1).

<sup>164.</sup> Anglo-Iranian Oil Co. Case (U.K. v. Iran), Judgement, 1952 I.C.J. Rep. 93, 112 (July 22).

With respect to trust funds encompassing private parties, reference to an instrument other than a treaty is the only viable way to aptly regulate the legal relations of asymmetrical actors. For this reason, the Instrument of the Prototype Carbon Fund (PCF) cannot be considered a treaty between private and public actors, further necessitating the conclusion of bilateral agreements between the trustee and individual participants. <sup>165</sup> We have pointed to the theoretical possibility that the PCF Instrument could incorporate public and private relationships in a single document. <sup>166</sup> Throughout this paper there are numerous examples of trust funds encompassing a variety of actors in different legal capacities, all of which regulate a myriad of contractual relationships. None of these trust funds, however, are predicated on a private contract.

The emerging international law of trust funds places no requirement on the legal nature of the instrument setting up the trust fund. Generally, however, a treaty would organize those funds set up between States and/or between States and international organizations. States and international organizations are not precluded from entering into private agreements among themselves where they determine to regulate their relationships only on the basis of private law. States typically prefer the treaty option because it deprives the courts of other nations from examining their affairs and, in many cases, private law is not capable of regulating matters of sovereignty, such as maritime delimitation, cession of territory, self-determination, space exploration, and others. 167

As a result, donors that prefer the contractual option do not need to be concerned with being sued in a national court because any suits will be directed against the trustee or the person of the trust fund itself. 168

<sup>165.</sup> The PCF Instrument gives rise to a membership based on legal equality that comprises both states and private corporations. These membership types are reflected in the instruments of participation, which, however, are different in legal nature depending on whether the entity in question is a state or a non-state actor. Whereas in the former case, the agreement is a treaty, it is a contract of a private nature. This suggests that the PCF Instrument cannot constitute a treaty for some participants while representing a private agreement in respect of other participants. The Instrument Establishing the Prototype Carbon Fund was amended by IBRD Res 2000-1 (15 May 2000), on "Changing the Terms of a Second Closing and on Certain Other Amendments to the Instrument Establishing the PCF," and subsequently by IBRD Res 2001-3 (Mar. 22, 2001) on "Changing the Composition of the Participants' Committee and on Certain Other Amendments to the Instrument Establishing the PCF," and finally by IBRD Res 2005-5 and PCF Participants Meeting Resolution adopted on 10 Nov. 2005, as subsequently adopted by the IBRD Board of Executive Directors on 22 Dec. 2005.

<sup>166.</sup> Id.

<sup>167.</sup> With the advent of transnational law, which does not exclude state capitalism, states are increasingly turning to private contracts under governing laws of convenience. See Bantekas, supra note 25.

<sup>168.</sup> Bantekas, supra note 142, at 271.

Apart from trusts adopted to deal with the fiscal stabilization of small island states, where the employment of treaties provides a degree of security between the parties, trusts set up to address all other matters do not need require the conclusion of a treaty. The State parties to a private agreement of this nature would only be liable to the trustee as far as the delivery of their contribution is concerned, and in respect of their decision-making authority, if any, in the context of the trust fund's organs.

Given the private nature of the contract, the parties may have subjected the functioning of these internal operations to the corporate governance or private foundation laws (referring to governance) of a particular country. This option is not generally advisable, given its potential for extensive intra-party litigation and the possibility of third parties trying to intervene on the basis of domestic law, particularly because all such matters could far more easily be subjected to the trustee's internal procedures. Overall, concluding a contract would be simpler because it would require only ministerial consent, not parliamentary approval.

The parties may adopt international law as the governing law of the contract and exclude local courts during the settlement of any ensuing dispute in favor of arbitral resolution. This would, in effect, be a mixed log agreement, whereby the arbitrator may apply the law of the country of signature or that of the seat. The tribunal may also designate another law, when the relevant rules of international law are deemed insufficient to provide a concrete solution. Certainly, the arbitrator will make use of the *lex arbitri* to regulate the conduct of proceedings and to seek injunctions and other measures from authorities.

Following this discussion, we have only determined the parties' intra-relationships in the eventuality of forming a contract. We have not fully considered the implications regarding the trust fund's recognition as

<sup>169.</sup> An example of a mixed agreement that turned sour concerned the choice of law in the Libyan oil concessions to western oil companies. This was to be governed and interpreted in accordance with "the principles of law of Libya common to the principles of international law..." Texaco Overseas Petroleum Co. v. Libya, I.L.R. 389 (1979). See Christopher Greenwood, State Contracts in International Law: The Libyan Oil Arbitrations, 53 BRIT. Y.B. INT'L L. 27 (1983).

<sup>170.</sup> The parties may wish to delocalize the arbitration altogether by avoiding its subjection to any state's law. In this sense, the *lex arbitri* would have a minimal role. It would be unwise for the parties to believe that the international law of trust funds (which may be assimilated to a *lex mercatoria*) can supply the tribunal with the appropriate *lex arbitri*. See GEORGIOS PETROCHILOS, PROCEDURAL LAW IN INTERNATIONAL ARBITRATION 36-37 (Oxford Univ. Press 2004). Delocalization is best explained by reference to contract theory. *Id.* at 39ff.

an entity subject to the international law of trust funds. It seems logical to assume that the legal nature of the agreement plays no role in the recognition of the trust under international law so long as the parties, at least one of which is a State and the trustee endowed with international legal personality, agree that international law governs the trust. In this case, the trust is detached and independent from the parties' other private law relationships until the conclusion of the contract.

This result is further fortified by the clause in the contract providing for a trustee such as the World Bank, or another international financial institution or international organization, such as the United Nations. From the moment of conclusion, the trust's governing law, in respect of both its internal and international processes, is subsequently supplemented by the trustee's institutional rules, which itself is subject to international law by virtue of the trustee's founding treaty or implied powers. The trust entity is not wholly independent from the trustee, except for the trustee's limitation of liability as usually enshrined in the trust's instrument, because an institutional act of the trustee practically triggers its birth (e.g. an IBRD Executive Board resolution). As a result, the trust entity is, for all legal purposes, subsumed within the international legal framework of the trustee unless the agreement between the parties' states otherwise.

### VIII. CONCLUSION

The vast labyrinth of agreements utilized by donors and trustees is evidence that existing domestic and international treaty and contractual legal regimes are inadequate for the relevant actors. It would be fair to say that these contractual relations have migrated into the flexible sphere of transnational law.<sup>171</sup> There, we find a fusion of both domestic and international law, adaptable to the commercial needs of the parties. Intergovernmental funds are no longer agents of states, but entities that pursue various purposes, both public and private, and whose managerial and other roles make them financially accountable to their direct stakeholders.<sup>172</sup> Moreover, it is generally agreed that investment or aid should lead to development, and not solely to prosperous investors or

<sup>171.</sup> See T.C. HALLIDAY & G. SHAFFER, TRANSNATIONAL LEGAL ORDERS (Cambridge Univ. Press 2015); A.C. Cutler, The Judicialization of Private Transnational Power & Authority, 25 Ind. J. GLOBAL LEGAL STUD. 61 (2018).

<sup>172.</sup> See Ilias Bantekas, Effective Management of International Aid Through Intergovernmental Trust Funds, 18 LOY. CHI. INT'L L. REV. (2021).

financial institutions.<sup>173</sup> In fact, trusts must invest their assets as a means of replenishing them, but the literature is silent on the rights and obligations of trust funds as investors.<sup>174</sup>

This article has made a first attempt to describe how intergovernmental trusts transact with their direct stakeholders. transnational actors, trustees and contributors have exhibited a tendency to seek contractual forms that are flexible, liability-averse, extraconstitutional, and outside the narrow confines of international or domestic laws.<sup>175</sup> The starting point for such a tendency is the legal nature of donor pledges, which are perceived as non-binding unless donors expressly consent for such pledge to take the form of a validly made offer, acceptance, or the equivalent of deed-based promise. In such a context, the function and aims of trusts would be in peril because pledges would not translate into assets fulfilling the aims agreed with the trustee. Hence, the use of soft law instruments and pledge diplomacy ensures that donors feel that no liability can arise from their pledge, and that what they agree to contribute is, in fact, consistent with what they can afford. This pledge diplomacy and the non-binding instruments employed in the process have helped achieve this outcome. Until the early 2000s, donor States often defaulted on their pledges. Current practice suggests that States are cautious with the amounts pledged, and as a result donor conferences are usually unable to meet their targets. 176 Although there is no empirical evidence, this author strongly believes that trust pledging diplomacy has enhanced the SDGs' finance side of things.

This paper has shown that there are many ways to attract assets and disburse them other than traditional inter-state agreements. Moreover, it is evident that transnational actors unshackled from the constraints of

<sup>173.</sup> Ilias Bantekas, The Human Rights & Development Dimension of Foreign Investment Laws: From Investment Laws with Human Rights to Development-Oriented Investment Laws, 31 FLA. J. INT'L L. 339 (2020).

<sup>174.</sup> At best, this process is referred to as state capitalism, but without the level of investment law analysis as that offered for private investors. See J. KURLANTZIK, STATE CAPITALISM: HOW THE RETURN OF STATISM IS TRANSFORMING THE WORLD (Oxford Univ. Press 2016); A. Cuervo-Cazurra et al., Governments as Owners: State Owned Multinational Companies, 45 J. INT'L BUS. STUD. 919 (2014).

<sup>175.</sup> See R. GOODE ET AL., TRANSNATIONAL COMMERCIAL LAW 1.04 (Oxford Univ. Press 2d ed. 2015). There is an abundance of soft and hard law rules that facilitate this process, including the UNIDROIT Principles of International Commercial Contracts, the Principles of European Contract Law, and the Hague Principles on Choice of Law in International Commercial Contracts.

<sup>176.</sup> Donor Pledges Fall Short of Target at Brussel's II Syria Conference, EUR. COUNCIL ON REFUGEES & EXILES (Apr. 27, 2018), available at https://ecre.org/donor-pledges-fall-short-of-target-at-brussels-ii-syria-conference/ (last visited Apr. 6, 2021).

their usual governing laws—i.e., constitutions, international law etc.—are entrepreneurial and can shape complex relationships through relatively simple agreements. However, it is important that both donors and trustees are accountable to the nominal owners, namely the citizens of member States. Many trustees have shown a sharp antipathy to human rights despite being funded by taxpayers' money expressly in order to alleviate global poverty, such as the World Bank and the IMF.<sup>177</sup> Therefore, it is crucial that human rights-based processes ground all relevant transactions, be culturally sensitive,<sup>178</sup> and that actions are not undertaken in a vacuum devoid of them.<sup>179</sup>

<sup>177.</sup> See G. SARFATY, VALUES IN TRANSLATION: HUMAN RIGHTS & THE CULTURE OF THE WORLD BANK (Stanford Univ. Press, 2012).

<sup>178.</sup> See Eleni Polymenopoulou, Localizing Intellectual Property & UNESCO Claims, 6 CANADIAN J. HUM. RTS. 87 (2017); Eleni Polymenopoulou, Cultural Rights in the Case Law of the International Court of Justice, 27 LEIDEN J. INT'L L. 447 (2014).

<sup>179.</sup> The human rights considerations should permeate development finance programs was raised by the OHCHR during the third international conference on financing for development and the negotiations of the Addis Ababa Action Agenda (AAAA), its outcome document. It was emphasized that the objective of financing development should be the equitable distribution of resources so that all persons have their most basic needs met and human rights are made a reality for all. See OHCHR, Key Messages on Financing for U.N. HUM. RTS. (n.d.), Rights, Development and Human https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Development/KeyMessageHRFinancingDevelop ment.pdf (last visited Apr. 6, 2021).

## Choice of Forum in Passenger Claims Under the Montreal Convention 1999: A Two-Dimensional Solution to a Three-Dimensional Problem

David Cluxton\*

### I. INTRODUCTION

In the wake of an aviation accident—although rarely the immediate concern of the representatives of the victims—the issue of compensation will inevitably arise at an early stage. Law firms specializing in aviation litigation are quick to respond, some sending agents (referred to as "runners") to offer their services to victims and their families. Similarly, law firms representing potential defendants dispatch their own runners to settle potential claims. In speaking to lawyers from both the plaintiff and defense sides, one hears shocking anecdotes with accusations, made by both sides against one another, of all forms of skullduggery and unethical behavior in this post-accident free-for-all. Evidently, there is little love lost between them. The question of the extent to which these anecdotes have been exaggerated is not a question that this Article seeks to address, but it does demonstrate the emotive and morally charged backdrop against which the matter of aviation litigation unfolds.

It is always important to remember that these cases involve terrible events where lives have been lost in violent and often terrifying circumstances. There is loss and suffering on all sides, not only for the families and friends of those injured or killed, but also for the carrier involved, for which the accident will likely be the worst moment in its history, and in which it too has suffered tragic human losses. Conscious and respectful of this, the goal of this Article is to explore a particular aspect of the legal regime through which those suffering damages arising from passenger death or injury during international carriage by air seek compensation. That particular aspect is choice of forum. My interest in the issue of choice of forum in the litigation of international aviation passenger claims arose from a narrower research interest in the question

<sup>\*</sup> I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to all of the aviation lawyers with whom I conducted interviews as part of my Ph.D. research and from which this Article emerged. They were extremely generous with their time, very candid, and provided invaluable background and insight, without which I could not have produced this Article. The author would also like to acknowledge the help given by Professor George Leloudas, especially with regard to all things related to aviation insurance. Likewise, I would like to thank Professor Andrew Tettenborn for his input. Lastly, a big thank you to the Syracuse Journal of International Law & Commerce editorial team. Email: david.cluxton@hotmail.com

of the availability of the doctrine of *forum non conveniens* (FNC) within the Warsaw Convention System (WCS)<sup>1</sup> and the Montreal Convention 1999 (MC99).<sup>2</sup> Both are international treaties aimed at governing the liability of the carrier for international carriage by air. WCS originated with the Warsaw Convention of 1929 and consists of various amending protocols, supplementary conventions, and agreements. MC99 is a modernization and consolidation of WCS, but it is a new convention that is neither supplemental to nor an amendment of WCS.<sup>3</sup>

However, there is a great deal of commonality between the two regimes. Many of MC99's provisions were taken, with little or no alteration, from WCS. Presently, there are 137 Contracting States to MC99, including the majority of States that are big-time players in the

The term Warsaw Convention System (WCS) refers to the general body of instruments built around the Warsaw Convention. The term refers to the following: Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules Relating to International Transportation by Air, Oct. 12, 1929, 49 Stat. 3000, T.S. No. 876, 137 L.N.T.S. 11 [hereinafter Warsaw Convention]; Protocol to amend the Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules Relating to International Carriage by Air signed at Warsaw on 12 Oct. 1929, Sept. 28, 1955, 478 U.N.T.S. 373 [hereinafter Hague Protocol]; Convention Supplementary to the Warsaw Convention, for the Unification of Certain Rules Relating to International Carriage by Air Performed by a Person Other than the Contracting Carrier, Sept. 18, 1961, 500 U.N.T.S. 31 [hereinafter Guadalajara Convention]; Protocol to Amend the Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules Relating to International Carriage by Air, Signed at Warsaw on 12 Oct. 1929, as Amended by the Protocol done at The Hague on 28 Sept. 1955, Mar. 8, 1971, 10 I.L.M. 613, ICAO Doc. 8932 [hereinafter Guatemala City Protocol or GCP]; Additional Protocol No. 1 to Amend the Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules Relating to International Carriage by Air, Signed at Warsaw on 12 Oct. 1929, as Amended by the Protocol done at The Hague on 28 Sept. 1955, Sept. 25, 1975, 2097 U.N.T.S. 23 [hereinafter MAP1]; Additional Protocol No. 2 to Amend the Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules Relating to International Carriage by Air, Signed at Warsaw on Oct. 12, 1929, as Amended by the Protocol done at The Hague on 28 Sept. 1955, Sept. 25, 1975, 2097 U.N.T.S. 63 [hereinafter MAP2]; Additional Protocol No. 3 to Amend the Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules Relating to International Carriage by Air, Signed at Warsaw on 12 Oct. 1929, as Amended by the Protocol done at The Hague on 28 Sept. 1955 and at Guatemala City on 8 Mar. 1971, Sept. 25, 1975, ICAO Doc. 9147 [hereinafter MAP3]; Additional Protocol No. 4 to amend the Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules Relating to International Carriage by Air signed at Warsaw on 12 Oct. 1929 as amended by the Protocol done at The Hague on 28 Sept. 1955, Sept. 25, 1975, 2145 U.N.T.S. 31 [hereinafter MAP4]. WCS also includes several inter-carrier agreements, including the Montreal Agreement 1966 and the IATA inter-carrier agreements of 1992-1995. For the text of these and others, see INT'L AIR TRANSP. ASS'N, ESSENTIAL DOCUMENTS ON INTERNATIONAL AIR CARRIER LIABILITY (3d ed. 2012).

<sup>2.</sup> Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules for International Carriage by Air, May 28, 1999, T.I.A.S. 13038, 2242 U.N.T.S. 309 [hereinafter MC99].

<sup>3.</sup> As recognized by the U.S. courts. *See* Schopenhauer v. Compagnie Nationale Air Fr., 255 F. Supp. 2d 81, 87 (E.D.N.Y. 2003).

carriage by air industry.<sup>4</sup> Thus, it is fair to say that MC99 currently governs most international carriage by air, but it must be remembered that WCS continues to apply in an ever-decreasing number of cases.<sup>5</sup>

Where applicable, WCS and MC99 lay down the conditions upon which the carrier is liable for damages arising from certain events during international carriage by air. These "conditions" cover matters such as monetary limitations of liability, available defenses, limitation periods for bringing a claim, and so on. Both WCS and MC99 also have jurisdictional regimes that specify the places to whose courts a claim for damages can be brought. Under WCS, there are four specified jurisdictions; MC99 added a fifth. Although it is possible that a plaintiff may have a choice of four or five forums, in most cases there are overlaps that will mean a plaintiff will only have a choice between two or three forums, and sometimes only one. In addition, under both jurisdictional

<sup>4.</sup> Having entered into force on November 4, 2003, MC99 currently has 137 Contracting Parties. List of Parties, INT'L CIV. AVIATION ORG. (n.d.), available at https://www.icao.int/secretariat/legal/List%20of%20Parties/Mtl99\_EN.pdf\_(last visited Sept. 15, 2021).

<sup>5.</sup> See, e.g., Cour de cassation [Cass.] [Supreme Court for Judicial Matters] le civ., Mar. 4, 2015, Bull. Civ. I, No. 48 (Fr.) (also published as Cass Civ (lère) Arrêt n 327 du 4 mars 2015, Airbus c. Armavia, n. 13-17392, [2015] R.F.D.A.S. 92) (Fr.). This case involved the crash of an aircraft on a flight from Yerevan, Armenia, to Sochi, Russia. Although the crash occurred in 2006, the resulting litigation was not governed by MC99. This was because Armenia was not then party to MC99, but it was to the Warsaw Convention, so it was the latter that governed. Armenia has since ratified MC99, it came into effect for Armenia on June 15, 2010.

<sup>6.</sup> Warsaw Convention, *supra* note 1, at art. 28(1) ("An action for damages must be brought, at the option of the plaintiff, in the territory of one of the High Contracting Parties, either before the Court having jurisdiction where the carrier is ordinarily resident, or has his principal place of business, or has an establishment by which the contract has been made or before the Court having jurisdiction at the place of destination."). These four jurisdictions are repeated in MC99. *See* MC99, *supra* note 2, at art. 33(1) ("An action for damages must be brought, at the option of the plaintiff, in the territory of one of the States Parties, either before the court of the domicile of the carrier or of its principal place of business, or where it has a place of business through which the contract has been made or before the court at the place of destination.").

<sup>7.</sup> MC99, supra note 2, at art. 33(2) ("In respect of damage resulting from the death or injury of a passenger, an action may be brought before one of the courts mentioned in paragraph 1 of this Article, or in the territory of a State Party in which at the time of the accident the passenger has his or her principal and permanent residence and to or from which the carrier operates services for the carriage of passengers by air, either on its own aircraft or on another carrier's aircraft pursuant to a commercial agreement and in which that carrier conducts its business of carriage of passengers by air from premises leased or owned by the carrier itself or by another carrier with which it has a commercial agreement.").

<sup>8.</sup> See, e.g., Roberts v. Guyana Airways Corp., [1998] 77 O.T.C. 266 (Can. Ont. S.C.) (Guyana was the jurisdiction under all four bases).

regimes, there is a provision to the effect that the rules of procedure shall be governed by the law of the court seized on the case.<sup>9</sup>

Although this Article identifies the need to reform MC99's jurisdictional regime, the need identified is actually quite precise and limited. For the most part, the jurisdictional regime of MC99 functions extremely well. Certainly, some minor alterations might be made to bring greater clarity and certainty to the requirements necessary to invoke the third jurisdiction (i.e., jurisdiction at the place where the carrier has a place of business through which the contract has been made), specifically clarity as to what does and does not constitute a place of business. Likewise, the rather convoluted definition of the fifth jurisdiction is a target of complaint by some lawyers who regard it as inviting unnecessary litigation. Some might argue there is a question of whether the identification of a particular venue within a Contracting State under MC99's jurisdiction is affected by the Convention. These are, in my mind, minor issues (or, in some cases, non-issues). It is important to state that this Article is generally very supportive of MC99's jurisdictional However, this Article believes a major issue with the jurisdictional regime of MC99 is the availability of FNC within that regime and what that means for choice of forum.

It is fair to say that there have been two major controversies regarding the jurisdictional regime of WCS and MC99. First was the criticism leveled at WCS—predominantly by the United States—that it did not guarantee the plaintiff a forum in their home state; the United States had fought for the inclusion of such a jurisdiction since at least 1970. Eventually, with MC99, the so-called fifth jurisdiction found its place within the regime, putting that controversy to bed.

The other major controversy arose with respect to FNC. The question was whether FNC was applicable in WCS or MC99 cases. Could the plaintiff's choice of forum, from those available under the relevant instrument, be upset by a procedural rule, such as FNC, or was the plaintiff's choice to be regarded as inviolable? To put it another way, was the application of FNC consistent with the plaintiff's right—as granted under the Convention—to choose their forum?

<sup>9.</sup> See Warsaw Convention, supra note 1, at art. 28(2); MC99, supra note 2, at art. 33(4). Article 28(2) provides (as does Article 33(4) of MC99), that: "Questions of procedure shall be governed by the law of the Court seized of the case."

<sup>10.</sup> See Gerald F. Fitzgerald, The Revision of the Warsaw Convention (1970), 27 CAN. Y.B. INT'L L. 284, 302 (2016). The possible amendment of the Warsaw Convention to make provision—in response to U.S. insistence—for a fifth jurisdiction was raised at the 17th Session of the ICAO Legal Committee in 1970, and a draft proposal agreed which was considered at the Diplomatic Conference held in Guatemala City in 1971.

Resolving the conundrum regarding the place of FNC within WCS and MC99 was the catalyst for my initial research into choice of forum. After all, FNC is ultimately a procedural device for resolving a conflict between the parties over the chosen forum where concurrent jurisdiction exists. In a previous article, 11 I presented the findings from my research, concluding that whilst FNC is not available under WCS, it is available under MC99. However, what had become clear early on was that the conundrum surrounding FNC was only a symptom of a larger problem centered around choice of forum. Taking FNC as a prism through which to examine choice of forum granted insight into the interests driving the plaintiff's initial choice, as well as those manifested in the defendant's opposition thereto. It was at the level of these interests' analysis that a bigger picture was revealed, one that takes us beyond WCS and MC99; finding an answer to the question of the availability of FNC did not solve the bigger problem. In a narrow sense, even though FNC is available, we were still left asking whether it should be. In a broader sense, once we perceive the bigger picture, we realize that any solution focused on MC99 is doomed to fail because, when it comes to choice of forum, MC99 is not a hermetically sealed system insulated and protected from outside influence—it is just one part of a larger aviation accident passenger compensation system. The discontent felt with respect to choice of the forum requires engaging with the bigger picture to find a solution.

This bigger picture consists of two interrelated aspects. The first concerns the availability of alternative remedies for passenger claims; that is, alternatives to a claim against the carrier. The second considers the influence of other stakeholders, specifically third parties to the passenger-carrier relationship. Let us examine each aspect a little more closely.

The typical plaintiff in an aviation accident is not limited to solely pursuing the carrier through MC99 or WCS; this is, in fact, just one option amongst many. Due to the nature of aviation accidents—which typically involve a multitude of contributing factors—the aviation plaintiff usually has several options from which to choose. Often there is a possibility of bringing a claim against several alternative defendants, typically aircraft or component manufacturers, or—as has become fashionable of late—an aircraft lessor. These actions are not based on a cause of action governed by MC99/WCS; they arise independently,

<sup>11.</sup> David Cluxton, The West Caribbean Conundrum: The USA Versus France on the Availability of FNC Under MC99, 85 J. AIR L. & COM. 3 (2020). In many respects, this present article is a continuation of my earlier article, so readers are encouraged to read this earlier article first.

usually under national tort law.<sup>12</sup> Whilst an MC99 action is a highly attractive option to a plaintiff (something American lawyers colloquially refer to as a "slam-dunk"), the reality is that there has been a proliferation in aviation litigation outside MC99. Why? The answer comes down to choice of forum.

The plaintiff's choice of the defendant is frequently driven by their choice of forum in which to litigate. This is because the forums available to a plaintiff depend on, and often differ between, each of the various potential defendants. For example, the plaintiff might only have the option of suing the carrier under MC99 in either Cyprus or Greece, whereas if the plaintiff decides to sue the manufacturer, the action could be taken to the United States.<sup>13</sup> Interests of forum selection often drive the decision of which defendant to sue. In simple terms, an action against the carrier under MC99 may not provide as advantageous a forum for the plaintiff as an action against the manufacturer or some other defendant.

It almost goes without saying that the United States is the forum of choice for litigating passenger claims. Many factors make trials in the United States desirable. The availability of contingency fees is a major advantage, without which the possibility of suing a rich corporate defendant would be beyond the means of many plaintiffs. Likewise, the absence of the loser pays principle, when it comes to legal costs, makes litigation in the United States less risky for the plaintiff. The broad

<sup>12.</sup> In the United States, it is common in aviation litigation to find claims brought against several defendants under a variety of theories of liability. Most commonly, liability is based on some theory of negligence, strict products liability, and/or negligent entrustment. See In re Air Crash Disaster over Makassar Strait, Sulawesi, No. 09-CV-3805, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2647 (N.D. Ill. Jan. 11, 2011). Plaintiffs brought their actions in the United States on these three theories against the manufacturer of the aircraft (Boeing), the aircraft maintenance provider (World Star Aviation), the alleged lessors (Triton Aviation and Wells Fargo Bank) as well as the manufacturer of an avionics system (Honeywell International). The case was dismissed on the grounds of FNC in favor of the courts of Indonesia where the accident occurred. See also Fatkhiboyanovich v. Honeywell Int'l, Inc., No. 04-CV-4333, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23414 (D.N.J. Oct. 5, 2005). There, the litigation arose from the mid-air collision of the aircraft of Bashkirian Airlines and DHL over Überlingen, Germany. Claims were brought in negligence and strict products liability against several defendants, including the manufacturers of the Traffic Collision Avoidance System (TCAS), Honeywell International, Thales Avionics, and L-3 Communications. Again, the complaint was dismissed on the grounds of FNC.

<sup>13.</sup> See Clerides v. Boeing Co., 534 F.3d 623 (7th Cir. 2008). The plaintiff sued the U.S. manufacturer of the aircraft in Illinois in relation to the death of a passenger in an air crash. The flight in question was operated by the Cypriot airline Helios Airways between Larnaca, Cyprus and Athens, Greece. As such, the likely forums available under MC99 against the carrier were either Cyprus or Greece, but not the United States. However, the manufacturer could be sued in the United States. A similar scenario would likely have been at issue under WCS in Ahmed v. Boeing Co., 720 F.2d 224 (1st Cir. 1983).

general jurisdiction of U.S. courts is also attractive to plaintiffs' lawyers because it permits unified litigation against multiple defendants in a single forum. The robustness of the U.S. judicial process, with its liberal and far-reaching pre-trial discovery rules, is the envy of many foreign litigators and augments the United States' appeal as a forum. Additionally, a potential plaintiff can rely on the existence of (and competition between) highly qualified law firms with a wealth of experience in aviation litigation. These are among the most compelling factors that make passenger aviation accident litigation trials in the United States desirable, but at the crux of the matter, the decisive factor behind the choice of a U.S. forum is the quantum of damages.

The potential recovery in a U.S. forum is likely to be far greater than in the plaintiff's home forum because of the right to trial by jury and the broad heads of damages available. Even when courts are likely to engage with choice of law rules that will lead to applying foreign law to determine damages, a jury award in the United States will nearly always be higher than if the foreign court were to make the determination. Provided a jury determines damages of a general nature, then there is a good likelihood that a jury will award an amount far in excess of the sum that a judge would have granted in the plaintiff's home forum. For these reasons, the United States is spoken of as the El Dorado for injured plaintiffs, that "promised land" where they can expect an award akin in value to winning their national lottery.

The fact that a plaintiff will elect to forego a tailor-made remedy against a carrier under MC99 in favor of an alternative general remedy provokes searching questions about the efficacy of MC99 as a system for

<sup>14.</sup> See WARREN FREEDMAN, PRODUCT LIABILITY ACTIONS BY FOREIGN PLAINTIFFS IN THE UNITED STATES 13 (1988) ("The amount of potential recovery in a US court is a special factor favoring the choice of US forums; the jury system and the recognition of numerous elements of damages produce awards for personal injury or death which are much higher than in any other national jurisdiction.").

<sup>15.</sup> Id. at 13 (Freedman noting, "[s]urvival and wrongful death statutes in virtually all [s]tates recognize elements of damages far beyond those recognized in many foreign jurisdictions; these elements include loss of future earnings, loss of society, loss of parental guidance, pain and suffering, and ever fear of impending death"). Some of these elements of damages are particularly prone to large awards by juries precisely because they are not readily quantifiable in objective terms.

<sup>16.</sup> Id. at 1 ("[t]he United States is indeed the mecca or El Dorado for injured plaintiffs because the American tort system is geared to full recognition of the rights of consumers.").

<sup>17.</sup> Michael W. Gordon, Forum Non Conveniens Misconstrued: A Response to Henry Saint Dahl, 38 U. MIAMI INTER-AM. L. REV. 141, 145 (2006) ("[I]t shouldn't be a mystery why foreign plaintiffs choose the United States as a forum; it is a combination of court systems in which their own nationals have reason not to have confidence combined with the perceived riches of a U.S. judgment akin in magnitude to their own national lotteries.").

compensating passengers. As will be shown, this reflects the very different legal landscape MC99 exists within, compared to what existed at the time of the Warsaw Convention's drafting. One has to ask if MC99, as successor to WCS, has failed to appreciate its place in the bigger picture of modern international aviation litigation. It is worth repeating that plaintiffs are opting for alternative remedies rather than pursuing the bespoke "slam-dunk" regime provided under MC99, and we should also remember that the reason they do so is choice of forum.

The existence of alternative remedies has also played a part in the emergence of the second aspect of the bigger picture: the involvement of third parties. The natural tendency is to look upon MC99 litigation as being only two-party in form, i.e., as plaintiff passenger versus defendant carrier. However, an analysis of the interests actually involved brings to light a complex web of devices by which third parties can affect the litigation. The truth is that disputes between the nominal parties to MC99 litigation are only the tip of the iceberg. Beneath the surface is the behemoth of third-party influence, linked to the carrier (qua nominal defendant) by numerous devices for risk allocation and loss spreading.

These devices for risk allocation take many forms, either arising by force of law or by contractual agreement. Whatever the source, through these devices third parties gain considerable interest in and over the litigation. The most direct manifestation of this is something so patently obvious that it is staggering that it is so infrequently commented upon: that is, the fact that in the majority of cases, the substantive and operative interests are those of the carrier's insurer. The truth is that it is not the defendant carrier who calls the shots, but its insurer. Through subrogation or contractual assignment, the insurer holds claims control in the vast majority of cases wherein carriers are being sued for passenger liability.

Furthermore, linked to the defendant carrier are various third-party defendants with whom the carrier may bear concurrent liability, and against whom the carrier's insurer has a subrogated claim to contribution or indemnity. The true picture is that the plaintiff is not simply faced with litigating against the carrier—a formidable foe in its own right—but they must also contend with other parties often possessing extraordinary resources and influence. The ugly truth is that the insurer, acting in the carrier's name, often cooperates with potential third-party defendants and/or their insurers (not infrequently the same insurer as the carrier) to secure a jurisdictional advantage that will translate to lesser net liability. The cheaper the award against the carrier, the cheaper the third-party's contribution or indemnity payment. In many cases, and well in advance of any litigation, the potential defendants will have already reached a

sharing agreement with respect to liability for a given accident, and will coordinate their efforts to secure the outcome that best serves their common interest.

This bigger picture reveals the fallacy of the two-party paradigm upon which MC99 (as successor to WCS) is established. Although the court docket presents a simple picture, the reality is that on account of these risk allocation and loss spreading devices the true litigation relationship does not conform to this two-party paradigm. While the courts are constrained to dealing with the parties appearing before them, the same constraint does not limit policymakers; and yet, these third-party interests have not been given the consideration they demand in the context of MC99. The result has been the myopic exclusion of vital factors that contribute to making up the bigger picture, of which MC99 comprises only one part. Consequently, MC99 is premised on a skewed appreciation of the interests actually involved, and has not kept pace with developments in aviation litigation.

This Article argues that MC99, as the successor to WCS, is predicated on an anachronistic understanding of itself as a discrete system grounded on the two-party paradigm of plaintiff passenger versus defendant carrier. It also argues that this does not correspond to the reality in which MC99 is merely a component of a bigger, interdependent aviation accident passenger compensation system. The interdependency between MC99 and this bigger system means that evaluating the fairness and efficacy of choice of forum under MC99 requires us to understand how this system is organized and how it operates. This evaluation is achieved by identifying the third-party stakeholders and by elucidating the nature of their relationships and interests. In so doing, a fuller appreciation of the wider issues can be achieved.

To outline this Article, Part II fundamentally provides background and context. However, it also seeks to establish a fundamental thesis, i.e., that the Warsaw Convention System is built upon the foundation of a two-party understanding of the legal relations it sought to regulate. It begins by looking at Europe's legal landscape in the 1920s and accounts for why this gave rise to the need for an international treaty to regulate the liability of the carrier for international carriage by air. It will identify the mischief that the Warsaw Convention sought to address and in so doing describe the basic features and define the purpose of the liability regime. The focus will then shift to demonstrating that the drafters of the Warsaw Convention were, at least in 1929, justified in adhering to a two-party paradigm as the basis for their regime. We will then jump forward ninety years and consider the Montreal Convention 1999, demonstrating how, as the successor to WCS, it remains tethered to the two-party paradigm;

at the same time, the key changes to the liability regime and their general purpose are noted.

Part III will reveal the bigger picture of international aviation litigation by illuminating the complex interplay of liability relations between plaintiff passengers, defendant carriers, and third parties. After providing some background and illustration, this section will describe the emergence of alternative litigation options for plaintiffs seeking compensation for passenger death or injury. It will then build upon this analysis by looking at the multi-party nature of aviation litigation and the impact of third-party (non-contractual) actions for contribution or indemnification. Finally, attention will shift to risk management devices and how they provide another avenue for third-party influence. analysis will be done by first examining the contractual indemnities agreed between commercial stakeholders to international air transport, whereby they allocate risk amongst themselves; and second, by revealing the reality of aviation insurance, that allows for the spreading of risk, and on account of which the insurer assumes the controlling interest in aviation litigation on the defense side.

The fourth and final section of this Article applies the lessons learned, and conclusions reached, in the preceding parts. It will conclude that the regulation of choice of forum under MC99 is fundamentally unfair to the plaintiff passenger and that it frustrates the policy objectives of MC99. A reform proposal shall be put forward that will: (1) take account of the existence of alternative remedies and the influence of third parties; (2) change how choice of forum operates so that it is fair to all parties; and (3) promote the policy objectives of MC99 and the industry generally.

A quick note about scope is necessary. This Article concentrates on choice of forum within litigation about passenger liability. It is concerned only with the liability for damage arising from passenger death or injury; liability for damage concerning passenger baggage and delay is not herein considered, neither is liability for cargo. Furthermore, on a point of terminology, reference to the two-party paradigm of plaintiff passenger versus defendant carrier is a term of convenience. It simplifies what is in reality a more complex issue. The quintessential passenger aviation litigation action is not taken by a passenger at all, but by a relative of theirs, e.g., a spouse. In other words, the passenger death case is the archetypal case. Strictly speaking, these plaintiffs are third parties to the contract of carriage. Furthermore, in some death cases, e.g., wrongful death, the plaintiff is exercising a cause of action distinct from that of decedent passenger's contractual cause of action. Yet, this does not alter the fact that the litigation in question is essentially two-party in nature,

insofar as liability is premised on a single core legal relationship between the carrier and passenger. This Article is interested in revealing the consequences of third parties entering on the defense side into the core legal relationship upon which the principal litigation is grounded.

## II. WCS, MC99, AND THE TWO-PARTY PARADIGM

It is axiomatic that international air transport, by its nature, exposes carriers and their customers (be they passengers or shippers) to the diversity of laws across multiple jurisdictions. Within each jurisdiction the law may differ, to a greater or lesser extent, not only from the national law of the passenger, shipper, or carrier, but from each of the individual States otherwise connected to the flight in question. As an international industry, commercial air transport is thus in a position to be hindered by potential exposure to a multitude of divergent legal regimes. Indeed, the fundamental question of the existence of an enforceable contract of carriage might be resolved very differently in the forum State than the State of the carrier or passenger. Likewise, the enforceability of contractual clauses exempting or limiting the carrier's liability might be tolerated in the carrier's State, but fall afoul of public policy considerations in the forum where the case is heard. Some systems may perceive the passenger's claim as delictual rather than contractual, bringing with it a whole host of new problems and considerations that the parties most likely would not have countenanced when forming the contract of carriage. Add to the mix issues of jurisdiction, choice of law, statutes of limitation, and so on, and one can see the potential for the conflict and confusion of laws.

From early on, aviation was awake to the issues of non-uniformity in regulation. In 1910<sup>18</sup> and again in 1919,<sup>19</sup> the international community convened in Paris to agree to uniform principles and rules for the regulation of international civil aviation. However, these initiatives only sought to address issues of public air law. Between 1922 and 1924, at least three international organizations passed resolutions calling for the

<sup>18.</sup> The 1910 International Conference on Aerial Navigation did not result in a signed treaty, but the draft produced was instrumental in the 1919 Conference. For a record of the Conference, see Conférence Internationale de Navigation Aérienne; Paris (18 Mai - 29 Juin, 1910): Procès-Verbaux des Séances et Annexes [International Conference on Aerial Navigation; Paris (May 19 - June 29, 1910): Minutes of Meetings & Annexes] (1910).

<sup>19.</sup> Convention relating to the Regulation of Aerial Navigation, Oct. 13, 1919, 11 L.N.T.S. 173.

formulation of a uniform code for regulating private air law.<sup>20</sup> The consensus was clear: uniformity of certain rules relating to international carriage by air, specifically those governing the legal relationship between carrier and shipper/passenger, were a necessity. The Warsaw Convention of 1929 was the solution adopted by the international community.<sup>21</sup>

# A. Background

The Warsaw Convention emerged from a background consisting of national law efforts to regulate the liability of the air carrier. As a new form of carriage, there were considerable doubts in many jurisdictions about how, or even if, carriage by air fit into the existing codes or legal regimes governing carriage under le droit commun. Critically, the extent to which national regimes could restrict air carriers employing exemption clauses was particularly troublesome. For example, French civil law generally permitted exemption clauses in contractual liability, but not to the extent of exempting dol or faute lourde (i.e., willful misconduct or gross negligence).<sup>22</sup> Article 103 (now Article L 133-1) of the French Commercial Code (as amended by the so-called Loi Rabier of 1905) prohibited a carrier from excluding itself entirely from liability, but allowed reasonable limitation of liability.<sup>23</sup> However, the *Loi Rabier* only applied to goods; thus, nothing prevented the carrier from using exemption clauses to evade any liability short of dol or faute lourde in the carriage of passengers. Indeed, prior to the Warsaw Convention coming into force, the standard conditions of carriage used by the

<sup>20.</sup> Stephen Latchford, The Growth of Private International Air Law, 13 GEO. WASH. L. REV. 276, 276 (1944). See also John J. Ide, The History and Accomplishments of the International Technical Committee of Aerial Legal Experts (C.I.T.E.J.A.), 3 J. AIR L. 27, 27 (1932); Alexander N. Sack, Unification of Private Law Rules on Air Transportation and the Warsaw Convention, 4 AIR L. REV. 345, 346 (1933).

<sup>21.</sup> See Robert P. Boyle, The Warsaw Convention—Past, Present, and Future, in ESSAYS IN AIR LAW 1, 2 (Arnold Kean ed., 1982) (("The answer provided by Warsaw was to establish an integrated system of international air law to assure that the same law would be applied no matter where the liability arose, and no matter where action to assert a claim might be brought (always assuming, of course, that by its terms the Warsaw Convention applied to the transportation.")).

<sup>22.</sup> French courts are hostile to enforcing exemption clauses, especially where they attempt to exempt the party from delictual liability based on fault and will almost certainly not enforce exemptions for *dol* or *faute lourde*. See Simon Whittaker, The Law of Obligations, in PRINCIPLES OF FRENCH LAW 333, 356 (John Bell et al. eds., 2008).

<sup>23.</sup> Daniel Goedhuis, National Air Legislations and the Warsaw Convention 53 (1937).

International Air Traffic Association<sup>24</sup> sought to exclude the carrier from all liability in the carriage of goods and passengers.<sup>25</sup>

Against this backdrop of uncertainty, the French legislature introduced the Air Navigation Law of 1924.<sup>26</sup> The Act confirmed the contractual basis for air carrier's liability and recognized, while at the same time limiting, the use of exemption clauses.<sup>27</sup> A limitation of liability was imposed on goods, but liability for passenger death or injury was unlimited.

The French Air Navigation Law of 1924 is of great relevance given the temporal coincidence with the initiation by the French government of the process that would ultimately lead to the conclusion of the Warsaw Convention in 1929. Although fundamentally based on a regime of strict liability, by authorizing the use of exemption clauses and only limiting their use to cases of the personal fault of the carrier, the French national regime was in effect more closely aligned to a fault-based model of liability. According to contemporary commentators, similar laws to the French Act were introduced in Chile (1925), and Yugoslavia (1928),<sup>28</sup> while the regime in Italy (1923) was described by one commentator as being practically the same.<sup>29</sup> Other civilian legal systems did not follow

<sup>24.</sup> To be distinguished from the post-World War II I.A.T.A., i.e., the International Air *Transport* Association. INT'L AIR TRANSPORT ASS'N (n.d.), *available at* http://www.iata.org (last visited Apr. 5, 2021).

<sup>25.</sup> See GOEDHUIS, supra note 23, at 85.

<sup>26.</sup> Loi du 31 Mai 1924 Relative à la Navigation Aérienne [Law of May 31, 1924, Relating to Aerial Navigation], J. Officiel de la République Française [J.O.] [Official Gazette of France], June 2, 1923, p. 1 (Fr.). An English translation of the relevant articles (i.e., arts. 41, 42, 43, and 48) can be found in Goedhuis, supra note 23, at 52. For some background to the Act, see Georges Ripert, Responsabilité du Transporteur Aérien, 7 Revue Juridique Internationale de la Locomotion Aérienne [R.J.I.L.A.] 353 (1923); Louis Josserand, La Loi du 31 Mai 1924 Relative a la Navigation Aérienne et le Droit Commun de la Responsabilité, 10 Revue Juridique Internationale de la Locomotion Aérienne [R.J.I.L.A.] 137 (1926). See also Lincoln H. Cha, The Air Carrier's Liability to Passengers in International Law, 7 Air L. Rev. 25, 201-06 (1936).

<sup>27.</sup> For goods, Article 41 of the Act affirmed the applicability of the *Loi Rabier* defense of inherent vice and provided a limitation of liability in the absence of a declaration of value. Under Article 42 (for goods) and Article 48 (for passengers), exemption clauses were explicitly permitted against risks of the air or for piloting errors, both of which applied on the conditional basis that the aircraft was airworthy and the crew licensed on departure. Article 43 provided that exemption clauses were prohibited in two cases. First, any clause by which the carrier sought to exempt itself from liability for its own act or that of its employees in the commercial handling of goods. Second, any clause that sought to exempt the carrier from liability for its own personal faults.

<sup>28.</sup> Sack, supra note 20, at 360 n.65.

<sup>29.</sup> GOEDHUIS, supra note 23, at 78.

the fault-based model but adhered to a risk-based model, e.g., Germany (1922)<sup>30</sup> and Switzerland (1920).<sup>31</sup>

On the international plane, there were only a small number of international legal regimes governing carriage, e.g., the Hague Rules 1924 governing carriage of goods by sea,<sup>32</sup> and the CIM 1924 and the CIV 1924 for the carriage of goods and passengers by rail,<sup>33</sup> but these clearly did not include carriage by air.

- 30. The text of the German law of 1922 is reproduced (in French) in *Loi Réglant la Navigation Aérienne*, 7 REVUE JURIDIQUE INTERNATIONALE DE LA LOCOMOTION AÉRIENNE [R.J.I.L.A.] 59 (1923) (Fr.). The only defense expressly provided in the Act was for the fault of the victim (art. 20). Article 23 of the German law provided monetary limitations on liability for individual death or personal injury (1 million marks or an annual annuity of 50,000 marks) for multiple death or injury in the same accident (2.5 million marks or an annual annuity of 250,000 marks) and for loss or damage to goods (250,000 marks). The use of exemption clauses was not prohibited by the Act and remained governed by general principles of German law that permits such clauses provided they are not *contra bonos mores* or seek to exempt liability for willful misconduct. For greater detail on the German law, *see id.* at 65-73.
- 31. Arrêté du Conseil Fédéral Concernant la Réglementation de la Circulation Aérienne en Suisse du 27 Janvier 1920, 6 REVUE JURIDIQUE INTERNATIONALE DE LA LOCOMOTION AÉRIENNE [R.J.I.L.A.] 141 (1922) (Fr.). The Swiss law of 1920 provided for strict liability with the only possible exoneration provided by the fault of the victim. No monetary limitation of liability was provided under the law. No express prohibition was imposed on exemption clauses; thus, general principles of Swiss law presumably applied. Goedhuis opined that exemption clauses were probably not valid in Switzerland at the time. GOEDHUIS, *supra* note 23, at 95-96.
- 32. International Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules Relating to Bills of Lading, Aug. 25, 1924, 120 L.N.T.S. 155 [hereinafter Hague Rules 1924]. The Hague Rules 1924 had arisen from the excessive use of exemption clauses by the ship-owning sector of the maritime industry to exclude or limit itself from liability, even in cases of negligence. Various States had attempted to unilaterally address this abuse by ship-owners of their dominant position in the industry through specific statutes, perhaps most famously the Harter Act of 1893 in the United States. The resulting patchwork of statutes produced an intolerable degree of uncertainty for the industry. See A.N. Yiannopolous, Unification of Private Maritime Law by International Conventions, 30 L. & CONTEMP. PROBS. 370, 386 (1965). For a history of the Hague Rules, see generally H.M. Cleminson, International Unification of Maritime Law, 23 J. COMP. LEGIS. & INT'L L. 163 (1941); Jose Angelo Estrella Faria, Uniform Law for International Transport at UNCITRAL: New Times, New Players, and New Rules, 44 TEX. INT'L L.J. 277 (2009). The liability regime established by the Hague Rules is based on fault liability with the burden of proof resting on the carrier to demonstrate the absence of fault (art. IV(1)) and with a limitation of liability of a maximum of £100 per package or unit unless a special declaration as to value has been agreed (art. IV(5)). The carrier was prohibited from employing exemption clauses inconsistent with its obligations under the Hague Rules; such clauses would be null and void (art. III(8)). For commentary, see Francesco Berlingieri, 1 INTERNATIONAL MARITIME CONVENTIONS ch. 4.4 (2014).
- 33. As early as 1874, international conferences were convened by the Swiss government in an attempt to unify the law with respect to the commercial transport of goods by rail in Europe. See A.C. Schröder, The Berne Railway Transport Convention 1890, 22 INT'L L. ASS'N REP. CONF. 220, 220 (1905). These efforts ultimately resulted in the Berne Convention

This background to the Warsaw Convention tells us that there was substantial uncertainty about the place of carriage by air within the existing legal orders governing carriage. At the same time, the industry demonstrated its intention to employ exemption clauses to the fullest extent possible while States were eager to avoid the kinds of abuses that had emerged in the cases of maritime and railway carriage. However, individual State action of introducing specific national statutory regimes fostered non-uniformity that fell heavily on the international air carrier industry at a time when it was seeking to establish itself.

The purpose of the Warsaw Convention was to establish a uniform legal regime consisting of certain rules relating to travel documentation and the liability of the air carrier sufficiently certain and predictable to both assure passengers/consignors of their rights, and to empower the carrier to protect itself through the foreknowledge of the extent of its liability.<sup>34</sup> The regime ultimately established sought to achieve this principle objective whilst pursuing a complementary goal of promoting public interest in the development of international air transport while striking an equitable balance between various interests. The purpose of the Warsaw Convention was twofold, consisting of a cardinal purpose and a supplementary purpose:

Avoidance of conflict of laws through unification of certain rules relating to carriage documentation and air carrier liability.

of 1890, i.e., Convention Internationale Concernant le Transport des Marchandises par Chemins de Fer, [International Convention concerning the carriage of goods by railway] Oct. 14, 1890 [hereinafter Berne Convention 1890]. The Berne Convention 1890 was subject to a number of revisions, the first substantial revision being made in 1924, i.e., Convention Concernant le Transport des Marchandises par Chemins de fer [Convention Concerning the Carriage of Goods by Rail], Oct. 12, 1924, 77 L.N.T.S. 367 [hereinafter CIM 1924]. The general principle was that the railway was presumptively liable for loss or damage to goods arising during international carriage by rail unless it could exonerate itself under one of the defenses provided. It was thus a regime of strict liability with limited exceptions (arts. 27-28). A limitation of liability applied under the CIM 1924, the railway's liability for loss or damage to goods was to be limited to a maximum of fifty francs per kilogram of gross weight (art. 29). The carrier was prohibited from exempting itself from liability arising from its willful misconduct or recklessness (art. 36). However, it was possible for a railway to offer to the public a special tariff whereby an alternative limitation of liability could be offered in exchange for a lower price for carriage (art. 34). Whilst the CIV 1924, i.e., Convention Concernant le Transport des Voyageurs et des Bagages par Chemins de fer [Convention Concerning the Carriage of Passengers and Baggage by Raill, Oct. 23, 1924, 78 L.N.T.S. 17 [hereinafter CIV 1924], sought to extend the CIM 1924 regime to the carriage of passengers and baggage by rail, it left the determination of liability for passenger death or injury to le droit commun, providing only a choice of law rule. See id. at art. 28(1).

<sup>34.</sup> For a fuller account of the purpose of the Warsaw Convention, see Cluxton, supra note 11, at Part II.A.

Furtherance of the public interest in the development of air transport whilst striking an equitable balance of interests between carriers, users, and plaintiffs.

# B. The Warsaw Regime

Although it concluded in 1929, the history of the Warsaw Convention began in 1923 when France issued a diplomatic letter expressing its wish to convene an international conference on the liability of the air carrier. Toriginally intended to take place in 1923, it was not until October of 1925 that the first International Conference on Private Aeronautical Law actually took place. At this conference, a French draft (Avant Projet) was considered; this draft was largely based on France's Air Law Navigation Law of 1924. The conference produced a revised draft, and it would be the job of the newly established Comité International Technique d'Experts Juridiques Aériens (C.I.T.E.J.A) to study the draft and the general question of the liability of the carrier. This was the task of the Second Commission of C.I.T.E.J.A.

The Second Commission was composed of delegates from several States, nearly all hailing from civil law systems, but one member of the Commission was from the United Kingdom, i.e., a with a common law system.<sup>36</sup> Over the following years, it conducted its work and submitted a revised draft (C.I.T.E.J.A. Final Draft) to the Second International Conference on Private Aeronautical Law, held in Warsaw in 1929, from which the Warsaw Convention resulted. As shall prove significant later in this Article, it must now be noted that the United States was not a member of C.I.T.E.J.A. until 1932,<sup>37</sup> and it did not officially participate in the First or Second Conference on Private Aeronautical Law; it only sent observers.<sup>38</sup>

<sup>35.</sup> See GOEDHUIS, supra note 23, at 4; see also Ide, supra note 20, at 27-28.

<sup>36.</sup> Cha, *supra* note 26, at 32. Cha lists the membership of the Second Commission as follows: Richter (Germany); de Vos (Belg.); Sir Alfred Dennis (U.K.); Morales (Dom. Rep.); de las Penas (Spain); Ripert (Fr.); Figeroa (Guat.); Cogliolo (It.); Gorski (Pol.); Ibarra (Uru.); Akamine (Japan, although Cha lists his position as "reserved").

<sup>37.</sup> It would not be until 1932 that the United States would become a member of C.I.T.E.J.A. Even then, the participation of its nominated experts was limited to written correspondence due to the absence of adequate funding. It was only in 1935 that the funding was finally in place to permit active participation by U.S. experts in the work of C.I.T.E.J.A. A history of the United States' involvement in C.I.T.E.J.A. may be found in Ide, *supra* note 20, at 40-44.

<sup>38.</sup> Stephen Latchford, *The Warsaw Convention and the CITEJA*, 6 J. AIR L. 79, 87 (1935). Latchford argued that the decision of the United States not to actively participate was because there was not yet any federal legislation in the field of regulation of air navigation

Our concern is not with the substantive provisions of the Warsaw Convention, as accounts of those can be found elsewhere.<sup>39</sup> Nevertheless, a short summary of the Warsaw Convention's liability regime may prove useful and is provided below. Our concern is with the more general issue of how choice of forum operates in the litigation of international aviation passenger claims. However, it is critical to say a word about the general scope of the Convention because it is the first evidence that the drafters of the Warsaw Convention adopted a two-party conception for their regime, and it provides some explanation as to why this was the case.

Article 1(1) lays down the general scope of the Warsaw Convention, which remains fundamentally the same for MC99. It provides that the application of the Convention is conditional upon the carriage in question being an international carriage of persons, baggage, or goods, and it must be performed by aircraft for hire (or gratuitously by an air transport undertaking). Article 1(2) provides a definition of *international carriage* that makes the contract of carriage its cornerstone. Even the most superficial reading of the Warsaw Convention will impress upon the reader the centrality of the contract of carriage. The text and drafting

and that no executive body had been given authority to deal with the area. It seemed, therefore, that the United States did not think it worthwhile because it could not contribute much in the way of experience. See Latchford, supra note 20, at 282.

- 39. For a relatively recent study of the Warsaw Convention, *see* Lawrence B. Goldhirsch, The Warsaw Convention Annotated A Legal Handbook (2d ed. 2000). For some older studies, *see* Georgette Miller, Liability in International Air Transport (1st ed. 1977); René H. Mankiewicz, The Liability Regime of the International Air Carrier (1st ed. 1981).
- 40. Warsaw Convention, *supra* note 1, at art. 1(1) ("This Convention applies to all international carriage of persons, luggage or goods performed by aircraft for reward. It applies equally to gratuitous carriage by aircraft performed by an air transport undertaking.").
- 41. *Id.* at art. 1(2) ("For the purposes of this Convention, the expression 'international carriage' means any carriage in which, according to the contract made by the parties, the place of departure and the place of destination, whether or not there be a break in the carriage or a transhipment, are situated either within the territories of two High Contracting Parties, or within the territory of a single High Contracting Party, if there is an agreed stopping place within a territory subject to the sovereignty, suzerainty, mandate or authority of another Power, even though that Power is not a party to this Convention. A carriage without such an agreed stopping place between territories subject to the sovereignty, suzerainty, mandate or authority of the same High Contracting Party is not deemed to be international for the purposes of this Convention.").
- 42. It is explicitly mentioned on multiple occasions and plays a critical function in various provisions. The contract of carriage is referred to in Articles 1(2), 1(1), 3(2), 4(4), 5(2), 11(1), 12(1), 13(3), 14, 18(3), 23, 28(1), 30(1), 32, and 33. This centrality was described by the Fifth Circuit in *Block v. Compagnie Nationale Air Fr.*, 386 F.2d 323, 333-34 (5th Cir. 1967), cert. denied, 392 U.S. 905 (1968) ("The contract plays a role fundamental to the objectives of the Warsaw Conference. The obligations arising from the contract between the

history of the Warsaw Convention make it difficult to arrive at any conclusion other than that the drafters had a contractual understanding of the regime they created. This was made abundantly clear in the report on the C.I.T.E.J.A. Final Draft, which formed the basis for consideration at Warsaw, wherein Rapporteur de Vos stated:

[T]he text applies single-mindedly to the contract of carriage - first in its outward manifestations of form and then in the legal ties which are established between the carrier and the persons carried or who ship. It does not regulate any other question which might be raised by engaging in the carriage.<sup>43</sup>

The legal relationship upon which the Convention is predicated, i.e., its vinculum juris, arises from carriage being performed pursuant to an agreement between the parties, i.e., the parties to the contract of carriage.<sup>44</sup> The foundation of the Convention's applicability is thus quite simply defined: there must be carriage performed pursuant to a commercial undertaking whereby the carrier commits to provide international carriage by air to the passenger or shipper. expressed very clearly by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit in Block v. Compagnie Nationale Air France, which opinion stated that "[t]he Warsaw Convention, governs the relations between the party who assumes the liability for the transportation [(the carrier)] and the one who is transported [(the passenger)] or has something transported [(the shipper)]."45 This is the core legal relationship upon which the Convention is built and without which the Convention does not apply. The drafters understood this relationship as fundamentally contractual. Indeed, for many of them, it was entirely consistent with the contractual principles of their domestic legal systems. However, it is vital to note that the Convention's conception of the contract of carriage is not

carrier and the passenger carry out the Conference goal that the rules of limited liability be known to both parties.").

<sup>43.</sup> G. Nathan Calkins Jr., *The Cause of Action under the Warsaw Convention (Part One)*, 26 J. Air L. & Com. 217, 219 (1959). The original French can be located in Deuxième Conférence Internationale de Droit Privé Aérien [Second International Conference on Private Air Law] 160 (1930).

<sup>44.</sup> See Warsaw Convention, supra note 1, at arts. 1(1), 1(2), 31(2), and 32. The Warsaw Convention makes reference to the parties, on a number of occasions, always as referring to the parties to the agreement pursuant to which international carriage is performed.

<sup>45.</sup> Block, 386 F.2d at 343. The court also stated: "The applicability of the Convention undeniably is premised upon a contract but on a contract of a particular kind. It is based on a contract of carriage that arises from the relationship between a 'carrier' and the passengers. This contractual relationship requires only that the carrier consent to undertake the international transportation of the passenger from one designated spot to another, and that the passenger in turn consent to the undertaking." Id. at 330-31.

dependent upon concepts of national contract law; instead, it must be regarded as an autonomous concept, albeit one very closely aligned to the essence of contractual obligations under *le droit commun*. Although the topic of a future publication, it would be remiss not to point out that non-contractual liability of the carrier for passenger-related damages in a Convention case is possible, e.g., wrongful death, and is contemplated by Article 24 of the Warsaw Convention (Article 29 MC99).

Article 1 laid down the general scope of the Warsaw Convention, thereby defining the core conditions of its applicability. Convention is applicable, various rights and duties arise, including those pertaining to jurisdiction and to the question of liability. The Warsaw Convention's liability regime was established on the basis of fault with monetary limits on the liability of the carrier. Its starting point is the presumption of the carrier's fault for damage arising under the circumstances covered by the Convention, 46 and in such cases the carrier is liable. However, the carrier may exonerate itself from liability by proving that it and its agents took all necessary measures to avoid the damage. 47 or that the damage was caused or contributed to by the negligence of the injured party. 48 Where the carrier cannot overcome the burden of proof, then it is liable, but the Convention sets monetary limits on that liability.<sup>49</sup> The carrier is prohibited from excluding or limiting its liability below the limits set by the Convention;<sup>50</sup> while the carrier loses its freedom of contract in this sense, it may agree to a higher limit by special agreement with the passenger/shipper.<sup>51</sup> The carrier is thus doubly insulated. First, it is only liable where it cannot prove the absence of fault: second, if liable, its liability is capped at a low level. There are two occasions in which the carrier may face unlimited liability: the first, where it fails to fulfil the mandatory documentary requirements of the

<sup>46.</sup> See Warsaw Convention, supra note 1, at arts. 17-19.

<sup>47.</sup> See id. at art. 20(1). In the case of goods and luggage, the Warsaw Convention (art. 21(2)) provided another avenue for exoneration where the carrier can prove the damage was the result of negligent pilotage or negligence in the handling of the aircraft. This controversial basis for exoneration was removed by the Hague Protocol in 1955.

<sup>48.</sup> See id. at art. 21.

<sup>49.</sup> The limit differs depending on the nature of the damage: for damage arising from the death or injury of passengers, the limit is 125,000 gold francs; for luggage and goods, 250 francs per kilogram; and for items for which the carrier takes charge himself, e.g., carry-on baggage, a limit of 5000 francs applies. *Id.* at art. 22.

<sup>50.</sup> See id. at art. 23.

<sup>51.</sup> See id. at art. 22.

Convention;<sup>52</sup> the second, when the damage is caused by the willful misconduct of the carrier or its agents.<sup>53</sup>

Very briefly,<sup>54</sup> Article 28 lays out the jurisdictional scheme of the Warsaw Convention. Article 28(1) provides four bases for identifying the places before whose courts an action for damages under the Convention may be brought. These are: (1) the place where the carrier is ordinarily a resident; (2) the carrier's principal place of business; (3) the place where the carrier has a place of business through which the contract has been made; and (4) the place of destination.<sup>55</sup>

The essential purpose of the jurisdictional scheme is the same as the Convention's cardinal purpose, i.e., to avoid conflict of laws through unification of certain rules. The drafters chose to establish harmonized rules of jurisdiction. The scheme's key features are: (1) a limited number of potential forums; (2) the guarantee of a forum in a Contracting State; (3) the centrality of the contract of carriage; and (4) that the forum has a substantial business connection to the carrier. These key features reflect two core policies – first, the need to ensure legal certainty and predictability, and second, the desire to balance the parties' interests. Primacy was given to legal certainty and predictability, balanced against the secondary concern for the interests of the parties.

# C. Vindication of the Two-Party Paradigm

With the benefit of hindsight, it may seem a gross oversight by the drafters of the Warsaw Convention to focus their regime on the "contractual" relationship between the carrier and the passenger/shipper. In so doing, they apparently left the potential liability of third parties and how this might interfere with their regime out of consideration; however, this would be an unfair accusation. As Part III of this Article will show in detail, although the drafters' focus on a two-party paradigm would prove problematic, considering the law as it stood at that time, we realize the drafters of the Warsaw Convention were vindicated in establishing their regime on that basis.

<sup>52.</sup> See id. at arts. 4(4) and 9.

<sup>53.</sup> See id. at art. 25.

<sup>54.</sup> A fuller account is provided in Cluxton, supra note 11, at 22-28.

<sup>55.</sup> Warsaw Convention, supra note 1, at art. 28(1).

## i. Historical Inadequacy of the Common Law

Under the common law circa 1929, a plaintiff had extremely limited options for commencing proceedings for damages suffered in an aviation accident. The practice of carriers at the time was to exempt themselves from liability under the contract of carriage with the passenger. With no remedy against the carrier, the injured passenger also found themselves unable to succeed in tort liability against a manufacturer or other third party. This was as a consequence of the rule articulated in the 1842 case Winterbottom v. Wright<sup>56</sup> that stood for the proposition that no cause of action, whether in contract or tort, lay against a manufacturer in the absence of privity of contract.<sup>57</sup>

The rule from *Winterbottom* represented, in the absence of privity, a de facto immunity for manufacturers from claims of liability for damages caused by their defective products.<sup>58</sup> The rule was subject to a small number of exceptions,<sup>59</sup> wherein the courts recognized that a manufacturer had undertaken a duty to the public at large, e.g., in the case of inherently dangerous articles.<sup>60</sup> In these limited cases, the existence of a specific legal duty owed by the manufacturer in tort law remedied the

<sup>56.</sup> Winterbottom v. Wright (1842) 152 Eng. Rep. 402; 10 M. & W. 109 (Eng.).

<sup>57.</sup> Cornelius W. Gillam, *Products Liability in a Nutshell*, 37 Or. L. Rev. 119, 133 (1957).

<sup>58.</sup> See Francis H. Bohlen, Liability of Manufacturers to Persons Other Than Their Immediate Vendees, 45 L.Q.R. 343, 343 (1929) (Bohlen explaining: "Prior to 1926 the so-called doctrine of Winterbottom v. Wright, in so far as it was applied to determine the liability of a manufacturer, seems to have crystallized in England into a fairly definite shape. A manufacturer who put upon the market an article dangerous for the use for which it was sold, was normally not liable to anyone other than his immediate vendee for injuries sustained while using the article.").

<sup>59.</sup> See J.J. Adams, Note: Liability of Supplier of Chattels to Third Persons, 38 MICH. L. REV. 116, 117 (1939) (Adams listing these four exceptions: "For almost a hundred years courts have said that a contractor, manufacturer, or vendor is not liable to third parties who have no contractual relations with him for negligence in the construction, manufacture, or sale of the article he handles, though four well-established exceptions have been engrafted on this general rule. Where the article (1) is inherently dangerous, (2) contains a concealed defect known to the supplier but not to the user, (3) will be dangerous if negligently made, or (4) has been supplied by an invitor for use on his premises, the supplier is held liable to third persons for negligence in the construction, manufacture, or sale of the article he handles.").

<sup>60.</sup> The distinction between ordinary articles and inherently dangerous articles was accepted by the court in *Longmeid v. Holliday* (1851) 155 Eng. Rep. 752; 6 Exch. 761 (Eng.). See Bohlen, supra note 58, at 344 (Bohlen providing a definition: "If an article is of a class which is generally regarded as dangerous for certain uses, although safe for others, the maker is liable if he mislabels it or otherwise misrepresents its true character.").

absence of privity of contract.<sup>61</sup> Recognition of a cause of action in tort law without privity helped ameliorate the harshness of the rule in *Winterbottom*, but these exceptions were so limited that they offered little help in the vast majority of cases.

For a plaintiff to succeed against a manufacturer, they either had to be a party to the contract or bring themselves within the set of narrow exceptions whereby the court would recognize that the manufacturer owed a duty to the public, the breach of which would give rise to an actionable instance of negligence. As it stood at that time, there was no accepted general principle of tortious liability for negligence. In *Heaven v. Pender*, 62 Lord Justice Brett M.R. (later Lord Esher) attempted to articulate such a principle from the accepted instances in which a manufacturer or supplier of goods could be held liable without privity of contract. He stated:

The proposition which these recognised cases suggest, and which is, therefore, to be deduced from them, is that whenever one person is by circumstances placed in such a position with regard to another that every one of ordinary sense who did think would at once recognise that if he did not use ordinary care and skill in his own conduct with regard to those circumstances he would cause danger of injury to the person or property of the other, a duty arises to use ordinary care and skill to avoid such danger.<sup>63</sup>

Even though the majority decided the case on narrower grounds,<sup>64</sup> Lord Justice Brett's principle was a precise and potent articulation of what would become in 1932—with some adjustment—the accepted principle for the duty of care in *Donoghue v. Stevenson*.<sup>65</sup> Prior to this seminal case, however, Lord Justice Brett's principle found favor in the United States, where it was referred to in 1916's *MacPherson v. Buick Motor Co.*, the case that lay the foundations for products liability.<sup>66</sup>

<sup>61.</sup> It was stated in *Thomas*: "The liability of the dealer in such case arises, not out of any contract or direct privity between him and the person injured, but out of the duty which the law imposes upon him to avoid acts in their nature dangerous to the lives of others. He is liable, therefore, though the poisonous drug with such label may have passed through many intermediate sales before it reaches the hands of the person injured." Thomas v. Winchester, 6 N.Y. 397, 405 (1852). See also Norton v. Sewall, 106 Mass. 143 (1870).

<sup>62.</sup> Heaven v. Pender [1883] 11 QBD 503 (Eng. C.A.).

<sup>63.</sup> Id. at 509.

<sup>64.</sup> See Edward H. Levi, An Introduction to Legal Reasoning, 15 U. CHI. L. REV. 501, 512 (1948) ("[T]he majority of the judges decided the case on the rather narrow point that the necessary workmen were in effect invited by the dock owner to use the dock and appliances.").

<sup>65.</sup> Donoghue v. Stevenson [1932] AC 562, 580 (HL) (appeal taken from Scot.) (Scot.).

<sup>66.</sup> MacPherson v. Buick Motor Co., 217 N.Y. 382 (1916).

In *MacPherson*, Judge Cardozo of the New York Court of Appeals stated, "[i]f the nature of a thing is such that it is reasonably certain to place life and limb in peril when negligently made, it is then a thing of danger." In finding for the plaintiff, the court concluded that where there is an element of danger and knowledge that the thing will be used by third parties, then "irrespective of contract, the manufacturer of this thing of danger is under a duty to make it carefully." Judge Cardozo thus laid down a general rule of manufacturers' liability for negligence based on a duty to take reasonable care to avoid causing reasonably foreseeable injury.

This was the state of play under the common law in England and the United States during the time of the Warsaw Convention's gestation. We shall shortly draw some conclusions from this brief history, but not before first reviewing the situation in the civilian legal systems and perusing the Convention's travaux préparatoires.

### ii. The Situation under Civilian Law

The adequacy of private law to provide remedies against third parties for those injured in aviation accidents was not much better under French civil law at the time of the Warsaw Convention's drafting. The place to begin this analysis is with Articles 1382 and 1383 of the Civil Code (now, since 2016, Articles 1240 and 1241 respectively). These are grounded in the concept of *faute délictuelle*, under which a plaintiff has to prove harm (*dommage*)<sup>70</sup> causally linked (*lien de causalité*)<sup>71</sup> to the fault (*faute*)<sup>72</sup> of the defendant. On the face of it, delictual liability under Articles 1382 and 1383 seems extremely broad, and we might thus expect that it would have provided a good source of redress against a manufacturer and other third parties; however, this was not the case. First, proving fault was very difficult, especially in defective product cases. Second, at the time of the Warsaw Convention's drafting, it was

<sup>67.</sup> Id. at 389.

<sup>68.</sup> Id.

<sup>69.</sup> For a list of authorities by which the courts of other states adopted Judge Cardozo's rule, and for its subsequent development, see William L. Prosser, The Assault Upon the Citadel (Strict Liability to the Consumer), 69 YALE L.J. 1099, 1100-02 (1960). Prosser stated that the rule "has become, in short, a general rule imposing negligence liability upon any supplier, for remuneration, of any chattel." Id. at 1102.

<sup>70.</sup> Konrad Zweigert & Hein Kötz, An Introduction to Comparative Law 657 (Tony Weir trans., 2d ed. 1987).

<sup>71.</sup> Id. at 659.

<sup>72.</sup> Id. at 661.

not generally accepted that placing a defective product into the market was an example of *faute délictuelle* upon which an action could succeed under Articles 1382 and 1383; indeed, this was not recognized as *faute délictuelle* until the 1970s.<sup>73</sup> For these reasons, actions based on contract or on the strict liability provision of Article 1384 were preferred.

The problem of privity was also at issue for an aviation plaintiff seeking a remedy in contract under French civil law. However, the French civil law was less constrained by privity than the common law. For example—and of particular relevance to the field of defective products—is the concept of the *action directe en garantie*. This permits a buyer to pursue sellers further up the chain of commerce. Thus, where the plaintiff sub-buyer has a contract of sale with his immediate seller but not with the manufacturer, he is permitted to reach back through the chain of contracts to sue the manufacturer directly for latent defects. In effect, the sub-buyer becomes the successor in interest to the original buyer's rights against the manufacturer. The *action directe en garantie*, which is contractual, was introduced precisely because the sub-buyer did not have a cause of action in contract or delict against the manufacturer. This form of recourse was available at the time of the Warsaw Convention's drafting; in fact, it was available well prior. However, this remedy was

<sup>73.</sup> SIMON WHITTAKER, LIABILITY FOR PRODUCTS: ENGLISH LAW, FRENCH LAW AND EUROPEAN HARMONIZATION 51 (2005).

<sup>74.</sup> Simon Whittaker, Privity of Contract and the Law of Tort: The French Experience, 15 OXFORD J. LEGAL STUD. 327, 367 (1995) (Whittaker stating that, "French law has certainly been much more willing to allow a contract to escape the bounds of privity than English law"). Whittaker gives, amongst others, the examples of the recognition of contractual benefits for third parties (stipulation pour autrui) and of the right of action against sellers further up the chain of commerce (actions directes en garantie). Id. at 367-68.

<sup>75.</sup> Whittaker describes this concept as follows: "In the context of sale, the courts have long accepted the idea that the various rights of the 'initial' buyer in a chain of distribution against his own seller (typically, the manufacturer) in respect of its latent defects attach to the property as its 'accessory,' with the result that any buyer in the chain may sue *any* seller further up the chain by way of a 'direct action' (*action directe en garantie*): there is no restriction that the buyer must be a consumer nor that the seller must be *professionel*." WHITTAKER, *supra* note 73, at 96.

<sup>76.</sup> Whittaker notes that "[i]t is clear that the original purpose of the recognition of these actions directes en garantie was to create a direct contractual claim for a sub-buyer against the original seller (often the manufacturer of goods or the builder of premises) at a time before any claim in delict has been established ... Such a direct action avoided the circuity of action of suit up the chain of contracts and had the advantage for claimants of side-stepping the insolvency of any intervening member of the chain." Id. at 97.

<sup>77.</sup> See id. at 96 n.344 (citing authorities from 1884, 1885, and 1886).

limited to sub-buyers of goods and thus would not have availed the aviation passenger plaintiff who purchased services, not goods.<sup>78</sup>

The final option available to the plaintiff was Article 1384(1) of the French Civil Code (now, since 2016, Article 1242). Similar to the common law doctrine of res ipsa loquitur, <sup>79</sup> Article 1384(1) provides for strict liability of the *gardien*<sup>80</sup> of a thing that causes damage. <sup>81</sup> Initially it only countenanced responsibility for damages caused by animals or buildings, but was subsequently interpreted as providing a much broader principle of liability on the *gardien* for anything that causes damage. <sup>82</sup> Since 1930, Article 1384(1) of the Civil Code established a presumption of strict liability for damage caused by things (*le fait d'une chose*). <sup>83</sup> This presumption arises regardless of whether the thing is defective or dangerous, and is not based upon any notion of fault of the *gardien*. The only defenses available are contributory negligence and *force majeure* (albeit with French law having a simpler definition, which entails unforeseeable and unpreventable harm). <sup>84</sup>

<sup>78.</sup> See id. at 139 ("In the case of public transport ((in the sense of transport available to the public generally)), the provider of the service does not supply any product to any member of the public but does use products in the provision of the service, notably, the vehicle of transport itself.").

<sup>79.</sup> See infra Part III.A.

<sup>80.</sup> The meaning of this legal term is difficult to translate into English, but the terms keeper or custodian come close to conveying the gist. See ZWEIGERT & KÖTZ, supra note 70, at 703 ("A further requirement for liability under art. 1384 para. 1 is that the person being sued for damages be the custodian ['gardien'] of the thing which caused the harm.").

<sup>81.</sup> Article 1384.1 of the Code civil provides: "On est responsable non seulement du dommage que l'on cause par son propre fait, mais encore de celui qui est causé par le fait des personnes dont on doit répondre, ou des choses que l'on a sous sa garde." CODE CIVIL [C. CIV.] [CIVIL CODE] art. 1384.1 (Fr.). ["We are responsible not only for the damage caused by our own act, but also for that which is caused by the acts of persons for whom we are responsible, or by things that are in our custody."], English translation by French Civil Code, LEGIFANCE.GOUV.FR (n.d.), available at www.legifrance.gouv.fr/content/download/7754/105592/version/4/file/Code\_civil\_2013070 1\_EN.pdf (last visited Feb. 15, 2021). Whittaker provides an alternative translation: "One is liable not only for the harm which one causes by one's own deed, but also for that which is caused by the deed of persons for whom one is responsible, or of things which one has in one's keeping." WHITTAKER, supra note 73, at 24.

<sup>82.</sup> WHITTAKER, supra note 73, at 52.

<sup>83.</sup> Id. at 7-8.

<sup>84.</sup> WHITTAKER, *supra* note 73, at 52. The courts sought to avoid a situation where an unforeseeable and unpreventable defect in a thing could be grounds for a defense of force majeure. This was achieved by specifying that force majeure must be external to the thing. The result of which was that a defect in the thing was included within the risks for which the *gardien* assumes liability toward third parties. *See id.* at 58. *See also* ZWEIGERT & KÖTZ, *supra* note 70, at 704 (noting, "[o]ne important effect of the rule that the cause must be 'external' or 'outside' the thing which does the harm is that a latent defect in the thing, such

This might seem like an ideal theory under which to pursue a manufacturer, but it is entirely dependent on the definition of *gardien*, and that definition generally did not apply to manufacturers. The definition attributed to *la garde* centers on the possession, use, direction, and control of the thing. For instance, the legal owner of a car is presumed to be its *gardien*, but may rebut this presumption by showing that control (i.e., *la garde*) has been transferred to another party. In the context of an aircraft, such control at the operative moment when harm is caused to the passenger is not vested in the manufacturer; rather, it is most likely vested in the operator (or potentially the legal owner). Thus, Article 1384(1)—useful though it might be against the carrier—would not have aided the aviation plaintiff against third parties circa 1929.

## iii. The Warsaw Travaux Préparatoires

Given that the Warsaw Convention concerns the liability of the *carrier* for international carriage by air, it should not come as much of a surprise that the liability of third parties is seldom mentioned in its *travaux préparatoires*. However, a small amount of attention was given to the manufacturer in respect to the carrier's liability for inherent defects in the aircraft.<sup>87</sup> At the second session of the Warsaw Conference, Rapporteur De Vos provided a commentary on the substantive provisions of the Final C.I.T.E.J.A. Draft.<sup>88</sup> Moving from article to article, De Vos outlined the reasoning and objectives behind the adoption of specific principles and explained the various alterations made to the text since the Conference of 1925. In treating the topic of the possible exoneration of

as a defect in the way it is made or the material it is made of, does not release the defendant even if it was quite impossible for him to discover and remove the defect.").

<sup>85.</sup> WHITTAKER, supra note 73, at 53.

<sup>86.</sup> It has since become accepted that there can be two gardiens at the same time, one in respect of its behavior (gardien du comportement), the other in respect of its structure (gardien de la structure). See ZWEIGERT & KÖTZ, supra note 70, at 717; WHITTAKER, supra note 73, at 341 ("[I]n the context of liability for a defective product, the manufacturer can be said to be gardien of its structure, while either the supplier or the victim himself may be the gardien of its behaviour."). In the context of an aircraft, the carrier would be the gardien of its behavior, while the manufacturer could be regarded as the gardien of the thing's construction and thus potentially liable under Article 1384(1). However, this does not appear to have been the law at the time of the Warsaw Convention's drafting. Whittaker cites cases dating from 1956 and 1960 for this theory. Id. at 341 n.121.

<sup>87.</sup> SECOND INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON PRIVATE AERONAUTICAL LAW, OCTOBER 4-12, 1929 WARSAW: MINUTES 21, 36, 43-54 (Robert C. Horner & Didier Legrez trans., 1975) [hereinafter Warsaw Minutes].

<sup>88.</sup> Id. at 18-23.

the carrier on proof that the carrier had taken all reasonable measures, it was noted that the draft no longer permitted such exoneration in the case of the aircraft's inherent defect; rather, the carrier would be held strictly liable.<sup>89</sup>

Paragraph 1 of Article 22 of the draft provided: "The carrier shall not be liable if he proves that he and his servants have taken the reasonable measures to avoid the damage or that it was impossible for them to take them, unless the damages [arise] out of an inherent defect in the aircraft." This solution had been adopted for the benefit of passengers who, it was stated, could not "turn against the manufacturer." Instead the carrier would bear the burden of liability, with any unfairness mitigated by the fact that the carrier, unlike the passenger, would have "recourse against the manufacturer." As explained by Pittard (the Swiss Delegate and Rapporteur of the 1925 Conference), excluding exoneration of the carrier in the case of inherent defect ensured that the victim would have access to a remedy against someone (i.e., the carrier) rather than no one. 93

The written submissions made by the United Kingdom, <sup>94</sup> France, <sup>95</sup> and Sweden <sup>96</sup> on the Final C.I.T.E.J.A. Draft expressed misgivings about the inherent defect provision. During the Conference itself, there were proposals for its removal. <sup>97</sup> Although the delegates were sympathetic to the humanitarian interests involved, <sup>98</sup> it was nevertheless regarded as inequitable to impose liability on the carrier in the absence of its fault and in circumstances where the defect could not reasonably be detected by the carrier exercising due diligence. <sup>99</sup> The then-unperfected state of aeronautical science was also highlighted as another reason not to adopt this instance of strict liability. <sup>100</sup> Manufacturing defects were regarded as unavoidable, even where the greatest care and expertise were employed. Therefore, even assuming recourse was available, one could not rely on the carrier recovering against the manufacturer. Indeed, the

<sup>89.</sup> Id. at 21.

<sup>90.</sup> Id. at 265.

<sup>91.</sup> Id. at 21.

<sup>92.</sup> WARSAW MINUTES, supra note 87, at 21.

<sup>93.</sup> Id. at 45.

<sup>94.</sup> Id. at 296-97.

<sup>95.</sup> Id. at 286.

<sup>96.</sup> Id. at 316.

<sup>97.</sup> See, e.g., id. at 36, 52-53.

<sup>98.</sup> See id. at 44-45 (in particular, the views expressed by the Swiss Delegate).

<sup>99.</sup> See, e.g., id. at 39, 43.

<sup>100.</sup> See, e.g., id. at 50, 53.

delegates acknowledged that manufacturers were generally not disposed to offer carriers warranties. <sup>101</sup> Therefore, in practice, the carrier would often have no right of recourse against the manufacturer. <sup>102</sup> In the end, the drafters elected to remove the inherent defect proviso of Article 22 altogether, <sup>103</sup> granting the carrier the possibility of exoneration in all cases where it could prove that it and its servants had taken all necessary measures to avoid the damage, or that those measures were impossible to undertake. <sup>104</sup>

There is a twofold significance in this dalliance with the prospect of holding the carrier liable, in the absence of fault, for damage caused by the manufacture's presumptively wrongful conduct. First, it demonstrates that the delegates did not understand the passenger as generally having a cause of action against the manufacturer under then-existing national law. Secondly, the delegates contemplated, and even endorsed, the existence of recourse actions by carriers against manufacturers, albeit subject to limitations in practice.

### iv. Concluding Remarks

What this legal history shows, is that during the period of the Warsaw Convention's gestation and its 1929 adoption, a third party to the passenger-carrier relationship (the aircraft manufacturer providing the quintessential example) was practically immune from direct liability against an injured passenger under the common law. Privity of contract was the greatest stumbling block for a plaintiff seeking to sue the manufacturer or another third party for damage negligently caused. Such liability could only be established in very limited circumstances. There was not yet the general principle of negligence, such as that established in England under *Donoghue v. Stevenson* in 1932. It is true that a New York court enunciated a principle of general products liability in 1916, and that this decision, i.e., *MacPherson*, 105 "found immediate acceptance." However, this acceptance was limited to U.S.

<sup>101.</sup> Id. at 48, 296.

<sup>102.</sup> *Id.* at 296. This point was reinforced by the French Delegate who had noted that the short lifetime attached to such warranties really meant that unless the accident occurred shortly after delivery of the aircraft the carrier would be strictly liable without being able seek recourse from the manufacturer. *Id.* at 48.

<sup>103.</sup> Id. at 54.

<sup>104.</sup> See Warsaw Convention, supra note 1, at art. 20(1).

<sup>105.</sup> MacPherson v. Buick Motor Co., 217 N.Y. 382, 111 N.E. 1050 (1916).

<sup>106.</sup> WILLIAM L. PROSSER, LAW OF TORTS 643 (3d ed. 1964). See also Gillam, supra note 57, at 143.

jurisdictions pre-Warsaw. As noted earlier, the United States did not actively participate in drafting the Warsaw Convention, and the record does not indicate that the actual drafters were aware of emerging products liability in the United States.

The French civil law was also beneficial to the manufacturer and other third parties, although not so much so as the common law. Aside from the difficulty of establishing fault, delictual liability was not recognized against manufacturers under Articles 1382 and 1383 of the Civil Code. The strict liability of Article 1384(1) did not avail the aviation plaintiff against a third party because he was not regarded as the gardien of the thing. Likewise, contractual remedies were of no avail to the aviation plaintiff due to the French law's version of privity.

The manufacturer and other third parties were largely insulated from passenger claims on account of the lack of privity of contract and the absence of the modern doctrines of negligence and strict products liability. The drafters of the Warsaw Convention would not have needed to take into consideration the potential impact of the existence of alternative remedies against third parties. It was reasonable, at that time, to rely on the liability relationship involved in the international carriage of passengers by air as being two-party in nature. Since the passenger could not sue a manufacturer, there was no risk of that manufacturer seeking recourse against the carrier; that aspect of recourse did not arise.

On the other hand, the manufacturer had little to fear from the carrier in terms of recourse. The Convention's Minutes show that the delegates were aware of the possibility of recourse actions by carriers against third parties—they even endorsed them—but they acknowledged that they were unlikely to arise in practice. They were right. The aircraft purchase agreements between manufacturers and carriers invariably contained express warranties against defects in material and workmanship, a remedy limitation section in the event of defect, and various liability disclaimers. In addition, recourse actions taken against manufacturers resulting from the carrier's liability to the passenger under the Convention were generally blocked (at least in common law jurisdictions) by the rule against contribution amongst tortfeasors. Therefore, the other aspect of recourse actions, i.e., the

<sup>107.</sup> WARSAW MINUTES, supra note 87, at 21.

<sup>108.</sup> As one legal counsel for a manufacturer later put it: "Any manufacturer having reasonably competent legal counsel can exempt itself from virtually all liability from manufacturer caused damages to aircraft that the manufacturer has sold to the air carrier." Hunter Hughes, Aircraft Manufacturer Warranties—Protection for the Manufacturer or the Purchaser?, 2 AIR & SPACE L. 71, 71 (1977).

carrier seeking recourse against third parties for its liability to the passenger, did not concern the delegates and further reinforced their two-party understanding of their aviation liability system.

The drafters were quite content to leave the manufacturer and other third parties out of the system. They had no desire to protect them as they were already amply protected by their own business practices and the law. The drafters did not foresee that the law would evolve to provide the plaintiff with a choice of defendants and a selection of remedies through which the scope for the involvement and influence of third parties in the carrier-passenger relationship would greatly expand. However, this is precisely what happened with the development of the general doctrine of negligence, strict products liability, and other new remedies.

### D. The Montreal Convention 1999

Even from its early days, the Warsaw Convention was often the subject of much criticism. Its limits of liability were attacked as being low, and the maturation of the air transport industry undermined the original policy justifications for its perceived pro-carrier slant. This discontent only increased over time. The various efforts to amend and supplement the Warsaw Convention transformed it into WCS. However, the patchy ratification of these instruments resulted in a fragmented, disunified system that was the subject of conflicting jurisprudence. By the end of the twentieth century, the disunification reached a breaking point and the time for action came, resulting in MC99.

MC99 is a consolidation and modernization of WCS. This requires our appreciation of two key factors: (1) the continuing relevance of the Warsaw Convention and WCS; and (2) the contrasting purpose of MC99 to that of WCS. It is not within the scope of this Article to perform a thorough analysis of MC99's purpose, <sup>109</sup> yet some points are of particular relevance to the matter at hand and require attention here.

Firstly, the preamble to MC99 recognizes the need to *modernize* and *consolidate* the Warsaw Convention; this is the first clear indication of one of MC99's purposes.<sup>110</sup> Indeed, the courts have generally found a

<sup>109.</sup> See Cluxton, supra note 11, at 54 (discussing MC99's purpose).

<sup>110.</sup> For example, the Second Circuit described MC99 as having been passed to "'harmonize the hodgepodge of supplementary amendments and intercarrier agreements' of which the Warsaw Convention system consists." Ehrlich v. Am. Airlines, Inc., 360 F.3d 366, 401 (2d Cir. 2004) (quoting Carl E. Fumarola, Stratospheric Recovery: Recent and Forthcoming Changes in International Air Disaster Law and its Effect on Air Terrorism Recovery, 36 SUFFOLK U. L. REV. 821, 835 (2003)).

great commonality of purpose between the Warsaw Convention and MC99.<sup>111</sup> However, we ought not to directly equate the purpose of MC99 with that of the Warsaw Convention; instead, we must accommodate the effects and changes of the process of modernization and consolidation. The mere act of modernizing and consolidating WCS is itself a powerful reaffirmation by MC99's drafters of WCS' cardinal purpose as the unification of certain rules of private air law. This cardinal purpose remains the same with MC99 and is broadly acknowledged by the courts.<sup>112</sup>

As noted earlier, the Warsaw Convention's supplementary objective was to further the public interest in the development of air transport whilst achieving an equitable balance of interests. Under MC99, the development of air transport remains a fundamental objective, but the perspective regarding the balance of interests has substantially changed. In MC99, the notable change was the weight given to protecting the interests of consumers; 113 thus, its preamble specifically recognizes the

<sup>111.</sup> The Supreme Court of the United Kingdom noted in *Stott*: "One of the original purposes of the Warsaw Convention was to bring some order to a fragmented international aviation system by partial harmonization of the applicable law and to provide benefit to both prospective passengers and to the airlines in reaching an equitable balance of interests; the same purpose applies to the Montreal Convention." Stott v. Thomas Cook Tour Operators [2014] AC 1347, 1359 (SC) (on appeal from Eng.) (Eng.). *See also* Matz v. Nw. Airlines, No. 07-CV-13447, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 38614, at \*1 (E.D. Mich. May 13, 2008).

<sup>112.</sup> The Supreme Court of Canada observed that the "two of the main purposes of the Warsaw Convention, and hence of the Montreal Convention, are to achieve a uniform set of rules governing damages liability of international air carriers and to provide limitation of carrier liability." Thibodeau v. Air Can., [2014] S.C.R. 67, ¶ 47 (Can.). See also Allianz Glob. Corp. & Specialty v. EMO Trans. Cal., Inc., No. 09-CV-4893, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 62425, at \*11 (N.D. Cal. June 21, 2010) ("The goal of the Montreal Convention was to create an international unified system of rules and procedures to alleviate the uncertainty of operating under a diverse set of legal systems.").

<sup>113.</sup> This was clearly evidenced in the President Clinton's letter of transmittal to Congress. The President described MC99 as "a vast improvement over the liability regime established under the Warsaw Convention and its related instruments, relative to passenger rights in the event of an accident." Message from the President of the United States transmitting the Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules for International Carriage by Air, Done at Montreal, May 28, 1999, in S. Treaty Doc. No. 106-45, at iii, iii (2000). In the Department of State letter of submittal, Strobe Talbott endorsed MC99 as "the culmination of a four decades-long effort by the United States and other countries to persuade the international aviation community to provide increased economic protection for the international air traveler and shipper with a regime of liability and modernized procedures that match the developments in today's aviation industry." Letter of Submittal from Strobe Talbott, Deputy Sec. of State (June 23, 2000), in S. Treaty Doc. No. 106-45, at v, v (2000). See also Bin Cheng, The 1999 Montreal Convention on International Carriage by Air Concluded on the Seventieth Anniversary of the 1929 Warsaw Convention (Part II), 49 Zeitschrift für Luft- und Weltraumrecht 484, 497 (2000) ("In drawing up the new

importance of ensuring protection for consumers (something echoed by both courts<sup>114</sup> and commentators).<sup>115</sup> This is not to say that the interests of carriers and the general public were disregarded.<sup>116</sup> Instead, just as with the Warsaw Convention, it was a question of achieving an equitable balance between the interests of all parties. Without a doubt, there was a shift in that balance between Warsaw and MC99. The Warsaw Convention favored the interests of the air transport industry (comprising both the carrier and the traveling public) over those of the plaintiff passenger. A new deal was promised with MC99—it would better protect the interests of consumers and ensure equitable compensation for victims and their families.<sup>117</sup>

Convention [MC99], it was constantly being emphasized that the interests of the consumer are paramount.").

- 114. See Ehrlich, 360 F.3d at 371 n.4 ("The new treaty 'unifies and replaces the system of liability that derives from the Warsaw Convention,' . . . explicitly recognizing 'the importance of ensuring protection of the interests of consumers in international carriage by air and the need for equitable compensation based on the principle of restitution.' . . . This Convention seems to have reversed one of the premises of the original Warsaw Convention, which favored the airlines at the expense of consumers."). Nevertheless, the Montreal Convention did not alter the original Warsaw Convention goal of maintaining limited and predictable damage amounts for airlines. See Sompo Japan Ins., Inc. v. Nippon Cargo Airlines Co., 522 F.3d 776, 780-81 (7th Cir. 2008); Weiss v. El Al Isr. Airlines Ltd., 433 F. Supp. 2d 361, 365 (S.D.N.Y. 2006); Bassam v. Am. Airlines, Inc., 287 F. App'x 309, 312 (5th Cir. 2008).
- 115. See Thomas J. Whalen, The New Warsaw Convention: The Montreal Convention, 25 AIR & SPACE L. 12, 14 (2000) (noting the shift in policy, away from the interests of the carriers to those of the consumer/passenger). See also George N. Tompkins Jr., Liability Rules Applicable to International AIR Transportation as Developed by the Courts in the United States: from Warsaw 1929 to Montreal 1999 33-34 (2010); Bin Cheng, A New Era in the Law of International Carriage by Air—From Warsaw (1929) to Montreal (1999), 53 Int'l & Comp. L.Q. 833, 844-45 (2004).
- 116. The interests of the carrier, in particular those of the small to medium airlines (especially from developing nations), were strongly advocated for at the Conference, with several States raising concerns about the negative impact of being too pro-consumer. For the comments made by the following States in the general observations on the draft Convention, see Minutes of 1 International Conference on Air Law (Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules for International Carriage by Air) Montreal, 10-28 May 1999: Minutes), 45-6 (Alg.); 47 (India, Can.); 48 (China, Madag.); 49 (Indon.); 50 (Mex.); 51 (Egypt), ICAO Doc. 9775-DC/2 (1999) [hereinafter MC99 Minutes].
- 117. This is evidenced by two of the clauses to MC99's preamble: (1) "RECOGNIZING the importance of ensuring protection of the interests of consumers in international carriage by air and the need for equitable compensation based on the principle of restitution," and (2) "CONVINCED that collective State action for further harmonization and codification of certain rules governing international carriage by air through a new Convention is the most adequate means of achieving an equitable balance of interests." MC99, *supra* note 2, at preamble.

MC99 retains the two-fold purpose of its predecessor, consisting of a cardinal purpose and a supplementary purpose. The former remains unchanged, whereas the latter has undergone significant recalibration in light of the industry's changing circumstances and socioeconomic conditions. This is underlined by the forceful declarations made by the Contracting Parties in the preamble, and reflected in the substance of the provisions contained within the Convention itself. Thus, the object and purpose of MC99 can be defined as follows:

Avoidance of conflict of laws through unification of certain rules relating to travel documentation and air carrier liability.

Assurance of an equitable balance between the interests of consumers in international carriage by air, the need for equitable compensation based on the principle of restitution, and the orderly development of international air transport.

Regarding the liability regime for passenger death and bodily injury, MC99 consists of a two-tier system: strict liability of the carrier up to SDR 128,821,<sup>118</sup> and presumed fault liability for claims exceeding that amount. In respect to both tiers, the carrier can invoke contributory negligence as a defense.<sup>119</sup> For second tier liability, the carrier can exonerate itself by proving the absence of fault, rather than the previous all necessary measures defense.<sup>120</sup> An additional ground for exoneration was introduced that releases the carrier from liability under the second tier if it can prove the damage was solely due to the negligence, or a wrongful act or omission of a third party.<sup>121</sup>

The new regime is very beneficial for the plaintiff because unlimited recovery is available without a prima facie obligation to prove the fault of the carrier. Indeed, once a plaintiff has proved recoverable damages in excess of the first-tier limit, this limit will only come into play where the carrier elects to and successfully raises one of the available defenses. Given that most aviation disasters involve an element of carrier negligence, the likelihood of the carrier deciding to raise a defense, let alone prove it, is rare. As a result, liability is seldom litigated. Indeed, a chief complaint made by lawyers about MC99 is the loss of work it has

<sup>118.</sup> The limit was originally 100,000 Special Drawing Rights (SDR), but this figure was raised in 2009 to SDR 113,000 and then again in 2019 to SDR 128,821, pursuant to Article 24 of MC99. MC99, supra note 2, at art. 24; 2019 Revised Limits of Liability Under the Montreal Convention of 1999, INT'L CIV. AVIATION ORG. (n.d.), available at https://www.icao.int/secretariat/legal/Pages/2019\_Revised\_Limits\_of\_Liability\_Under\_the\_Montreal Convention 1999.aspx (last visited Apr. 4, 2021).

<sup>119.</sup> MC99, supra note 2, at art. 20.

<sup>120.</sup> Id.

<sup>121.</sup> Id. at art. 21(2)(b).

meant for them, as compared to WCS. It has certainly reduced the volume of litigation and sped up the resolution of claims. Nevertheless, its success is conditional on offering the plaintiff their desired choice of forum, and rather than liability, the matter of jurisdiction has become the primary battlefield for litigation.

As described in Part I above, MC99's jurisdictional regime essentially amounts to that of the Warsaw Convention with the addition of the long-sought fifth jurisdiction. The inclusion of the fifth jurisdiction demonstrates a shift in the balance of interests—it is largely viewed as pro-consumer and contrary to the interests of carriers. Other than this shift, the purpose of MC99's jurisdictional regime remains the same as that of the Warsaw Convention. 123

#### III. THE BIGGER PICTURE

We began in this Article by looking at the question of choice of forum within the context of WCS, to which MC99 is the successor. We have seen that this system is predicated on the paradigm of the two-party liability relationship between carrier and passenger. It appears to be a simple and discrete system within which the passenger-carrier relationship is insulated from third-party interests and influences. We have seen that the drafters of the Warsaw Convention were vindicated in establishing their regime on the basis of this two-party paradigm given the then-current state of play under le droit commun. however, a number of substantial developments now render that twoparty paradigm an anachronism. The thesis of this Article is that a bigger picture now exists, within which WCS and MC99 are merely parts. The modern reality is one in which the passenger-carrier relationship is very exposed to third-party interest and influence. The goal of Part III of this Article is to demonstrate the existence of this bigger picture and to elaborate upon its nature and dynamics—but first, an illustrative case.

#### A. An Illustrative Case

The Kegworth air disaster was the crash of British Midland Flight 92 on January 8, 1989, near East Midlands Airport in the United Kingdom. The accident took the lives of forty-seven people and seriously

<sup>122.</sup> For an account of how the fifth jurisdiction finally came to be accepted, see Cluxton, supra note 11, at Part III.B.

<sup>123.</sup> See supra Part II.B.

injured many of the seventy-nine survivors.<sup>124</sup> The aircraft (a Boeing 737-400) was climbing to cruising altitude when a fan blade detached from its left (number 1) engine (a CFM56 manufactured and sold by CFM International). The detached blade caused secondary damage to the engine and, as a result, the airframe began to vibrate severely. At the same time, fumes and smoke were ingested into the cabin of the aircraft through the air conditioning system. Believing—erroneously, as it would turn out—that the air conditioning system was fed from the right (number 2) engine, the crew identified it as defective and throttled it back and shut it down. In response, the shuddering lessened, and the smoke and fumes reduced. This induced the crew to believe that the problem was mitigated and the crew decided to divert to East Midlands Airport. On approach, thrust to the damaged left engine increased, which caused it to fail and catch fire. There was a resulting abrupt loss of power. Without sufficient time to restart the other engine, the aircraft crashed short of the runway, colliding with the embankment of the M1 motorway.

The United Kingdom's Air Accident Investigation Branch (A.A.I.B.) would ultimately identify the cause of the accident as the flight crew shutting down the wrong engine. 125 Whilst this was the theory from early on, it was challenged by some, including plaintiffs, who argued that the true cause was the cross-wiring of an engine warning system by the manufacturer. 126 The A.A.I.B. was not yet published when the Nolan v. Boeing Co. litigation began. 127 The plaintiffs in Nolan were the fortyfive surviving relatives of the passengers killed in the disaster, seventysix survivors, two bystanders, and various others claiming loss of consortium from injuries to survivors. 128 Since this crash occurred in the United Kingdom during a domestic flight between London and Belfast, operated by a British carrier, one might have expected that any resulting litigation would have taken place in the United Kingdom. Instead, the claims were brought before the U.S. courts. The defendants were Boeing Co., CFM International and General Electric Co. (G.E.). The engines were marketed by CFM, a joint enterprise created by G.E., and a French

<sup>124.</sup> The brief summary of the key facts provided above is taken from the Air Accidents Investigation Branch (A.A.I.B.) report. For a full account of the accident, the reader is directed to Air Accidents Investigation Branch [AAIB], Report on the accident to Boeing 737, 400 G-OBME NEAR KEGWORTH, LEICESTERSHIRE ON 8 JANUARY 1989 3-7 (1990).

<sup>125.</sup> Id. at 2.

<sup>126.</sup> The A.A.I.B. report found no evidence to support this theory. *Id.* at 145.

<sup>127.</sup> Nolan v. Boeing Co., 762 F. Supp. 680, 681 (E.D. La. 1989), aff'd, 919 F.2d 1058 (5th Cir. 1990).

<sup>128.</sup> Id.

company, S.N.E.C.M.A., <sup>129</sup> each of which designed and manufactured components of the engines.

Another likely reason the case was brought in the United States was to avoid the limitation of liability imposed by the application of WCS to any claim brought against the carrier. Given the strong connections to the United Kingdom, keeping the litigation in the United States would require overcoming some serious obstacles, foremost amongst which was the prospect of FNC dismissal. The U.S. law firm's strategy was to avoid federal court by suing in Louisiana State Court, which, at that point in time, did not recognize the doctrine of FNC.

The next hurdle to vault was the issue of diversity jurisdiction. <sup>131</sup> For the purposes of diversity jurisdiction, a corporation is considered a citizen of both its state of incorporation and its principal place of business. <sup>132</sup> In *Nolan*, none of the victims were U.S. citizens, but the defendants were U.S. corporations. <sup>133</sup> It thus appeared that diversity jurisdiction existed, and the defendants would have been entitled to have the case removed to federal court. The plaintiffs knew that once in federal court FNC dismissal would be almost certain, so they attempted to

<sup>129.</sup> S.N.E.C.M.A. (Société Nationale d'Etudes et de Construction de Moteurs d'Aviation) was a corporation organized under French law which, in 2004, merged with Sagem to form S.A.F.R.A.N. In 2016, S.N.E.C.M.A. was renamed Safran Aircraft Engines.

<sup>130.</sup> Although the flight in question was a domestic flight and therefore not directly subject to the Warsaw Convention, the Convention would have applied by virtue of an Order made pursuant to § 10(1) of the Carriage by Air Act 1961, 9 & 10 Eliz. 2 c. 27, § 10(1) (U.K.). Under § 4 of the earlier Carriage by Air Act 1932, 22 & 23 Geo. 5 c. 36, § 4 (U.K.), the Warsaw Convention was made applicable to non-international carriage by the Carriage by Air (Non-International Carriage) (U.K.) Order 1952 (S.I. 1952, No. 158).

<sup>131.</sup> Under the U.S. Constitution (U.S. Const. art. III, § 2, cl. 1) and as modified by the general diversity statute (codified under 28 U.S.C. § 1332), federal courts are granted subject matter jurisdiction in civil cases involving diversity of citizenship where the matter in controversy exceeds a certain amount (currently \$75,000). Diversity of citizenship arises where the litigants are citizens of different states (e.g., a Florida plaintiff suing a Colorado defendant) or where one is a citizen of a state, and the other is a citizen of a foreign State (e.g., a Florida plaintiff suing a French defendant, or vice versa). The generally accepted explanation for why the First Congress chose to bestow such jurisdiction on the federal courts is that they wished to avoid the possibility of prejudice by state courts against out-of-state parties by ensuring a neutral forum. See CHARLES ALAN WRIGHT ET AL., 13 FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 3601 (3d ed. 2008).

<sup>132. 28</sup> U.S.C. § 1332(c)(1).

<sup>133.</sup> In the case of Boeing, its place of incorporation was Delaware, and its principal place of business Washington. G.E. was incorporated and had its principal place of business in New York. CFM International was a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in Ohio.

employ an untested theory to resist removal: narrowing in on the requirement that diversity of citizenship must be complete. 134

Instead of filing actions under the names of the real plaintiffs in interest, the plaintiffs' lawyers filed actions under the names of the appointed legal representatives who shared national citizenship with the defendants. The case was initially removed to federal court whereupon the plaintiffs sought remand. Although the defendants sought to impugn the strategy as fraudulent, the district court had no choice but to accept the citizenship of the appointed representatives and remand the case back to state court because of then-existing law. 136

With removal successfully resisted, the case appeared to be stuck in state court. At that time, the court did not have the doctrine of FNC, so the plaintiff lawyers thought they were home free. Unbeknownst to them, Boeing and G.E. had an ace up their sleeve: joining S.N.E.C.M.A. as a third-party defendant. Although it was not alleged that S.N.E.C.M.A. owed any liability to the plaintiffs, it was under a contractual obligation to G.E. as part of their joint venture in CFM International, under which they shared profits and liabilities. This allowed G.E. to file cross claims for indemnification and contribution against S.N.E.C.M.A., thereby joining the company to the litigation. At that time, S.N.E.C.M.A. was owned by the French State, and was thus entitled to have the case removed to federal court under the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act. 137

Once back in federal court, Boeing (with the support of the other defendants) moved for FNC dismissal, arguing that England was an adequate alternative forum to resolve the dispute. 138 Plaintiffs challenged

<sup>134.</sup> The requirement of complete diversity is defined by Black's Law Dictionary in the following terms: "In a multiparty case, diversity between both sides to the lawsuit so that all plaintiffs have different citizenship from all defendants." *Complete Diversity*, BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (9th ed. 2009). The rule of complete diversity was first laid down by Chief Justice Marshall in Strawbridge v. Curtiss, 7 U.S. 267 (1806) (the theory being that in such cases, there is no risk of prejudice where citizens of the same state are represented on both sides of the dispute).

<sup>135.</sup> The nominal plaintiffs were Kenneth P. Nolan and Vernon T. Judkins, both of whom were attorneys hired by administrators, curators, and/or tutors of the 225 persons (or family members of the persons) injured or killed in the accident. Nolan v. Boeing Co., 919 F.2d 1058, 1060 (5th Cir. 1990). Nolan was a New York citizen; Judkins, a Washington citizen. Far from being a mere coincidence, the plaintiff lawyers admitted "their sole reason for appointing domiciliaries of those states to act as administrators was to avoid diversity of citizenship and prevent the removal of their actions to federal court." *Id.* at 1061.

<sup>136.</sup> It should be noted that this strategy was subsequently closed off by statutory action that specifies that the domicile of the true party in interest should be used for diversity purposes. See 28 U.S.C. § 1332.

<sup>137.</sup> Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act of 1976, 28 U.S.C. § 1441(d).

<sup>138.</sup> Nolan, 919 F.2d at 681

dismissal on the grounds that the change in law would be so detrimental to their interests that it rendered England an inadequate forum. 139 The court noted that the likely damages awarded in England would be much lower because punitive damages would not be available, and it averred to the possible unavailability of strict products liability in that iurisdiction. 140 Nevertheless, the court concluded that "the plaintiffs' remedy in the United Kingdom is not so clearly inadequate or unsatisfactory that it is no remedy at all, the unfavorable change in law ought not to be given substantial weight."141 The court also stressed the absence of any connection to the local forum, in contrast to the overwhelming links to the United Kingdom. 142 The private and public interest factors all pointed toward dismissal and, indeed, the district court granted a conditional dismissal subsequently affirmed by the Fifth Circuit. The ultimate fate of the plaintiffs' claims is not publicly known. It is likely that they settled for sums substantially lower than what they would have been awarded had the litigation continued to a successful proplaintiff conclusion in the United States.

Aside from demonstrating the lengths to which plaintiff and defendant lawyers will go in order to secure a jurisdictional advantage, *Nolan* also illustrates a number of salient points of immediate relevance to this Article.

First, it is a prime example of a group of plaintiffs electing to forego a WCS claim in a local forum in preference for an alternative remedy in a foreign forum. Whilst *Nolan* was litigated within the context of WCS, a system with obvious drawbacks (e.g., the low limit of liability), we continue to see the same practice of foregoing a remedy under MC99, a purportedly superior system to WCS. Why is that? The simple answer is choice of forum. The attractiveness of MC99 is ultimately conditional upon its jurisdictional scheme providing the particular plaintiff with a choice of their desired forum.

Second, *Nolan* exemplifies the reality that, because most aviation accidents can be attributed to several possible causes, a range of potential

<sup>139.</sup> Id. at 682.

<sup>140.</sup> Id.

<sup>141.</sup> *Id.* (citing Gulf Oil Corp. v. Gilbert, 330 U.S. 501, 265 (1947); Ahmed v. Boeing Co., 720 F.2d 224, 226 (5th Cir. 1983).

<sup>142.</sup> Nolan, 919 F.2d at 683 ("Even if plaintiffs intend to base their case on the negligence of defendants in the planning, design, manufacture, assembly, testing, service and inspection of the aircraft and its engines, the evidence regarding the crash itself and the actions of BMA are central to the tragedy ... Here, one finds even less of a connection to this forum since none of the airplane's components were designed or manufactured in Louisiana ... In addition to evidence about the crash, substantially the evidence of the damage is also in the United Kingdom. Trial in the U.K. would greatly facilitate access to this evidence.").

defendants can be implicated. In other words, aviation litigation is usually multi-party in nature. This is more so at the preliminary stage when jurisdiction is being litigated, precisely because the pool of potential defendants will be larger because there have not yet been any findings on the substance of the various claims.

Third, the existence of multiple defendants (whether as codefendants or third-party defendants) raises additional issues that influence choice of forum. Choice of forum considerations may influence the plaintiff's choice of defendant. In addition, the subsequent actions taken by the defendant(s) can be motivated by their own interests regarding choice of forum. Although British Midland was the prime suspect from the outset and thus the *proper* defendant for the plaintiffs' actions, the availability of U.S. defendants, combined with the plaintiffs' desire to secure a U.S. forum, resulted in the selection of Louisiana as the litigation forum, even though British Midland was not susceptible to the jurisdiction of that state's courts. From the perspective of a defendant, *Nolan* illustrates how they too will exploit the multi-party nature of aviation accident litigation to secure a jurisdictional advantage by excluding, impleading, or joining other parties.

The common denominator of these three points is choice of forum. Plaintiff lawyers will go to great lengths to secure the most advantageous forum, while defense lawyers will bend over backward to frustrate their securing that goal. At the top of the list of desirable forums is the United States. A good plaintiff lawyer will look at their jurisdictional options under MC99, if one of those is the United States, and FNC dismissal is avoidable, then they are home free and can expect the airline—in reality its insurer—to settle posthaste. Where MC99 does not offer a U.S. forum, then plaintiff lawyers will turn their attention to other potential defendants and theories of liability—anything that will get their foot in the door of a U.S. courtroom.<sup>143</sup>

#### **B.** Alternative Remedies

As *Nolan* amply illustrates, a highly eligible alternative defendant in aviation litigation is the manufacturer, especially since an enormous share of the airframe and aircraft component market is owned by U.S.

<sup>143.</sup> As one U.S. lawyer stated: "[I]f any part of the epicenter of the dispute touches the United States, the legal representatives would be negligent not to explore the possibility of action there." Alan Reed, *To Be or Not To Be: The Forum Non Conveniens Performance Acted Out on Anglo-American Courtroom Stages*, 29 GA. J. INT'L COMP. L. 31, 31 (2000).

corporations. The manufacturer is even more attractive as a defendant where an action is based on strict products liability. This all begs a rather obvious question: if the aviation manufacturer is such a clear and attractive target for passenger claims, then why did the drafters of the Warsaw Convention not address it? Why did the drafters instead focus exclusively on the two-party relationship of the carrier-passenger rather than considering the reality of alternative remedies against third parties?

As shown above in Part II(C), at the time of the Warsaw Convention's drafting alternative remedies for passengers against third parties, e.g., a manufacturer, were few and far between. The drafters were justified at that time in adhering to the two-party paradigm as the basis for their system. What they could not appreciate at that time was that the subsequent emergence of alternative remedies would render that system anachronistic. The modern plaintiff has choices when it comes to which defendant to sue and what remedy to pursue. It is the core argument of this Article that MC99, as successor to WCS, is predicated on this anachronistic understanding, the repercussions of which undermine the effectiveness and fairness of MC99 as an aviation accident passenger compensation system.

This section explores the existence of alternative remedies. Mercifully, it can be a relatively short section as our interest is in establishing the factual existence of alternative remedies within the bigger picture of international aviation litigation, rather than analyzing their substantive content or assessing their overall efficacy. Furthermore, the greatest relevance of alternative remedies is the fact that they provide the source for third-party actions for contribution or indemnification, as will be further discussed in the next section.

The development of the common law to provide a general principle of liability for negligence opened an avenue for recovery in tort law for injured parties against parties with whom there was no privity of contract. Under these, it became possible for a plaintiff to bring a direct claim against a third party, such as a manufacturer, service provider (e.g., an airport), or even against a state's aviation authorities (provided sovereign immunity was not a barrier). Privity of contract no longer constrained the plaintiff to sue only the carrier with whom the contract of carriage had been formed. Now, the plaintiff had the possibility of an alternative tort-based remedy in negligence against third parties to the contract of carriage.

However, the alternative remedy provided under the general principle of negligence would not prove particularly useful to the plaintiff in the context of an aviation accident claim. Then, as now, a claim on the general theory of negligence was not usually an attractive option to a plaintiff because of the need to prove fault. This is an especially onerous burden to overcome in the field of aviation, given the technical sophistication of the industry<sup>144</sup> and the likelihood that evidence has been destroyed and/or witnesses killed.<sup>145</sup> Even where it is possible to establish proof of negligence, the actual cost of doing so in an aviation accident may be prohibitively expensive. Where applicable, <sup>146</sup> the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur has provided some amelioration, yet the doctrine is of almost no value to a claim brought against a manufacturer or other third party because it requires that the defendant be in exclusive control of the instrument. In the case of an aircraft, it is the carrier who is generally in exclusive control, so—in the vast majority of aviation cases—the manufacturer or another third party will not be within the grasp of res ipsa loquitur, and the difficulties of proving negligence will remain. <sup>147</sup>

<sup>144.</sup> As stated in *Shawcross & Beaumont*: "To succeed in a products liability case based on liability in negligence, a plaintiff must establish that the defendant was at fault in being negligent in respect of the design or manufacture of the product. In an aviation context, given the technical sophistication of the industry, this may be a difficult task." 4 Shawcross & Beaumont: AIR LAW ¶ 406 (David McClean et al. eds., 169th ed. 2020).

<sup>145.</sup> See, e.g., Cox v. Nw. Airlines, Inc., 379 F.2d 893 (7th Cir. 1967), wherein the plaintiff's husband had been a passenger of a flight operated by the defendant that had disappeared over the Pacific Ocean. Some wreckage was subsequently located, but the bodies of the passengers and crew were never found, nor was any evidence as to the cause of the accident. *Id.* 

<sup>146.</sup> While seemingly custom-made for aviation accident cases, it was initially argued that the doctrine was inapplicable to aviation due to the inherent perils of the air, which meant that the defendant was never truly in exclusive control of the circumstances. This was addressed in Fosbroke-Hobbes v. Airwork [1937] 1 All ER 108 (KB) (Eng.), and in Boulineaux v. Knoxville, 99 S.W.2d 849 (Ark. 1935). Goedhuis wrote, circa 1937, "[t]he question whether or not the doctrine of res ipsa loquitor ought to be applied to air accidents has in the last years been much debated, especially in the United States." GOEDHUIS, supra note 23, at 34. Some support for not applying the doctrine was found in the early days of aviation. For example, in Morrison v. Le Tourneau Co., 138 F.2d 339, 341 (5th Cir. 1943), the Fifth Circuit declared that "[t]he doctrine of res ipsa loquitor cannot apply in cases of this sort, because there is no showing that accidents of this very nature cannot happen to the most skillful [sic] pilots in planes of the finest type and condition." However, the technological advances and resulting improvements in safety and performance have eroded this basis for resisting the application of the doctrine. In 1977, the Fifth Circuit reconsidered its position. Higginbotham v. Mobil Oil Corp., 545 F.2d 422, 429-30 (5th Cir. 1977), rev'd on other grounds, 436 U.S. 618 (1978). Higginbotham was cited approvingly by the Privy Council in George v. Eagle Air Services Ltd. [2009] 1 WLR 2133 (PC) (appeal taken from St. Lucia) (Eng.). By 1965, Prosser's Law of Torts stated that "all the later cases now agree that the safety record justifies the application of res ipsa loquitor to [an unexpected airplane] crash, or even to the complete disappearance of a plane." PROSSER, supra note 106, at 220-21.

<sup>147.</sup> For more on res ipsa loquitor in an aviation context, see ANDREAS F. LOWENFLED, AVIATION LAW: CASES AND MATERIALS 7, 106-10 (2d ed. 1981); Howard Osterhout, The

In the 1960s, a distinct body of law emerged in the United States known as strict products liability, built upon aspects of tort and contract law—specifically, the elements of negligence and warranty.<sup>148</sup> This body of law produced a distinct cause of action that has proven especially valuable in the case of aviation litigation, i.e., strict products liability in tort.<sup>149</sup> This new cause of action relieved the plaintiff of the heavy burden of proving fault while also providing a general basis upon which to establish the liability of third parties for their products. In 1965, the American Law Institute codified it as a rule in its Restatement (Second) of Torts, <sup>150</sup> which has been adopted (with some alteration) by the majority of U.S. states.<sup>151</sup>

Inspired by the U.S. experience, the European Union established a strict liability regime for damage caused by defective products in the 1980s.<sup>152</sup> As a form of strict liability, the plaintiff is not required to prove fault or negligence on the part of the producer, instead, they must prove the damage, defect, and causation.<sup>153</sup> The European experience is noted

Doctrine of Res Ipsa Loquitor as Applied to Aviation, 2 AIR L. REV. 9 (1931); E.A. Harriman, Carriage of Passengers by Air, 1 J. AIR L. 33, 39-40 (1930).

- 148. LAURENCE E. GESELL, AVIATION AND THE LAW 650-51 (1998); see also James D. Ghiardi, Products Liability—Where is the Borderline Now?, 13 THE FORUM 206, 206-07 (1977); Richard A. Epstein, Products Liability: The Search for the Middle Ground, 56 N.C. L. REV 643, 643 (1978). A good summary of the history of products liability law in the United States is to be found in Rebecca Tustin Rutherford, Changers in the Landscape of Products Liability Law: An Analysis of the Restatement (Third) of Torts, 63 J. AIR. L. & COM. 209, 212-18 (1997).
- 149. See William L. Prosser, Products Liability in Perspective, 5 GONZ. L. REV. 157, 162 (1970); William L. Prosser, The Fall of the Citadel (Strict Liability to the Consumer), 50 MINN. L. REV. 791, 804 (1966).
  - 150. RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS § 402A (AM. LAW INST. 1965).
- 151. It must be noted that the application of § 402A has been "anything but uniform." Rutherford, *supra* note 148, at 229. In 1997, the American Law Institute approved RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF THE LAW OF TORTS: PRODUCTS LIABILITY, which seeks to supersede § 402A of the Second Restatement. However, the vast majority of states still adhere to the Second Restatement. The Restatement is extremely influential and has been adopted by many states as an authoritative statement of strict liability for products in tort. Rutherford, *supra* note 148, at 222.
- 152. The European Commission began to study strict liability for products in the 1970s and produced a draft Directive in 1976. In 1985, Council Directive 85/374 was adopted, i.e., Council Directive 85/374, 1985 O.J. (L 210/29) (EC) [hereinafter Directive 85/374], on the approximation of the laws, regulations, and administrative provision of the Member States concerning liability for defective products. This Directive was to be transposed by the E.U. Member States into national law by 1988. *Id.* For some history and discussion of the Directive, *see generally* Peter Shears, *The EU Product Liability Directive—Twenty Years On*, J. Bus. L. 884 (2007).
- 153. See Directive 85/374, supra note 152, at art. 4 ("The injured person shall be required to prove the damage, the defect and the causal relationship between defect and damage.").

simply to demonstrate that the emergence of a new remedy, i.e., strict products liability, is not unique to the United States. Instead, it is safe to say that the expansion of remedies beyond those available in 1929 has taken place worldwide. From the plaintiff's point of view, WCS and MC99 are no longer the only shows in town.

The emergence of alternative remedies and defendants has meant that third parties (i.e., third parties to the contract of carriage) are now directly or indirectly implicated in the litigation of passenger claims. Whereas at the time of the Warsaw Convention, the drafters could rely on the law insulating third parties from passenger claims, the development of alternative remedies has expanded the plaintiff's options. The current reality is that MC99 is just one of several potential remedies available. Not only does this raise questions about its efficacy, but it also impacts the issue of choice of forum. The attractiveness of MC99 is ultimately conditional upon its jurisdictional scheme granting the plaintiff a choice of the most desirable forum. Where an alternative remedy exists that offers a preferable forum, then plaintiffs will forego an MC99 action, even if that alternative remedy is otherwise a less attractive option. Foregoing a convention remedy was not contemplated by the drafters of the Warsaw Convention, but it must now be taken into account when evaluating choice of forum under MC99.

# C. Third-Party Actions

The emergence of alternative remedies led to another development that also contributes significantly to the bigger picture. This is the reality of third-party actions for contribution or indemnification, the impact of which is threefold. First, they provide the link by which alternative remedies become directly implicated in the carrier-passenger liability relationship. Second, they can undermine the goals and objectives of WCS and MC99 by circumventing some of the provisions of those regimes. Third, third-party actions can also have a direct bearing on choice of forum. Whether the defendant to the main action is the carrier (or some other party), the existence, or even just the prospect, of the defendant bringing a third-party action against another party alters the jurisdictional power play. As shown by the *Nolan* case, third-party actions are a strategic tool used by defendants in aviation litigation to win a jurisdictional advantage over the plaintiff. This raises new questions: Is this fair to the plaintiff? Is it consistent with the goals of MC99?

What is a third-party action? A third-party action is distinct from, but conditional upon, the main action between a plaintiff and a defendant.

A defendant may bring a third-party action to the main action against a third party who it alleges is liable to the defendant, either in part or in full, for its liability to the plaintiff in the main action. In practical terms, when a plaintiff brings an action for damages against a carrier, that carrier may allege that another party (e.g., the manufacturer of the aircraft) is also to blame, and this other party should reimburse the carrier for some (or all) of the damages that the carrier ends up owing to the plaintiff. Various other configurations can arise – instead of the carrier, the plaintiff might sue an agent of the carrier (e.g., in negligence) or a component manufacturer (e.g., in products liability), and that defendant may seek recourse against the carrier for some share (if not all) of the liability. The parties to the third-party action are called the third-party plaintiff and the third-party defendant.

The most common examples of a third-party action are claims for indemnification or contribution. In simple terms, the difference between indemnity and contribution is that in the former, the entirety of the liability is transferred from one party to the other; in the latter, liability is effectively shared between the tortfeasors according to the doctrine of apportionment.<sup>154</sup>

While indemnity might arise by way of contract and/or by operation of law, the right to contribution arises only by operation of law. 155 However, a distinction must be made between a third-party action for indemnification arising as a matter of law and one arising as a matter of contract. A right to indemnification arising under contract will be treated in the next section, which focuses on the influence of third parties via contractual indemnities and contracts of insurance. In this section, we are concerned with the influence exerted by third parties via their right to contribution or indemnification as it arises by operation of law. This

<sup>154.</sup> One commentator described it thus: "'Contribution' indicates that the liability for loss occasioned by a tort is shared by those responsible for it. 'Indemnity' indicates that the entire liability for loss is shifted from one person held legally responsible to another person. One who receives contribution is nevertheless out of pocket the amount of the judgment for which he does not receive contribution. One who is awarded indemnity is not out of pocket all because his indemnitor has to pay the entire judgment." E. Eugene Davis, *Indemnity Between Negligent Tortfeasors: A Proposed Rationale*, 37 IOWA L. REV. 517, 517 (1952). See also Gus M. Hodges, Contribution and Indemnity Among Tortfeasors, 26 Tex. L. REV. 150, 150-51 (1947) ("'Contribution' is used to mean the payment by each tortfeasor of his proportionate share of the plaintiff's damages to any other tortfeasor who has paid more than his proportionate part ... 'Indemnity' is used to mean the payment of all of plaintiff's damage by one tortfeasor to another tortfeasor who had paid it to the plaintiff.").

<sup>155.</sup> Francis J. Gorman, *Indemnity and Contribution Under Maritime Law*, 55 Tul. L. Rev. 1165, 1167 (1981).

occurs in the case of joint or concurrent tortfeasors, which is common in aviation litigation.

Where a third-party plaintiff seeks contribution/indemnification against a third-party defendant based on common tort liability (as distinct from a contractual basis), then a condition of recovery is that both parties (to the third-party action) bear common liability to the plaintiff in the main action. If the plaintiff could not sue the manufacturer, the defendant carrier cannot seek contribution from the manufacturer. In the aviation example above, unless the manufacturer (i.e., the third-party defendant) would be liable to the plaintiff in a direct action, then the manufacturer cannot be liable to the carrier (qua third-party plaintiff) for contribution.

This commonality, upon which contribution/indemnification is founded, may be expressed either in the tortious act (and consequently in the damage) or solely in the damage. Where the commonality is in the tortious act *and* the damage, then the parties are defined as joint tortfeasors. Where the commonality is *only* in the damage, then they are defined as concurrent tortfeasors. What both species of tortfeasors

<sup>156.</sup> Joint tortfeasors combine to commit a single tortious act that necessarily causes the same damage. See W.T.S. STALLYBRASS, SALMOND'S LAW OF TORTS 74 (10th ed. 1945) ("In order to be joint tortfeasors they must, in fact, or in law, have committed the same wrongful act."). In the case of a joint tortfeasor, there is a single tort for which multiple parties bear shared responsibility. Joint tortfeasors thus share a mental concurrence in the commission of the wrongful act; that is, they act in concert or with a joint purpose. There are various doctrines for determining the existence of this mental concurrence, and these differ between jurisdictions. For instance, in English law, the concept of common design is employed by the courts. See, e.g., Unilever Plc. v. Gillette (U.K.) Ltd. [1989] RPC 583, 609 (CA) (Eng.) (Mustill L.J. defining the test for liability as a joint tortfeasor as whether, "(a) there was a common design between [the parties] to do acts which ... amounted to infringements, and (b) [the party] has acted in furtherance of that design."). This area of law was addressed in 2015 by the Supreme Court of the United Kingdom, in Fish & Fish Ltd. v. Sea Shepherd [2015] 2 WLR 694 (SC on appeal from Eng.) (UK).

<sup>157.</sup> Whilst liability as joint tortfeasors arises where the parties combine to commit a single tort; there are situations in which two parties commit separate torts that combine to cause damage to the same injured party. This is frequently the case in aviation accidents since the torts, e.g., the independent negligent act of the carrier combined with a manufacturer's design defect, combine contemporaneously to cause personal injury or death. In this case, the tortfeasors do not act jointly, but their acts do run together to cause damage. Where their acts substantially and contemporaneously result in damage that is indivisible, then these several (i.e., not joint) tortfeasors may be regarded as concurrent tortfeasors. For example, in Walton v. Avco Corp., 610 A.2d 454, 460, 530 Pa. 568, 580 (1992), an aviation product liability case involving concurrent tortfeasors' failure to warn, the court refused a claim for indemnification because each party's liability was independent from the other. ("The relationship of the parties in this case, however, establishes concurrent primary liabilities and therefore precludes any right to indemnification. Neither defendant's liability was dependent upon, or a precursor to, the other's. The jury found them both liable for their own acts, independent of one another.").

(generally referred to as solidary tortfeasors in the civilian law tradition)<sup>158</sup> share is that their torts must, as Glanville Williams put it, "run together" to produce the same damage.<sup>159</sup>

#### i. Contribution

Contribution allows one tortfeasor, who paid more than their share of the liability to the plaintiff, to seek a portion of that liability from another non-paying tortfeasor (or tortfeasors, if there is more than one). It is essentially a concession to fairness<sup>160</sup> and rests upon the recognition of the need for equity between those with a common obligation.<sup>161</sup> Each legal system has its own doctrine of contribution, or indeed may have a rule against it. However, the right of contribution at common law is generally denied an intentional tortfeasor; a similar exclusion applies in civil law.<sup>1621</sup>

Although contribution between tortfeasors is now commonplace, it was not always so. Under the rule in *Merryweather v. Nixan* (1799), 163 there was no contribution between joint tortfeasors at common law. 164 Therefore, where the plaintiff elected to recover solely from tortfeasor A, then tortfeasor B effectively got a free pass because A had no right of indemnity/contribution against B. The policy justification for this rule (as well as for the contributory fault exclusionary rule) was expressed in the legal maxims *in pari delicto* (potior est conditio defendantis) and ex

<sup>158.</sup> This is, of course, a generalization regarding civilian law systems. In fact, the various civilian systems do differ in how they define solidary tortfeasors, not all of which would identify concurrent tortfeasors as being *solidary*, although they would hold them liable *in solidum* for the damages. The difference emerges in the division of liability. In the case of joint tortfeasors, liability is distributed on a percentage basis corresponding to relative fault. For concurrent tortfeasors, the division tends to be on percentage causation. But there is also a tendency in some systems to see the liability of concurrent tortfeasors as a case of indivisibility, which has technical rules different from solidarity.

<sup>159.</sup> GLANVILLE L. WILLIAMS, JOINT TORTS AND CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE 1 (1951).

<sup>160.</sup> See Robert A. Leflar, Contribution and Indemnity Between Tortfeasors, 81 U. PA. L. REV. 130, 134 (1932).

<sup>161.</sup> Id. at 137.

<sup>162.</sup> Huibert Drion, Limitation of Liabilities in International Air Law 103-04 (1954).

<sup>163.</sup> Merryweather v. Nixan (1799) Eng. Rep. 186; 101 ER 1337 (Eng.).

<sup>164.</sup> For discussion of this case, see generally Theodore W. Reath, Contribution Between Persons Jointly Charged with Negligence - Merryweather v. Nixan, 12 HARV. L. REV. 176 (1898); Hodges, supra note 154; Ellis Berger, Contribution Between Tortfeasors, 9 IND. L.J. 229 (1934).

turpi causa non oritur actio. 165 In simple terms, the courts would not come to the aid of a wrongdoer.

This could be a harsh rule that imposed an injustice on parties who bore only a small proportion of the fault. In addition, it undermined the deterrent effect of tort liability. Nevertheless, the common law did not—and, strictly speaking, still does not—permit a right to contribution; however, an exception did arise in admiralty. However, since then, English law, 167 various U.S. state laws, 168 and various other jurisdictions have enacted statutory schemes that provide a right to contribution.

When it comes to the civil law tradition, Szalma states that whilst Roman law recognized delictual, solidary obligations, permitting the injured party to recover all losses from one of several tortfeasors, the law did not permit contribution claims between tortfeasors. Although Szalma claims that the majority of European civil law systems followed the Roman law, he describes provisions under Austrian, German, Swiss, and French Codes that allowed contribution between solidary tortfeasors. Indeed, this appears to be the current general position of the European civilian law tradition.

<sup>165.</sup> See Leflar, supra note 160, at 130.

<sup>166.</sup> An exception did arise, but only in admiralty in England and the United States. A court of admiralty could order that the loss be divided equally between the parties, known as the rule of moiety (also referred to as the divided damages rule). The rule was first laid down in 1815 by Lord Stowell in *The Woodrop-Sims* (1815) 165 Eng. Rep. 1422, 1423 (UK). The U.S. Supreme Court adopted the rule in 1854 in *The Schooner Catharine v. Dickinson*, 58 U.S. 170 (1854).

<sup>167.</sup> Under English law, a statutory right was provided by the Law Reform (Married Women and Tortfeasors) Act 1935, 25 & 26 Geo. 5 c. 30, § 6 (UK). This Act was subsequently repealed and replaced by the Civil Liability (Contribution) Act 1978, c. 47 (UK), under which any party liable for damage suffered by another person may recover contribution from any other person liable for the same damage (whether jointly or otherwise). *Id.* at § 1.

<sup>168.</sup> Many states have adopted legislation based on the Uniform Law Commission's model legislation, the 1977 Uniform Comparative Fault Act. See UNIFORM APPORTIONMENT OF TORT RESPONSIBILITY ACT 4 (UNIF. LAW COMM'N 2003). The State of Idaho, for example, provides comparative negligence as the basis for apportionment. See Sun Valley Airlines, Inc. v. Avco-Lycoming Corp., 411 F. Supp. 598 (D. Idaho 1976).

<sup>169.</sup> Jozef Szalma, Solidary and Divided Liability of Joint Tortfeasors—with Special Regards to the Provisions of the New Hungarian Civil Code, 8 J. Euro. Hist. L. 66, 66-67 (2017).

<sup>170.</sup> Id. at 69.

<sup>171.</sup> The Principles of European Tort Law (PETL), published by the European Group on Tort Law (EGTL), provide some evidence of this. Although the PETL are not legally binding, they do intend to provide a harmonized codification of the law in Europe (including commonlaw States) in a similar vein to the American Law Association's Restatements. Under Article 9(102)(1) of the PETL: "A person subject to solidary liability may recover a contribution from any other person liable to the victim in respect of the same damage. This right is without

Therefore, unlike the common law, the civil law tradition has long provided for contribution between solidary tortfeasors. However, as demonstrated above in Part II(C)(ii), this was still problematic because it required establishing the liability of the parties in the first instance; this was very hard to do against third parties to the contract of carriage, so the availability of contribution was more theoretical than practicable. In other words, the need for contribution seldom arose in the context of carriage because the underlying requirement for liability of a third party to the plaintiff was extremely rare.

### ii. Indemnification

In essence, indemnity means the duty to make good the liability incurred by another.<sup>172</sup> As noted above, the right of indemnity can arise either by contract or by operation of law. It is with the latter that we are currently concerned; the former is addressed in the next section. The origin of the non-contractual right to indemnity is found in equity, where it was founded upon the doctrines of restitution and unjust enrichment.<sup>173</sup> Simply put, indemnity results in the "shifting of the entire loss from one tortfeasor to another."<sup>174</sup>

The rule against contribution/indemnification could be harsh on a joint/concurrent tortfeasor, especially when the paying tortfeasor was morally faultless or where his or her share of the fault was minimal, e.g., when the paying tortfeasor's liability was based on strict liability or was vicarious. <sup>175</sup> In these cases, common law courts recognized an equitable right for a tortfeasor to recoup his or her loss from the other tortfeasor who was truly at fault. <sup>176</sup> As one commentator described it, "[i]ndemnity

prejudice to any contract between them determining the allocation of the loss or to any statutory provision or to any right to recover by reason of subrogation [cessio legis] or on the basis of unjust enrichment." See Principles of European Tort Law, EUR. GROUP ON TORT L. (May 2005), available at http://www.egtl.org/docs/PETL.pdf (last visited Apr. 9, 2021).

<sup>172.</sup> The etymology of the word "indemnity" has been traced to the conjunction of the Latin words *in* (not), *damn* (loss), and *ficere* (to make), i.e., to not make loss. Gorman, *supra* note 155, at 1166 n.4.

<sup>173.</sup> Marie R. Yeates et al., Contribution and Indemnity in Maritime Litigation, 30 S. Tex. L. Rev. 215, 223 (1990).

<sup>174.</sup> Ingham v. E. Air Lines Inc., 373 F.2d 227, 241 (2d Cir. 1967).

<sup>175.</sup> For example, a right of indemnity may arise in the case where liability arises vicariously based on a special relationship, e.g., respondeat superior. See Gorman, supra note 155, at 1172 ("[A] master, who is held vicariously liable under respondeat superior for the negligent acts of his servant, would be entitled to indemnity from the servant.").

<sup>176.</sup> For example, indemnity between tortfeasors was allowed by the Iowa Supreme Court in Rozmajzl v. Northland Greyhound Lines, 242 Iowa 1135, 49 N.W.2d 501 (1951)

is given to the person morally innocent but legally liable, as against the actual wrongdoer whose misconduct has brought the liability upon him."<sup>177</sup> There are, of course, various doctrines. Generally speaking, the right to equitable indemnification is usually only available in those circumstances where the paying tortfeasor is de jure liable but de facto "fault-less."<sup>178</sup> Where the paying tortfeasor bears more than a de minimis level of fault, then the right of indemnification is not available, and they must rely instead on the availability of a right to contribution.

The need to rely on equitable indemnification has been substantially reduced by the introduction of statutory regimes for contribution that generally permit contribution on a proportional basis all the way up to, and including, full indemnification.<sup>179</sup> In the context of aviation accident litigation, indemnification is much more likely to arise through an insurance agreement or contractual indemnities, to which we shall shortly turn.

### iii. Relevance to Aviation Litigation

The availability of a right to non-contractual contribution or indemnification was not a feature of the common law at the time of the Warsaw Convention, and its availability within the civilian legal system was largely theoretical. On the international law plane, there was some precedent for recourse. The Collision Convention of 1910 provided for the apportionment of liability between joint tortfeasors according to their relative degree of fault. The international regime governing the carriage of goods by railway contained provisions on recourse since the Berne Convention in 1890, 181 and continued to do so with both the CIM

<sup>(</sup>original common carrier was found liable); for some commentary on this case, see Davis, supra note 154, at 520.

<sup>177.</sup> Francis H. Bohlen, Contributory Negligence, 21 HARV. L. REV. 233, 243 (1908).

<sup>178.</sup> It is not possible to discern a precise common doctrinal basis to the various doctrines. See Ingham, 373 F.2d at 240; Davis, supra note 154, at 536; Hodges, supra note 154, at 153-57. At most, it could be said, as Judge Learned Hand stated in Slattery v. Marra Bros., Inc., 186 F.2d 134 (2d Cir. 1951), that indemnity ought to arise where "faults differ greatly in gravity."

<sup>179.</sup> See, e.g., Civil Liability (Contribution) Act 1978, c. 47, § 2(2) (Eng.).

<sup>180.</sup> See International Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules of Law with respect to Collisions between Vessels, art. 4, Sept. 23, 1910, TD/B/C.4/296 [hereinafter Collision Convention].

<sup>181.</sup> See Berne Convention 1890, supra note 33, at art. 48.

1924<sup>182</sup> and the CIV 1924.<sup>183</sup> However, the recourse provisions in the railway conventions dealt only with recourse between carriers who were party to the contract of carriage, i.e., successive carriage. Neither the CIM 1924 nor the CIV 1924 made any provision in relation to recourse actions by, or against, third parties.

All of this suggests that recourse actions were not a common feature of the legal landscape at the time the Warsaw Convention was drafted, which is further reflected in the fact that the Convention does not address them. This is in stark contrast to the state of affairs that presently exists where third-party actions are a regular feature of civil litigation. This fact alone has fundamentally changed the legal landscape of international aviation litigation, exploding the myth of the two-party paradigm upon which WCS (and thus MC99) was established.

The development of doctrines of indemnification and contribution drove the expansion of procedural rules of joinder. Traditionally, the ability to join a defendant to proceedings was limited to cases of joint tortfeasors, so that when a plaintiff wished to recover against concurrent tortfeasors he or she was forced to pursue each in a separate action. Once contribution and indemnification became available, it made more sense to provide for separate proceedings to be joined together. This certainly countered many of the traditional regime's inequities and led to a greater incidence of multi-party litigation. This has, it is submitted, generated new inequities for the plaintiff because it empowers defendants to employ various strategies to challenge the jurisdictional choice of the plaintiff, which is precisely what occurred in *Nolan*.<sup>184</sup>

In *Nolan*, a factor militating in favor of FNC dismissal was the defendants' inability to join the carrier (British Midland) as a third-party defendant to the U.S. proceedings. It was argued that unfortunate consequences would arise if the FNC dismissal was not granted because the defendants, if found liable, would be forced to seek indemnification or contribution from British Midland through a separate action in England. Ironically, the defendants in *Nolan* had complained of their inability to join British Midland as a third-party defendant due to the court's lack of jurisdiction over the carrier. However, it is highly unlikely that Boeing did not have contractual indemnity in place with British Midland upon which it could have found jurisdiction. Indeed, jurisdiction over S.N.E.C.M.A. was established on a similar basis. To the cynical

<sup>182.</sup> See CIM 1924, supra note 33, at art. 27. Chapter III of the CIM 1924 contained a number of provisions relating to recourse actions between carriers, including jurisdiction.

<sup>183.</sup> See CIV 1924, supra note 33, at arts. 48-49.

<sup>184.</sup> See supra Part III.A.

observer, it might seem that the defendants (including potential thirdparty defendants) were coordinating their efforts to ensure a jurisdictional advantage that served their common interest. Strategically, it made sense for the defendants to keep British Midland out of the litigation altogether. This is what they had initially done with S.N.E.C.M.A., only bringing them into the litigation as a last resort to secure removal to federal court.

Cases such as *Nolan* bring to light the impact that third-party actions can have on the litigation of international aviation accident cases, particularly the issue of choice of forum. Through a third-party action, a defendant can bring about the joinder of another party to the litigation between it and the plaintiff to the main action. This invariably alters the dynamics and is frequently exploited by the defense to secure a jurisdictional advantage, most often by manufacturing an FNC dismissal.

Another consequence for aviation litigation of third-party actions for non-contractual contribution/indemnification is the risk they pose to circumventing the provisions and purpose of WCS and MC99. This is an area of intense debate, and for reasons of space cannot be explored here in the detail required. Nevertheless, it is necessary to flag this issue and provide a very concise description.

If a plaintiff elects to forego a remedy against the carrier under WCS or MC99 and chooses instead to pursue a third party (e.g., an airframe manufacturer), the possibility can emerge that if that third party takes a third-party action against the carrier, that carrier would not be able to rely on the provisions of WCS or MC99 in that third-party action—although it could have, if the plaintiff had sued the carrier directly.

For example, in *In re Air Crash Over the Mid-Atlantic on June 1*, 2009, <sup>186</sup> most plaintiffs were non-U.S. domiciliaries for whom there was no U.S. jurisdiction over the carrier (Air France) under MC99. Instead, plaintiffs brought several tort actions against a number of U.S. component manufacturers in U.S. courts. These actions were consolidated before the District Court for the Central District of California. At this point, the defendant manufacturers brought third-party actions against Air France for indemnification or contribution. Air France argued that MC99 should apply to the third-party action and that the court should recognize that it did not have jurisdiction; to do otherwise, Air France argued, would circumvent and thereby undermine MC99 jurisdictional provisions. <sup>187</sup>

<sup>185.</sup> For a short summary of the issue, the reader is directed to 7 SHAWCROSS & BEAUMONT: AIR LAW  $\P$  446 (David McClean et al. eds., 169th ed. 2020).

<sup>186.</sup> See In re Air Crash Over the Mid-Atlantic on June 1, 2009, 760 F. Supp. 2d 832 (N.D. Cal. 2010).

<sup>187.</sup> See id. at 846-47.

Although the court acknowledged the existence of a "potential tension," it avoided the issue by granting an FNC dismissal. Indeed, it is likely that the manufacturer defendants brought the third-party actions to engineer an FNC dismissal, as it was in their collective interests to resolve the dispute in France rather than the United States.

Although still the subject of debate, the balance of opinion has come down on the side of holding that third-party actions are not governed by WCS or MC99; it is submitted that this is the correct view. 189 Unfortunately, this state of play could consequently open the possibility of WCS or MC99 being subject to circumvention, yet we must be careful when employing the term "circumvention" itself. Although it is often used in a pejorative sense, the circumvention involved here is not illegal or dishonest. The plaintiff is entitled to pursue a third party under an alternative cause of action rather than pursue the carrier via WCS or MC99. However, where that third party then brings a third-party action against the carrier, the result can be that the carrier indirectly answers a passenger claim in a forum that it would not have been subject to in an action brought by the passenger directly. This is inconsistent with the purpose of those conventions insofar as it generates legal uncertainty and undermines uniformity. Is it fair to a carrier that a plaintiff should be able to circumvent the jurisdictional (and perhaps other provisions of the conventions) by means of an alternative remedy, taken in the knowledge that the carrier will be added to the litigation via a third-party action? This is the reality of international aviation litigation, and policymakers and legislators are entitled—if not obligated—to take this into account when assessing the efficacy of MC99 within the bigger picture that this Article describes.

The two key takeaways from this section are that third-party actions provide an additional avenue for third-party influence in international aviation litigation (including WCS and MC99), and that third-party actions give rise to the risk of circumvention of WCS and MC99. These are two critical components of the bigger picture.

## D. Risk Management Devices

Given its history, the extent of the potential liability involved, and the sophistication of parties, it should come as no surprise that a complex network of arrangements exists within the aviation industry for

<sup>188.</sup> See id. at 846.

<sup>189.</sup> See SHAWCROSS & BEAUMONT, supra note 185, ¶ 446.

channeling and allocating the risks associated with carriage by air. These can be broadly split into two groups: (1) contractual indemnities; and (2) insurance.

Why should this Article take an interest in contractual indemnities and insurance? There are at least two reasons. First, and most obviously, they are part of the bigger picture, each playing a critical role as devices for the management of aviation risk. At least to the extent that both seek to control and allocate the risks related to liability for damages suffered by passengers and shippers during international carriage by air, they occupy the same space as MC99 and thus may promote or frustrate its objectives. More specifically, both mechanisms provide another avenue through which third parties exert influence over choice of forum. Collectively, this matrix of contractual indemnities and insurance agreements bind parties together in opposition to the interests of the plaintiff.

Secondly, insurance for passenger liability in international carriage by air is so ubiquitous nowadays as to be almost universal.<sup>190</sup> Whilst

190. Pursuant to Article 50 MC99, the European Union introduced Regulation 785/2004 that requires certain carriers operating within the European Union to have minimum levels of insurance in respect of their liability under MC99 for passengers, baggage, and cargo. See Regulation (EC) No. 785/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council of Apr. 21, 2004, on insurance requirements for air carriers and aircraft operators [2004] O.J. (L 138/1) The minimum level of insurance required by the [hereinafter Regulation 785/2004]. Regulation in respect of liability for passengers is SDR 250,000 per passenger. Id. at art. 6(1). Regulation 785/2004 was subsequently amended in 2010 by Commission Regulation (EU) No. 285/2010 Apr. 6, 2010, amending Regulation (EC) No. 785/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council on insurance requirements for air carriers and aircraft operators [2010] O.J. (L 87/19) [hereinafter Regulation 285/2010]. The amendment was necessary to make provision for the revision of the monetary limits of liability under MC99 that had been adjusted to account for inflation. However, since the level set for passenger liability in Regulation 785/2004 was in excess of that required by the Convention, the limit in respect of passenger liability was not adjusted in 2010. The Regulation applies to all air carriers "flying within, into, out of, or over the territory of a Member State to which the Treaty applies." Regulation 785/2004, supra note 184, at art. 2(1). Thus, insurance is mandatory for all carriers operating within the European Union regardless of whether they are Community air carriers or not. However, the minimum levels of insurance in respect of liability for passengers (as well as baggage and cargo) do not apply to flights of non-Community air carriers that merely overfly the territories of E.U. Member States. See id. at art. 7(4). It should be noted that prior to Regulation 785/2004, insurance was already mandated for Community air carriers pursuant to the licensing requirements of Council Regulation (EEC) No. 2407/92 of July 23, 1992, on licensing on air carriers (1992) O.J. (L 240/1) art. 7, now replaced by Regulation (EC) No. 1008/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council of Sept. 24, 2008 on common rules for the operation of air services in the Community (recast) (2008) 293 O.J. (L 3) art. 11. Beyond the European Union, compulsory insurance for air carriers has been a feature of national licensing regimes of commercial air carriers for many years. For details in respect of some national law regimes, see ROD D. MARGO, MARGO ON AVIATION INSURANCE ¶ 3.19 neither WCS nor MC99 make it compulsory for carriers to insure themselves, Article 50 of MC99 does provide that the Contracting States shall require their carriers to maintain "adequate" insurance covering their liability under the Convention. The quasi-universality of insurance coverage is not limited to air carriers; all commercial aviation entities, whether by law or mere prudence, insure themselves against risk. This means that, in aviation litigation, it is the insurer, rather than the liable party, who is settling the bill with the victim of an accident. This fact invariably influences the litigation of claims.

The concluding part of this Article will require some evaluation of MC99 as a system of compensation, and this can only be done where the actual exposure of the carrier is known and, even more importantly, the full extent of the insurer's role is brought to light. The aviation insurer is not some benign presence whose only role is to sign the checks for its insured. Instead, it occupies—through subrogation—a staggeringly important place in the process of defending and settling claims. Yet, the insurer's role is seldom noted and even less often analyzed.

#### i. Contractual Indemnities

The labyrinthine complexity of contractual indemnities within the aviation industry is well illustrated by the facts of *In re Air Crash near Peggy's Cove, Nova Scotia on September 2, 1998.* A Swissair-operated McDonnell Douglas MD-11 crashed into the Atlantic Ocean during a flight from New York to Geneva, resulting in the deaths of all 215 passengers on board. The crash resulted from an in-flight fire that started due to faulty wiring in the in-flight entertainment system, which ignited flammable insulating blankets. The plaintiffs sued not only

et seq. (Katherine B. Posner et al. eds., 4th ed. 2014). In the United States, federal regulations require U.S. and foreign direct air carriers to maintain minimum levels of coverage, including \$300,000 per passenger and \$20 million per aircraft per occurrence. See 14 C.F.R. § 205.5. Thus, the vast majority of carriers are legally obligated to maintain insurance if they wish to operate within the European Union or the United States. Similar regulations are applied throughout the world. For instance, under US federal law, aircraft accident liability insurance is compulsory for U.S. direct air carriers and for foreign direct air carriers operating under the permission or authority of the Department of Transportation, whether it be domestic or international operations. See 14 C.F.R. § 205(3)(a) (providing: "A U.S. or foreign direct air carrier shall not engage in air unless it has in effect aircraft accident liability insurance coverage that meets the requirements of this part for its air carrier or foreign air carrier operations.").

<sup>191.</sup> MC99, supra note 2, at art. 50.

<sup>192.</sup> In re Air Crash Disaster Near Peggy's Cove, 210 F. Supp. 2d 570 (E.D. Pa. 2004).

Swissair, Boeing, <sup>193</sup> and Interactive Flight Technologies (the designers of the in-flight entertainment system), but also the manufacturers of the thermal blankets, the sub-contractor who installed the system, and two other sub-contractors who provided certification of the installation. The spaghetti-like crisscrossing of third-party actions between these seven defendants was mitigated by Swissair and Boeing settling with the plaintiffs and reaching recourse agreements with all but one of the other defendants. However, even still, Interactive Flight Technologies' refusal to settle with Boeing and Swissair led it to seek contractual indemnification from four of the six other defendants, including Swissair. Multi-party litigation such as this is common in the field of aviation litigation. Even if only one defendant appears on the docket, the truth is that the contractual indemnities between the various parties feed into the nexus and demand that we expand our attention beyond the illusory paradigm of a simple two-party dispute.

Contractual indemnities refer to indemnities arising from contract, as opposed to those which arise by law or equity<sup>194</sup> or in the case of insurance.<sup>195</sup> In the simplest of terms, we are concerned here with a particular type of clause frequently included in contracts between commercial aviation entities by which one party promises to indemnify the other.<sup>196</sup> For example, an aircraft lease or purchase agreement will nearly always contain a clause by which the aircraft operator agrees to indemnify the lessor or manufacturer against any losses arising from the operator's use of the aircraft. Therefore, if the manufacturer is sued by a passenger who is injured during carriage by air, the manufacturer will

<sup>193.</sup> Boeing Co. was a successor in interest, having acquired McDonnell Douglas.

<sup>194.</sup> Indemnification need not be contractual. As dealt with earlier, a right to indemnification can arise as a matter of law. This was recognized by the Privy Council in E. Shipping Co. v. Quah Beng Kee [1924] AC 177, 182-83 (PC) (appeal taken from Straits Settlements) (Eng.) (stating that "[a] right to indemnification generally arises from contract express or implied, but is not confined to cases of contract. A right to indemnification exists where the relation between the parties is such that either in law or in equity there is an obligation upon the one party to indemnify the other . . . The right to indemnification need not arise by contract.").

<sup>195.</sup> Whilst a non-life insurance contract is a contract of indemnity, it is distinguishable from a non-insurance contract of indemnity. For instance, indemnities in insurance contracts are subject to legal doctrines that are not applicable in a non-insurance context, such as the duty of utmost good faith and the principle of fortuity. For some of the differences between insurance and non-insurance indemnities, see WAYNE COURTNEY, CONTRACTUAL INDEMNITIES 9 (2015).

<sup>196.</sup> In the context of contractual indemnities, Courtney defines a promise of indemnification as "a promise of exact protection against loss." *Id.* at 6.

turn to the operator in the expectation that it will hold the manufacturer harmless against such liability. 197

Once a loss is within the scope of the indemnity, the indemnified is entitled to full indemnification; there is no rule providing for apportionment of liability between the indemnifier and indemnified based on any notion of comparative fault. Subject to limitations imposed by statute or public policy, a party may undertake to indemnify another party against any conceivable loss. Of relevance to this work is indemnification relating to liability to passengers for personal injury or death sustained during international carriage by air. As has been noted on several occasions, the plaintiff has a range of possible defendants to sue in the event of an accident. Therefore, to the extent that these possible defendants have pre-existing contractual relations, they have an interest in securing contractual indemnities from each other. Of course, the buck has to stop with at least one of them, and the question of who shall carry the risk is generally a matter for commercial negotiation.

Contractual indemnity clauses in non-insurance agreements can vary significantly from one agreement to the next, but some common features are easily discerned. The following is an example of part of general indemnity clause taken from a lease agreement between a leasing subsidiary of a major aircraft manufacturer and an international air carrier:

The [lessee] agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the [Indemnitee] against any and all Losses which the Indemnitee may at any time suffer or incur, whether directly or indirectly as a result of (i) ownership,

<sup>197.</sup> The desired effect of an indemnity is to protect a party (the indemnified) from loss. The party undertaking to protect the indemnified is obliged to either prevent such loss arising in the first place or to compensate for loss already incurred. For this reason, the effect of contractual indemnities is described as being either "preventative" or "compensatory." *Id.* at 17-18. Courtney distinguishes the two in the following manner: "For [indemnities of prevention], the indemnifier is expected to act before the indemnified party suffers a loss. In contrast, it is implicit in the notion of compensation that the indemnifier is to perform after the indemnified party has already sustained loss." *Id.* at 18.

<sup>198.</sup> See id. at 80-81. Courtney quotes Chief Justice Stephen in Osborne v. Eales [No. 2], stating "it seems to be impossible to hold that a man indemnifies another against a loss by merely paying a portion of it. If the latter shares the loss, he is to that extent clearly not indemnified." Osborne v. Eales [No. 2] (1862) 15 Eng. Rep. 849, 137-38 (PC) (appeal taken from Austl.) (UK).

<sup>199.</sup> This operating sublease agreement between sublessor Airbus Leasing II, Inc. and sublessee Siberia Airlines was filed as part of the documents associated with the case of *Esheva v. Siberian Airlines*. Operating Sublease Agreement (Doc. 128-7), Esheva v. Siberian Airlines, 499 F. Supp. 2d 493 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (No. 06-CV-11347). The author accessed the document through Public Access to Court Electronic Records (PACER), a service maintained by the Administrative Office of the U.S. Courts.

registration, import, export, storage, modification, leasing, ... use, operation whether in the air or on the ground, delivery or re-delivery of the Aircraft or any part thereof, and which relate to the Aircraft, during the lease period, and (ii) any act or omission which invalidates or which renders voidable any of the Insurances.<sup>200</sup>

What is immediately notable is that the scope of the general indemnity is incredibly broad, covering every conceivable act involving the aircraft resulting in any and all loss to the indemnified. It applies whether the loss is direct or indirect, the latter covering claims by third parties (such as passengers). There is no requirement of fault on the part of the lessor; it is expected to assume the obligation to indemnify the lessee for any and all risks. Indeed, the next sub-clause specifies that the indemnities apply even where the loss is attributable to an act or omission of the lessor, or to a defect in the aircraft, or to strict liability. Subsequent sub-clauses of the lease agreement do provide exceptions which do not require the lessee to indemnify the lessor, e.g., where the indemnified party's fraud, willful misconduct, or gross negligence, caused the loss. Subsequent sub-clauses of the lease agreement do provide exceptions which do not require the lessee to indemnify the lessor, e.g., where the indemnified party's fraud, willful misconduct, or gross negligence, caused the loss.

<sup>200.</sup> Id. at 21. A general indemnity provision is also found in the agreement between lessor and carrier quoted by the English High Court in Pindell Ltd. v. AirAsia Bhd. [2012] 2 CLC 1, 35-36 (Com Ct) (Eng.) ("Lessee hereby agrees at all times to indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless each Indemnitee from and against all and any liabilities, losses, claims, proceedings, damages, penalties, fines, fees, costs and expenses whatsoever (any of the foregoing being referred to as a 'Claim') that any of them at any time suffers or incurs ..."). In another case, a helicopter lease agreement included the following indemnification clause: "Lessee hereby assumes liability for, and shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Lessor and each of its agents, servants and assigns from and against any and all costs, losses, liabilities, obligations, expenses, claims, damages, penalties, actions, suits, expenses and disbursements of any nature whatsoever, including legal expenses, imposed on, incurred by or asserted against Lessor in any way relating to or arising out of the manufacture, purchase, acceptance or rejection, ownership, delivery, lease, possession, use, condition, sale, return or other disposition hereunder of the Helicopter (including, without limitation, latent and other defects, whether or not discoverable by Lessee, any claim in tort for strict liability. and any claim for patent, trademark or copyright infringement." Helicopter Lease Agreement (Doc. 128-7) 1, 8, Escobar v. European Aeronautic Def. & Space Co., No. 13-CV-598 (D. Hawaii filed June 11, 2016). The author accessed the document through Public Access to Court Electronic Records (PACER), a service maintained by the Administrative Office of the U.S. Courts.

<sup>201.</sup> The clause (numbered 14.2) provides: "Except to the extent Clause 14.3 applies, the Sublessee will be liable in respect of its indemnities in paragraph 14.1 [i.e., the general indemnity clause] even though the Loss is suffered or incurred after the Expiry Date or is attributable to an act or omission of an Indemnitee, to some defect in the Aircraft or strict liability (provided it relates to an event or circumstance occurring during the Sublease Period)." Operating Sublease Agreement, *supra* note 198, at 21.

<sup>202.</sup> See id. at 22.

Generally speaking, aircraft manufacturers tend to have far-reaching indemnity clauses in their aircraft sales agreements that allocate the risk of liability to the carrier. The scope of these indemnities can be surprisingly broad. This is well illustrated by the case *Pakistan International Airlines v. Boeing Co.* 204

Although the facts of the case involved first-party damage to the carrier's aircraft, the indemnity clause at issue here extended to include third-party liability for injury to, or death of, any person(s). The carrier's aircraft was damaged in a hard landing at Ankara, Turkey. Boeing sent a survey team to inspect the damage and submitted a repair proposal to Pakistan International Airlines (PIA). After completing the repairs, Boeing agents were towing the aircraft when a component of the main landing gear broke, resulting in US\$500,000 in damage to the aircraft. Naturally, PIA sought compensation from Boeing, arguing that the damage resulted from its own negligence in failing to detect the problem.<sup>205</sup> Unfortunately for PIA, its claim for compensation was frustrated by an indemnity clause in the aircraft sales agreement, which provided:

Buyer will indemnify and hold harmless Boeing and each employee of Boeing assigned pursuant to paragraphs (a), (d) and (e) above from and against all liabilities, costs and expenses incident thereto, which may be suffered by, accrue against, be charged to or recoverable from Boeing or any such employee, or both, by reason of injury to or death of any person or persons . . . or by reason of loss of or damage to property, including the Aircraft, arising out of or in any way connected with the performance by said employee of services in connection with any of the aircraft after delivery thereof to Buyer.<sup>206</sup>

<sup>203.</sup> The lessor's indemnification is reinforced by a disclaimer and waiver clause in the agreement whereby, except as otherwise agreed, the lessor waives, releases, and renounces all claims against the lessee, however and whenever arising, and the lessor disclaims any obligation or liability toward the lessee or any other person. The agreement's disclaimer states: "None of the indemnitees will have any obligation or liability whatsoever to the [lessee] or any other person (whether arising in contract or in tort, and whether arising by reference to negligence or strict liability of the sublessor or otherwise) . . . " *Id.* at 38-39. The waiver clause doubles down on the disclaimer by stating: "The [lessee] hereby waives releases and renounces, as between itself and each indemnitee to the extent permitted by applicable law ... all claims against such indemnitee, however, and whenever arising . . . " *Id.* at 39. The waiver and exclusion apply in respect of, *inter alia*: "any liability, loss or damage caused or alleged to be caused directly or indirectly by the aircraft or by any inadequacy thereof or deficiency or defect therein or by any other circumstance in connection therewith; ... The use, operation or performance of the aircraft or any risks relating thereto." *Id.* at 39.

<sup>204.</sup> Pakistan Int'l Airlines Corp. v. Boeing Co., 575 F.2d 1268 (9th Cir. 1978).

<sup>205.</sup> Id. at 1270.

<sup>206.</sup> Id. at 1269.

This clause effectively immunized Boeing against any conceivable liability, not only arising from PIA's operation of the aircraft, but also arising in any way connected to the aircraft. Such indemnities are commonplace in aircraft purchase agreements with aircraft manufacturers.

An easily accessible example of a contractual indemnity that is almost universally employed by air carriers engaged in international carriage by air is found in the Standard Ground Handling Agreement (SGHA) of the International Air Transport Association (IATA). This SGHA is a model agreement of standard clauses that carriers (members and non-members of IATA alike) use as the basis for the contracts with Ground handling agents provide the vast ground handling agents. majority of ground operations for carriers at their outstations, e.g., baggage and cargo handling/loading, de-icing, aircraft marshaling, load control, fueling, surface transport, and so on. Article 8 of the 2018 edition of the IATA SGHA includes several clauses about liability and indemnity. Article 8(1) provides, inter alia, that the carrier indemnifies the ground handling agents against liability for claims for liability for passenger death or personal injury arising from the act or omission (including negligence) insofar as it falls short of willful misconduct.<sup>207</sup>

The contractual indemnities agreed to by carriers with third parties (e.g., manufacturers) allocate the risk of liability towards passengers—and much more besides—to the carrier. The carrier becomes the repository for the risk of third parties' liability to passengers. Where a passenger claim arises against an aircraft or component manufacturer, or whichever other aviation business entity one cares to mention, the reality is, with few exceptions, that the complex web of contractual indemnities

<sup>207.</sup> Standard Ground Handling Agreement, SWISSPORT (2018), available at https://www.swissport.com/fileadmin/downloads/publications/190327\_SP-18-

C2177\_GH\_Agreement\_Gesamt-PDF\_sse\_RZ.pdf (last visited Apr. 5, 2021) ("Except as stated in Sub-Articles 8.5 and 8.6, the Carrier shall not make any claim against the Handling Company and shall indemnify it (subject as hereinafter provided) against any legal liability for claims or suits, including costs and expenses incidental thereto, in respect of: (a) delay, injury or death of persons carried or to be carried by the Carrier; (b) injury or death of any employee of the Carrier, (c) damage to or delay or loss of baggage, cargo or mail carried or to be carried by the Carrier, and (d) damage to or loss of property owned or operated by, or on behalf of, the Carrier and any consequential loss or damage; arising from an act or omission of the Handling Company in the performance of this Agreement unless done with intent to cause damage, death, delay, injury or loss or recklessly and with the knowledge that damage, death, delay, injury or loss would probably result ..."), ("The exceptions referred to in Article 8(1) pertain to damage to the carrier's aircraft (i.e., art. 8(4)) and for direct loss or damage to cargo (i.e., art. 8(5)). For these, the handling company accepts limited liability. A similar indemnity is provided by Article 8(2), which includes death or personal injury to third parties, i.e., non-passengers.").

will lead back to the carrier. The carrier will have little option but to fulfill its assumed contractual duties to indemnify other parties and pick up the bill.

Why do carriers assume this burden? It is certainly not for charitable or ethical motives; instead, the reasoning is commercially driven and predicated on the fact of insurance. The carrier prefers to accept the allocation of risk because it knows it will transfer that risk to the insurance market, and because it believes that the ultimate cost of doing so will be cheaper when it sources the insurance coverage itself. Were the carrier to refuse to accept the allocation of risk, then the third party would be required to purchase the extra coverage necessary, the cost of which would be factored into the price paid by the carrier. Take the example of an airframe manufacturer: the additional cost to the manufacturer of insurance, resulting from the absence of an indemnity from the carrier, would be added to the aircraft's purchase price. Put simply, carriers prefer to buy cheaper aircraft even though they must assume the risk and cost of insuring against liability as a quid pro quo.

Through contractual indemnities and similar risk allocation devices, the parties agree between themselves who will carry the risk of liability. It should interest us greatly that it is the carrier who voluntarily accepts this role as the repository of risk but, more realistically, it is a matter of deciding who will assume the primary obligation to insure against that risk. The carrier knows full well that it will shift that risk to the aviation insurance market. This brings us nicely to the topic of insurance.

#### ii. Insurance

This sub-section begins by providing some background on aviation insurance agreements, but the substantial part of it focuses on the doctrine of subrogation, the device by which the insurer can assume claims control and acquires the right to bring third-party actions. This is presented from an English law perspective, as justified by the size, importance, and influence of the United Kingdom aviation insurance market globally.<sup>208</sup>

Aviation insurance comprises policies issued to aircraft operators (e.g., airlines), aircraft manufacturers, component manufacturers, airports, aviation maintenance and repair providers, aviation service

<sup>208.</sup> As one commentator on aviation insurance notes, "[w]ith the London market being recognized as the international centre for aviation insurance . . . common law principles have a strong influence in the formulation and interpretation of aviation insurance policies." Wolf Müller-Rostin, *Insurance*, in COLOGNE COMPENDIUM ON AIR LAW IN EUROPE 1095 (Stephan Hobe et al. eds., 2013).

providers, and so on.<sup>209</sup> As is to be expected, there are substantial differences amongst aviation insurance policies. This is partly due to the numerous variables at play, from the individual insured's particular needs and the peculiarities of their operations, to the specific regulatory background and idiosyncrasies of the different insurance markets. Nevertheless, there is also a great deal of standardization to be found in the documentation employed by the aviation insurance market. This has, in large part, been thanks to the efforts of various groups within the market that have produced voluminous libraries of standard clauses, which are then combined and utilized by the market to tailor individual policies to specific requirements.<sup>210</sup>

Within the field of commercial aviation insurance,<sup>211</sup> coverage for several categories of risk is available for purchase. The insurance policy document will often contain a schedule of insurance consisting of separate sections; each addressed to a particular risk, such as loss or damage to the aircraft (i.e., hull insurance), liability to passengers, liability to third parties,<sup>212</sup> and war and allied perils.<sup>213</sup> In some respects,

<sup>209.</sup> MARGO, *supra* note 190, ¶ 2.04 ("[B]roadly speaking, aviation insurance embraces the insurance of risks associated with (a) manufacture, ownership, operation and maintenance of aircraft, and (b) the operation of aviation facilities on the surface.").

<sup>210.</sup> See id. ¶ 10.03. In 1949, the Lloyd's Aviation Underwriting Association drafted a standard aircraft policy referred to as AVN 1. This standard has been amended over the years, most recently by the Aviation Insurance Clauses Group (AICG), which produced AVN 1D in 2014. Its predecessor (AVN 1C) is still commonly used regardless of where the risk is situated. Id. ¶ 10.03 n.3. However, for U.S.-based business, AVN 16 is employed for aircraft hull policies and AVN 20 for aircraft liability policies. Id. ¶ 10.03. According to MARGO, standard policies are common to the general aviation business but are not generally used in connection with the insurance of commercial airlines. Id. For commercial airlines, it is more common for the broker to prepare a policy specific to the airline but generally utilizing various standard clauses from AVN 1C and augmenting it with others produced by the AICG and other groups. Many of these standard clauses can be accessed at Aviation Insurance Clauses **AICG** (Aug. 2020). https://www.aicg.co.uk/AICG Web/Product/AICG Web/AICG clauses.aspx (last visited Apr. 5, 2021).

<sup>211.</sup> The field of aviation insurance is divided between commercial aviation and general aviation. We are concerned with the former, which involves, "very large risks with high-limit first-party policies covering hull losses (for example, large aircraft or property damage) or high-stakes third-party liability coverages." Katherine Posner, *The Unique Role of Aviation Insurance Coverage Counsel*, in Negotiating Insurance Policy Disputes: Leading Lawyers on Interpreting Insurance Contracts, Obtaining Key Documents, and Resolving Coverage Disputes (Inside the Minds) 17 (2011).

<sup>212.</sup> Here, the term *third party* is used to refer to non-passengers, i.e., third parties to the contract of carriage, rather than third parties to the contract of insurance.

<sup>213.</sup> Other insurance agreements include aviation products liability (see AVN 66), loss or damage to aircrew baggage and personal effects (see AVN 75), and liability to/of pilots/crew (see AVN 73).

an aviation insurance policy is a collection of separate policies covering different risks amalgamated within a single document. Each of these sections will usually provide specifics as to coverage, exclusions, conditions, and (possibly) extensions of cover.<sup>214</sup> The precise limits, deductibles, and premiums are generally itemized for each type of insurance provided under the policy.<sup>215</sup>

We are concerned with the category of risk referred to as aviation legal liability. This is a type of "liability insurance" defined as covering "the monetary impact of legal claims against policyholders and, crucially, sometimes the cost of defending claims."<sup>216</sup> The aviation insurance market further sub-categorizes aviation legal liability,<sup>217</sup> and a fundamental distinction applies between liability to passengers and liability to third parties. From the carrier perspective, our attention is on passenger liability insurance, as this is the category into which WCS and MC99 claims fall. Third-party liability insurance policies for other commercial entities in the aviation industry are concluded on much the same terms, and thus the exposition provided herein will also serve for a broader perspective on aviation insurance generally.

Subject to applicable limitations and deductibles, aviation legal liability insurance for passengers grants the insured airline indemnity from the insurer against all sums that the insured shall become legally liable to pay as damages for any bodily injury to passengers, or for

<sup>214.</sup> AVN 1C and AVN 1D do not include extensions of cover in the sections of the schedule of insurance. Brokers may elect to add clauses to the section wording within the policy itself or will attach the same as endorsements. Extensions of cover are treated below in the sub-section on endorsements.

<sup>215.</sup> For instance, for hull cover, the policy schedule may specify maximum agreed values for the aircraft types as well as a deductible for each (usually applied on a per claim basis). Depending on the policy, the deductible may not apply in the case of a total loss, a constructive total loss, or an arranged total loss. The level of deductible is usually specified by broad categories, such as narrow-bodied jets (including Airbus A320 and Boeing 737 variants) with a possible deductible of US\$750,000 or wide-bodied jets (including Airbus A330 and Boeing 777) with a possible deductible of US\$1,000,000. Deductibles can be reduced, and the insured may elect to take out deductible insurance.

<sup>216.</sup> Malcolm A. Clarke, *Insurance*, in ENGLISH PRIVATE LAW 785 (Andrew Burrows ed., 2013). It is to be distinguished from first-party liability insurance, whereby the insured insures their own life or property. In an aviation insurance context, an example of first-party liability insurance would be hull insurance, which forms part of the category known as *aircraft insurance* (as distinct from *liability insurance*).

<sup>217.</sup> In addition to passenger and third-party liability, aviation legal liability includes cargo liability, product liability, and premises liability. The latter two are usually taken out separately by an airline. For example, aviation products liability insurance can be taken out separately under the AVN 66 policy wording. In some cases, a policy may, in addition to passenger, third-party, and cargo liability, also provide cover under the same clause for some product and premises liability.

property damage to baggage or personal articles caused by an occurrence arising out of or in connection with the insured's operation of an aircraft.<sup>218</sup> This cover includes liability of the airline for losses caused by the negligence of its employees.<sup>219</sup> It will also usually cover the insured carrier's defense costs.<sup>220</sup> When it comes to liability for death or injury to passengers and third parties, aviation policies do not usually have deductibles, but an overall limitation is generally specified between US\$1.5 and US\$2 billion per occurrence.<sup>221</sup>

It goes without saying that insurance coverage is not absolute. In addition to monetary limitations, there are also coverage limitations. The description of cover contained in the schedule of insurance in a policy provides, in and of itself, a form of exclusion insofar as it defines the circumstances in which the duty to indemnify will arise.<sup>222</sup> Prima facie, if the loss suffered does not fall within the description of cover, then the insurer is not at risk, and no duty to indemnify arises.

<sup>218.</sup> The coverage provided by an aviation insurance policy for legal liability to passengers is entirely dependent on the wording of the policy in question. The wording provided above is thus not intended as a universal definition of such coverage but rather as a description of the general features of such coverage. Other descriptions include: "Passenger liability insurance protects an aircraft operator against its legal liability to passengers. In the case of airlines, the insurers undertake to pay on behalf of the insured airline all sums which the insured shall become legally liable to pay as damages arising from bodily injury or property damage caused by an occurrence and arising out of or in connection with the insured's operations." MARGO, supra note 190, ¶ 12.01. See also 9 SHAWCROSS & BEAUMONT: AIR LAW ¶ 38 (David McClean et al. eds., 169th ed. 2020) (1997) ("The purpose of this cover is to indemnify the insured for all sums which he shall become legally liable to pay as damages or compensation for accidental bodily injury (fatal or otherwise) to passengers who are carried by the insured under a contract of carriage by air.").

<sup>219.</sup> However, cover does not include the personal liability of the employee to the injured party unless an extension for such cover is purchased.

<sup>220.</sup> In respect of the insured carrier's defense costs: firstly, as shall be discussed below, it is the insurer who controls the conduct of the proceedings, and it is, therefore, the party incurring the costs on the insured's behalf. It is thus only fair that the defense costs should be covered by the insurance policy, and this is indeed usually the case. See AVN 1C (July 26, 2016) Final, at § II(3); AICG, supra note 209. See also MARGO, supra note 190, ¶ 23.39.

<sup>221.</sup> MARGO, *supra* note 190, ¶ 12.05 n.1; P.J.C. VICCARS, AVIATION INSURANCE: A PLANEMAN'S GUIDE 20 (2d ed. 2012).

<sup>222.</sup> The coverage for legal liability to passengers as laid out in Section III(1) of AVN 1C provides: "The Insurers will indemnify the Insured in respect of all sums which the Insured shall become legally liable to pay, and shall pay, as compensatory damages (including costs awarded against the Insured) in respect of: (a) accidental bodily injury (fatal or otherwise) to passengers whilst entering, onboard, or alighting from the Aircraft; and (b) loss of or damage to baggage and personal articles of passengers arising out of an Accident to the Aircraft." AVN 1C (July 26, 2016) Final, at § III(1); AICG, supra note 209.

Supplemental to the basic coverage are exclusions, usually laid down in an exclusions section.<sup>223</sup> Whether general or specific, the significance of an exclusion is that, where the loss suffered by the insured comes within the scope of the exclusion, the insurer is entitled to refuse to indemnify the insured against the loss.<sup>224</sup> An example of an exclusion clause is one to the effect that the policy will not apply where the aircraft is operated outside the geographical limits specified in the policy schedule.<sup>225</sup>

The general exclusions portion of the policy will usually include detailed exclusions attached from standard clauses produced by the aviation insurance market. The most relevant attached exclusion clause is the "War, Hi-Jacking and Other Perils Exclusion Clause" (AVN 48B).<sup>226</sup> This particular exclusion clause excludes claims arising from a range of perils. Aside from the obvious cases of war and hijacking, AVN 48B excludes claims arising from, inter alia, "strikes, riots, civil commotions or labour disturbances," and "[a]ny malicious act or act of sabotage."<sup>227</sup>

It is very common for these general exclusions to be written back into the policy through an *endorsement*. Broadly speaking, an

<sup>223.</sup> Section III of AVN 1C provides specific exclusions to legal liability to passengers. For example, exclusions pertaining to documentary requirements and also excluding the insurer from liability for injury or loss suffered by employees or operational crew. In terms of general exclusions, these are specified in Section IV of AVN 1C and apply to all the attached insurance policies, e.g., hull, passenger, and third party. One general exclusion provides that the policy does not apply, "[w]hilst the total number of passengers being carried in the Aircraft exceeds the declared maximum number of passengers stated in Part 2(4) of the Schedule." *Id.* at § IV(A)(7).

<sup>224.</sup> See MARGO, supra note 190, ¶ 10.49 ("An exclusion, sometimes also called an exception, is a clause in a policy which limits the risks by excluding or excepting the insurers from liability for certain types of claims or for claims arising from certain types of risk that would otherwise fall within the basic coverage provisions of the policy.").

<sup>225.</sup> For some case law on this issue, see Vargas v. Ins. Co. of N. Am., 651 F.2d 838 (2d Cir. 1981); Monarch Ins. Co. v. Castellano, 176 Ill. App. 3d 849, 531 N.E.2d 908 (1988).

<sup>226.</sup> Other frequently attached exclusion clauses are: Nuclear Risks Exclusion Clause (AVN 38B); Noise and Pollution and Other Perils Exclusion Clause (AVN 46B); Asbestos Exclusion Clause (AVN 96); Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 Exclusion Clause (AVN 72); Crew Exclusion Clause (AVN 68). See AICG, supra note 209. For example, paragraph 1 of AVN 46B provides: "This Policy does not cover claims directly or indirectly occasioned by, happening through or in consequence of: (a) noise (whether audible to the human ear or not), vibration, sonic boom and any phenomena associated therewith; (b) pollution and contamination of any kind whatsoever; (c) electrical and electromagnetic interference; (d) interference with the use of property . . . "AVN 46B (July 26, 2016) Final, § III(1); AICG, supra note 209.

<sup>227.</sup> See War, Hi-Jacking & Other Perils Exclusion Clause (Aviation) (AVN 48B) (Jan. 10, 1996), reprinted in MARGO, supra note 190, at app. A43.

endorsement is a document attached to an insurance policy that modifies the policy in some way.<sup>228</sup> An endorsement may provide additional coverage to the basic policy, such as increasing the limits of liability or extending coverage to a type of risk not covered by the basic policy. In simple terms, endorsements are add-ons to the basic policy that allow the parties to customize the coverage.<sup>229</sup>

Another common usage for an endorsement is "writing back" something excluded in the basic policy. Since war and related perils are always excluded by the policy, coverage for this can be reinstated via an endorsement. AVN 52E is the standard clause currently used for this purpose. To illustrate this, let us take the tragic case of the Germanwings Flight 9525. Here, in an apparent act of suicide, the co-pilot crashed the aircraft into the French Alps, killing himself and all others on board. Such an event counts as a malicious act that an aviation insurer excludes under AVN 48B.<sup>230</sup> Therefore, but for that clause, the insurer would be liable to indemnify the insured.

However, in all likelihood, an insurer would be liable to indemnify a carrier in such circumstances but only because coverage for war risks (including malicious acts) would have been written-back into the policy by way of an endorsement, albeit under differing terms.<sup>231</sup> A standard endorsement exists within the aviation insurance market for this very purpose, i.e., AVN 52E. Alternatively, the carrier may separately arrange cover from a specialized war risks insurer. In either case, the norm is that carriers are amply covered.

<sup>228.</sup> Endorsements may be standard or non-standard. The aviation insurance market makes widespread use of standard clauses in endorsements. Attached to the basic policy will be several documents that are generally identified as numbered endorsements, where utilizing a standard clause then a code will usually be inserted at the foot of the document including a reference to the publication date of the standard clause (e.g., AVN 106 22.01.09). If the standard clause has been amended by the parties, and thus differs from the standard, then word amended may be included in parentheses beside the code. An example of a standard endorsement is AVN 62. This provides indemnification for reasonable expenses incurred for the purpose of search and rescue operations.

<sup>229.</sup> For example, where the airline operates leased aircraft (whether under a finance or operating lease), then a number of standard clause endorsements exist that the lessor or financier will insist of being included in any contract of insurance. See, e.g., AVN 67B adds the lessor/financier as an additional insured to the policy.

<sup>230.</sup> The AICG produced two new versions of this clause in 2006, AVN48C and AVN48D. There is only a slight difference in wording between the two versions. The aviation insurance market has continued to use AVN48B in the case of passenger liability.

<sup>231.</sup> See VICCARS, supra note 220, at 59-62. Whilst the AVN 52E will provide a different limit of liability (e.g., \$150 million) to that provided under the main policy (a limit of \$1.5 billion), the sub-limit would usually not be applied to the insured's liability for passengers.

This brief overview of aviation insurance contracts intends only to demonstrate the fact of aviation insurance, specifically of carriers, and the nature and extent of the coverage provided. As explained in the introduction to this Article, insurance coverage for carrier liability to passengers is mandated by law, so much so that it is all but universal. The sophisticated contracts of insurance used within the aviation industry provide the insureds with very comprehensive protection against loss, damage, or liability arising from accidents. Not only can the insured shift the risk of liability to the insurer under these policies, but it can also immunize itself against its own legal costs (and those awarded to the plaintiff) incurred in the process of defending claims brought against it. Naturally, to enjoy these benefits, the carrier must pay a premium, but the cost of these premiums is negligible in comparison to the potentially financially ruinous consequences of a major disaster. Indeed, one distinguished commentator has stated that "[w]hilst insurance is an indispensable prerequisite for an air carrier's operation, its actual cost is relatively small, usually averaging less than two percent of the total operating cost of the flight."232

The facts are that the carrier (as well as other commercial aviation parties) is comprehensively insured against passenger liability, in most cases not having to pay a cent itself to the victim of an aviation accident in compensation or as costs. Deductibles are not generally a feature of aviation insurance agreements for passenger liability, and the overall limits provided under policies are massive (ranging from US\$1.5 to US\$2 billion per occurrence). <sup>233</sup> The near-universal existence of such insurance almost guarantees that in the event of an aviation catastrophe, the resources are in place to provide the victims and their families with the compensation to which they are entitled under the terms of the applicable conventions, even where the carrier has long since been wound-up or become insolvent.

## iii. Subrogation

Under the common law, a contract of indemnification might permit an insured party to recover more than his actual loss. This is because the insured's right to indemnification from the insurer is not affected by his having a right of action against a third party for the same loss.<sup>234</sup> In other

<sup>232.</sup> Müller-Rostin, supra note 207, at 1094.

<sup>233.</sup> MARGO, supra note 190, ¶ 12.05 n.1.

<sup>234.</sup> JONATHAN GILMAN ET AL., ARNOULD'S LAW OF MARINE INSURANCE AND AVERAGE 1485 (17th ed. 2008) [hereinafter GILMAN ET AL.] ("[A]n assured's right to claim against a

words, it is no defense to the insurer to argue that the insured has a claim against the wrongdoer. Likewise, where the insured sues the wrongdoing third party for the loss, the fact that he has insurance does not affect his claim against the third party.<sup>235</sup> Therefore, the injured party could theoretically recover twice for his loss, once by way of a claim against the wrongdoer and another by way of indemnification of his insurer. However, as stated in *Arnould's Law of Marine Insurance and Average*, "it is entirely foreign to the spirit of contracts of indemnity that a person damnified should recover his loss more than once." For this reason, the common law recognizes that the indemnifying party has rights against the indemnified that are collectively referred to under the doctrine of subrogation.

Subrogation gives rise to two entitlements. First, the right of the insurer to step into the insured's shoes and exercise any causes of action vested in the insured against third parties.<sup>237</sup> Second, the right of the insurer to recover from the insured any sums received from third parties in respect of the insured loss.<sup>238</sup>

In its first aspect, the doctrine of subrogation grants the insurer the right to the benefits of any rights or remedies of the insured against third parties that may relieve or lessen the loss for which indemnification has been provided.<sup>239</sup> This aspect of subrogation was alluded to by Lord

third party liable for the assured loss (or contractually liable to indemnify him against the same) does not affect his right to claim the same from his insurer."); JOHN BIRDS ET AL., MACGILLIVRAY ON INSURANCE LAW ¶ 24-002 (John Birds et al. eds., 13th ed. 2015) [hereinafter BIRDS ET AL.] ("If a person suffers a loss for which he can recover against a third party, and is also insured against such loss, his insurer cannot avoid liability on the ground that the insured has the right to claim against the third party.").

- 235. GILMAN ET AL., *supra* note 233, at 1485 ("[T]he assured's right to recover his loss from a third party liable for the same [or contractually liable to indemnify him against the same] is not affected by any recovery he may make [or be entitled to make] under a contract of insurance which covers him for the same loss"); BIRDS ET AL., *supra* note 233, ¶ 24-002 ("[T]he third party if sued by the insured, cannot avoid liability on the ground that the insured has been or will be fully indemnified for his loss.").
  - 236. GILMAN ET AL., supra note 233, at 1487.
- 237. See BIRDS ET AL., supra note 233, ¶ 24.001 ("In insurance law 'subrogation' is the name given to the right of the insurer who has paid a loss to be put in the place of the insured so that he can take advantage of any means available to the insured to extinguish or diminish the loss for which the insurer has indemnified the insured.").
- 238. S.R. Derham, Subrogation in Insurance Law 1 (1985). *See also* Birds et al., *supra* note 233, ¶ 24.002; J. Birds, Birds' Modern Insurance Law 331 (10th ed. 2016).
- 239. In Castellain v. Preston, Lord Justice Brett summed up this first aspect of subrogation, referring to it as the fundamental rule of insurance: "[A]s between the underwriter and the assured the underwriter is entitled to the advantage of every right of the assured, whether such right consists in contract, fulfilled or unfulfilled, or in remedy for tort capable of being insisted on or already insisted on, or in any other right, whether by way of

Mansfield in Mason v. Sainsbury: "[e]very day the insurer is put in the place of the insured . . . . The insurer uses the name of the insured."240 In practical terms, the insurer's right of subrogation gives it the right to control proceedings against third parties in the name of the insured. It is important to note that subrogation does not operate to vest the insured's cause of action in the insurer. The insurer, as subrogee, does not gain a personal cause of action against the third party; it is reliant on the insured's cause of action.<sup>241</sup> For this reason, the insurer cannot—except in some limited jurisdictions—take the subrogated action in his own name, but only in that of the subrogor insured. Therefore, the insurer may only exercise by subrogation the rights that the insured could themselves have exercised against the third party.<sup>242</sup> The insured must have a cause of action against the third party before the insurer can exercise its right of subrogation. Likewise, if the insured's right of action is somehow limited or extinguished, the insurer cannot be in any better position when making a subrogated claim.

The second aspect to which the term subrogation is applied typically entitles the insurer to receive from the insured any money received in damages from third-parties liable for the indemnified loss.<sup>243</sup>

condition or otherwise, legal or equitable, which can be, or has been exercised or has accrued, and whether such right could or could not be enforced by the insurer in the name of the assured by the exercise or acquiring of which right or condition the loss against which the assured is insured, can be, or has been diminished." Castellain v. Preston [1883] 11 QBD 380, 388 (CA) (Eng.). Lord Cairns nicely summarized the rule in Simpson v. Thomson: "I know of no foundation for the right of underwriters, except the well-known principle of law, that where one person has agreed to indemnify another, he will, on making good the indemnity, be entitled to succeed to all the ways and means by which the person indemnified might have protected himself against or reimbursed himself for the loss." Simpson & Co. v. Thomson [1877] 3 App. Cas. 279, 284 (HL) (on appeal from Scot.) (UK).

- 240. Mason v. Sainsbury [1782] 3 Douglas 61, 99 Eng. Rep. 538, 64 (1782) (KB) (Eng.).
- 241. See DERHAM, supra note 237, at 69 ("The doctrine of subrogation does not confer a new and independent right of action on the insurer, but merely gives it the benefit of any personal right that the insured himself has against the third party.").
- 242. See GILMAN ET AL., supra note 233, at 1494 ("Self-evidently, the insurer can only be subrogated to rights currently vested in the assured, and can acquire by subrogation no better right than the assured possesses.").
- 243. In Burnand v. Rodoconachi Sons & Co., Lord Blackburn described this aspect of subrogation: "The general rule of law (and it is obvious justice) is that where there is a contract of indemnity (it matters not whether it is a marine policy, or a policy against fire on land, or any other contract of indemnity) and a loss happens, anything which reduces or diminishes that loss reduces or diminishes the amount which the indemnifier is bound to pay; and if the indemnifier has already paid it, then, if anything which diminishes the loss comes into the hands of the person to whom he has paid it, it becomes an equity that the person who has already paid the full indemnity is entitled to be recouped by having that amount back." Burnand v. Rodocanachi Sons & Co. [1882] 7 App. Cas. 333, 339 (HL) (on appeal from Eng.) (Eng.).

Colinvaux's Law of Insurance argues that the first is the only true instance of subrogation.<sup>244</sup> It is submitted that this view is to be preferred. While the term subrogation is used to refer to the second case, it is does not strictly amount to subrogation since it involves the exercise of a personal right of the insurer against the insured and not the subrogated exercise of the insured's cause of action against a third party.

It is the first aspect of subrogation that we are primarily concerned with because it gives the insurer the power of claims control. Although subrogation may arise by force of law, insurers will usually include a contractual clause to this effect in the policy, rather than rely on common law subrogation (also referred to as equitable subrogation). The major consequence is that it is the insurer, not the insured, who is really calling all the shots in proceedings brought against the insured; the insurer is dominus litis. As Lord Justice Brett put it in Wilson v. Rafflalovich:

The underwriters are, in the sense in which the phrase is always used, the real plaintiffs, that is, they are the persons instructing the solicitors, the persons paying for the action, the persons to benefit by the action, and the persons to lose by the action if it is lost; but in point of law they are not the plaintiffs, the plaintiffs on the record being the only persons who can be recognized as plaintiffs.<sup>246</sup>

<sup>244.</sup> See ROB MERKIN, COLINVAUX'S LAW OF INSURANCE 622 (10th ed. 2014).

<sup>245.</sup> This is done, in part, because there are limitations to subrogation at common law. For example, whilst the right of subrogation arises upon conclusion of the contract of insurance, it is only exercisable once the insured has been fully indemnified. See MARGO, supra note 190, ¶ 23.63 ("The right of subrogation arises ipso facto upon the conclusion of the contract of insurance, although its exercise is postponed until the indemnification of the insured by the insurers."). See also Page v. Scottish Ins. Corp. [1929] 33 Lloyd's List LR 134, 137 (CA) (Eng.) (the court stating: "the underwriter had no right to subrogation until he had fully indemnified the assured under the policy"). In another case before the Court of Appeal, the judgment noted: "You only have a right to subrogation in a case like this when you have indemnified the assured." Scottish Union & National Ins. Co. v. Davis [1970] 1 Lloyd's Rep. 1, 5 (CA) (Eng.). Providing for a contractual right of subrogation also has the advantage of permitting the parties to alter the rules normally applicable to subrogation. DERHAM, supra note 237, at 144. Derham also cites the decision of Judge North in Arthur Barnett Ltd. v. Nat'l Ins. Co. of N.Z. [1965] NZLR 874 (CA) (N.Z.), as holding that an express provision in the policy at issue, "would entitle the insurer to be dominus litis of the action and to control proceedings even before the insured had received a full indemnity, and indeed that it may enable the insurer to exercise a right of subrogation before it has made payment under the policy." DERHAM, supra note 237, at 146. See also Morris v. Ford Motor Co. [1973] QB 792, 812 (CA) (Eng.) (Lord Justice James stating: "It is open to the parties to a contract of indemnity to contract on the terms of their choice, and by the terms, they choose they can exclude rights which would otherwise attach to the contract.").

<sup>246.</sup> Wilson v. Raffalovich [1881] 7 QBD 553, 558 (CA) (Eng.).

### iv. Subrogation in Aviation Litigation

In conversation with aviation litigators, it becomes abundantly clear that it is the insurer who is, so to speak, "calling all the shots." This is a state of affairs that plaintiff lawyers enthusiastically point out; on the defense side, lawyers are eager to downplay the insurer's role, as they know not to bite the hand that feeds them. Depending on the parties involved, the air carrier may have some influence over how litigation is pursued, not by matter of law or contract but by blunt commercial clout. A large airline is a valuable customer to an aviation insurer, and the market is highly competitive, so the desire to keep the insured happy will influence the power dynamic. The insurer will generally stress this aspect of the arrangement and emphasize the importance of satisfying the insured and protecting its interests.

Clearly, each situation is unique, and the relative bargaining strength of the parties will influence the de facto control of proceedings. One such situation was described to me by a defense lawyer. A very large international air carrier was opposed to the course of action pursued by its insurer, which was to concede liability concerning a high-profile aviation disaster. The insurer's interest was in minimizing its exposure and settling with the manufacturer (a major airframe manufacturer), whereas the airline was primarily concerned with the negative impact that conceding liability would have for its business. In this case, the carrier was in a position to be able to exert sufficient influence over its insurer to alter the course of litigation; thus, one must be cautious before relying upon generalizations. One thing is clear, however: it is the insurer who controls the purse strings, and it is also the insurer who is in the driver's seat when it comes to making the final decision.<sup>247</sup>

AVN 1C contains a claims control clause that provides: "[t]he Insurers shall be entitled (if they so elect) at any time and for so long as they desire to take absolute control of all negotiations and proceedings and in the name of the Insured to settle, defend or pursue any claim."<sup>248</sup> AVN 1D contains provisions to a similar effect.<sup>249</sup> Even in a case where

<sup>247.</sup> See Tom Baker, Insurance in Sociolegal Research, 6 ANN. REV. L. & Soc. Sci. 433, 436 (2010) ("Whether a lawsuit involves securities fraud, medical malpractice, an auto accident, or a president accused on sexual harassment, a liability insurer most likely will be paying the defense lawyer and deciding whether to go to trial or settle the case. If there is a settlement or a trial verdict, it will be the insurance company, not the defendant, that pays. It is no exaggeration to say that liability insurers are the bankers for the tort system.").

<sup>248.</sup> See AVN 1C, supra note 209.

<sup>249.</sup> See AVN 1D, supra note 209, at 9.

the insured retains the right of claims control—a rarity in aviation insurance—the insured nonetheless owes a duty of good faith to the insurer with respect to claims against third parties; in most cases, this is codified as a contractual obligation within the policy.<sup>250</sup> As a result, even if the insurer cannot directly control the proceedings, its potential to seek damages against the insured for any prejudice caused by the insured's own handling of the claim against the third party gives the insurer indirect control.

There are two aspects to claims control. First, it grants the insurer control of proceedings brought against the insured, and second, it also gives the insurer the power to bring third-party actions in the name of the insured. However, a word of caution must be voiced here with respect to joint insurance in light of a majority decision of the Supreme Court of the United Kingdom in *Gard Marine & Energy Ltd. v. China National Chartering Company Ltd. (The Ocean Victory)*. The majority determined that subrogation will not operate for the insurer in an action between the co-insureds. As joint insurance is not commonplace in the aviation insurance market, this is unlikely to prove problematic, and insurers can be expected to act to counter it.

In most jurisdictions, although the insurer is *dominus litis*, the litigation in question will proceed under the name of the insured, e.g., the carrier. The insurer's name will not appear anywhere on the court docket. Therefore, in the case of a claim by a passenger against a carrier, although the insurer may not be the de jure liable party, it is the real defendant in interest because the litigation is being primarily conducted in accordance with its instructions and in pursuance of its benefit. The reality is that a passenger bringing an action against a carrier under WCS or MC99 is not taking on the party with whom it concluded the contract of carriage, or the carrier who actually performed the flight in question. Instead, they are facing off against a party with whom they have neither contracted nor one that was ever within their contemplation. In some jurisdictions (e.g., New York), a direct action against an insurer is possible, and an insurer

<sup>250.</sup> For example, in AVN 1C, Section IV(3)(B)(d) provides that the insured shall "not act in any way to the detriment or prejudice of the interest of the Insurers." AVN 1C, supra note 203; see generally BIRDS ET AL., supra note 233, ¶24.049 ("Insurance policies frequently contain a clause expressly requiring the insured to take all necessary steps to protect the insurer's rights. If an insured under such a policy allowed a time-bar to elapse, thereby precluding the insurer from enjoying the exercise of remedies against a third party, the insurers could, it is submitted, recover damages for the breach of that stipulation in the amount which would have been recoverable from the third party.").

<sup>251.</sup> Gard Marine & Energy Ltd. v. China Nat'l Chartering Co. [2017] UKSC 35 (appeal taken from Eng.) (Eng.).

may be obligated to take any subrogated actions in its own name.<sup>252</sup> However, this is exceptional. In the vast majority of jurisdictions worldwide, the insurer can pull the strings from behind the curtain without fear of revealing itself; this is especially beneficial when a jury is involved.

Claims control by the insurer fundamentally alters the dynamics of aviation litigation. Not only is the imbalance in power between the plaintiff and defendant shifted even further in favor of the latter, but the insurer's interests may also differ significantly from those of the carrier. Whilst a carrier may be eager to settle, the insurer may wish to challenge the quantum to be paid out in damages. Claims control-indeed subrogation itself—undermines the theory of corrective justice. For many plaintiffs, especially in cases involving the death of passengers, a primary objective for litigation is the vindication of the rights of decedent passengers against the party actually responsible for their deaths. This is best served by ensuring that it is the carrier who must assume the duty of answering for their wrongdoing and compensate the passenger out of their own pocket. Claims control by the insurer removes the carrier one step further from the litigation, and defeats the element of corrective justice embodied by the carrier itself compensating the victim. Clearly, MC99 contemplated insurance and was not intended to embody principles of corrective justice solely. Still, the adequacy with which it has considered the role actually played by the insurer in the litigation of claims taken under it, and the extent to which the interests of the insurer drive the efficacy of MC99 as a compensatory system, is a question to which the concluding part of this Article shall attend.

The insurer's right to step into the shoes of its insured and take advantage of rights and benefits accruing to the insured in respect of the loss for which the insurer has indemnified it provides extraordinary potential for loss shifting. This aspect of subrogation is often put front-of-stage by supporters of the doctrine, who argue that it ensures that the cost of compensating the victim is ultimately borne by the responsible

<sup>252.</sup> Whilst insurance in the United States is primarily a matter for individual state law; many state jurisdictions have a similar rule, New York being a prime example. Thus, where goods shipped by IBM had been lost by the defendant carrier, proceedings were brought before the district court in New York in the name of the insurer and not IBM, who had already been indemnified. See Royal Ins. v. Amerford Air Cargo, 654 F. Supp. 679 (S.D.N.Y. 1987); see also B.R.I. Coverage Corp. v. Air Can., 725 F. Supp. 133 (E.D.N.Y. 1989). Insurers have not acquiesced to this kind of development. To avoid having to reveal itself as the true party in interest, they have employed a number of tricks, e.g., the loan receipt. See generally J. Thomas Ray, Jr., The Loan Receipt and Insurers' Subrogation—How to Become the Real Party in Interest Without Really Lying, 50 Tul. L. Rev. 115 (1975).

party.<sup>253</sup> In this sense, it can promote corrective justice. In a similar vein, it is argued that subrogation lowers the costs of premiums since it reduces the final sum paid by the insurer as indemnification. However, some courts have expressed skepticism as to whether the insurer actually includes subrogation recoveries into the calculation of premiums, or instead treats them as a windfall.<sup>254</sup> In any case these arguments are, on other grounds, less persuasive in the context of the aviation insurance market for reasons detailed below.

Subrogation cuts both ways in aviation litigation. Where the carrier is sued by the passenger, the carrier's insurer is entitled to take subrogated third-party actions against other liable parties, such as the aircraft manufacturer. Likewise, where the manufacturer is held liable in a product liability action taken by the passenger against it, subrogated actions by the manufacturer's insurer against the carrier or other parties are a distinct possibility.

The value of a subrogated claim against a third party will depend on a number of factors. First, in many cases, the same insurer will be involved on both sides, serving as the insurance carrier of both the carrier and the manufacturer for at least part of the risk. Second, there will more than likely be a preexisting contractual relationship between the insured and the third party, so any contractual provisions that affect the insured's right of action against the third party will be binding on the insurer. For instance, if the insured carrier has given the third-party manufacturer contractual indemnities of the type discussed above, the right of subrogation will most likely be worthless. In addition, the parties may have agreed to a waiver of the subrogation clause, which the insured will be obliged to make provision for in its insurance policy.<sup>255</sup> In the case of leasing agreements, the lessor always requires that the lessee carrier take out and maintain insurance, and that the lessor shall be named as an

<sup>253.</sup> Peter Cane, Atiyah's Accidents, Compensation and the Law 377 (8th ed. 2013) ("The main argument in favor of subrogation rights is to ensure that the cost of compensation ultimately rests on the party legally responsible for the harm the compensation redresses.").

<sup>254.</sup> In her work on subrogation, Derham quotes the following dictum from a U.S. case. DERHAM, *supra* note 237, at 153; De Cespedes v. Prudence Mut. Cas. Co., 193 So. 2d 224, 227-28 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1966) ("[Subrogation] has frequently become a source of windfall to insurers in that the anticipated recoveries under subrogation rights are generally not reflected in the computation of premium rates.").

<sup>255.</sup> MARGO, *supra* note 190, ¶ 23.71 ("The right of subrogation may be expressly waived under the policy, and may also be impliedly limited by the policy wording. The right of subrogation is frequently waived under airline policies where third parties such as suppliers or financiers require it."). Endorsements have been produced for the purpose of providing a waiver of subrogation for named parties, AVN 102, in the case of loss or damage to aircraft.

additional insured. This prevents the carrier's insurer from bringing a subrogated claim against the lessor. As the grantor of contractual indemnities, waivers, etc., the carrier is thus placed in the position of having the risk contractually allocated to it - a risk it then shifts to the insurer, who will be unable to rely on subrogation to shift it elsewhere.

However, the insurer of the recipient of these contractual indemnities (and related mechanisms) will have the option of utilizing subrogation to shift the loss off of its shoulders and onto those of the carrier. But since the carrier is itself insured, the reality of subrogation in an aviation market where insurance is so ubiquitous is that the loss is merely shifted from one insurer to another, the net impact of which is not only that it necessitates the duplication of insurance, but also results in immense cost. Subrogation is a wasteful and extremely costly process that only adds to the overall cost of litigation.<sup>257</sup> In turn, this results in higher insurance premiums that are ultimately paid for by the consumer for international carriage by air. In this scenario, the justifications of subrogation (i.e., promoting corrective justice and keeping costs down) are of doubtful value because it is the insurer of the responsible party who pays, and they will figure the cost into the future premiums charged.

The fact that the insurer can do all this in the insured's name is of enormous value to an insurer who is desperate to keep its name out of the litigation. Its anonymity is chiefly motivated by the fear that "the knowledge of the existence of liability insurance is likely to affect the jury both in the allocation of responsibility and in the assessment of damages." Naturally, where the dispute is to be decided by a judge, this motivation is less pressing as the judge will be well aware of who is who. As Sir Richard Aikens (Lord Justice of Appeal) noted in the foreword to Merkin and Steele's *Insurance and the Law of Obligations*, "[t]he fact that the claimant was actually a subrogated insurer and the defence was being maintained by the defendant's liability insurer have traditionally been treated as the unacknowledged elephants in the court room." Even still, the insurer is keen to maintain a low profile, and

<sup>256.</sup> See AVN 67 Airline Finance/Lease Contract Endorsement (Dec. 10, 1990), reprinted in MARGO, supra note 190, at app. A82 (reproduction of AVN 67 Airline Finance/Lease Contract Endorsement (Dec. 10, 1990)).

<sup>257.</sup> See Cane, supra note 252, at 378 ("Another objection to subrogation is that shifting losses around is costly. The initial allocation of liability is expensive and subrogation adds further to the cost by shifting it against.").

<sup>258.</sup> WOLFGANG FRIEDMANN, LAW IN A CHANGING SOCIETY 120 (abr. ed. 1964). See also Ray, supra note 252, at 119-20.

<sup>259.</sup> Richard Aikens, *Foreword* to ROB MERKIN & JENNY STEELE, INSURANCE AND THE LAW OF OBLIGATIONS (2013).

subrogation facilitates this by obfuscating its presence as the true party in interest. The reality is that the nominal plaintiff or defendant has long since been indemnified by its insurer and plays only a supporting role (if any) in the proceedings.

The prevalence of insurance coverage for international carriage of passengers by air is undoubtedly a great boon for the traveling public. It all but ensures that the resources necessary to satisfy claims will be available in the event of an accident. In addition, insurance also means that in most cases, the passenger's right to compensation will not be defeated by the dire financial straits of fly-by-night operators. However, there is a hidden cost to insurance for the plaintiff: by way of subrogation—regardless of what the docket says—it is the insurer who calls the shots in the vast majority of aviation litigation of passenger claims.

By holding claims control, the insurer's interest in choice of forum becomes paramount, which undoubtedly changes the dynamics involved. The question of the liability of the carrier is seldom of concern. Instead, the litigation is perpetuated by the matter of the quantum of damages that will have to be paid in settlement of the claim. Whether it settles a claim in the United States, or almost anywhere else, is the key factor driving the insurer to challenge the plaintiff's choice of forum. "Anywhere but here" is the mantra of the aviation insurer when it comes to being sued in a U.S. court. FNC is thus a godsend for the insurer that is zealously employed – not as a device for ensuring fairness and convenience in the selection of the forum for the resolution of a dispute, but as a means of mitigating the cost of the insurer's duty to indemnify the insured.

Subrogation further empowers the insurer in this battle over forum because the insurer exploits it to bring third-party actions to secure a jurisdictional advantage, as we saw with the *Nolan* case. Whilst plaintiffs can add alternative defendants to proceedings to do likewise, they are not, unlike the defendants, able to count on the cooperation of those parties. In some cases, the plaintiff might be able to play the defendants against each other, but in most cases it will be the defendants teaming up against the plaintiff.

There are, of course, cases where subrogation is employed toward a genuine goal of shifting the loss from the insurer (who has indemnified its insured) to the party at fault. This is especially important in the case of a regime such as MC99 that provides for no-fault liability of the carrier. Where this strategy succeeds, then it is arguable that it keeps the costs of premiums down and, by extension, the passenger pays a lower fare. But there remains a social cost, in that it makes the plaintiff's road to receiving compensation so much longer and more arduous. In addition,

the reality of aviation litigation is that the loss is not shifted to the party at fault, but to its insurer. Thus, instead of reducing the overall loss to be spread across the market, the loss is just shifted—at great expense—from one loss-spreading insurer to another, with the cost of doing so added on top. Who ultimately pays for this? The traveling public! Is it all worth it?

#### IV. THE WAY FORWARD IS BACK

Starting with the narrow issue of the availability of FNC within WCS and MC99 regimes, the analysis of the parties' conflicting interests over where to litigate revealed a bigger picture, within which those regimes for passenger compensation were shown to be just one part of a larger aviation accident passenger compensation system. stakeholders to this multi-party system were identified and its organization and means of operation revealed. This permitted us to reach the vital conclusion that MC99 (as successor to WCS) is based on an anachronistic understanding of international aviation litigation as twoparty in nature. Such an understanding was justifiable in 1929, but not in 1999, and even less so in 2021. With the emergence of alternative remedies, the realization of rights to contribution and indemnification. and the ubiquity of insurance and other risk management devices, the reality is that modern aviation litigation of passenger claims is predicated on a multi-party system of liability relations. The two-party paradigm of the plaintiff passenger versus defendant carrier has been demolished. In its place stands a far more complex multi-party system in which thirdparty interests play a dominant role.

The jurisdictional regime established by MC99 has not adapted to this bigger picture, and the inclusion of FNC therein means that the manner in which it regulates choice of forum is inadequate, inequitable, and outdated. It is fundamentally unfair to the plaintiff, and it frustrates rather than furthers the policy objectives of MC99. It goes without saying that the application of FNC prejudices the plaintiff. In light of the bigger picture, the idea that this prejudice was somehow balanced against defendant carriers' interests evaporated. This reveals that the interests on the defendant carrier's side receive generous and powerful support from its insurer and third-party defendants, who are more than willing to cooperate in securing a common jurisdictional advantage resulting in lower net liability.

When it comes to choice of forum, the balance of interests is tipped firmly against the plaintiff, which has prejudicial consequences for the extent and level of compensation they can hope to receive. Yet, is it not a stated goal of MC99 to provide a new deal that assures plaintiffs of

swifter and more equitable compensation in the event of an accident? In so doing, it professes to readdress the balance of interests and make concessions to the plaintiff WCS had hitherto underserved. However, by failing to appreciate the bigger picture, the balance of interests upon which MC99's jurisdictional regime is established is fundamentally incomplete. In consequence, this skews results derived therefrom. Furthermore, by leaving the plaintiff's choice of forum open to challenge, MC99 incentivizes and generates unnecessary litigation over jurisdiction that not only lengthens the process of securing compensation, but also adds to its cost – a cost then borne by the industry and, ultimately, the fare-paying public.

There is an important counterargument in support of FNC within MC99's jurisdictional regime that this Article must address. With the United States as the current center for international aviation litigation, FNC serves an important function in controlling forum shopping and keeping the cost of settlements and damages awards down. Indeed, this is arguably the strongest argument in favor of FNC. However, this argument rests on the supposition that there is a need to control forum shopping, specifically in the context of MC99; this supposition must be challenged. FNC makes sense within a common law system where the jurisdiction of courts is extremely broad. Civil law systems manage without an equivalent to FNC precisely because the jurisdiction of their courts is more constrained and narrowly prescribed.

The jurisdictional regime of MC99—based as it is on the Warsaw Convention—has a civilian sensibility. It provides a limited number of pre-determined forums in which a plaintiff can sue. These are forums that have been selected because the drafters deemed them prima facie appropriate. In the vast majority of cases, the reality is that an MC99 plaintiff will most likely only have a choice between two or three forums in which to pursue an action for damages against a carrier. It is wholly inappropriate and downright disingenuous to accuse a plaintiff of forum shopping when they have selected a forum from a very limited and specially selected range of options.

In light of all these considerations, FNC has no place within the jurisdictional regime of MC99. The plaintiff's choice of forum under MC99 should be absolute and inviolable. However, merely excluding FNC from MC99 will not be sufficient on its own.

The legal landscape in 1929 meant the Warsaw Convention ringfenced passenger claims falling within its scope, and it could operate as a discrete passenger compensation system largely insulated from thirdparty influence. This is no longer true. Due to the evolution of the legal landscape since the Warsaw Convention's drafting, the plaintiff now has several litigation options. The existence of alternative remedies, the reality of third-party actions, and contractual indemnities means that the exposure of the carrier, and the industry in general, to liability for passenger claims arising from international carriage by air is not kept contained within MC99. This undermines MC99 in a number of ways.

First, it generates litigation outside MC99, the knock-on effect of which is that, instead of providing the fast and equitable compensation envisaged, passenger claims arising from accidents are submitted to non-uniform, general regimes of liability under which the resulting costs will usually be far in excess of what would have been awarded under MC99's bespoke regime. In addition, the liability imposed on the third party will often be shifted to the carrier by way of third-party actions and/or contractual indemnities. Where this loss-shifting is contested by the carrier—in truth, its insurer—the resulting litigation is incredibly expensive. Although this will not trouble the plaintiff to the main action, it should concern the industry and the fare-paying public who ultimately pick up the cost.

Second is the risk of circumvention. Where MC99 does not offer the plaintiff their desired choice of forum, they will forego MC99 and pursue an alternative remedy that does offer them access to that forum. Albeit indirectly, the carrier is thereby exposed via a third-party action taken by this alternative defendant to litigation of the plaintiff's action in a forum not specified by MC99. In addition, there is still a risk that the theory and extent of liability that the carrier will ultimately face may be inconsistent with that envisaged by MC99.

Merely removing the possibility of FNC from MC99 litigation will not resolve these issues. The optimal solution is to amend MC99, not only to exclude the application of FNC, but also to explicitly state that it provides the exclusive remedy for passenger claims falling within its substantive scope—not just against the carrier, but against a list of specified third parties (e.g., the airframe manufacturer, component manufacturer, aircraft lessor, and airport authority). The plaintiff's MC99 action against the carrier would preempt claims against these specified third parties. In effect, all passenger claims should be channeled through MC99 and alternative remedies proscribed. A savings clause should be provided to ensure that the carrier's right of recourse against third parties is not prejudiced. The sharing or shifting of liability between the carrier and the specified third parties should be left—as it is at present—to the contractual mechanisms agreed inter se.

This proposed amendment to the regime would resolve the immediate problem of the availability of FNC, greatly reduce the volume of litigation of passenger claims, and assure plaintiffs of faster and more

equitable compensation in the event of an accident. The non-availability of alternative remedies would effectively eliminate the risk of circumvention. In addition to providing greater certainty and predictability to all stakeholders, these immediate consequences would reduce the cost of aviation litigation to the industry.

Several secondary benefits will flow from this proposal. One such benefit would be the avoidance of duplication of aviation insurance. At present, whilst the carrier is under the all-but-universal legal obligation to insure against passenger liability, the reality is that manufacturers and other parties involved in international air transport also insure themselves against potential liability to passengers. This duplication of insurance is a consequence of the different bases for liability that exist (MC99, products liability, negligence, etc.). Under the proposed regime of exclusive carrier liability, the carrier would be the single repository of specified risks and thus the party responsible for insuring against them. Indeed, such a scheme would merely replicate what these parties already establish between themselves through contractual indemnification. As other stakeholders would no longer require insurance coverage for the same risks, this would reduce the cost of insurance to the aviation market and ought to translate into lower fares.

Such a proposal is not new to international law. A similar proposal was put forward by Cheng<sup>260</sup> and considered by the International Law Association (ILA) at its Conference in 1980.<sup>261</sup> This led to a draft convention that was then debated at the 1982 ILA Conference but never came to fruition.<sup>262</sup> This proposal was for an integrated system of aviation liability under which liability for personal injury or death was based on the principle of absolute, unlimited, and secured liability.<sup>263</sup> Crucially, liability was channeled through the carrier. However, as noted by the authors of *Shawcross & Beaumont*, the "weakest link" in the argument was that it proposed to include liability for damage to third parties on the surface.<sup>264</sup> An additional weakness of the regime was that the proposed channeling was de facto rather than de jure.<sup>265</sup> It did not propose to legally exclude alternative remedies against third parties, but expected that assured and unlimited recovery against a carrier would be

<sup>260.</sup> See Bin Cheng, Fifty Years of the Warsaw Convention: Where Do We Go from Here?, 28 ZEITSCHRIFT FÜR LUFT- UND WELTRAUMRECHT 373, 379-80 (1979).

<sup>261.</sup> Air Law, 59 Int'l L. Ass'n Rep. Conf. 471, 479-82 (1980).

<sup>262.</sup> Id. at 553-93.

<sup>263.</sup> Id. at 583.

<sup>264.</sup> Shawcross & Beaumont, supra note 185, ¶ 184.

<sup>265.</sup> See Air Law, supra note 260, at 583. An alternative draft had been proposed by Mankiewicz that would have made channeling obligatory, but it was not preferred. *Id.* at 583.

a sufficient incentive to achieve that in effect, if not in law. As observed in this Article, the availability of an alternative remedy, even where seemingly less attractive, will be exploited by plaintiffs where it offers the preferred choice of forum. The advantage of the channeling proposal made in this Article is that it does not extend to liability to third parties, <sup>266</sup> and it does provide for de jure exclusivity of the liability of the carrier.

Similar proposals were successfully implemented in international law. Indeed, Cheng's proposal was inspired by conventions on civil liability for nuclear damage agreed through the International Atomic Energy Agency.<sup>267</sup> In addition, the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage 1969 (CLC 1969)<sup>268</sup> makes the shipowner strictly liable for oil pollution damage. As amended by the 1992 Protocol,<sup>269</sup> it defines a range of persons against whom no remedy, either under the Convention or otherwise, can be sought. In addition to servants or agents of the ship-owner, the pilot, charterer, operator, any person taking preventative measures, etc., are now insulated from liability.<sup>270</sup> Thus, CLC 1992 provides a quasi-exclusive remedy against the ship-owner. In other words, it channels liability through the ship-owner. At present, 138 States have ratified CLC 1992 (accounting for 97.75% of world tonnage). It thus represents a compelling analogy that could be applied *mutatis mutandis* to international carriage by air.

Channeling claims through the carrier also makes sense in the context of the near-universal requirement for carrier insurance that now exists—insurance that is relatively inexpensive, offers very wide coverage, and has capacity well in excess of that required to satisfy claims in the vast majority of aviation accidents. The carrier's own financial capacity to meet the cost of settlement will not be at issue. Limiting plaintiffs to an MC99 action against the carrier (i.e., excluding alternative remedies) will not deprive them of their right to full damages since

<sup>266.</sup> It is appropriate to exclude liability to third parties on the ground as this is the subject to a new regime consisting of two conventions agreed through ICAO in 2009: Convention on Compensation for Damage Caused by Aircraft to Third Parties May 2, 2009, DCCD Doc. No 42 (General Risks Convention); Convention on Compensation for Damage to Third Parties, Resulting from Acts of Unlawful Interference Involving Aircraft May 2, 2009, ICAO Doc. 9920 (Unlawful Interference Convention).

<sup>267.</sup> See Cheng, supra note 259, at 379.

<sup>268.</sup> International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage, Nov. 29, 1966, 973 U.N.T.S. 3 [hereinafter CLC 1969].

<sup>269.</sup> Protocol to Amend the Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage, Nov. 27, 1992, 1956 U.N.T.S. 255 [hereinafter CLC Protocol 1992].

<sup>270.</sup> International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage, Nov. 29, 1966, 973 U.N.T.S. 3, as amended by Protocol to Amend the Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage, Nov. 27, 1992, 1956 U.N.T.S. 255 [hereinafter CLC 1992].

recovery is guaranteed by insurance. There would be no need to pursue alternative remedies where the MC99 remedy is capable of satisfying claims in full. There are, of course, exclusions and limits to insurance coverage; therefore, cases in which the carrier will bear the financial burden of meeting claims without the aid of insurance will remain. In such cases, the plaintiff's remedy is dependent on the solvency of the carrier. Where a carrier proves incapable of satisfying the full cost of compensating the plaintiff, then the absence of an alternative remedy would be prejudicial. This is an issue that would benefit from future research, the conclusions from which may require adjustments to the proposals put forward here.

A related issue would pertain to the existing grounds on which the carrier can be exonerated from tier-two (i.e., unlimited) liability under MC99. As it stands, the carrier is not liable when it can prove: "(a) such damage was not due to the negligence or other wrongful act or omission of the carrier or its servants or agents; or (b) such damage was solely due to the negligence or other wrongful act or omission of a third party."<sup>271</sup> It is submitted that such grounds for exoneration should be removed. In their place, however, the carrier should be entitled to exonerate itself from tier-two unlimited liability where it can prove the damage arose solely due to the negligence or other wrongful act or omission of a third party other than the specified third parties.

A further issue for future examination is how this proposal would interact with the controversial matter of the exclusivity of MC99. In this context, the exclusivity in question pertains to the scope of MC99 and of the available remedies found therein. As decided by the Supreme Court of the United Kingdom (then the House of Lords) in Sidhu v. British Airways Plc.<sup>272</sup> and the U.S. Supreme Court in Tseng v. El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.,<sup>273</sup> where a plaintiff's action against the carrier falls within the substantive scope of the Warsaw Convention (or MC99)<sup>274</sup> but no liability is provided for under the provisions of the relevant convention, then no action lies against the carrier (either under the conventions or le droit commun). For example, a passenger injury that occurs during qualifying international carriage by air but is not the result of an "accident" and/or is not "bodily injury" would not be recoverable. This

<sup>271.</sup> MC99, supra note 2, at art. 22(2).

<sup>272.</sup> Sidhu v. British Airways Plc. [1997] AC 430 (HL) (joined cases on appeal from Eng. & Scot.) (UK).

<sup>273.</sup> El Al Isr. Airlines v. Tsui Yuan Tseng, 525 U.S. 155 (1999).

<sup>274.</sup> Sidhu and Tseng were decided in relation to the Warsaw Convention. However, they have been followed in MC99 cases. See, e.g., Stott v. Thomas Cook Tour Operators Ltd. [2014] UKSC 15 (SC) (Eng.); Doe v. Etihad Airways P.J.S.C., 870 F.3d 406 (6th Cir. 2017).

proposition is largely accepted but is not without challenge.<sup>275</sup> As it stands, the consensus of jurisprudence would deny the plaintiff a remedy against the carrier, but they would be entitled to pursue a third party (e.g., a manufacturer) under *le droit commun*.

The question to be asked in the context of this research is whether the immunity granted to third parties by channeling claims through the carrier should be maintained in the case where there is no liability of the carrier. In other words: should the exclusivity enjoyed by carriers under the conventions be extended to the nominated third parties? Resolution of this issue depends on the solution to the exclusivity question, which is still contested. If the current consensus prevails, then the issue of third parties would arise, and a policy would need to be adopted with respect to third parties. However, if non-exclusivity were to win out, then the issue would not arise since both carriers and third parties could be sued under *le droit commun*. In either event, the proposal made in this Article would be applicable; the only distinguishing issue would the extent of its application. Establishing a policy to address this would be a valuable area for future research.

An advantage of the proposal put forward in this Article is that it would replicate the arrangements already established by the industry itself. Through contractual indemnities, the principal stakeholders to international carriage by air allocate risk to the carrier, which in turn shifts that risk onto the aviation insurance market. The cost to the insurer in assuming that risk is then spread across that market through the payment of premiums by carriers. This is the most efficient and appropriate mechanism, as it focuses the cost on the party best placed to spread it across the widest possible consumer base for international carriage by air, i.e., the passengers. This results in a regime where it is the two contracting parties to international carriage by air who are prima facie bearing the costs of a risk that has been rationally and responsibly insured against.

The way forward is back. Back to a regime where the plaintiff's choice of forum was absolute and inviolable. Back to the two-party

<sup>275.</sup> Several jurisdictions have followed the Sidhu/Tseng position on exclusivity, see, e.g., Thibodeau v. Air Can., [2014] S.C.R. 67 (Can.); Hennessy v. Aer Lingus [2012] IEHC 124 (Ir.); Potgieter v. British Airways [2005] (3) SA 133 (C) (S. Afr.). Commentators are supportive of exclusivity. See, e.g., SHAWCROSS & BEAUMONT, supra note 185, ¶ 406; TOMPKINS, supra note 115, at 99-100. For non-exclusivity, the authors of Shawcross & Beaumont cite a French decision (i.e., Duffy v. Brit. Air (Le Havre, June 12, 1986), (1987) 40 R.F.D.A. 446, aff'd, Rouen CA (Apr. 26, 1988) (Fr.)) and a German decision (i.e., Oberlandesgericht Frankfurt (1 U 34/88) (Apr. 20, 1989), (1989) 38 ZEITSCHRIFT FÜR LUFT-UND WELTRAUMRECHT 381). SHAWCROSS & BEAUMONT, supra note 185, ¶ 411.

paradigm upon which the Warsaw Convention was established and under which the plaintiff was effectively limited to a remedy against the carrier. If this is done, then choice of forum will be regulated in a manner that takes account of the bigger picture, that is fair to all parties, and that also promotes the policy objectives of MC99 and those of the industry generally.

## Human Rights Due Diligence: Why It Matters and Why It's Not Enough Without Access to Remedies for Human Rights Violations

## E. Barrett Ristroph\*

#### ABSTRACT

Transnational corporations (TNCs) operate through subsidiaries and supply chains that may be involved in human rights and environmental abuses in multiple countries, with little recourse for those harmed. There is a need for national legislation and international treaties that require human rights due diligence (HRDD) reporting to uncover and prevent potential abuses. This alone, however, is not enough to prevent abuses and provide for remedies. There is also a need for a "standard of care" for human rights obligations that are binding on TNCs (HRDD+). These rights must come with the ability of those harmed to pursue justice in the court of their choice, with access to information needed to prove their This article outlines the inadequacy of legal systems in the European Union (EU) and beyond to remedy potential abuses, and suggests elements that could be included in an EU law that provides for due diligence and an accompanying standard of care. The law would establish an express parent company duty of care over foreign subsidiaries; provide for a rebuttable presumption of parent company liability for harm caused by subsidiaries; apply the law of the country where the case is tried if the host country provides an ineffective remedy; and facilitate discovery by shifting evidentiary burdens.

### I. INTRODUCTION

Do governments have a responsibility to make sure that corporations are not peddling "blood diamonds," benefitting from child labor, or leaving behind a trail of environmental destruction in a foreign country? Should corporations be obligated to monitor their supply chain for potential human rights and environmental abuses, and can they be held liable if they do not have a contract with the entity carrying out these abuses? These issues have come to the forefront in recent years, not just

<sup>\*</sup> This article was inspired by the work of Friends of the Earth in Europe and made possible by support from Layla Hughes, who works to protect the environment and human rights from Europe to Alaska. Any errors or omissions are my own.

among those who drink fair trade coffee, but also in international regulatory circles.

Human rights due diligence (HRDD) is one of the core elements of the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGPs), whereby corporations must protect human rights and states must enforce such protections.<sup>1</sup> HRDD is an ongoing risk management process through which a company identifies, prevents, mitigates, and accounts for how it addresses its adverse human rights impacts (including environmental impacts) throughout its supply chain (from production to final sale).<sup>2</sup> As this article will discuss, some European nations have already adopted legislation requiring companies domiciled within their borders to carry out HRDD.<sup>3</sup>

In April 2020, European Justice Commissioner Didier Reynders announced that the European Commission would develop HRDD legislation that would bind European Union (EU) companies.<sup>4</sup> Internationally, the United Nations Human Rights Commission has been leading negotiations since 2014 to develop a treaty governing the activities of transnational corporations (TNCs) and other business enterprises regarding human rights.<sup>5</sup> This article first considers the justification for legislation requiring TNCs to protect human rights. It then considers why a due diligence law without an enforceable standard of care would not adequately protect human rights. Finally, it offers recommendations to the EU and other countries on how to provide effective HRDD and what an enforceable standard of care would include.

<sup>1.</sup> U.N. Office of the High Comm'r for Human Rights, Guiding Principles on Business & Human Rights: Implementing the United Nations "Protect, Respect and Remedy" Framework, U.N. Doc. HR/PUB/11/04 (2011), at Articles 3 and 17 [hereinafter UNGPs].

<sup>2.</sup> Filip Gregor et al., The EU Competence and Duty to Regulate Corporate Responsibility to Respect Human Rights Through Mandatory Human Rights Due Diligence, EUROPEAN COAL. CORP. JUSTICE (ECCJ) (Nov. 2017), available at https://media.business-humanrights.org/media/documents/files/documents/Brief\_The\_EU\_competence\_and\_duty\_t o\_legislate BLayout.pdf (last visited Feb. 23, 2021).

<sup>3.</sup> See Section III, infra.

<sup>4.</sup> Responsible Bus. Conduct Working Grp., Presentation and Discussion with Commissioner for Justice Didier Reynders on Due Diligence Study, VIMEO (Apr. 29, 2020), available at https://vimeo.com/413525229 (last visited Apr. 11, 2021).

<sup>5.</sup> Open-ended Intergovernmental Working Group on Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises with Respect to Human Rights, U.N. Hum. Rts. Council (n.d.), available at https://www.ohchr.org/en/hrbodies/hrc/wgtranscorp/pages/igwgontnc.aspx (last visited Apr. 11, 2021).

## II. INADEQUACY OF LEGAL SYSTEMS

Victims and survivors of human rights abuses caused by TNCs face daunting—sometimes insurmountable—obstacles when seeking judicial relief. As discussed in this section, many countries, including "developed" countries, like the United States and the Netherlands, do not offer adequate remedies to litigants seeking damages for human rights abuses.

### A. Denial of Jurisdiction

First, a court may avoid considering the merits of the case by asserting that it lacks jurisdiction over a TNC defendant that is not domiciled within the court's country. The court may either be unwilling to hold a domestically incorporated parent corporation liable for the wrongful acts of the corporation's foreign subsidiary ("piercing the veil"),6 or the court may not consider the jurisdiction it presides over to be a convenient or practical place for the litigation to occur ("forum non conveniens").7 Even if a defendant is clearly domiciled in the court's country, the court may decline jurisdiction over "extraterritorial" acts committed in another country.8

In the United States, the ability to pursue relief under the Alien Torts Claims Act for abuses committed abroad has become increasingly limited. EU laws provide access for litigating violations committed outside of the EU in the member state where the defendant is domiciled, 10

<sup>6.</sup> See, e.g., Barcelona Traction, Light & Power Co. (Belg. v. Spain), Judgment, 1970 I.C.J. 3 (Feb. 5); see also Choc v. Hudbay Minerals, Inc. (2013), 116 O.R. 3d 674 (Can. Ont. Super. Ct. J.), ¶¶ 4-6.

<sup>7.</sup> See Uniform Law Conference of Canada, Court Jurisdiction and Proceedings Transfer Act, S.B.C., c 28 (1994) (Can.) [hereinafter CJPTA], available at https://www.ulcc.ca/en/home-en-gb-1/183-josetta-1-en-gb/uniform-actsa/court-jurisdiction-and-proceedings-transfer-act/1092-court-jurisdiction-proceedings-transfer-act?showall=1&limitstart= (last visited Apr. 11, 2021).

<sup>8.</sup> See, e.g., Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co., 569 U.S. 108 (2013) (presumption against the extraterritorial application of U.S. law, including the Alien Torts Statute (28 U.S.C. § 1350)).

<sup>9.</sup> In 2013, the United States Supreme Court decided that the Alien Tort Claims Act presumptively does not apply extraterritorially. *See* Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co., 569 U.S. 108 (2013). In 2018, the Court decided that foreign domiciled corporations could not be sued under the Act. *See* Jesner v. Arab Bank, PLC, 138 S. Ct. 1386 (2018).

<sup>10.</sup> See, e.g., Akpan v. Royal Dutch Shell & Shell Petroleum Dev. Comp. of Nigeria, Ltd., (2013) LJN BY9854 (Neth.). The Brussels I Regulation mandated that the national courts of the EU Member States accept jurisdiction in civil liability cases filed against

since EU courts recognize extraterritorial jurisdiction. <sup>11</sup> But Akpan v. Shell, <sup>12</sup> litigated in the Netherlands against Shell and its Nigerian subsidiary for damages caused by the subsidiary, demonstrates the challenge of piercing the veil. In Akpan, the court held the Nigerian subsidiary liable, but not the parent company. As this case demonstrates, it is difficult for litigants to prove that parent companies are sufficiently related to their subsidiaries as to be held liable for the actions of subsidiaries. Parent company responsibility is important because subsidiaries may be under-funded, leaving them unable to provide adequate compensation.

In the United States, Australia, and Canada, courts use the doctrine of forum non conveniens to dismiss cases when they find that litigation would be more practical elsewhere, 13 even though those cases may never be refiled in the "more practical" country. 14 The Uniform Court Jurisdiction and Proceedings Transfer Act in Canada contains common rules for forum non conveniens. 15 In the EU, *Owusu v. Jackson* expressly barred the doctrine of forum non conveniens. 16

### B. Question of Which Country's Law to Apply

Courts must determine which country's laws to apply when human rights abuses occur abroad. EU courts generally apply the civil compensation law of the state where the damage took place, <sup>17</sup> although

defendants domiciled in the forum State. (Article 2 (1) of Regulation (EU) No 44/2001). Regulation (EU) No. 1215/2012 [hereinafter Brussels II Regulation] was adopted on December 12, 2012, to replace Brussels I effective to legal proceedings instituted (and to judgments rendered) on or after January 10, 2015. Article 4(1) of the Brussels II Regulation provides similar jurisdiction to that of the original Brussels I.

- 11. See Brussels II Regulation, supra note 10, Art. 4(1) and Art. 63 (providing that a company can be domiciled in up to three EU states at the same time or have domiciles both within the EU and outside of it).
  - 12. See Akpan, (2013) LJN BY9854 (Neth.), supra note 10.
- 13. See, e.g., the U.S. cases Aguinda v. Texaco, Inc., 303 F.3d 470 (2d Cir. 2002); Bhopal v. Union Carbide Corp., 809 F.2d 195 (2d Cir. 1987).
- 14. In a case filed in the U.S. state of Delaware, by Argentine citizens alleging exposure to pesticides used on Argentine tobacco farms, the Delaware Supreme Court held that defendants have demonstrated that litigating in Delaware would result in an overwhelming hardship to defendants; the case could be dismissed under the doctrine of forum non conveniens even if no alternative forum is available. *See* Aranda v. Philip Morris USA, Inc., 183 A.3d 1245 (2018).
  - 15 See CJPTA, supra note 7.
  - 16. Andrew Owusu v. N.B. Jackson [2002] EWCA (Civ) 877, [2003] PIQR 186 (Eng.).
- 17. Council Regulation 864/2007, art. 4, 2007 O.J. (L 199) 40 [hereinafter Rome II] (on the law applicable to non-contractual obligations).

there are some exceptions, including cases that involve environmental damage.<sup>18</sup> This application can be problematic if the law of that country allows a certain level of damage<sup>19</sup> or does not provide adequate compensation. For example, a country's criminal laws may exclude remedies for victims and survivors, while civil laws may only compensate for physical damage—not economic loss or moral damage.<sup>20</sup>

## C. Difficulty of Obtaining Evidence and Rules Related to Business/Confidentiality

Survivors of human rights abuses may have no information about the corporations and actions that contributed to the harm. Injured parties may be unable to obtain the evidence needed to file a lawsuit due to lack of finances and capacity. While courts in many developed countries have "discovery rules" that require litigants to provide information upon request, <sup>21</sup> a defendant may flout these requirements by flooding the plaintiff with too much information that disguises or obfuscates the human rights issues relevant to understanding the potential human rights impacts. Further, exceptions to the discovery rules allow companies to keep "trade secrets and other information confidential." Information from previous cases may be impossible for a litigant to obtain if the corporation settled the dispute through a confidential settlement. <sup>23</sup>

<sup>18.</sup> *Id.* at art. 7 (In claims for "environmental damage," the claimant may elect to have the claim governed by the country's law where the 'event giving rise to the damage' occurred.).

<sup>19.</sup> This bar was raised in Lubbe v. Cape Plc [2000] UKHL 41, [2000] 1 WLR 1545 (appeal taken from Eng.) (7500 South African asbestos miners suing in the U.K.); Connelly v. RTZ Corp. Plc [1997] UKHL 30, [1998] AC 854 (appeal taken from Eng.) (Namibian uranium miners with throat cancer suing in the U.K.).

<sup>20.</sup> For example, the United States Department of Justice Human Rights and Special Prosecutions section may prosecute human rights-related crimes committed internationally, but does not provide relief to victims. See Human Rights and Special Prosecutions Section, U.S. DEP'T JUST. (n.d.), available at https://www.justice.gov/criminal-hrsp (last visited Apr. 12, 2021).

<sup>21.</sup> See, e.g., Fed. R. Civ. P. Title V ("Disclosures & Discovery").

<sup>22.</sup> Id. at r. 26(b)(5).

<sup>23.</sup> For example, a case against Monterrico Metals by Peruvian farmers, scheduled for a ten-week trial in the English High Court in October 2011, was also settled without admission of liability in a confidential settlement. See generally Dan Collyns, UK Firm Agrees to Pay Compensation to Peruvian Farmers, BBC NEWS (July 20, 2011), available at https://www.bbc.com/news/world-latin-america-14227670 (last visited Apr. 12, 2021). See also Jad Mouawad, Shell to Pay \$15.5 Million to Settle Nigerian Case, N.Y. TIMES (June 8, 2009),

Finally, the burden of proof in litigation may require so much evidence as to be nearly insurmountable for a plaintiff.<sup>24</sup>

### D. Other Inadequacies of Host Country Courts

The following are additional reasons why litigants may not obtain relief from a "host country" (where the damage occurred):

- Human rights laws included in national constitutions may not be justiciable, <sup>25</sup> and there may be significant gaps in civil rights and environmental laws.
- The law of the host country may bar a claim under workmen's compensation laws that prohibit claims against an employer. <sup>26</sup>
- There is a lack of affordable legal assistance (lawyers unwilling to operate on a contingency fee or *pro bono*).
- There may be legal restrictions on non-government organizations (NGOs) that could support litigation<sup>27</sup> or judicial rules limiting their ability to litigate.<sup>28</sup>

https://www.nytimes.com/2009/06/09/business/global/09shell.html?ref=global (last visited Apr. 12, 2021) (settlement just before trial involving Shell).

- 24. See, e.g., Gomez v. Dole Food Co. (Cal. Ct. App. Oct. 27, 2011) (Dismissal of case against Dole where court found that Dole sustained its evidentiary burden of showing a reasonable probability that it would prevail at trial by presenting "competent evidence that overwhelmingly refutes plaintiffs' primary claim, i.e., that Dole and its Col[o]mbian subsidiary, Tecbaco, conspired with, and made payments to, the AUC in exchange for violent security services.").
- 25. In the United States, for example, Executive Order 13175 ("Consultation and Coordination With Indian Tribal Governments") requires agencies to consult with indigenous communities if a proposed project may impact these communities. But Section 10 of the Order says, "this order is intended only to improve the internal management of the executive branch, and is not intended to create any right, benefit, or trust responsibility, substantive or procedural, enforceable at law by a party against the United States, its agencies, or any person." See Exec. Order No. 13175, 65 Fed. Reg. 67249 (2000).
  - 26. See supra note 19.
- 27. Federal'nyi Zakon RF ot 20 Iiulia 2012 Goda N 121-FZ "O Vnesenii Izmenenii v Otdel'nye Zakonodatel'nye Akty Rossiiskoi Federatsii v Chasti Regulirovaniia Deiatel'nosti Nekommercheskikh Organizatsii, Vipolniaiushchikh Funktsii Inostrannogo Agenta" [Federal Law RF of July 20, 2012, N 121-FZ "On Amendments to Legislative Acts of the Russian Federation Regarding the Regulation of the Activities of Non-profit Organizations Performing the Functions of a Foreign Agent"], Ros. Gaz., July 23, 2012 (Russ.) (a Russian law requiring non-profit organizations that receive foreign donations and engage in "political activity" to register and declare themselves as foreign agents).
- 28. Consider the U.S. doctrine that an NGO must have "standing" (a distinct injury and connection to the injury) to bring a case regarding that injury. *See* Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400, 410 (1991).

- Local courts may not have the capacity to handle complex litigation, <sup>29</sup> and cases may take decades to resolve. <sup>30</sup>
- There may be blurred lines or even collusion between national governments and corporations,<sup>31</sup> which may contribute to corruption<sup>32</sup> or allow for sovereign immunity.<sup>33</sup>
- Courts may be subject to political interference.<sup>34</sup>
- 29. See The Rule of Law in the Kyrgyz Republic, IDLO (July 23, 2019), available at https://www.idlo.int/fr/what-we-do/initiatives/rule-law-kyrgyz-republic (last visited Apr. 12, 2021) (Until recently, court processes in the Kyrgyz Republic have not been automated; manual or paper systems are still required and the norm.).
- 30. Paul Cartsen, *UPDATE 1-UK Supreme Court Hears Nigerian Communities' Case Against Shell*, REUTERS (June 23, 2020), *available at* https://https://www.reuters.com/article/nigeria-oil-idUSL8N2E04YR (last visited Apr. 12, 2021).
- 31. Examples include state-owned petroleum entities in joint ventures with TNCs, as is the case with Shell's subsidiary in Nigeria, and the appointment of a lobbyist for coal producer Murray Energy (Andrew Wheeler) as the head of the United States Environmental Protection See Lisa Lambert, Trump Nominates Acting EPA Head, an Ex-Coal Agency in 2018. Lobbvist. Run Agency, REUTERS (Jan. 9. 2019). available to https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-trump-epa/trump-nominates-acting-epa-head-an-excoal-lobbyist-to-run-agency-idUSKCN1P324H (last visited Apr. 8, 2021).
- 32. See Transparency Afghanistan, TRANSPARENCY INT'L (n.d.), available at https://www.transparency.org/en/countries/afghanistan?redirected=1 (last visited Feb. 25, 2021) (country data includes corruption perception ranking); see also Ximena Barria, Odebrecht Case: Deficiencies in the Rule of Law in Latin America, U. DE NAVARRA (Feb. 6, 2018), available at https://www.unav.edu/web/global-affairs/detalle/-/blogs/the-odebrecht-case-deficiencies-in-the-rule-of-law-in-latin-america (last visited Feb. 18, 2021) (Brazilian firm confessed to offering numerous bribes to political leaders). See also Jill Ambrose, Prosecutors Seek Jail Terms Over Shell and Eni Oil Deal in Nigeria, THE GUARDIAN (July 22, 2020), available at https://www.theguardian.com/business/2020/jul/22/prosecutors-seek-jail-terms-shell-eni-executives-nigeria-oil-deal (last visited Feb. 18, 2021) (Italian prosecutors seeking corruption charges against Shell and Eni officials involved in Nigerian oil deals).
- 33. In the U.S. case Saleh v. Titan Corp., involving a contractor's actions at Abu Ghraib prison in Iraq, the D.C. Court of Appeals found that, among other things, because the defendants had contracted with the United States for their work in Iraq, the plaintiff's claims were pre-empted by the Federal Tort Claims Act combat exception related to sovereign immunity, even though the contractors were private entities. See Saleh v. Titan Corp., 580 F.3d 1 (D.C. Cir. 2009). In the EU, at least for the countries that have signed the Basel Convention, sovereign immunity is more limited. See European Convention on State Immunity art. 6, May 16, 1972, 1495 U.N.T.S. 181, 184. According to Article 6, such immunity cannot be claimed if the State "participates with one or more private persons in a company, association or other legal entity having its seat, registered office, or principal place of business in the territory of the State of the forum, and the proceedings concern the relationship, in matters arising out of that participation, between the State on the one hand and the entity or any other participant on the other hand."
- 34. See José Luis Castro-Montero & Gijs van Dijck, Judicial Politics in Unconsolidated Democracies: An Empirical Analysis of the Ecuadorian Constitutional Court (2008–2016),

- Plaintiffs, witnesses, and/or activists may be persecuted by the host country's government.<sup>35</sup>
- Plaintiffs may face retaliation in the form of Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation (SLAPP) suits.<sup>36</sup>

It may be difficult to execute a judgment in a host country if all of the assets are in the country of the parent company.

# III. LIMITATION ON DUE DILIGENCE GUIDANCE AND REQUIREMENTS

Globally, there is already abundant voluntary guidance regarding due diligence,<sup>37</sup> including the UNGPs<sup>38</sup> and some TNCs that are developing policies to address potential abuses in their supply chains ahead of any legal mandate to do so. But these voluntary policies may be insufficient. An example of a voluntary policy is Shell's corporate social responsibility policy, which guides operations in Nigeria through its subsidiary Shell Petroleum Development Company of Nigeria Limited. Researchers have argued that this policy has done little to improve the social and environmental standards in local communities,<sup>39</sup>

https://www.lasc.org/judicial\_campaign\_oversight/Ethical\_Guidelines\_For\_Judicial\_Campaigning.pdf (last visited Feb. 18, 2021).

- 35. See Alexandra Krylenkova, Crimean Tatars Face Unfounded Terrorism Charges, Hum. Rts. Watch (July 12, 2019), available at https://www.hrw.org/news/2019/07/12/crimean-tatars-face-unfounded-terrorism-charges# (last visited Feb. 18, 2021); see also Green Scenery, Jailed for Resisting Big Palm Oil: Release the MALOA Six!, RAINFOREST RESCUE (June 2016), available at https://www.rainforest-rescue.org/petitions/1046/jailed-for-resisting-big-palm-oil-release-the-maloa-six (last visited Feb. 18, 2021).
- 36. For example, in a case involving Texaco's extraction efforts in Ecuador, defendant Chevron sued plaintiffs and the lawyer for fraud under the Racketeer Influenced Corrupt Organization (RICO) Act for conspiracy. *See* Chevron v. Donziger, 990 F.3d 191 (2021).
- 37 Lise Smit et al., Study on Due Diligence Requirements Through the Supply Chain, Eur. Comm'n (Jan. 2020), available at https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/8ba0a8fd-4c83-11ea-b8b7-01aa75ed71a1/language-en (last visited Apr. 14, 2021).
  - 38. UNGPs, supra note 1.
- 39. SHELDON LEADER ET AL., CORPORATE LIABILITY IN A NEW SETTING: SHELL AND THE CHANGING LEGAL LANDSCAPE FOR THE MULTINATIONAL OIL INDUSTRY IN THE NIGER DELTA, ESSEX, AND HUMAN RIGHTS PROJECT 19-28 (2011); see also Tara Van Ho, Due Diligence in Transitional Justice States: An Obligation for Greater Transparency? (Jernej L.

<sup>38</sup> JUST. SYS. J. 380, 380-98 (2017) (discussing lack of judicial autonomy in Ecuadorian constitutional court). Another example is the State of Louisiana in the United States, where judges are elected and depend on campaign contributions. See Caitlin Morgenstern, Ethical Guidelines for Judicial Campaigning, LA. SUP. CT. JUD. CAMPAIGN OVERSIGHT COMM. (n.d.), available

despite the assertion that the subsidiary carried out business activities "efficiently, profitably, and to high standards." Rather, local residents have been affected by oil spills, <sup>41</sup> pollution, <sup>42</sup> gas flaring, <sup>43</sup> and related practices on the part of the subsidiary, similar companies, and the Nigerian government.

Even mandatory due diligence requirements are insufficient to protect human rights if they simply require TNCs to report potential abuses in their supply chains without any enforcement regarding the accuracy of the report. Information contained in a due diligence report could be irrelevant, selective, or insufficient to prove a case against the corporation. Companies may fail to meet the reporting requirement with little to no consequence. An example of an existing reporting requirement is the United Kingdom's Modern Slavery Act. The Act requires entities to prepare an annual slavery and human trafficking statement that enumerates the steps taken by companies "to ensure that slavery and human trafficking [are] not taking place—(i) in any of its supply chains, and (ii) in any part of its own business" or states that "the organization has taken no such steps."44 However, the content of these reports may be vague, and there are no clear sanctions for failing to report or for misleading reports. The U.K. government estimates that 40% of the companies required to file a report under the legislation have failed to

Cernic & Tara Van Ho eds., 2015); Hakeem O. Yusuf & Kamil Omoteso, Combating Environmental Irresponsibility of Transnational Corporations in Africa: An Empirical Analysis, 21 Loc. Env't Int'l J. Jus. & Sustainability 1372, 1372-86 (2016).

<sup>40.</sup> Uwem E. Ite, Changing Times and Strategies: Shell's Contribution to Sustainable Community Development in the Niger Delta, Nigeria, WILEY (Aug. 5, 2006), available at https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/sd.294 (last visited Apr. 7, 2021).

<sup>41.</sup> Shell's Nigerian Subsidiary Agrees £55 Million Settlement with the Bodo Community, SHELL (Jan. 7, 2015), available at https://www.shell.com/media/news-and-media-releases/2015/shells-nigerian-subsidiary-settlement-with-bodo-community.html (last visited Apr. 7, 2021).

<sup>42.</sup> Sarah Kent, *Pollution Worsens Around Shell Oil Spills in Nigeria*, WALL ST. J. (May 25, 2018), *available at* https://www.wsj.com/articles/pollution-worsens-around-shell-oil-spills-in-nigeria-1527246084 (last visited Apr. 7, 2021). A 2011 UNEP report estimated that the clean-up of Ogoniland, United Nations Environment Programme, Nigeria could take thirty years. U.N. Envtl. Programme, *Rep. on the Environmental Assessment of Ogoniland*, UNEP (2011), *available at* https://www.unenvironment.org/explore-topics/disasters-conflicts/where-we-work/nigeria/environmental-assessment-ogoniland-report (last visited Apr. 14, 2021).

<sup>43.</sup> Leonore Schick et al., Gas Flaring Continues Scorching Niger Delta, DW (Nov. 14, 2018), available at https://www.dw.com/en/gas-flaring-continues-scorching-niger-delta/a-46088235 (last visited Apr. 7, 2021).

<sup>44.</sup> Modern Slavery Act 2015, c. 30, 6 § 54 (UK), available at https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/30/section/54/enacted (last visited Apr. 12, 2021).

do so.<sup>45</sup> As with the voluntary guidelines, reporting requirements do not clearly provide compensation for those harmed by due diligence failures.<sup>46</sup>

Another example of a reporting requirement is the EU law requiring certain companies ("public interest entities" with over 500 employees) to disclose their social and environmental responsibility policies and non-financial information about the outcomes of these policies.<sup>47</sup> But there is no obligation to report on "significant incidents," and member states can permit companies to withhold information associated with ongoing developments or negotiations. Other EU laws require due diligence, which includes requirements for companies that deal in certain raw minerals, metals,<sup>48</sup> and forest products.<sup>49</sup> But these EU laws have no enforcement mechanisms, leaving enforcement to member states.

Finally, even with robust reporting requirements that have penalties for non-compliance, human rights abuses will continue if there is no legal mandate to remedy and prevent the abuses uncovered by the reporting process. The reporting requirements could become a procedural "checkbox" that a TNC must satisfy before carrying out business as usual.

<sup>45.</sup> Home Office Tells Business: Open Up On Modern Slavery or Face Further Action, Gov.UK (Oct. 18, 2018), available at https://www.gov.uk/government/news/home-office-tells-business-open-up-on-modern-slavery-or-face-further-action (last visited Apr. 12, 2021). At the time of this 2018 assessment, only 60% of industries required to file reports under the 2015 Modern Slavery Act had done so. *Id.* 

<sup>46.</sup> The EU Council recognized this limitation in the UNGPs in its document revisiting the UNGPs five years after their creation. Council Conclusions on Business and Human Rights 10254/16 of June 20, 2016, Annex, 2016 O.J. 12.

<sup>47.</sup> Directive 2014/95/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 October 2014 Amending Directive 2013/34/EU as Regards Disclosure of Non-Financial and Diversity Information by Certain Large Undertakings and Groups, 2014 O.J. (L330/1), available at https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32014L0095 (last visited Apr. 14, 2021). See also The Non-Binding Commission Guidelines on Non-Financial Reporting, Eur. COMM'N (June 26, 2017), available https://ec.europa.eu/info/publications/non-financial-reporting-guidelines en Apr. 12, 2021); see also Commission Guidelines on Reporting Climate-Related Information, EUR. COMM'N (June 20, 2019), available at https://ec.europa.eu/info/publications/nonfinancial-reporting-guidelines en#climate (last visited Apr. 12, 2021).

<sup>48.</sup> See Council Regulation 2017/821 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 May 2017 Laying Down Supply Chain Due Diligence Obligations for Union Importers of Tin, Tantalum and Tungsten, Their Ores, and Gold Originating from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas, 2017 O.J. (L 130) 1, 5, available at https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32017R0821 (last visited Apr. 14, 2021).

<sup>49.</sup> Commission Regulation 995/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 October 2010 Laying Down the Obligations of Operators Who Place Timber and Timber Products on the Market, 2010 O.J. (L 295) 23, available at https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A32010R0995 (last visited Apr. 14, 2021) (referring to but not clearly designating "competent authorities" to monitor operators for compliance).

Countries need a "standard of care" in their HRDD legislation akin to the standards found in the international human rights instruments onto which those countries have signed. This standard would illustrate the scope of abuses (i.e., child labor) that a TNC domiciled in that country must avoid perpetuating through its subsidiaries and/or supply chains.<sup>50</sup> Along with the standard, there must be a right to a remedy<sup>51</sup> and access to justice<sup>52</sup> for those harmed by the TNC's abuses.

To that end, criminal law, although important for other reasons, does not compensate victims. While there are model principles of EU tort law that suggest a route for compensation, there is no uniform body of law or a statutory obligation to adhere to these principles. <sup>53</sup> Individual EU member states' tort laws are also insufficient to protect against ongoing human rights violations in supply chains because tort liability depends on clear evidence of a defendant proximately causing past harms. Tort law is not designed to address human rights violations, such as child labor and lack of free, prior, and informed consent.

### IV. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR HHRD+ LAW

This section considers the elements HRDD legislation should include to address HRDD, as well as a standard of care and access to justice (referred to collectively as HRDD+). It specifically considers a potential EU law, given the possibility of its implementation in the near future.<sup>54</sup>

- 51. Id. at art. 4 ("Rights of Victims").
- 52. Id. at art. 7 ("Access to Remedy").

<sup>50.</sup> See Open-Ended Intergovernmental Working Group on Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises with Respect to Human Rights, HUM. RTS. COUNS. (June 8, 2020), available

https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/WGTransCorp/Session6/OEIGW G Chair-

Rapporteur\_second\_revised\_draft\_LBI\_on\_TNCs\_and\_OBEs\_with\_respect\_to\_Human\_Ri ghts.pdf (last visited Apr. 14, 2021) (referencing a second revised draft of a legally binding instrument to regulate, in international human rights law, the activities of transnational corporations and other business enterprises).

<sup>54.</sup> The European Commission has committed to enacting EU-wide human rights due diligence law by June 2021. See Mayer Brown, The EU's Proposed Mandatory Human Rights Due Diligence Law - What You Need to Know, LEXOLOGY (Feb. 10, 2021), available at https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=0171490e-fcc5-4a33-ad62-b60105ec206c (last visited Apr. 12, 2021). See also Consolidated Version of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union art. 50(2)(g), May 9, 2008, 2008 O.J. (C340), which authorizes the EU to harmonize national company laws to attain freedom of establishment companies. Article 114 also allows the EU to approximate legislation to ensure the establishment and proper functioning of the internal market.

## A. Applicability and Scope

An EU HRDD+ law should at least apply to all companies domiciled in EU member states, operating in certain sectors (i.e., extractive industries), and of a certain size if operating in other sectors (i.e., 500 or more employees). Arguably, the law could apply even more broadly since the UN Guiding Principles "apply to all States and to all business enterprises, both transnational and others, regardless of their size, sector, location, ownership, and structure." 55

The law should mandate minimum reporting requirements, such as what risks and impacts a company must report and their methodology for assessing those risks and impacts. Each company should specify all of its subsidiaries and the relationships between the parent and its subsidiaries in terms of percentages owned. Board directors for each company should also be listed, and this information should be easily accessible so the public can understand the relationship between each entity (i.e., whether the directors are nearly the same for the subsidiary and parent such that the two are highly intertwined). The public should have the chance to offer input on due diligence reports similar to the process in the United States for environmental impact statements.<sup>56</sup>

In addition to due diligence requirements, the law should have codified standards of care, establishing norms of conduct and providing remedies for those harmed by companies that are domiciled in the EU or offer products or services in the EU market. Namely, such companies should (1) follow the same human rights and environmental standards the EU adheres to;<sup>57</sup> (2) ensure that these standards are respected by the companies under their control; and (3) take appropriate measures so that subsidiaries and suppliers throughout the supply chain respect these standards. EU law should also have penalties for non-compliance and an opportunity to litigate damages in a competent court within the EU.

#### **B.** Violations

If due diligence requirements are unilateral proclamations by a company without standards of care (which I do not recommend), then rules on unfair competition and consumer protection should at least hold companies accountable for misleading statements that unfairly gain

<sup>55.</sup> UNGPs, supra note 1, at General Principles.

<sup>56.</sup> National Environmental Policy Act, 42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq. (1970).

<sup>57.</sup> These standards could be akin to those in the UNGPs (i.e., limited to child labor and discrimination and harassment).

consumer goodwill. Inaccurate or incomplete reporting should have consequences including sanctions, withdrawing licenses or government support, appointing monitors, and allowing interested parties to legally seek the necessary amendments.

Particularly if the EU adopts a HRDD+ law, the EU and individual member states can create oversight and enforcement bodies within existing institutional structures such as domestic state departments, which may already oversee traditional corporate law requirements.<sup>58</sup> Violations and reporting failures could result in the penalties described above, as well as the company's dissolution and/or subjugation to civil suit by injured parties, government entities, and non-government public interest groups.<sup>59</sup>

A due diligence statement should not absolve a company from liability for its conduct.<sup>60</sup> Liability could be based on the severity or significance of the company's impact, size, sector (this may not be relevant if the applicability of the law is already limited to a certain size and sector), ownership, structure, resources, industry practices, amount of leverage they hold, if the leverage was exercised, and what they knew or should have known.<sup>61</sup>

### C. Jurisdiction and Legal Access

The EU should modernize its laws and court rules to account for the global nature of TNCs and the way business takes place in the modern Internet era. EU law should clarify that the extraterritorial actions of companies domiciled in EU member states can be subject to the EU's jurisdiction when those actions violate the laws of the host country in which they occur—even if the host countries have no due diligence requirements. 62

<sup>58.</sup> Smit et al., supra note 37, at 258.

<sup>59.</sup> Id.

<sup>60.</sup> *Id.* at 107, 250; *see also* UNGPs, *supra* note 1, at 19 ("business enterprises conducting such due diligence should not assume that, by itself, this will automatically and fully absolve them from liability for causing or contributing to human rights abuses"); Human Rights Council Rep., U.N. Doc. A/HRC/38/20, at ¶12 (June 1, 2018).

<sup>61.</sup> Smit et al., supra note 37, at 250-51.

<sup>62.</sup> Council of Europe (CM), Recommendation to Member States on Human Rights and Business, CM/Rec(2016)3, ¶ 35 (Mar. 2, 2016) (The Council of Europe has called for "domestic courts to exercise jurisdiction over civil claims concerning business-related human rights abuses against subsidiaries, wherever they are based, of business enterprises domiciled within their jurisdiction if such claims are closely connected with civil claims against the latter Enterprises."). See The OHCR Accountability and Remedy Project's Illustrative Examples for Guidance to Improve Corporate Accountability and Access to Judicial Remedy for

To address the challenge of regulating subsidiary companies that are not domiciled within the EU, legislation could establish an express duty of care for the parent company. A model is the French law that imposes a "duty of vigilance" on certain large French companies to prevent environmental and human rights harms caused by their subsidiaries and other business relationships. Parent companies must design, implement, and account for the measures put in place to identify, prevent, and address the human rights risks and impacts of their global operations. Those harmed by an alleged lack of vigilance may sue the parent company in a French court of law. 64

EU law already defines a parent company.<sup>65</sup> For any company that meets this definition, there should be a rebuttable presumption of parent company liability for harm caused by subsidiaries. The parent company could rebut the presumption by showing that it took every reasonable step to avoid the harm caused by the subsidiary. Even if the presumption is adequately rebutted, liability should still be imposed on the parent company if the subsidiary no longer exists, was underfunded to avoid liability, or if there is no adequate avenue to pursue a remedy in the host country.

The European Commission should reintroduce its proposal (which it considered making as part of the 2011 recast of Brussels I Regulation) to add a "forum necessitates" provision to the Brussels I Regulation, requiring European courts to exercise jurisdiction if no other forum

Business-Related Human Rights Abuse, Companion Document to A/HRC/32/19 and A/HRC/32/19/Add.1, at Policy Objectives 12-13 (July 5, 2016) (UN guidance calls for a legal regime "sufficiently robust to ensure that there is both effective deterrence from and remedy in the event of corporate contributions to business-related human rights abuses perpetrated by third parties.").

<sup>63.</sup> Loi n° 2017-399 du 27 mars 2017 relative au devoir de vigilance des sociétés mères et des entreprises donneuses d'ordre, FRENCH REPUBLIC (Mar. 27, 2017), available at https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/loda/id/JORFTEXT000034290626/ (last visited Apr. 8, 2021). This applies to companies domiciled in French with at least 5000 employees in the parent and subsidiary companies or domiciled elsewhere with at least 10,000 employees in the parent and subsidiary company.

<sup>64.</sup> Another model is the holding adopted in the U.K. case *Chandler v. Cape Plc* [2010] EWCA (Civ) 525 (Eng.) (holding that a parent company may owe a direct duty of care to its subsidiary's employees where (1) the business of the parent and subsidiary are in a relevant respect the same; (2) the parent has, or out to have, superior knowledge on some relevant aspects of health and safety in the particular industry; (3) the subsidiary's system of work is unsafe as the parent know, or ought to have known; and (4) the parent knew or ought to have foreseen that the subsidiary or its employees would rely on its using that superior knowledge for the employees' protection).

<sup>65.</sup> Council Directive 2013/14/EU, art. 22(1), 2013 O.J. (L 182/19) (defines "parent undertaking").

guaranteeing the right to a fair trial is available and the dispute has a sufficient connection with the member state concerned (i.e., by virtue of a parent company to the defendant being domiciled in the member state). <sup>66</sup>

The law of the state where the case is tried should apply when the law of the host state does not provide an effective remedy. This may already be the state of the law under the EU regulation regarding the conflict of laws on the law applicable to non-contractual obligations, known as the Rome II Regulation.<sup>67</sup> Rome II Article 16 provides that "[n]othing in this Regulation shall restrict the application of the provisions of the law of the forum in a situation where they are mandatory irrespective of the law otherwise applicable to the non-contractual obligation."68 But it is not clear what "mandatory" means, and interpretations may vary per court. Another possible way to apply the law of the state in which the case is heard is Article 26 "[t]he application of a provision of the law of any country specified by this Regulation may be refused only if such application is manifestly incompatible with the public policy (ordre public) of the forum."69 The EU should clarify the extent to which the exceptions incorporated into the Rome II Regulation may be used to address these problems, including in Articles 16, 26, and 17 (which address application of domestic rules of safety and conduct). Article 7 (which recognizes the right of victims of environmental damage to elect whether the court will apply the law of the State in which the harm occurred or the law of the state in which the event that gave rise to the harm took place) could be expanded to cover human rights violations. 70

## D. Discovery of Evidence

EU law should address the challenges of obtaining evidence in litigation against TNCs and the lack of laws facilitating discovery. If plaintiffs present reasonably available evidence to support a cause of action and indicate that further evidence is controlled by the defendants,

<sup>66.</sup> See Gwynne L. Skinner, Transnational Corporations and Human Rights: Overcoming Barriers to Judicial Remedy (2020).

<sup>67.</sup> Rome II, supra note 17, at art. 16.

<sup>68.</sup> Id.

<sup>69.</sup> Id. at art. 26.

<sup>70.</sup> Id. at art. 7.

then the courts should order defendants to timely provide information regarding company actions.<sup>71</sup>

The law should specify minimum requirements for what must be disclosed and the format for disclosure to ensure it is both complete (avoiding glaring omissions) and concise (avoiding obfuscating and superfluous information). The law should also specify what information (e.g., background technical data or assessments) companies must maintain and disclose upon request.

Finally, to avoid situations where evidence regarding past corporate violations is confidential due to non-disclosure provisions in settlements, the law should generally prohibit settlements from being confidential. There could be some exceptions for legitimate trade secrets.

### E. Financial Considerations

Funding cases will always be a challenge. The United States' and Australian models of using class actions, <sup>72</sup> in which the plaintiff's lawyer takes a contingency fee, <sup>73</sup> are one way to reduce this financial barrier. <sup>74</sup> A class action resolves key legal issues through a single suit involving a large number of individual claimants, thereby reducing the level of legal resources required and any financial disincentive for claimants' lawyers. Potential plaintiffs may opt out of the class to avoid being bound by the outcome of the action.

EU law should provide for some form of collective redress, whether modeled after United States and Australian class actions or another format. Legal standing should include representative action by public interest NGOs, whose statutory objectives are to protect and assist those harmed by business-related human rights abuses. The EU should allow class actions even if claimants live outside of the EU, and when non-EU

<sup>71.</sup> This would be consistent with the 2016 Council of Europe Recommendations, *supra* note 62, calling for revisions of "civil procedures where the applicable rules impede access to information in possession of the defendant or a third party if such information is relevant to substantiating victims' claims of business-related human rights abuses, with due regard for confidentiality considerations."

<sup>72.</sup> See Fed. R. Civ. P. 23; Supreme Court Act 1986 (Vic) pt. 4A (Austl.).

<sup>73.</sup> Through a contingency fee, a lawyer takes a significant portion of any compensation paid, or else nothing at all. See MODEL RULES OF PROF'L CONDUCT r. 1.5(a) (Am. BAR ASS'N 1983); Legal Profession Act 2004 (Vic) ss 3.4.27-3.4.28 (Austl.).

<sup>74.</sup> Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, 564 U.S. 338 (2011). The U.S. Supreme Court decision imposed a higher requirement for certifying a class action, impeding the ability of injured parties to bring a class action. The EU should not adopt such a high bar.

law will apply to their claim (following the rules of the Rome II Regulation).

In the United States and other jurisdictions, SLAPPs aim to shut down critical speech and lawsuits by intimidating critics and draining their resources. While Australia, Canada, and some states in the United States have "anti-SLAPP" statutes in place, 75 the EU has none. The EU should adopt an anti-SLAPP law that would give investigative journalists and human rights advocates the power to request the rapid dismissal of "vexatious lawsuits." 76

Finally, the EU could consider establishing a fund to support litigation on behalf of those whose human rights have been violated. This fund would be consistent with Article 47 of the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights, which stipulates that "[1]egal aid shall be made available to those who lack sufficient resources in so far as such aid is necessary to ensure effective access to justice." There is no limitation on residence or citizenship in this provision.

### V. CONCLUSION

The call for HRDD comes at a time when the world is more connected and interdependent than ever before because of international trade and the instant exchange of information on the Internet. At the same time, it is a world where the annual revenues of many TNCs exceed that of many countries. There are positive trends in the sphere of voluntary corporate social environmental efforts, just as there are advancements in European national legislation to promote HRDD. Yet, with all of these advancements, there remain significant abuses in TNC supply chains, leaving those who are harmed without a remedy. The supply chains,

<sup>75.</sup> See, e.g., Colo. Rev. Stat. §13-20-11 (2019).

<sup>76.</sup> See Stephanie Kirchgaessner, MEPs Call for Power to Tackle 'Vexatious Lawsuits' Targeting Journalists, THE GUARDIAN (Feb. 22, 2018), available at https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/feb/22/meps-call-for-power-to-tackle-vexatious-lawsuits-targeting-journalists (last visited Apr. 16, 2021).

<sup>77.</sup> Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union 364/01, art. 47, 2000 O.J. (C 326) 395, 405 (EU).

<sup>78.</sup> See Fernando Belinchón & Qayyah Moynihan, 25 Giant Companies That Are Bigger Than Entire Countries, Bus. Insider (July 25, 2018), available at https://www.businessinsider.com/25-giant-companies-that-earn-more-than-entire-countries-2018-7 (last visited Apr. 16, 2021).

<sup>79.</sup> See, e.g., Patricia Jolly, Cambodian Farmers Accusing Bolloré of Spoliation Are Asked To Show Proof, LE MONDE (Nov. 11, 2019), available at https://www.farmlandgrab.org/post/view/29298-cambodian-farmers-accusing-bollore-of-spoliation-are-asked-to-show-proof (last visited Apr. 16, 2021) (outlining the difficulties of

There is a need for national legislation and international treaties that not only provide for mandatory due diligence but also set forth a standard of care for human rights obligations that are binding on TNCs. These rights must come with the ability for those harmed to pursue justice in the court of their choice, with adequate access to the information needed to prove their cases.